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PART |

Item 1. BUSINESS

(@)

General

Activision, Inc. (together with its subsidiasi€'Activision” or the "Company") is a leading intational publisher, developer and distributor
of interactive entertainment and leisure produtke Company was originally incorporated in Califarim 1979. In December 1992, the
Company reincorporated in Delaware. In June 208 ompany reorganized into a holding company dzgéional structure as described
below.

The Company's products span a wide range okgdmcluding action, adventure, extreme spoatsing, strategy and simulation) and ta
markets (including game enthusiasts, mass marketuroers, value buyers and children). In additioisstgenre and market diversity, the
Company publishes, develops and distributes predocta variety of game platforms and operatindesys, including personal computers
("PCs"), the Sony PlayStation and PlayStation 2Mimendo N64 console systems and the Nintendo G@oyehandheld devices. The
Company is also currently focusing on the develapmoé products for Microsoft Xbox and Nintendo Gabube console systems and
Nintendo Game Boy Advance hand held device. Duanguary 2001, Sega Corp., the maker of the Segama@st ("Dreamcast”) announc
that it would stop making the Dreamcast in MarcB2WNet revenues from the Dreamcast have histtyiogresented only a small
percentage of the Company's total net revenuesordogly, the Company believes that the departfithe Dreamcast console system from
the market will not have a material impact uporfiitancial position or results of operations.

In the fourth quarter of the Company's fisasdiyended March 31, 2000, the Company adopted egahtthe implementation of a strategic
restructuring plan. During fiscal 2001, the Companynpleted its restructuring initiatives. The p&ard its components are described in Item
7—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Findr@@gndition and Results of Operations."

(b)

Holding Company Organizational Structure

Effective June 9, 2000, Activision reorganizeih a holding company form of organizational stame, whereby Activision Holdings, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation ("Activision Holdings"), la@se the holding company for Activision and its sdiasies. The new holding company
organizational structure will allow Activision toanage its entire organization more effectively br@hdens the alternatives for future
financings.

The holding company organizational structurs efiected by a merger conducted pursuant to $e2&a (g) of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware, which provides far thrmation of a holding company structure withawote of the stockholders of the
constituent corporations. In the merger, ATVI Mer§eb, Inc., a Delaware corporation, organizedtierpurpose of implementing the
holding company organizational structure (the "Mergub”), merged with and into Activision with Adion as the surviving corporation
(the "Surviving Corporation"). Prior to the mergActivision Holdings was a direct, wholly-owned sidiary of Activision and Merger Sub
was a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Activisibioldings. Pursuant to the merger, (i) each issretoutstanding share of common stock
of Activision (including treasury shares) was caned into one share of common stock of Activisionldings, (ii) each issued and
outstanding share of Merger Sub was convertedanéshare of the Surviving Corporation's commoaokstand Merger Sub's corporate
existence ceased, and (iii) all of the issued aridtanding shares of Activision Holdings owned bgtivision were automatically canceled i
retired. As a result of the merger, Activision bmesa direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Activisibloldings.
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Immediately following the merger, Activisionamged its name to "Activision Publishing, Inc." ahetivision Holdings changed its name
to "Activision, Inc." The holding company's commstock will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Natidviatket under the symbol ATVI.

The conversion of shares of Activision's commtotk in the merger occurred without an excharigeificates. Accordingly, certificates
formerly representing shares of outstanding comstock of Activision are deemed to represent theesaumber of shares of common stock
of Activision Holdings. The change to the holdiragmgpany structure was tax free for federal incomeptarposes for stockholders.

These transactions had no impact on the Con'paangsolidated financial statements.

(©

Business Combinations

Over the years, the Company has consummateachber of acquisitions of both software developneamipanies and software distribution
companies. All of the acquisitions detailed belath the exception of the acquisitions of Experft&are, Inc. ("Expert") and Elsino



Multimedia, Inc. ("Elsinore"), were accounted far@oolings of interests. The acquisitions of Exped Elsinore were accounted for using
purchase method of accounting. See the Consoliddateahcial Statements and Notes thereto includéim 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding teescquisitions.

Software Development Companies

On September 30, 1999, the Company acquired B@&iductions, Inc. dba Neversoft Entertainment ¢&teoft"), a privately held console
software developer in exchange for 698,835 shdrdeedCompany's common stock. On June 29, 1999Ctimepany acquired Elsinore, a
privately held interactive software development pamy, in exchange for 204,448 shares of the Conipanynmon stock. On June 22, 1999,
the Company acquired all of the outstanding capitatk of Expert, a publicly held developer andlhier of value-line interactive software
for approximately $24.7 million. On June 30, 198% Company acquired S.B.F. Services, Limited dbadHGames Publishing ("Head
Games") in exchange for 1,000,000 shares of thep@aagis common stock. On August 26, 1997, the Cosnpaquired Raven Software
Corporation ("Raven") in exchange for 1,040,000 eh@f the Company's common stock.

Distribution Companie:

On September 29, 1998, the Company acquire€@mact Data GmbH ("CD Contact) in exchange fof@,000 shares of the Company's
common stock and the assumption of $9.1 milliooutstanding debt payable to CD Contact's formerestedders. On November 26, 1997,
the Company acquired NBG EDV Handels-und VerlaghBrfNBG") in exchange for 281,206 shares of thenpany's common stock. On
November 26, 1997, the Company acquired Combinsttibution (Holdings) Limited ("CentreSoft") in eixange for 2,787,043 shares ¢
50,325 options to acquire shares of the Compaysion stock.

(d)

Financial Information About Industry Segments

The Company has two reportable segments: fib$jsSCD-based and cartridge based interactive tmenent and leisure software, and
distributing interactive entertainment and leispreducts. Publishing relates to the developmerth(baernally and externally), marketing
and sale of products owned or controlled by the gamy, either directly, by license or through itBliate label program with third party
publishers. Distribution primarily refers to logestl and sales services provided by the Company'sfean distribution subsidiaries of other
publishers' software and related products to thkketplace. See the Consolidated Financial Statesvard Notes thereto included in ltem ¢
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for certain finaalénformation required by Item 1.
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(€)

Narrative Description of Business
Factors Affecting Future Performance

In connection with the Private Securities Latign Reform Act of 1995 (the "Litigation Reform &) the Company is hereby disclosing
certain cautionary information to be used in cominacwith written materials (including this Annudkeport on Form 10-K) and oral
statements made by or on behalf of its employedgsepresentatives that may contain "forward-loolstegements” within the meaning of the
Litigation Reform Act. Such statements consistrof atatement other than a recitation of historiaat and can be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as "may," "expétanticipate," "estimate" or "continue" or the a¢ige thereof or other variations thereon
or comparable terminology. The listener or reademiutioned that all forward-looking statementsraeessarily speculative and there are
numerous risks and uncertainties that could cactsmlbevents or results to differ materially fronose referred to in such forward-looking
statements. The discussion below highlights sonteeofmore important risks identified by managembeuat,should not be assumed to be the
only factors that could affect future performantke reader or listener is cautioned that the Copp@aes not have a policy of updating or
revising forward-looking statements and thus hshar should not assume that silence by managementime means that actual events are
bearing out as estimated in such forward-lookiageshents.

Fluctuations In Quarterly Results; Future Opting Results Uncertain; SeasonalityThe Company's quarterly operating results have
varied significantly in the past and will likely masignificantly in the future depending on numesdactors, several of which are not undel
Company's control. Such factors include, but atdimited to, demand for products published orritistted by the Company, the size and
of growth of the interactive entertainment anduetssmarkets, development and promotional expemdatng to the introduction of new
products, changes in operating systems and plasfgpmeduct returns, the timing of orders from majostomers, delays in shipment, the le
of price competition, the timing of product intradions by the Company and its competitors, protifectycles, product defects and other
quality problems, the level of the Company's indédional revenues, and personnel changes. Prodecteaerally shipped as orders are
received, and consequently, the Company operatédittle or no backlog. Net revenues in any quaate, therefore, substantially dependent
on orders booked and shipped in that quarter.

The Company's expenses are based in part dbaimpany's product development, acquisition andetsrg budgets. Many of the co:



incurred by the Company to produce and sell itslpets are expensed as such costs are incurredh wftén occurs before a product is
released. In addition, a significant portion of @@mpany's expenses are fixed. As the Companyareseits production, acquisition and sales
activities, current expenses will increase andalés from previously released products are belpeetations, net income is likely to be
disproportionately affected.

Due to all of the foregoing, revenues and apegaesults for any future quarter are not preahite with any significant degree of accuracy.
Accordingly, the Company believes that period-toiguk comparisons of its operating results are maessarily meaningful and should not be
relied upon as indications of future performance.

The Company's business has experienced axgésted to continue to experience significant seal#ty, in part due to consumer buying
patterns. Net revenues typically are significahilyher during the fourth calendar quarter, prinyadilie to the increased demand for consumet
software during the year-end holiday buying seablan.revenues and net income in other quartergamerally lower and vary significantly
as a result of new product introductions and othetors. On average in the past three fiscal yd¢laesCompany has earned approximately

14% of its net revenues in the quarter ending 302, 20% in the quarter ending Septembef3015% in the quarter ending
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December 38'and 21% in the quarter ending March®81The Company expects the seasonality patternritruce.

Dependence On New Product Development; Pradatgys. The Company's future success depends in paheotinely introduction of
successful new products to replace declining reegifitom older products. If, for any reason, revesrfuem new products were to fail to
replace declining revenues from older productsGbmpany's business, operating results and fineoamalition would be materially and
adversely affected. In addition, the Company belethat the competitive factors in the marketpfaceremium-priced interactive products
create the need for higher quality, distinctiveduets that incorporate increasingly complex tecbgpland sophisticated graphics, sound and
other effects and the need to support product sekewith increased marketing, resulting in longarebpment periods and higher
development, acquisition and marketing costs. bk bf market acceptance or significant delay aititroduction of, or the presence of a
defect in, one or more premiupmiced products could have a material adverse efiethe Company's business, operating resultdiaadcial
condition, particularly in view of the seasonalitiithe Company's business. Further, because apargien of a product's revenue generall
associated with initial shipments, the delay of@dpct introduction expected near the end of afiguarter may have a material adverse
effect on operating results for that quarter.

The Company has, in the past, experiencedfiignt delays in the introduction of certain newghucts. The timing and success of
interactive entertainment software products remaipredictable due to the complexity of product depment, including the uncertainty
associated with technological developments. Althiotigg Company has implemented substantial developooatrols, there likely will be
delays in developing and introducing new productthé future. There can be no assurance that nesupts will be introduced on schedule,
or at all, or that they will achieve market acceptor generate significant revenues.

Reliance on Third Party Developers and Indegendontractors. The percentage of products published by the Comgizat are
developed by independent third party developersrweased significantly over the last severaldigears. The Company also utilizes
independent contractors for many aspects of predbet are developed internally by the Companyi@nslibsidiaries. The Company has less
control over the scheduling and the quality of wbhykindependent contractors and third party devaogthan that of its own employees. A
delay in the work performed by independent contnacand third party developers or poor qualitywftswork may result in product delays.
Although the Company intends to continue releapimglucts that are developed primarily by its owrplryees and employees of its
subsidiaries, the Company's ability to grow itsibeiss and its future operating results will depandjgnificant part, on the Company's
continued ability to initiate and maintain relatitips with skilled independent contractors anditparty developers. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to initete maintain such relationships successfully énftiure.

Uncertainty Of Market Acceptance; Short Produié® Cycles. The market for interactive entertainment softwalsgforms and software
products has been characterized by shifts in coaspmeferences and short life cycles. Consumeepgates for entertainment and leisure
software products are difficult to predict and fewch products achieve sustained market acceptéheee can be no assurance that new
products introduced by the Company will achieve sigpificant degree of market acceptance, that sckptance will be sustained for any
significant period, or that product life cycles Mike sufficient to permit the Company to recoupduet acquisition, development, marketing
and other associated costs. In addition, if maskeeptance is not achieved, the Company couldroeddo accept substantial product returns
to maintain its relationships with retailers argldatcess to distribution channels. Failure of nesdpcts to achieve or sustain market
acceptance or product

returns in excess of the Company's expectationddawave a material adverse effect on the Compdmgmess, operating results and
financial condition



Product Concentration; Dependence On Hit PraducThe Company derives a significant portion of@genues from a relatively small
number of products released each year. Many oéthesducts have substantial development, produetiohacquisition costs and marketing
budgets. In fiscal 2001, the Company had two prtiwhich accounted for 11% and 18%, respectivdlgpasolidated net revenues. In fis
2000 the Company had two products which each a¢eddaor approximately 10% of consolidated net rexem In fiscal 1999, no single
product accounted for greater than 10% of consw@diaet revenues. The Company anticipates thaatvedy limited number of products
will continue, in the aggregate, to produce a dipprtionate amount of revenues. Due to this deps®len a limited number of products, the
failure of one or more of these products to acheviicipated results may have a material adverfsetain the Company's business, operating
results and financial condition.

The Company's strategy also includes as a @iyponent publishing titles that have franchise @atuch that sequels, conversions,
enhancements and add-on products can be releasetirog, thereby extending the life of the propémtthe market. While the focus on
franchise properties, if successful, results irepding product life cycles, it also results in @@mpany depending on a limited number of
titles for its revenues. There can be no assurdratéhe Company's existing franchise titles camtinoe to be exploited as successfully as in
the past. In addition, new products that the Comytmatieves will have potential value as franchisgperties may not achieve market
acceptance and therefore may not be a basis imefoéleases.

Industry Competition; Competition For Shelf &pa The interactive entertainment and leisure inguistintensely competitive.
Competition is principally based on product quatityd features, the compatibility of products witpplar platforms, company or product |
brand name recognition, access to distribution el marketing effectiveness, reliability and eafsese, price and technical support.
Significant financial resources also have becoroerapetitive factor in this industry, principally eto the substantial cost of product
development and marketing that is required to supmst-selling titles. In addition, competitorshvbroad product lines and popular titles
typically have greater leverage with distributonsl @ther customers who may be willing to promdiegiwith less consumer appeal in return
for access to such competitor's most popular titles

The Company's competitors range from small corgs with limited resources to large companieb witbstantially greater financial,
technical and marketing resources than those oEtimepany. The Company's competitors currently iel&lectronic Arts, Microsoft, Sony,
Sega, Nintendo, Vivendi/Universal, Infogrames, THWway and Eidos, among many others.

The interactive entertainment software indusgmyndergoing significant consolidation which althe Company's largest competitors to
exercise control over a growing number of prodingd and increasing concentration of developmeérdntial and technical resources. As
Company's competitors grow stronger and competitioreases, significant price pressure, increasedygtion costs and reduced profit
margins may result. Prolonged price competitionediuced demand would have a material adverse effeitte Company's business,
operating results and financial condition. Thene lba no assurance that the Company will be abtertpete successfully against current or
future competitors or that competitive pressuresdeby the Company will not have a material adveffeet on its business, operating results
and financial condition.

Retailers typically have a limited amount oédlspace, and there is intense competition amoiggdctive entertainment and leisure
software producers for adequate levels of shelfespad promotional support from retailers. As thmber of interactive entertainment and
leisure products increase, the competition forfsdgace has intensified, resulting in greater lagerfor retailers and distributors in
negotiating terms of sale, including price discauard product return policies. The

7

Company's products constitute a relatively smait@etage of a retailer's sales volume, and therdeano assurance that retailers will
continue to purchase the Company's products or gethe Company's products with adequate levedbelf space and promotional support.

Dependence On Retailers and Distributors; Rd$iCustomer Business Failure; Product ReturrnEhe Company depends on access to
retailers and distributors in order to market a@itlits products. The loss of, or significant retioic in sales attributable to, any of the
Company's principal distributors or retailers condterially adversely affect the Company's businegsrating results and financial
condition. An increasing focus by companies on imiegy management and the maintenance of minimuenitory on-hand levels could
affect the buying patterns of our principal distititrs and retailers, thereby, resulting in lesslistable purchasing patterns. Significant
changes in the buying patterns of the Company'smeajstomers could impact the Company's abilitgdourately forecast sales and, as a
consequence, the necessary production to fill satgs, which could have a material adverse effet¢he financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Retailers in the computer and software indulsatye from time to time experienced significantfuations in their businesses and there
been a number of business failures among thedgesnifihe insolvency or business failure of anyigant retailer or other wholesale
purchaser of the Company's products could haveteriabadverse effect on the Company's businessatipg results and financial conditic
Sales are typically made on credit, with terms ttaay depending upon the customer and the natutteegiroduct. The Company does not
hold collateral to secure payment. Although the @any has obtained insolvency risk insurance toggtaigainst bankruptcy, insolvency, or
liquidation that may occur to its customers, sutdurance contains a significant deductible as agel co-payment obligation, and the policy
does not cover all instances of npayment. In addition, while the Company maintaimeserve for uncollectible receivables that it éedis tc
be adequate, the actual reserve which is maintairednot be sufficient in every circumstance. Assult of the foregoing, a payment def:



by a significant customer could have a materiakasky effect on the Company's business, operatsuitseand financial condition.

The Company also is exposed to the risk of peoceturns from retailers. Although the Compangvides reserves for returns that it
believes are adequate, and although the Compagrgsraents with certain of its customers place telimits on product returns, the
Company could be forced to accept substantial mioeturns to maintain its relationships with rigies and its access to distribution chanr
Product returns that exceed the Company's reseotgd have a material adverse effect on the Compdginess, operating results and
financial condition.

Changes In Technology and Industry Standardibe consumer software industry is undergoingdahanges, including evolving industry
standards, frequent new platform introductions e@mhges in consumer requirements and preferenbesniroduction of new technologies,
including new console systems such as the SonySdsign 2, Microsoft Xbox and Nintendo's GameCube @ame Boy Advance,
technologies that support multi-player on-line ganpsnd new media formats and methods of consunigedesuch as on-line delivery and
wireless game play, could render the Company'siqusly released products obsolete or unmarketdlle. development cycle for products
utilizing new console platforms, computer operasygtems and microprocessors or formats may bdisamtly longer and more expensive
than the Company's current development cycle fodgets on existing platforms, operating systemsyoprocessors and formats and may
require the Company to invest resources in prodhetsmay not become profitable. There can be sorasce that the mix of the Company's
future product offerings will keep pace with teclogical changes or satisfy evolving consumer pexfees, or that the Company will be
successful in developing and marketing productsafgr future operating system or format. Failurdégelop and introduce new products and
product enhancements in a timely fashion couldlré@ssignificant product returns and inventory olescence and could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, openasuits and financial condition.
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Risks Associated with Leveragié June 1999, the Company obtained a term lodrrewolving credit facility composed of a $25.0 Iroih
term loan and up to $100.0 million of revolving ditdoans and letters of credit. The proceeds eftéim loan were used to complete the
acquisition of Expert Software, Inc. and to payenges associated with the acquisition and thedingrtransaction. The revolving credit
facility is used for working capital and generatmarate purposes. As of March 31, 2001, there \8a5 fillion outstanding under the term
loan. As of March 31, 2001 there were no borrowingtstanding and $18.2 million letters of creditstanding under the revolving credit
facility. As of March 31, 2001, the Company alsd lwaitstanding $60.0 million of convertible suboated notes due 2005.

Subsequent to March 31, 2001, the Companyd:&tiethe redemption of its $60.0 million convelgilsubordinated notes due 2005. In
connection with that call, as of June 20, 2001déd have converted into common stock approxim&@0/0 million aggregate principal
amount of their convertible subordinated notes. if\icklly, in May 2001, the Company repaid in ftiie remaining $8.5 million balance of
the term loan portion of the U.S. Facility. In camgtion with the accelerated repayment of the tiean, the Company amended the U.S.
Facility effective May 7, 2001. The amended andatesl U.S. Facility eliminates the term loan, regtuthe revolver to $78.0 million, reduces
the interest rate to Prime plus 1.25% or LIBOR [@u&5%, eliminates certain covenants, increaseadkiance rates and reduces the fee paid
for maintenance of the facility.

The revolving credit facility is collateralizdxy substantially all of the assets of the Compamy of its US subsidiaries. The facility
contains various financial and other covenantsttiatCompany and its subsidiaries must comply vitthe Company were to default under
the terms of the credit facility, either as a réestila failure to pay principal or interest wheredar as a result of a breach of a financial orrc
covenant, the lenders could stop providing fundslatiers of credit to the Company and could dectar event of default and foreclose on
collateral. A default by the Company under the teing credit facility would materially adverselyfatt the Company's business and could
result in the Company declaring bankruptcy.

Limited Protection Of Intellectual Property ARdoprietary Rights; Risk Of Litigation.The Company holds copyrights on the products,
manuals, advertising and other materials owned agd maintains trademark rights in #hetivisionname, théctivisionlogo, and the names
of the products owned by the Company. The Compegsrds its software as proprietary and relies pilynan a combination of trademark,
copyright and trade secret laws, employee and-fhartly nondisclosure agreements, and other metiogoi®tect its proprietary rights.
However, there can be no assurance that thirdgsastil not assert infringement claims against@oenpany in the future with respect to
current or future products. As is common in theustdy, from time to time the Company receives restifrom third parties claiming
infringement of intellectual property rights of sugarties. The Company investigates these claimisesponds as it deems appropriate. Any
claims or litigation, with or without merit, coulsk costly and could result in a diversion of mamaget's attention, which could have a
material adverse effect on the Company's busimgssating results and financial condition. Advedséerminations in such claims or
litigation could also have a material adverse effecthe Company's business, operating resultiaadcial condition.

Unauthorized copying and other forms of piraoy common within the software industry, and ifgamgicant amount of unauthorized
copying of the Company's products were to occiérGbmpany's business, operating results and fiaboendition would be adversely
effected. Policing unauthorized use of the Commapsoducts is difficult, and while the Company mahle to determine the extent to which
piracy of its software products exists, softwamag@y can be expected to be a persistent probleselling its products, the Company relies
primarily on "shrink wrap" licenses that are ngjred by licensees and, therefore, may be unenfoleceader the laws of certain
jurisdictions. Further, the Company enters intosections in countries where intellectual prop&atys are not well develope



and are poorly enforced. Legal protections of tben@any's rights may be ineffective in such coustrie

Dependence On Key Personndlhe Company's success depends to a significaenteon the performance and continued servicesof it
senior management and certain key employees. Cdiapdor highly skilled employees with technicabanagement, marketing, sales,
product development and other specialized traifgngtense, and there can be no assurance th&otimpany will be successful in attracting
and retaining such personnel. Specifically, the Gamny may experience increased costs in orderrmcatind retain skilled employees.
Although the Company enters into term employmen¢@gents with most of its skilled employees andagament personnel, there can be
no assurance that such employees will not leav€tmpany or compete against the Company. The Coytgpfailure to attract or retain
qualified employees could have a material adveffeeteon the Company's business, operating reaunfisfinancial condition.

Risks Associated With International Operatio@srrency Fluctuations. International sales and licensing accounted 886451% and 66
of the Company's total revenues in the fiscal y2afsl, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The Compamnit to continue to emphasize its di
and indirect sales, marketing and localizationvéteds worldwide. This emphasis will require sigoént management time and attention and
financial resources in order to develop adequdtgnational sales and support channels. The Comparyynot be able to maintain or incre
international market demand for its products. imdional sales are subject to inherent risks, tholythe impact of possible recessionary
environments in economies outside the United Statesency fluctuations, the costs of transferiamgl localizing products for foreign
markets, longer receivable collection periods amgigr difficulty in accounts receivable collectiomexpected changes in regulatory
requirements, difficulties and costs of staffingl ananaging foreign operations, and political anoheenic instability. The Company may not
be able to sustain or increase international resgiand the foregoing factors may have a materiadrad effect on the Company's future
international revenues and, consequently, on thep@oy's business, operating results and finanoiadition. The Company currently does
not engage in currency hedging activities. Althoeghosure to currency fluctuations to date has lreggnificant, fluctuations in currency
exchange rates may in the future have a mateniadrad impact on revenues from international sailédiaensing and thus the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition

Risk Of Defects.Interactive software products such as those edfly the Company frequently contain errors or dsféespite extensive
product testing, in the past the Company has retepsoducts with defects and has discovered eimarsrtain of its product offerings after
their introduction. In particular, the PC hardwaresironment is characterized by a wide varietyai+standard peripherals (such as sound
cards and graphics cards) and hardware configasatitat make pre-release testing for programmirgpompatibility errors very difficult and
time-consuming. Despite testing by the Company, pesducts or releases may contain errors after cemegment of commercial shipments,
resulting in a loss of or delay in market acceptamdhich could have a material adverse effect erfdbmpany's business, operating results
and financial condition.

Risks Associated With Acquisitions the Company executes acquisitions, it musgirate the operations of its acquired subsidiavids
its previously existing operations. This processyall as the process of managing new operatieqgsiires substantial management time and
effort and diverts the attention of management fadher matters. In addition, there is a risk o6lo§ key employees, customers and vendors
of the recently acquired operations as well agtiegjoperations as this process is implemented.ddrapany may not be successful in
integrating these operations.

Consistent with the Company's strategy of enimgnits distribution and product development caliiggs, the Company intends to continue
to pursue acquisitions of companies, intellectuapprty rights and other assets that can be puedhaslicensed on acceptable terms and
which the Company
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believes can be operated or exploited profitabbm& of these transactions could be material inaimwkescope. While the Company will
continually be searching for appropriate acquisitipportunities, the Company may not be succegsfdentifying suitable acquisitions. If
any potential acquisition opportunities are ideetif the Company may not be able to consummateacmhisitions and if any such
acquisition does occur, it may not enhance the Gmyip business or be accretive to the Companyiingat As the interactive entertainment
and leisure industry continues to consolidate Gbmpany faces significant competition in seekinguésitions and may in the future face
increased competition for acquisition opportunitielsis may inhibit the Company's ability to complsuitable transactions. Future
acquisitions could also divert substantial managertieme, could result in short term reductions émreéngs or special transaction or other
charges and may be difficult to integrate with 8/t operations or assets.

The Company may, in the future, issue additishares of common stock in connection with onmore acquisitions, which may dilute its
existing shareholders. The Company's shareholdéirsat’have an opportunity, with respect to motlee Company's future acquisitions, to
review the financial statements of the entity beioquired or to evaluate the benefits of the iattllal property rights being purchased or
licensed, or to vote on the acquisitio



Risk of Distribution Companies' Vendor DefeasioVendor Concentration.The Company's CD Contact, NBG and CentreSoftidiavges
perform interactive entertainment distribution $eeg in the Benelux territories, Germany and inWnéed Kingdom, respectively, and, via
export, in other European territories for a varietyentertainment software publishers, many of Whice competitors of the Company. These
services are generally performed under limited teomtracts, some of which provide for cancellafiothe event of a change of control.
While the Company expects to use reasonable etforestain these vendors, the Company may not beessful in this regard. The
cancellation or nomenewal of one or more of these contracts coula lramaterial adverse effect on the Company's bssigerating resul
and financial condition. Three of CD Contact'sdipiarty vendors each accounted for approximate¥s & CD Contact's net revenues in
fiscal year 2001. The net revenues from each afetivendors represented less than 1% of consolidata@venues of the Company for this
period. Two of CentreSoft's third party vendorscacted for 16%, and 11%, respectively, of CentréSakt revenues in fiscal year 2001.
The net revenues from these vendors representeah8%%, respectively, of consolidated net revefidlse Company for this period. One
NBG's third party vendors accounted for approxityat®% of NBG's net revenues in fiscal year 200e fiet revenues from this venc
represented 1% of consolidated net revenues admepany for this period. All other third party vemd contributed less than 10%
individually to the respective subsidiary's netenewes.

Risks Associated with Fluctuations in StockugalDue to analysts' expectations of continued graamith other factors, any shortfall in
earnings could have an immediate and significaneese effect on the trading price of the Compaogtamon stock in any given period. A
result of the factors discussed in this report atier factors that may arise in the future, thekmtgprice of the Company's common stock
historically has been, and may continue to be stiltfesignificant fluctuations over a short perafdime. These fluctuations may be due to
factors specific to the Company, to changes inyatsilearnings estimates, or to factors affectirsgcomputer, software, entertainment, media
or electronics industries or the securities marketgeneral.
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Strategy

The Company's objective is to be a worldwideler in the development, publishing and distributi quality interactive entertainment ¢
leisure products that deliver, at each point ofvthkeie spectrum, a highly satisfying experiencee Tlompany's strategy includes the follown
elements:

Create and Maintain a Balanced and Diversifigottfolio of Operations. The Company has assembled a large diversifietfiotiorof
development, publishing and distribution operatiand relationships which are complementary antheasame time, reduce the Company's
risk of concentration on any one developer, brafatform, customer or market. The Company has feddstorically on the development
and publishing of premium products that providerti@st sophisticated game play and entertainmerdreqe at the top price point. While
the Company will continue to take advantage oéxgertise in this area, it has continued to di¥giits business operations and product and
audience mix. In addition to establishing, primatirough acquisitions, the European distributiosibess, the Company believes that as a
result of its acquisition activities, it has posited itself as a leading publisher of "value" prdddor the PC, which are characterized by less
sophisticated game play and lower price pointstheny the Company publishes and distributes titlas operate on a variety of platforms (
Sony PlayStation and PlayStation 2, Sega DreanacasNintendo N64 and Game Boy). The Company is@ls@ntly focusing on the
development of products for Microsoft's Xbox anetdhdo's GameCube and Game Boy Advance. This dieaton helps to reduce the ri
of downturn or underperformance in any of the Comyfmindividual operations.

Create and Maintain Strong Brandslhe Company focuses its development and publishativities principally on titles that are, or leav
the potential to become, franchise properties sitstainable consumer appeal and brand recognitt@se titles can thereby serve as the
basis for sequels, prequels, mission packs, ottetoas and related new titles that can be releagedan extended period of time. The
Company believes that the publishing and distridyubtf products based in large part on franchispgntées enhances revenue predictability
and the probability of high unit volume sales apérating profits. In addition, the Company has estténto a series of strategic partnerships
with the owners of intellectual property pursuanthich the Company has acquired the rights toiphhitles based on franchises such as
Star Trekyarious Disney films such doy Story 2 and Marvel Comic's properties suchSpgderman, X-MeandBlade.The Company also
has capitalized on the success oflilmy Hawk Pro Skategroducts to sign long term agreements with supersiaextreme sports such as
Mat Hoffman in BMX pro biking, Kelly Slater in preurfing, Shaun Palmer in snow boarding and Shaurrdylun wake boarding.

Focus on On-Time DeliveryThe success of the Company's publishing busisedspendent, in significant part, on its abiliydevelop
games that will generate high unit volume sales¢ha be completed in accordance with planned adgel schedules. In order to increase
its ability to achieve this objective, the Comparpublishing units have implemented a formal cdrgrocess for the development of the
Company's products. This process includes threeelayents: (i) in-depth reviews are conducted &mheproject at five intervals during the
development process by a team that includes sevktla¢ Company's highest ranking operating marsggiy each project is led by a small
team which is given incentives to deliver a higladify product, on-schedule and within budget; anflday-to-day progress is monitored b
dedicated process manager in order to insuregbaes, if any, are promptly identified and addésise timely manner.

Leverage Infrastructure and Organizatiof.he Company is continually striving to reducerigk and increase its operating leverage and
efficiency. For example, the Company has signifilyaimcreased its product making capabilities Hp@dting a larger portion of its product
development investments to experienced indepert#miopment companies. These companies generallgnaall firms focused on a
particular product type of game and are run andealby individuals who are willing to tal
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development risk by accepting payments based oodimpletion of fixed performance milestones in exule for a royalty on the revenue
stream of the game after the Company recoups ¥slolement costs. The Company also has broadlytunsti objective-based reward
programs that provide incentives to managemenstaftito produce results that meet the Companyanfiial objectives.

Grow Through Continued Strategic AcquisitionBhe interactive entertainment and leisure inguistconsolidating, and the Company
believes that success in this industry will be @nivn part by the ability to take advantage ofac8becifically, smaller companies are more
capital constrained, enjoy less predictability@fenues and cash flow, lack product diversity andtrapread fixed costs over a smaller
revenue base. Several industry leaders are emetgaihgombine the entrepreneurial and creativétgdithe industry with professional
management, the ability to access the capital nsdded the ability to maintain favorable relatiopshwith strategic developers, property
owners and retailers. Through nine completed a#opris since 1997, the Company believes that itshaeessfully diversified its operations,
its channels of distribution, its development talemol and its library of titles, and has emergsaae of the industry's leaders.

Products

The Company historically has been best knowrit$caction, adventure, strategy and simulatiadpcts. With the successful introduction
of its Tony Hawk Pro SkateandTony Hawk Pro Skater 2roducts, the Company also has become one of thustiry leaders in the extreme
sport category. The Company also distributes prisdacother categories such as leisure and rolgraThe Company may in the future
expand its product offerings into new categories.

The Company's current and upcoming releaselsaa®d on intellectual property and other charamtstory rights licensed from third
parties, as well as a combination of characterslds@nd concepts derived from the Company's extetirary of titles, and original
characters and concepts owned and created by th@&ty. In publishing products based on licensesladtual property rights, the
Company generally seeks to capitalize on the n@o@gnition, marketing efforts and goodwill assamiatvith the underlying property.

In the past years, the Company has enteredistmies of long term or multi-product agreemaeits the owners of intellectual property
that is well known throughout the world. In additito the strategic relationships established byQbtmmpany with Disney Interactive for
several animated film properties, with Viacom Cansu Products foBtar Trekand with Lucas Arts Entertainment f8tar Warsandindiana
Jones, the Company also has entered into long term dieexgreements with Cabela's folBtg Game Hunteseries of products, Marvel
Comics for such properties 8piderman, X-MeandBlade, BBC Television folThe Weakest Linknd such superstars of extreme sports as
Tony Hawk, Mat Hoffman, Kelly Slater, Shaun Palmer and Shauwnrlly. The Company may not be able to seek ousasthin new long
term relationships of similar caliber in the future

In addition to its own internally developed guats, the Company publishes and distributes sodtyweoducts for other independent
developers and publishers such as id Software seadd Fox. As the Company seeks to associatéAdizision” mark only with the highest
quality interactive entertainment products, the @any attempts to be selective in acquiring puliighind distribution rights from third pau
developers. Such products typically are marketatbuthe Company's name as well as the name ofrigiea developer. The Company
believes that these efforts enable the Comparmgvierage its investment in worldwide sales and mam&nd add a new source of products
while balancing the risks inherent in internal proddevelopment and production. This activity aflows the Company to enter new product
genres more quickly and provide consumers withdewwariety of products.

The Company has established itself as a laadbe "value priced" software publishing businedth such products as CabelBigy Game
Hunterseries andki Resort TycoonProducts published by
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the Company in this category are generally develdpethird parties, often under contract with trenfpany, and are marketed under the
Activision Value and Head Games names.

Product Development and Support

The Company uses both internal and externalress to develop products. The Company also aesjtights to products through
publishing and distribution arrangements with otinégractive entertainment and leisure companies.

Internal Developmer

The Company's internal development and prodogroups are located at the Company's operatimasas in California, Minnesota,
Wisconsin, the United Kingdom and Jap



Activision internally develops and producekesitusing a model in which a core group of creagiwveduction and technical professionals on
staff at the Company, in cooperation with the Conyfsmarketing and finance departments, have duessgonsibility for the entire
development and production process and for thergigmen and coordination of internal and exterresaurces. This team assembles the
necessary creative elements to complete a titlegus/here appropriate, outside programmers, artistimators, musicians and songwriters,
sound effects and special effects experts, anddsand video studios. The Company believes thamntloidel allows the Company to
supplement internal expertise with top quality exé¢resources on an as needed basis.

The Company has adopted and implemented aotug@rocedure for the selection, development, praalu and quality assurance of its
internally produced entertainment software titlEse process, entitled the Greenlight Process, wegobne or more pre-development,
development and production phases, each of whidhdas a number of specific performance milestonbi procedure is designed to en:
the Company to manage and control production amdldement budgets and timetables, to identify afdtess production and technical
issues at the earliest opportunity, and to cootdingarketing and quality control strategies thraugtthe production and development pha
all in an environment that fosters creativity. Gkeeand balances are intended to be provided thrtheghtructured interaction of the project
team with the Company's creative, technical, mamgedind quality assurance/customer support persoanigvell as the legal, accounting and
finance departments.

External Developmer

The Company licenses or acquires software mtsdvom independent developers for publishingistridbution by the Company. Acquired
tittes generally are marketed under the Comparanisenas well as the name of the original develofiee.agreements with developers pro\
the Company with exclusive publishing and/or disition rights for a specific period of time for sffeed platforms and territories. These
agreements often grant to the Company the rightibdish and/or distribute sequels, conversionsaroéments and add-ons to the product
originally being developed and produced by the times. In consideration for its services, the depel receives a royalty based on net sales
of the product that it has developed. Typicallg tteveloper also receives a nonrefundable advahimhig recoupable by the Company from
the royalties otherwise required to be paid todéeeloper. The royalty generally is paid in stagét) the payment of each stage tied to the
completion of a detailed performance milestone.

The Company acquires titles from developersndurarious phases of the development and produgtiocesses for such titles. To the
extent the Company acquires rights early in thestbgament process, the Company generally will ciluséndependent developer to comply
with the requirements of the pre-development, dgwalent and production processes applicable ta fitlernally produced by Activision.
The Company will assign a game producer to ealehwito will serve as the principal liaison to thelépendent developer and help insure
performance milestones
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are timely met. The Company generally has the tiglstease making payments to an independent dexalope developer fails to complete
its performance milestones in a timely fashion.

The Company may make, from time to time, aregtment and hold a minority equity interest intthied party developer in connection w
entertainment software products to be developeeloy of these developers for the Company, whiclCtrapany believes helps to create a
closer relationship between the Company and theldper. The Company has a minority interest in Barid Studios, Raster Productions
Gray Matter Studios. There can be no assuranceitb&@ompany will realize long term benefits froatls type of investments or that it will
continue to carry such investments at its curraie

Product Suppor

The Company provides various forms of produgip®rt to both its internally and externally deyd titles. The Company's quality
assurance personnel are involved throughout thelopment and production processes for each tittdighed by the Company. All such
products are subjected to extensive testing bedease in order to ensure compatibility with thidest possible array of hardware
configurations and to minimize the number of buigd ather defects found in the products. To supip@groducts after release, the Company
provides on-line support to its customers on a @drlvasis as well as operator help lines duringlegdousiness hours. The customer support
group tracks customer inquiries and this data éslus help improve the development and productiocgsses.

Publishing and Distribution Activities
Marketing

The Company's marketing efforts include on-kiévities (such as the creation of World Wide Welges to promote specific Company
titles), public relations, print and broadcast atlsang, coordinated in-store and industry promasiancluding merchandising and point of
purchase displays, participation in cooperativeeatising programs, direct response vehicles, andymt sampling through demonstration
software distributed through the Internet or on pant discs. In addition, the Company's productdainrsoftware that enables customers to
"electronically register" their purchases with ©empany o-line.



The Company believes that certain of its fréselproperties have loyal and devoted audiencespuhthase the Company's sequels as a
result of dedication to the property and satistacfrom previous product purchases. Marketing esehsequels is therefore directed both
toward the established market as well as broad#ieaces. In marketing titles based on licensed gntags, the Company believes that it
derives marketing synergies and related benefita the marketing and promotional activities of pneperty owners. In marketing titles
owned by third party developers, the Company bebdhat it derives marketing synergies and relagggbfits from the previously established
reputation of and goodwill associated with the diewer and/or properties owned by the developer.

Sales and Distribution

Domestic Sales and DistributioriThe Company's products are available for satemtal in thousands of retail outlets domesticadllye
Company's domestic customers include Best Buy, @ifsd Computer City, Electronic Boutique, Babbagds|-Mart, K-Mart, Target and
Toys "R" Us. During fiscal 2001, one customer aetted for approximately 10% of consolidated net nexss. During fiscal 2000 and fiscal
1999, no single domestic customer accounted foerttan 10% of consolidated net revenues.
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In the United States, the Company's produ&sald primarily on a direct basis to major compated software retailing organizations,
mass market retailers, consumer electronic storeéglscount warehouses and mail order companiesCBmpany believes that a direct
relationship with retail accounts results in moifective inventory management, merchandising androanications than would be possible
through indirect relationships. The Company hadeémented electronic data interchange ("EDI") linkagith many of its retailers to
facilitate the placing and shipping of orders. Tdwmpany seeks to continue to increase the numlretaif outlets reached directly througt
internal sales force. The Company utilizes whokesitributors such as Ingram Entertainment toiseimdependent channels.

International Sales and DistributionThe Company conducts its international publistdng distribution activities through offices in the
United Kingdom, Germany, France, Australia, CanditlaNetherlands, Belgium and Japan. The Compaksge maximize its worldwide
revenues and profits by releasing high qualityifprdanguage localizations concurrently with theglish language releases, whenever
practicable, and by continuing to expand the nunalbélirect selling relationships it maintains wikéy retailers in major territories. As part of
the restructuring plan adopted in March 2000, desdrin Item 7 "Management's Discussion and AnalgsiFinancial Condition and Results
of Operations," the Company realigned its direstrihution system and restructured its worldwidgrithutor relationships, significantly
reducing the number of distributors.

In November 1997, the Company commenced itefggan distribution operations through the acquis#tiof NBG in Germany and
CentreSoft in the United Kingdom. CentreSoft is gemxclusive distributor of PlayStation produatshe independent channel in the United
Kingdom and employs approximately 168 people, idicig one of the largest entertainment softwaressatel marketing organizations in that
country. In September 1998, the Company acquiredC8Btact, a company specializing in the localizatimd marketing of entertainment
software products in the Benelux territories. Theets and personnel of CD Contact have been inéeigndth the Company's other
distribution operations to form the core of Actieis's international distribution operations.

Affiliate Labels. In addition to its own products, the Companyrilisites interactive entertainment products thatdaneloped and
marketed by other third party publishers througH'ffiliate label" programs. The distribution aher publishers' products allows the
Company to maximize the efficiencies of its satesé and provides the Company with the ability étidr ensure adequate shelf presence at
retail stores for all of the products that it distites. It also mitigates the risk associated aiffarticular title or titles published by Activisio
failing to achieve expectations. Services providgdhe Company under its affiliate label prograrciude order solicitation, in-store
marketing, logistics and order fulfillment, saldsgonel management, as well as other accountingameral administrative functions.

During the fiscal year 2001, the Company'diafé label partners included Lucas Arts, PsygndSix Interactive, Interplay, Codemasters,
989 Studios and Encore Entertainment. Each affilabel relationship is unique and may pertain éalglistribution in certain geographic
territories such as the United States or Europenaanglbe further limited only to the specificallymed titles or titles operating on specific
platforms.

Internet

The Company believes that there are opporasitr further exploitation of its titles througietinternet, on-line services, and dedicated
Internet on-line gaming services. The Company fively exploring the establishment of on-line gaph&ying opportunities and Internet
services as a method for realizing additional reresrfrom its products. There can be no assuraatéhith Company will be successful in
exploiting these opportunities. The Company has loperating its on-line store under a
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third party fulfillment arrangement with Digital ®ér, where customers can order a wide array ofvisitin titles.



Hardware Licenses

The Company's console products currently aighaeveloped or published primarily for the SongyStation and PlayStation 2, Nintendo
N64, GameCube and Game Boy handheld devices, Miftr&box, and Sega Dreamcast. In order to maingaimeral access to the cons
systems marketplace, the Company has obtainedsisdor each of these platforms. Each license altbe Company to create one or more
products for the applicable system, subject toagerpproval rights as to quality which are resdrg each licensor. Each license also
requires that the Company pay the licensor a peficense fee for each unit manufactured.

In contrast, the Company currently is not reggiito obtain any license for the development anduyction of PC-CD products.
Accordingly, the Company's per unit manufacturiogtdor PC-CD products is less than the per unitufecturing cost for console products.

Manufacturing

The Company prepares a set of master progrpessaocumentation and packaging materials fqritelucts for each respective hardware
platform on which the product will be released. &xcwith respect to products for use on the SomyNintendo systems, the Company's disk
duplication, packaging, printing, manufacturing refeousing, assembly and shipping are performedhiby party subcontractors.

In the case of products for the Sony and Nihdesystems, in order to maintain protection oveirthardware technologies, such hardware
producers generally specify and/or control the nfiacturing and assembly of finished products. ThenGany delivers the master materials to
the licensor or its approved replicator which thegnufactures finished goods and delivers themadthimpany for distribution under the
Company's label. At the time the Company's produdtorders are filled by the manufacturer, the @any becomes responsible for the c
of manufacturing and the applicable per unit royah such units, even if the units do not ultimatell.

To date, the Company has not experienced amgriakdifficulties or delays in the manufacturedaassembly of its products or material
returns due to product defects.

Competition

The interactive entertainment and leisure ifrgus intensely competitive and is in the proceksubstantial consolidation. The availability
of significant financial resources has become amaympetitive factor in this industry primarily agesult of the increasing development,
acquisition, production and marketing budgets nexgliio publish quality titles. In addition, compets with large product lines and popular
titles typically have greater leverage with distititrs and other customers who may be willing tonte titles with less consumer appeal in
return for access to such competitor's most poftiles. See "Factors Affecting Future Performance”

The Company seeks to compete by publishing gigllity titles and by supporting these titles watibstantial marketing efforts; by
focusing on properties with sustainable consumpeal by working to strengthen its relationshipthwetailers and other resellers and
otherwise expanding its channels of distributiard &y pursuing opportunities for strategic acqinsg. See "Strategy."
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Employees

As of March 31, 2001, the Company had 764 eygas, including 258 in product development, 61 antNl American publishing, 110 in
corporate finance, operations and administrati@nninternational publishing, and 258 in Europésiribution activities.

As of March 31, 2001, approximately 110 of @@mpany's full-time employees were subject to temployment agreements with the
Company. These agreements generally commit suclogegs to employment terms of between one and treaes from the commencement
of their respective agreements. Most of the empm@sygibject to such agreements are executives Gfdirpany or members of the product
development, sales or marketing divisions. Thedwiiduals perform services for the Company as etees, directors, producers, associate
producers, computer programmers, game designédes, disectors and marketing product managers. Xbewtion by the Company of
employment agreements with such employees, in tmepany's experience, significantly reduces the Goms turnover during the
development and production of its entertainmentisae products and allows the Company to plan reffetively for future development
activities.

None of the Company's employees are subjextctlective bargaining agreement, and the Compasyexperienced no labolated worl
stoppages.

Financial Information about Foreign and Domestic Ogerations and Export Sales

See Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Arabfsirinancial Condition and Results of Operaticamstd Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Iterr



Item 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's principal corporate, administegtand product development offices are locateapproximately 98,000 square feet of
leased space in a building located at 3100 OcedanBraulevard, Santa Monica, California 90405. Tokofwing is a listing of the principal
offices maintained by the Company at June 13, 2001:

Location of

Principal Facilities Square Fee Lease Expiration Date
Santa Monica, Californi 98,000 April 30, 2007

Woodland Hills, Californie 10,00C April 20, 2005

Madison, Wisconsi 13,30C December 31, 200

Eden Prairie, Minnesot 9,80C September 30, 20C

Dallas, Texa: 2,30C February 28, 200

New York, New York 50C April 30, 2003

Ontario, Canad 1,90C June 30, 200

Middlesex, United Kingdon 10,60C November 1, 200
Berkshire, United Kingdor 8,200 September 8, 201
Birmingham, United Kingdon 81,00C May 20, 2011- May 31, 201z
Birmingham, United Kingdon 43,30C Month to Month
Antwerpen, Belgiun 3,20C May 1, 200z

Eemnes, The Netherlan 1,90C January 1, 200

Argenteuil, Franci 1,80C December 15, 200

Sydney, Australi 3,30C October 31, 200

Ismaning, German 4,20C November 30, 200
Burglengenfeld, Germar 58,00 Owned

Tokyo, Japal 53C July 31, 2001
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is party to routine claims andssoifbught against it in the ordinary course of bess including disputes arising over the
ownership of intellectual property rights and colien matters. In the opinion of management, thiea@uae of such routine claims will not
have a material adverse effect on the Companyiadrss financial condition, results of operationéiquidity.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The Company's common stock is quoted on the DIXG National Market under the symbol "ATVI."

The following table sets forth for the periaddicated the high and low reported sale pricegferCompany's common stock. As of
June 13, 2001, there were approximately 4,800 heloerecord of the Company's common stock.

High Low

Fiscal 2000
First Quarter ended June 30, 1999 $ 145 $ 10.31

Second Quarter ended September 30, 1999 17.7¢ 12.6:



Third Quarter ended December 31, 1999 17.5( 13.9¢

Fourth Quarter ended March 31, 2000 17.6¢ 12.0¢
Fiscal 2001

First Quarter ended June 30, 2000 $ 12.1¢ 3 5.3¢

Second Quarter ended September 30, 2000 15.6: 6.31

Third Quarter ended December 31, 2000 15.2¢ 10.31

Fourth Quarter ended March 31, 2001 25.2¢ 13.6:
Fiscal 2002

First Quarter through June 13, 2001 $ 4118 3 20.8¢

On June 13, 2001, the reported last sales foidhe Company's common stock was $40.93.
Dividends

The Company paid no cash dividends in 20010602and does not intend to pay any cash dividendsyatime in the foreseeable future.
The Company expects that earnings will be retafoethe continued growth and development of the gany's business. In addition, the
Company's bank credit facility currently prohibite Company from paying dividends on its commoulst&uture dividends, if any, will
depend upon the Company's earnings, financial tiongdicash requirements, future prospects and déetors deemed relevant by the
Company's Board of Directors.

Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

In 1998, the Company granted warrants to puehi®0,000 shares of the Company's common stdélatmm International Inc.
("Viacom"), an affiliate of Viacom Consumer Prodsidinc. ("VCP"), in connection with, and as partiahsideration for, a license agreement
between VCP and the Company that gives the Comitemngight to utilize intellectual properties assted with theStar Trektelevision serie
and films in conjunction with Activision productd/arrants to purchase 500,000 share of the Compeorision stock have an exercise price
of $10.27 per share, vested upon grant, have get@nterm and become exercisable ratably overeay®ar term. The remaining warrants
vested upon grant, have a ten year term, becomeigakele ratably over a five year term beginningSeptember 16, 2003 and have an
exercise price based on the average closing pfiteedCompany's common stock for the 30 tradingsdagceding September 16, 2003.

In September 1998, the Company granted wartamarchase 250,000 shares of the Company's corstook to Disney
Entertainment, Inc. ("Disney") as partial considierafor a license
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agreement between Disney and the Company that tfieeSompany the right to utilize intellectual peojies associated with certain Disney
animated films in conjunction with Activision procts.

In May 1999, the Company granted warrants telpase 100,000 shares of the Company's common at@ckexercise price of $11.63 per
share to Cabela's, Incorporated ("Cabela’s") imeotion with, and as partial consideration foicarise agreement that allows the Company
to utilize the Cabela's name in conjunction withai@ Activision products. The warrants vested ugeemt, have a seven year term and are
exercisable in annual increments over the wareamt t

In June 1999, the Company issued 204,448 sbéisscommon stock in connection with the acgigsi of Elsinore Multimedia, Inc.

In September 1999, the Company issued 698/8&%®s of its common stock in connection with thguisition of JCM Productions, Inc.
dba Neversoft Entertainment.

In December 1999, the Company issued 77,03Eslud its common stock in connection with a 40%iggnvestment in Gray Matter
Studios, formerly known as Video Games West, Inc.

None of the shares, warrants, options or shatesvhich the warrants or options are exercisal#ee registered under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), by reafadhe exemption under Section 4(2) of the Seasgifict. The Company subsequently
registered the shares issued in connection witlEtsiaore Multimedia, Inc., JCM Productions, Inbad\eversoft Entertainment and Gray
Matter Studios transactions for resale by the hrsltleereof



Repurchase Pla

As of May 9, 2000, the Board of Directors authed the Company to purchase up to $15.0 millioehares of its common stock as well as
its convertible subordinated notes. The shareshatets could be purchased from time to time thrahghopen market or in privately
negotiated transactions. The amount of shares aigd purchased and the timing of purchases weesltasa number of factors, including
the market price of the shares and notes, marketittons, and such other factors as the Compangisagement deemed appropriate. The
Company has financed the purchase of shares wéitable cash. During the quarter ended June 3@ #@®Company repurchased
2.3 million shares of its common stock for approaiaty $15.0 million.

Shareholders' Rights Plan

On April 18, 2000, the Company's Board of Dioes approved a shareholders rights plan (the "Rigkan"). Under the Rights Plan, each
common stockholder at the close of business onl ABri2000 will receive a dividend of one right faich share of common stock held. Each
right represents the right to purchase one one-tagitiol (1/100) of a share of the Company's Seri@amor Preferred Stock at an exercise
price of $40.00. Initially, the rights are represhby the Company's common stock certificateseaadeither exercisable nor traded
separately from the Company's common stock. ThHesigill only become exercisable if a person omugracquires 15% or more of the
common stock of the Company, or announces or coroesea tender or exchange offer which would reauhé bidder's beneficial owners
of 15% or more of the Company's common stock.

In the event that any person or group acqui&& or more of the Company's outstanding commackstach holder of a right (other than
such person or members of such group) will theeedfave the right to receive upon exercise of sigtit, in lieu of shares of Series A Junior
Preferred Stock, the number of shares of commark sibthe Company having a value equal to two tithesthen current exercise price of
right. If the Company is acquired in a merger dreotbusiness combination transaction after a perasracquired 15% or more the
Company's common stock, each holder of a righttivdreafter have the right to receive upon exemiseich right a number of the acquiring
company's common shares having a market value émtab times the then
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current exercise price of the right. For persons,ves of the close of business on April 18, 20@ddiicially own 15% or more of the
common stock of the Company, the Rights Plan "diathdrs" their current level of ownership, so l@sthey do not purchase additional
shares in excess of certain limitations.

The Company may redeem the rights for $.0Irigét at any time until the first public announcerhef the acquisition of beneficial
ownership of 15% of the Company's common stockarttime after a person has acquired 15% or mareb@fore any person has acquired
more than 50%) of the Company's common stock, tiragainy may exchange all or part of the rights Fares of common stock at an
exchange ratio of one share of common stock pat.righe rights expire on April 18, 2010.

Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table summarizes certain selec®asolidated financial data, which should be ti@eagbnjunction with the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes tharetovith Management's Discussion and Analysisimdificial Condition and Results of
Operations included elsewhere herein. The selaxtredolidated financial data presented below andffar each of the fiscal years in the
five-year period ended March 31, 2001 are derivethfthe audited consolidated financial statemehtseoCompany. The Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2001 and 2000 an@dhsolidated Statements of Operations and Statsra€Cash Flows for each of the
fiscal years in the three-year period ended MafcH2801, and the reports thereon, are includedvlse in this Form 10-K.

(In thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal years ended March 31,

Restated(1)
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Statement of Operations Data

Net revenue: $ 620,18! $ 572,20 $ 436,52t $ 312,90t $ 190,44t
Cost of sale—product cost: 324,90 319,42: 260,04: 176,18t 103,12
Cost of sale—royalties and software amortizati 89,70: 91,23¢ 36,99( 29,84( 13,10¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 39,80 (30,32Y 26,66 9,21¢ 11,497
Income (loss) before income tax provis 32,54 (38,73¢) 23,63¢ 8,10¢ 11,57¢
Net income (loss 20,507 (34,089 14,89: 4,97( 7,58:

Basic earnings (loss) per shi 0.8 (1.3¢) 0.6t 0.22 0.3¢



Diluted earnings (loss) per she 0.7t (1.3¢) 0.62 0.21 0.3t

Basic weighted average common shares outstal 24,86¢ 24,691 22,86 22,03¢ 20,96!
Diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding 27,40( 24,691 23,93: 22,90¢ 21,65(

Selected Operating Data

EBITDA(2) 46,07¢ 15,541 33,15¢ 14,56¢ 15,69(

Cash (used in) provided by:

Operating activitie: 147,52¢ 77,38¢ 18,19( 31,67( 4,98¢

Investing activities (74,599 (99,547 (64,33) (43,819 (19,617

Financing activitie: 2,547 42,02¢ 7,22( 62,86 11,98:
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As of March 31,

Restated

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 182,98( $ 158,22' $ 136,35! $ 115,78: $ 52,14:
Cash and cash equivalel 125,55( 49,98t 33,037 74,31¢ 23,35:
Goodwill, net 10,31¢ 12,347 21,64% 23,47 23,75¢
Total asset 359,95 309,73 283,34! 229,36t 132,20:
Long-term debr 63,40 73,77¢ 61,14: 61,19: 5,907
Redeemable and convertible preferred s — — — 1,50C
Shareholders' equi 181,30¢ 132,00¢ 127,19( 97,47¢ 80,32:
1)
Consolidated financial information for fiscal yed!399 - 1996 has been restated retroactively feffects of the September 1999
acquisition of Neversoft, accounted for as a papbhinterests. Consolidated financial informatfonfiscal years 1998 - 1996 has
been restated retroactively for the effects ofabguisitions of S.B.F. Services, Limited dba Heao®s Publishing and CD Contact
Data GmbH, in June 1998 and September 1998, régplgcaccounted for as pooling of interests. Cdidsted financial information
for fiscal year 1997 has been restated retroagtieelthe effects of the acquisitions of Raven $&afte Corporation, NBG EDV
Handels—und Verlags GmbH and Combined Distribufldaldings) Limited in November 1997, August 19974 &hovember 1997,
respectively, accounted for as pooling of interests
)

EBITDA represents income (loss) before interesipine taxes and, depreciation and amortization opgsty and equipment and
goodwill. The Company believes that EBITDA providesful information regarding the Company's abiiityservice its debt;
however, EBITDA does not represent cash flow frggerations as defined by generally accepted acamyptinciples and should not
be considered a substitute for net income, asdinator of the Company's operating performanceash flow or as a measure of
liquidity.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company is a leading international publisdeveloper and distributor of interactive entiertzent and leisure products. The Company
currently focuses its publishing, development aistridution efforts on products designed for peedaromputers ("PCs") as well as the Sony
PlayStation ("PSX") and PlayStation 2 ("PS2") anidtdhdo N64 ("N64") console systems and Nintendm&8oy handheld game devices.
The Company is also currently focusing on the dgwelent of products for Microsoft Xbox ("Xbox") atddntendo GameCube console
systems and Nintendo Game Boy Advance hand helideldburing January 2001, Sega Corp., the makéreoSega Dreamcast
("Dreamcast") console system announced that it dvqult making the Dreamcast in March 2001. Net nexes from the Dreamcast he



historically represented only a small percentagi@fCompany's total net revenues. Accordingly Gbepany believes that the departure of
the Dreamcast console system from the market wilhave a material impact upon its financial positdr results of operations.

The Company distributes its products worldwiti®ugh its direct sales forces, through its disttion subsidiaries, and through third party
distributors and licensees.

The Company's financial information as of aodthe year ended March 31, 1999 has been redtateflect the effect of pooling of
interests transactions as discussed in Item 1tend 6 of this Report.

The Company recognizes revenue from the sdts pfoducts once they are shipped and are alaifabgeneral release to customers.
Subject to certain limitations, the Company permitstomers to obtain exchanges and returns withirio specified periods and provides
price protection on certain unsold merchandise eReg from product sales is reflected after dedgdtie estimated allowance for returns .
price protection. Management of the Company esém#te amount of future returns and price protadi@sed upon historical results and
current known circumstances. With respect to lieesgreements that provide customers the right ftiptaucopies in exchange for
guaranteed amounts, revenue is recognized uporedeliPer copy royalties on sales that exceed tlagagntee are recognized as earned.

Cost of sales-product costs represents thet@gatrchase, manufacture and distribute PC andatemproduct units. Manufacturers of the
Company's PC software are located worldwide andea@ily available. Console CDs and cartridgesvaaufactured by the respective video
game console manufacturers, Sony, Nintendo and &dtmagents, who often require significant I¢iatk to fulfill the Company's orders.

Cost of sales-royalties and software amortiratepresents amounts due developers, product evanerother royalty participants as a
result of product sales, as well as amortizatiopagfitalized software development costs. The dostgred by the Company to develop
products are accounted for in accordance with atooy standards that provide for the capitalizatécertain software development costs
once technological feasibility is established amchscosts are determined to be recoverable. Addiliy, various contracts are maintained
with developers, product owners or other royaltstipgants, which state a royalty rate, territondaerm of agreement, among other items.
Commencing upon product release, prepaid royadtielscapitalized software costs are amortized tbafosales—royalties and software
amortization based on the ratio of current revenodstal projected revenues, generally resultimgn amortization period of one year or less.

For products that have been released, manag@wvanates the future recoverability of prepaigattes and capitalized software costs on a
quarterly basis. Prior to a product's releaseCiimpany charges to expense, as part of productaawent costs, capitalized costs when, in
management's
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estimate, such amounts are not recoverable. Tlefolg criteria is used to evaluate recoverabilitistorical performance of comparable
products; the commercial acceptance of prior prtsdredeased on a given game engine; orders fqurthauct prior to its release; estimated
performance of a sequel product based on the peafoce of the product on which the sequel is bemediactual development costs of a
product as compared to the Company's budgeted @moun

The following table sets forth certain consatetl statements of operations data for the peinlisated as a percentage of total net
revenues and also breaks down net revenues biptgraind platform, as well as operating income bgiess segment:

Fiscal years ended March 31,

(In thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Net revenue: $ 620,18 100% $ 572,20! 100% $ 436,52¢ 100%
Costs and expense
Cost of sale— product cost: 324,90 52% 319,42. 56 % 260,04: 60 %
Cost of sale— royalties and software amortizati 89,70: 14% 91,23¢ 16% 36,99( 9%
Product developmel 41,39¢ 8% 26,27¢ 5% 22,87¢ 5%
Sales and marketir 85,37¢ 14% 87,30« 15% 66,42( 15%
General and administrati 37,49: 6 % 36,67« 6 % 21,94¢ 5%
Amortization of intangible asse 1,50z 0% 41,61¢ 7% 1,58¢ 0%
Total costs and expens 580,37t 94 % 602,53(  105% 409,85¢ 94 %
Income (loss) from operatiol 39,80" 6 % (30,329 (5)% 26,66" 6%

Interest income (expense), | (7,263 (1)% (8,417 (2% (3,03)) (1)%



Income (loss) before income tax provis 32,54« 5% (38,73¢) (7% 23,63¢ 5%
Income tax provision (benefi 12,031 2% (4,64 (1)% 8,74t 2%
Net income (loss $ 20,50° 3% $ (34,08¢) 6)% $ 14,89: 3%

I | I | I |
NET REVENUES BY TERRITORY
United State: $ 352,89: 57% $ 282,84 9% $ 149,70! 34%
Europe 256,221 41% 277,48! 49% 278,03. 64 %
Other 11,06: 2% 11,87: 2% 8,78¢ 2%
Total net revenue $ 620,18: 100% $ 572,200 100% $ 436,52¢ 100%
I | I | I |
ACTIVITY/PLATFORM MIX:
Publishing:
Console $ 349,52¢ 5% $ 281,20 1% $ 111,66: 54 %
PC 116,53: 25% 115,48 29% 93,88( 46 %
Total publishing net revenu 466,06: 75% 396,69: 69 % 205,54 47%
Distribution:
Console 117,36! 76% 129,07: 74% 156,58 68 %
PC 36,75¢ 24% 46,44 26% 74,40( 32%
Total distribution net revenut 154,12: 25% 175,51« 31% 230,98« 53%
Total net revenue $ 620,18: 100% $ 572,20¢ 100% $ 436,52t 100%
I | I | I |
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS
Publishing $ 35,68’ 5% $ (35,049 6)% $ 12,39¢ 3%
Distribution 4,12( 1% 4,72¢ 1% 14,26¢ 3%
Total operating income (los $ 39,80: 6% $ (30,32%) 5)% $ 26,66 6 %
| | | | | |
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Results of Operations—Fiscal Years Ended March 32001 and 2000

Net income for fiscal year 2001 was $20.5 wiillor $0.75 per diluted share, as compared toosstdf $34.1 million or $1.38 per diluted
share in fiscal year 2000. The 2000 results wegatieely impacted by a strategic restructuring geaotaling $70.2 million, approximately
$61.8 million net of tax, or $2.50 per diluted ghaBee the analysis of the results of operationghéofiscal years ended March 31, 2000 and
1999 for a detailed discussion of the restructuglag. During fiscal 2001, the Company completaxbthrestructuring initiatives.

Net Revenue

Net revenues for the year ended March 31, 20@&ased 8% from the same period last year, froi2® million to $620.2 million. This
increase was driven by the performance of the Coyipgublishing segment, partially offset by deetirexperienced in the Company's
distribution segment.

Publishing net revenues for the year ended Maig 2001 increased 17% from $396.7 million to&46million. This increase primarily
was due to publishing console net revenues inargas1% from $281.2 million to $349.5 million. Thecrease in publishing console net
revenues was attributable to the release in fi3@@l of several titles that sold very well in tharietplace, includingony Hawk Pro Skater
(PSX, Dreamcast and Game Bo$pidermanPSX, N64 and Game BoyX-Men Mutant AcademiPSX and Game Boy), as well as
continuing strong sales of the origirfany Hawk Pro SkatgPSX and N64). Publishing PC net revenues for #a ¥nded March 31, 2001
remained relatively constant with the prior yeacreasing 1% from $115.5 million to $116.5 million.

For the year ended March 31, 2001, distributienrevenues decreased 12% from prior fiscal frear $175.5 million to $154.1 millior



The decrease was mainly attributable to the coatinueakness in the European console market asilagéthe transition to next-generation
console systems. Based on previous new hardwaneHas, the Company expects that its distributicsinass will benefits in future periods
from the introduction of PS2 and other next-genenatonsoles. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 200istribution had its best results in eight
quarters, reflecting the accelerating opportunities the introduction of new console systems.

Domestic net revenues grew 25.0% from $282I8omito $352.9 million. International net revenudecreased by 8% from $289.4 million
to $267.3 million. The increase in domestic neeraes is reflective of the increases in the Compablishing segment as described above
and the decrease in international net revenuedlective of the declines in the Company's distitou segment as described above.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of sales—product costs represented 52%@%dof net revenues for the year ended March 301 2and 2000, respectively. The
decrease in cost of sales—product costs as a pageeof net revenues for the year ended March@®11 #as due to the decrease in
distribution net revenue, partially offset by ateg publishing console net revenue mix. Distriboifiwoducts have a higher per unit product
cost than publishing products, and console prochete a higher per unit product cost than PC prisduc

Cost of sales—royalty and software amortizaigpense represented 14% and 16% of net revenugsefgear ended March 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The decrease in cost of sategalty and software amortization expense as agmeage of net revenues is reflective of
$11.9 million of write-offs recorded in the fourgjuarter of fiscal 2000 relating to the Company&returing plan as later described in the
analysis of the results of operations for the figears ended March 31, 2000 and 1999.
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Product development expenses of $41.4 milliwh$26.3 million represented 8% and 5% of net raesrfor the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These ise® product development expenses in dollarsaardpercentage of net revenues reflect
the Company's investment in the development of ywtsdfor next-generation console and haettt devices, including PS2, Xbox, GameC
and Game Boy Advance. The increases are also tigéleaf the increase in the number of titles expddb be released in fiscal 2002, 52 tit
compared to fiscal 2001, 35 titles. Of the 52 sitkxpected to be released in fiscal 2002, 19 @tesor next-generation platforms, which have
higher development costs than existing-platforfadit

Sales and marketing expenses of $85.4 milliah%87.3 million represented 14% and 15% of netmees for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. This deereafiects the Company's ability to generate savimgbuilding on the existing awareness
of our branded products and sequel titles solchduiiscal 2001.

General and administrative expenses for the greded March 31, 2001 remained constant with ttoe fiscal year, increasing 2% from
$36.7 million to $37.5 million. As a percentagenet revenues, fiscal 2001 general and adminisea&ipenses also remained relatively
constant with the prior fiscal year at approximatds.

Amortization of intangibles decreased subsgdigtirom $41.6 million in fiscal 2000 to $1.5 mdh in fiscal 2001. This was due to the
write-off in fiscal 2000 of goodwill acquired in pthase acquisitions in conjunction with the Compsangstructuring plan as subsequently
described.

Operating Income (Loss)

Operating income (loss) for the year ended M&%, 2001, was $39.8 million, compared to $(3@n8lion in fiscal 2000. This increase in
consolidated operating income is primarily the hestiincreased operating income in the Companyldiphing business.

Publishing operating income (loss) for the yeaded March 31, 2001 increased to $35.7 milliompmgared to $(35.0) million in the prior
fiscal year. The increase reflects the chargesiiadun fiscal 2000 in conjunction with the Compamestructuring plan as subsequently
described, which predominantly impacted the Comggmyblishing segment. Distribution operating inecfor the year ended March 31,
2001 remained flat at $4.1 million, compared tor$4illion in the prior fiscal year.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense, net of interest income, @dseetto $7.3 million for the year ended March 3012 from $8.4 million for the year ended
March 31, 2000. This decrease in interest expersedue to lower average borrowings on the revolpimgion of the Company's
$125.0 million term loan and revolving credit fétgil(the "U.S. Facility") during fiscal 2001 wheompared to prior fiscal year, as well as
increased interest earned as a result of highestable cash balances throughout the year.

Provision for Income Taxe



The income tax provision of $12.0 million ftetfiscal year ended March 31, 2001, reflects thegany's effective income tax rate of
approximately 37%. The significant items generathmgvariance between the Company's effectiveaiatiits statutory rate of 35% are state
taxes and nondeductible goodwill amortization, ipHiytoffset by a decrease in the Company's defetai® asset valuation allowance and
research and development tax credits. The reaizati deferred tax assets primarily is dependerthergeneration of future taxable income.
Management believes that it is more likely thanthat the Company will generate taxable incomei@efit to realize the benefit of net
deferred tax assets recognized.
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Results of Operations—Fiscal Years Ended March 32000 and 1999

Net loss for fiscal year 2000 was $34.1 millmr$1.38 per diluted share, as compared to netiecof $14.9 million or $0.62 per diluted
share in fiscal year 1999. The 2000 results wegatieely impacted by a strategic restructuring geaotaling $70.2 million, approximately
$61.8 million net of tax, or $2.50 per diluted shar

Strategic Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Compéinalized a strategic restructuring plan to deae the development and sale of interactive
entertainment and leisure products for the nexegaion consoles and the Internet. Costs assoamtbdhis plan amounted to $70.2 million,
approximately $61.8 million net of taxes, and weseorded in the consolidated statement of operaiiothe fourth quarter of fiscal year 2(
and classified as follows (amounts in millions):

Net revenue $ 11.7
Cost of sale—royalties and software amortizati 11.€
Product developmel 4.2
General and administrati 5.2
Amortization of intangible asse 37.2

$ 70.2

|

The component of the charge included in amatitn of intangible assets represented a write dofwntangibles including goodwill,
relating to Expert Software, Inc. ("Expert"), orfetlee Company's value publishing subsidiaries Jitege26.3 million. The Company
consolidated Expert into Head Games, forming otegirated business unit. As part of this consoliatihe Company discontinued
substantially all of Expert's product lines, teratgd substantially all of Expert's employees araspt out the use of the Expert name. In
addition, a $10.9 million write down of goodwilllaging to TDC, an OEM business unit, was recordiging fiscal 1999, the OEM market
went through radical changes due to price declii¢¥Cs and hardware accessories. The sum of thisaauhted future cash flow of these
assets was not sufficient to cover the carryingealf these assets and as such was written dofair tnarket value.

The component of the charge included in ne¢meres and general and administrative expense egpisasosts associated with the planned
termination of a substantial number of third pafistributor relationships in connection with then@many's realignment of its worldwide
publishing business to leverage its existing salesmarketing organizations and improve the cortnol management of its products. These
actions resulted in an increase in the allowancsdtes returns of $11.7 million and the allowafaredoubtful accounts of $3.4 million. The
plan also included a severance charge of $1.2amiftir employee redundancies.

The components of the charge included in cbsales—royalties and software amortization andipcb development represent costs to
write down certain assets associated with exitengain product lines and re-evaluating other protines which resulted in reduced
expectations.

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed #sructuring initiatives associated with the fis2@0D0 restructuring plan without any
significant adjustments.

Net Revenue

Net revenues for the year ended March 31, 2@€i@ased 31% from the same period last year, $48&6.5 million to $572.2 million. The
increase was due to a 53% increase in consolewnetues from $268.2 million to $410.3 million, $lity offset by a 4% decrease in PC net
revenues from
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$168.3 million to $161.9 million. Domestic net reves grew 89% from $149.7 million to $282.8 millidmternational net revenues remained
fairly constant, increasing 1% from $286.8 millimn$289.4 million.

Publishing net revenues for the year ended Maig 2000 increased 93% from $205.5 million to&3dmillion. This increase primarily
was due to publishing console net revenues inargd$s2% from $111.7 million to $281.2 million. Therease in publishing console net
revenues was attributable to the release in fi38@0 of a larger number of titles that sold welthie marketplace, including Blue Stinger
(Dreamcast), Space Invaders (PlayStation, N64 ardeboy Color) and Toy Story Il (PlayStation and NG4rzan (N64 and Gameboy), A
Bug's Life (N64), Vigilante 8: Second Offense (FB&gtion, N64 and Gameboy), WuTang: Shaolin Stylay@ation) and Tony Hawk's Pro
Skater (PlayStation, N64 and Gameboy). Publishi@g €t revenues for the year ended March 31, 20ffeased 23% from $93.9 million to
$115.5 million. This increase primarily was duehe release of Quake 3 Arena, Cabela's Big Gamégrlh Star Trek: Hidden Euvil,
Armada and Soldier of Fortune.

For the year ended March 31, 2000, distributienhrevenues decreased 24% from prior fiscal frear $231.0 million to $175.5 million.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the pricgalyictions initiated by leading retail chainshe tJnited Kingdom (the "UK"), which in
turn reduced market share for the independent itannel in the UK to which the Company's CentfeSabsidiary is the sole authorized
Sony PlayStation distributor, as well as the unfatate impact of foreign currency translation rates.

Net OEM licensing, on-line and other revenuedtlie fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 increa€8d #om $19.0 million to $26.7 million.
The increase was primarily due to an increasecenking revenues, partially offset by a decreas2HM revenues. Licensing revenues
increased due to an increase in the number ofdingrarrangements entered into by the Company glfisnal 2000. OEM revenues
decreased due to the radical changes being expedén the OEM market in fiscal 2000, which resiliieom declining prices of personal
computers and hardware accessories and the retectdiardware manufacturers to produce large tovies.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of sales—product costs represented 56%6@%dof net revenues for the year ended March @20 2nd 1999, respectively. The
decrease in cost of sales—product costs as a pageeaf net revenues for the year ended March@®10 #vas due to the decrease in
distribution net revenue, partially offset by ateg publishing console net revenue mix. Distribuifiwoducts have a higher per unit product
cost than publishing products, and console procuate a higher per unit product cost than PC prizduc

Cost of sales—royalty and software amortizaégpense represented 16% and 9% of net revenudsefgear ended March 31, 2000 and
1999, respectively. The increase in cost of salesralty and software amortization expense as a ptage of net revenues was primarily due
to changes in the Company's product mix, with andase in the number of branded products with highglty obligations as compared to
the prior fiscal year and increases in amortizaégpenses relating to the release of a greater euaflproducts with capitalizable
development costs. The increase also partiallyitezsérom $11.9 million of write-offs recorded ihe fourth quarter of fiscal 2000 relating to
the Company's restructuring plan as previously ritesd.

Product development expenses for the year elldedh 31, 2000 increased 15% from the same péaiid/ear from $22.9 million to
$26.3 million. The increase was primarily due t84a2 million charge to product development coslatireg to the Company's restructuring
plan as previously described.
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As a percentage of net revenues, total procheettion costs (i.e., royalties and software arpatitbon expense plus product development
expenses) increased from 14% to 21% for the yed@dMarch 31, 2000. Such increases were attribeitatthe increases in product
development costs, as described above.

Sales and marketing expenses for the year eddech 31, 2000 increased 31% from the same péaigid/ear, from $66.4 million to
$87.3 million, but remained relatively constangsercentage of net revenues at 15% at March 8D, &0d 1999. The increase in the amc
of sales and marketing expenses primarily was daa tincrease in the number of titles releasedaanidcrease in television advertising
during the final quarter of fiscal 2000 to suppbg Company's premium titles.

General and administrative expenses for the greded March 31, 2000 increased 67% from the [figoal year, from $21.9 million to
$36.7 million. As a percentage of net revenueseg@rand administrative expenses remained relgto@hstant at approximately 5% to 6%.
The increase in the amount of general and adnétiistr expenses was due to an increase in worldadd@nistrative support needs and
headcount related expenses and charges incuroashjunction with the Company's restructuring plaevpusly described.

Amortization of intangibles increased substdhtifrom $1.6 million in fiscal 1999 to $41.6 mdh in fiscal 2000. This was due to the
write-off of goodwill acquired in purchase acquitsits.

Operating Income (Los!



Operating income (loss) for the year ended M&k, 2000, was $(30.3) million, compared to $26ilfion in fiscal 1999.

Publishing operating income (loss) for the yerded March 31, 2000 decreased 382% to $(35.0pmitompared to $12.4 million in the
prior fiscal year. The decrease reflects the chaigeurred in conjunction with the Company's restiting plan as previously described,
which predominantly impacted the Company's pultligliegment. Distribution operating income for tearyended March 31, 2000 decre:
67% to $4.7 million, compared to $14.3 million letprior fiscal year. The period over period chapgearily was due to a decrease in
distribution sales and the UK price reductionspeizd earlier.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest expense, net of interest income, ased to $8.4 million for the year ended March 3D® from $3.0 million for the year ended
March 31, 1999. This increase primarily was theiltesf interest costs associated with the Compabd/26 million term loan and revolving
credit facility obtained in June 1999.

Provision for Income Taxe

The income tax benefit of $4.6 million for thear ended March 31, 2000 reflected the Compaffigstive income tax rate of
approximately 12%. The significant items that gatext the variance between the Company's effecitecand its statutory rate of 34% were
nondeductible goodwill amortization and an increiasthe Company's deferred tax asset valuatiorwalhze, partially offset by research and
development tax credits. The realization of defitex assets primarily is dependent on the gemerati future taxable income. Management
believes that it is more likely than not that then@pany will generate taxable income sufficientdalize the benefit of net deferred tax assets
recognized.
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Quarterly Operating Results

The Company's quarterly operating results liavke past varied significantly and will likely masignificantly in the future, depending on
numerous factors, several of which are not undeCQbmpany's control. See Item 1 "Business—Faétfiexting Future Performance” and
Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis ofRaial Condition and Results of Operations—Strat&gstructuring Plan.” The
Company's business also has experienced and istegge continue to experience significant seastgnah part due to consumer buying
patterns. Net revenues typically are significahifyher during the fourth calendar quarter, prinyadilie to the increased demand for consumet
software during the year-end holiday buying seasacordingly, the Company believes that period-6vipd comparisons of its operating
results are not necessarily meaningful and shootdba relied upon as indications of future perfanoe

The following table is a comparative breakdafithe Company's quarterly results for the immedyapreceding eight quarters (amount
thousands, except per share data):

Quarter ended

March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,

2001 2000 2000 2000 2000(1) 1999 1999 1999(2)

Net revenue $ 126,78¢ $ 264,47. $ 144,360 $ 84,55¢ $ 103,83¢ $ 268,86: $ 115,36: $ 84,14:
Operating income (loss) 2,01t 34,75¢ 9,53¢ (6,49¢) (65,99() 38,241 3,52¢ (6,107)
Net income (loss 87¢E 20,50t 4,30¢ (5,179 (52,877) 22,301 1,062 (4,57%)
Basic earnings (loss) per shi 0.0z 0.84 0.1& (0.21) (2.07) 0.8¢ 0.04 (0.19)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.0: 0.7¢C 0.17 (0.23) (2.07) 0.7% 0.04 (0.19)

@

See Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysisrafncial Condition and Results of Operations—8g& Restructuring Plan.”

@

Restated for acquisition of Neversoft
Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's cash and cash equivalents irede®&5.6 million, from $50.0 million at March 31Q@0 to $125.6 million at March 31,
2001. This was in comparison to a $17.0 milliorréase in cash flows in fiscal year 2000 from $38illion at March 31, 1999 to
$50.0 million at March 31, 2000. This increaseasttin fiscal year 2001 resulted from $81.6 millaovd $2.5 million provided by operating
activities and financing activities, respectivadjfset by $8.6 million utilized in investing actiies. The cash provided by operating activities
primarily was the result of changes in accounteikable and accounts payable, driven by a seasbaalge in working capital needs. The
cash used in investing activities primarily is tleult of capital expenditures. The cash provideéifancing activities is primarily the result
of $33.6 million of cash proceeds from the issuacm@mon stock pursuant to employee stock optionspléne employee stock purchase ¢



and warrants. These inflows were partially offsgBt6.1 in net cash payments on borrowings, asase$i15.0 million of cash used by the
Company to purchase its common stock under itsrebjse program.

In connection with the Company's purchasesinféxido N64 hardware and software cartridges fatribution in North America and
Europe, Nintendo requires the Company to providey/acable letters of credit prior to accepting jpase orders from the Company.
Furthermore, Nintendo maintains a policy of notegating returns of Nintendo N64 hardware and sofwartridges. Because of these and
other factors, the carrying of an inventory of dimio N64 hardware and software cartridges entagitséficant capital and risk. As of
March 31, 2001, the Company had $5.4 million of N@ddware and software cartridge inventory on harch represented approximately
12% of all inventory.

In December 1997, the Company completed theafariplacement of $60.0 million principal amoun6dt/ 4% convertible subordinated
notes due 2005 (the "Notes"). The Notes are coilerin
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whole or in part, at the option of the holder af ime after December 22, 1997 (the date of origsguance) and prior to the close of
business on the business day immediately precédenmaturity date, unless previously redeemedpmurahased, into common stock,
$.000001 par value, of the Company, at a convergime of $18.875 per share, (equivalent to a crsiwe rate of 52.9801 shares per $1,000
principal amount of Notes), subject to adjustmantartain circumstances. The Notes are redeemabidole or in part, at the option of the
Company at any time on or after January 10, 2G0&demption occurs prior to December 31, 2003Gbmpany must pay a premium on
such redeemed Notes. Subsequent to March 31, g8Company called for the redemption of the Ndiesonnection with that call, as of
June 20, 2001, holders have converted for comnumk stpproximately $60.0 million aggregate principgaiount of their convertible
subordinated notes.

The Company has a $100.0 million revolving dr&atility and a $25.0 million term loan with argyicate of banks (the "U.S. Facility").
The revolving portion of the U.S. Facility providie Company with the ability to borrow up to $1@illion and issue letters of credit up
$80 million on a revolving basis against eligibtzaunts receivable and inventory. The $25.0 milterm loan portion of the U.S. Facility
was used to fund the acquisition of Expert Softwhre. in June 1999 and to pay costs related th agquisition and the securing of the U.S.
Facility. The term loan has a three year term wiihcipal amortization on a straight-line quartesgsis beginning December 31, 1999 and a
borrowing rate based on the banks' base rate (vidiglnerally equivalent to the published primeyalus 2% or LIBOR plus 3%. The
revolving portion of the U.S Facility has a borrogirate based on the banks' base rate plus 1.78¥B0OR plus 2.75% and matures
June 2002. The U.S. Facility had a weighted aveirastgeest rate of approximately 9.70% for the yeading March 31, 2001. The Company
pays a commitment fee &f 2% on the unused portion of the revolving line. Th&. Facility is collateralized by substantially @i the assets
of the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries. The Ba8ility contains various covenants which limit #dglity of the Company to incur
additional indebtedness, pay dividends or makeratis¢ributions, create certain liens, sell assat&nter into certain mergers or acquisitions.
The Company is also required to maintain specfiieghcial ratios related to net worth and fixed rgjes. As of March 31, 2001, the Compi
was in compliance with these covenants. As of M&Lh2001, approximately $8.5 million was outstagdiinder the term loan portion of the
U.S. Facility. As of March 31, 2001, there werebmorowings outstanding and $18.2 million lettersiadit outstanding against the revolving
portion of the U.S. Facility.

In May 2001, the Company repaid the remaini@g $nillion balance of the term loan portion of theS. Facility. In conjunction with the
accelerated repayment of the term loan, the Compamnded the U.S. Facility effective May 7, 200ie Bmended and restated U.S. Fac
eliminates the term loan, reduces the revolve&/&0 million, reduces the interest rate to Pridus 1.25% or LIBOR plus 2.25%, eliminat
certain covenants, increases the advance rategdundes the fee paid for maintenance of the facilit

The Company has a revolving credit facilityoihgh its CD Contact subsidiary in the Netherlarids {(Netherlands Facility"). The
Netherlands Facility permits revolving credit loarsl letters of credit up to Netherlands Guild&L(G") 26 million ($10 million) ai
March 31, 2001, based upon eligible accounts rebéivand inventory balances. The Netherlands Bawlidue on demand, bears interest
Eurocurrency rate plus 1.50% (weighted averageastaate of 7.40% as of March 31, 2001) and matAtegust 2003. The Company had
$1.8 million of borrowings outstanding under thetiNdglands Facility at March 31, 2001. There werdatiers of credit under the Netherlands
Facility as of March 31, 2001.

The Company also has revolving credit fac#itigith its CentreSoft subsidiary located in thetdgdiKingdom, (the "UK Facility") and its
NBG subsidiary located in Germany, (the "Germanlfgt. The UK Facility can be used for working @igal requirements and provides
British Pounds ("GBP") 7 million ($10.0 million) oévolving loans and GBP 3 million ($4.3 million letters of credit, bears interest at
LIBOR plus 2%, is collateralized by substantiallycd the assets of the
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subsidiary and matures in July 2001. The UK Facdlso contains various covenants that requirestiisidiary to maintain specified financ



ratios related to, among others, fixed charges.ddmpany was in compliance with these covenantds Barch 31, 2001. No borrowings
were outstanding against the UK Facility at Mar@¢h 2001. Letters of credit of GBP 3.0 million ($4xlion) were outstanding against the
UK Facility at March 31, 2001. The German Facitign be used for working capital requirements awndiges for revolving loans up to
Deutsche Marks ("DM") 4 million ($1.8 million), besinterest at 7.0%, is collateralized by a cagiodi of approximately GBP 650,000
($928,000) made by the Company's CentreSoft swrgidnd has no expiration date. No borrowings weitstanding against the German
Facility as of March 31, 2001.

In the normal course of business, the Compartsre into contractual arrangements with thirdiparfor the development of products.
Under these agreements, the Company commits taderepecified payments to a developer, contingpohihe developer's achievement of
contractually specified milestones. Assuming afitcactually specified milestones are achievedgcémtracts in place as of March 31, 2001,
the total future minimum contract commitment is egimately $62.1 million, which is scheduled tofmad as follows (amounts in
thousands):

Year ending March 3.

2002 $ 35,19%
2003 13,52¢
2004 6,25(
2005 2,92¢
2006 1,67¢
Thereaftel 2,50(

$ 62,07¢

|

Additionally, as of March 31, 2001, under thents of a production financing arrangement, the @amg has a commitment to purchase
future PlayStation 2 titles from independent thpedty developers for an estimated $5.7 millionlufaiby the developers to complete the
project within the contractual time frame or spieaifions alleviates the Company's commitment.

The Company historically has financed its asijioins through the issuance of shares of its comstock. The Company will continue to
evaluate potential acquisition candidates as td#&mefit they bring to the Company and as to thikyabf the Company to make such
acquisitions and maintain compliance with its béadilities.

In May 2000, the Board of Directors authoritled Company to purchase up to $15.0 million in ebaf its common stock as well as its
convertible subordinated notes. The shares and wotdd be purchased in the open market or in f@iyaegotiated transactions at such
times and in such amounts as management deemespappe, depending on market conditions and othetofs. During fiscal 2001, the
Company repurchased 2.3 million shares of its comatock for approximately $15.0 million.

The Company believes that it has sufficientkirgy capital ($183.0 million at March 31, 2001),vesll as proceeds available from the U.S.
Facility, the UK Facility, the Netherlands Faciliynd the German Facility, to finance the Compaog&rational requirements for at least the
next twelve months, including acquisitions of iniay and equipment, the funding of the developmerdduction, marketing and sale of n
products, the acquisition of intellectual propetghts for future products from third parties ahd tepurchase of common stock and notes
under the Company's repurchase plan.
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Inflation
The Company's management currently believddrifiation has not had a material impact on cantig operations.
Euro Conversion

On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen mamnabantries of the European Union adopted the "easaheir common currency. The
sovereign currencies of the participating countaiesscheduled to remain legal tender as denorisatf the euro between January 1, 1999
and January 1, 2002. Beginning January 1, 200%ahticipating countries will issue new euro-denaatéd bills and coins for use in cash
transactions. No later than July 1, 2002, the piadting countries will withdraw all bills and c@mlenominated in the sovereign currencie
that the sovereign currencies no longer will balégnder for any transactions, making conversiotiné euro complete. The Company has
performed an internal analysis of the possible icapions of the euro conversion on the Companysénass and financial condition, and has
determined that the impact of the conversion wélitnmaterial to its overall operations. The Compamsholly owned subsidiaries operating
in participating countries represented 8% and 12%eCompany's consolidated net revenues for ¢laesyended March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Implementation of SAB 101



The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEStjed Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 101, RewenRecognition in Financial
Statements, in December 1999. The SAB summarizégit®f the SEC staff's views in applying gensralécepted accounting principles to
revenue recognition in financial statements. Duthngyear ended March 31, 2001, the Company peddmreview of its revenue
recognition policies and determined that it is @mpliance with SAB 101.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 183, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments anddgig Activities," ("SFAS No. 133")
as subsequently amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFA$38ois effective for all fiscal years beginniifger June 15, 2000. SFAS No. 133
establishes accounting and reporting standardsefigvative instruments and for hedging activitiésequires that an entity recognize all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities ingtetement of financial position and measure thosguments at fair value. The Company does
not currently participate in hedging activitiesawn derivative instruments but plans to adopt SM&S 133 beginning April 1, 2001.
Management does not believe the adoption of SFASLR® will have a material impact on the finangiakition or results of operations of 1
Company.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential loss arising frélorctuations in market rates and prices. The Comisamarket risk exposures primarily include
fluctuations in interest rates and foreign curreegghange rates. The Company's market risk seasitstruments are classified as "other than
trading." The Company's exposure to market risetissussed below includes "forward-looking statersieanhd represents an estimate of
possible changes in fair value or future earnihgs$ would occur assuming hypothetical future movwa@ interest rates or foreign currency
exchange rates. The Company's views on markeareskot necessarily indicative of actual resuléd thay occur and do not represent the
maximum possible gains and losses that may ocitwwe sictual gains and losses will differ from thesémated, based upon actual
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rateterast rates and the timing of transactions.
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Interest Rate Risl

The Company has a number of variable rate iaxad fate debt obligations, denominated both in.ddlars and various foreign currencies
as detailed in Note 10 to the Consolidated FindiBt@tements appearing elsewhere in this AnnuabRephe Company manages interest
risk by monitoring its ratio of fixed and variabigte debt obligations in view of changing marketditions. Additionally, in the future, the
Company may consider the use of interest rate sgagements to further manage potential interestrisit.

As of March 31, 2001, the carrying value of @@mpany's variable rate debt was $10.3 millioniclvincludes the U.S. Facility
($8.5 million) and the Netherlands Facility ($1.8lion). As of March 31, 2000, the carrying valuktbe Company's variable rate debt was
$26.0 million, which included the U.S. Facility &2 million) and the Netherlands Facility ($3.5 lioih). A hypothetical 1% increase in the
applicable interest rates of the Company's variedite debt would increase annual interest expeps@proximately $103,000 and $260,000,
as March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company additionally has’ 64 % convertible subordinated notes due 2005 (theédldthat have a carrying value of $60.0 million as
of March 31, 2001 and 2000. The Notes have a firevof $60.0 million and $51.6 million as of Margh, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
fair value of the Notes was determined based omegumarket prices. A hypothetical 1% increase imketarates would decrease their fair
value by approximately $600,000 and $516,000 adarth 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Subsequent to March 31, 2001, the Companytirigd of market risk sensitive instruments chan§edhsequent to March 31, 2001, the
Company called for the redemption of $60.0 millafrthe Notes. In connection with that call, aswfd 20, 2001, holders have converted to
common stock approximately $60.0 million aggregatacipal amount of their Notes. Additionally, indyl 2001, the Company repaid in full
the remaining $8.5 million balance of the term Ipantion of the U.S. Facility.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company transacts business in many difféoeaign currencies and may be exposed to finhncéaket risk resulting from
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange ratestipalarly GBP. The volatility of GBP (and all othapplicable currencies) will be monitored
frequently throughout the coming year. While the@any has not traditionally engaged in foreign ency hedging, the Company may in
future use hedging programs, currency forward eatdé; currency options and/or other derivativerfoial instruments commonly utilized to
reduce financial market risks if it is determinbdttsuch hedging activities are appropriate tocedisk.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPL EMENTARY DATA

Page
Report of Independent Accountal F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2002600 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded March 31, 2001, 2000 and 1! F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholeiguity for the Years Ended March 31, 2001, 2000 2999 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded March 31, 2001, 2000 and 1! F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7
Schedule -Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reservesfadarch 31, 2001, 2000 and 19 F-31
Item 14. Exhibit Inde; F-32

All other schedules of the Registrant are adithecause of the absence of conditions under whéhare required or because the required
information is included elsewhere in the finansi@tements or in the notes thereto.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

The Company replaced KPMG LLP ("KPMG") as iteipipal accountant, effective March 20, 2001. Beton was recommended by the
Company's Audit Committee of the Board of Directansl was approved by the Company's Board of Dirscto

KPMG's reports on the Company's financial stetets for the past two years did not contain arees®/opinion or a disclaimer of opinion,
nor were they qualified or modified as to uncemigiaudit scope or accounting principles. During @ompany's two most recently comple
fiscal years and any subsequent interim periodgulieg the decision not to renew KPMG, (i) thereaweo disagreements with KPMG on ¢
matter of accounting principles or practice, finahstatement disclosure, or auditing scope or guace, which, if not resolved to the
satisfaction of KPMG, would have caused it to makeference to the subject matter of the disagreemeonnection with its report, and
(i) there were no reportable events as describdtém 304 of Regulation S-K.

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCooperg'BreewaterhouseCoopers") as the Company's paheigcountant to audit the
Company's financial statements, effective as ofddd&0, 2001. During the Company's two most redsoaf years and three subsequent
interim periods prior to engaging Pricewaterhousgieos, neither the Company nor anyone on its bebakulted with
PricewaterhouseCoopers regarding the applicati@todunting principles to a specified transact@ther completed or proposed; or the type
of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Cany{s financial statements, and neither a writegort nor oral advice was provided to the
Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers that was an tengdactor considered by the Company in reachidgasion as to any accounting,
auditing or financial reporting issue.
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PART IlI
Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The information required by this Item is incorated by reference to the sections of the Compatefinitive Proxy Statement for its 2001
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, entitled "ElectadrDirectors” and "Executive Officers and Key Emysdes"” to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days after tliecf the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorated by reference to the sections of the Compatefinitive Proxy Statement for its 2001
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, entitled "ExecutB@mpensation” and "Indebtedness of Managemertté filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission within 120 days after the driiieofiscal year covered by this Form 10-K.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item is incorated by reference to the sections of the Compatefinitive Proxy Statement for its 2001
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, entitled "Secu@tynership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managet® be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days after tiiecd the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS



The information required by this Item is incorgted by reference to the sections of the Compatefinitive Proxy Statement for its 2001
Annual Meeting of Shareholders, entitled "Certagld@onships and Related Transactions" to be filgll the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after the end of thedigear covered by this Form 10-K.

37

PART IV

Item 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) 1. Financial Statemeni See Item 8.—Consolidated Financial StatementsSapgblementary Data Index for Financial
Statements and Schedule on page 36 he
2. Financial Statement Schedt The following financial statement schedule ofigision, Inc. for the years ended
March 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 is filed as parhisfteport and should be read in conjunction with €onsolidated
Financial Statements of Activision, Ir
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reser
Other financial statement schedules aridted because the information called for is nouiezd or is shown either in
the Consolidated Financial Statements or the rtbergto.
3. Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulati-K
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June®) athong Activision, Inc., Activision Holdings,
Inc. and ATVI Merger Sub, Inc. (incorporated byarefnce to Exhibit 2.4 of the Company's Form 8-K
filed June 16, 2000
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatibAativision Holdings, dated June 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 of therpany's Form -K, filed on June 16, 2000
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Activision Holdifigsorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.6 of the
Company's Form-K, filed on June 16, 2000
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedifi@ate of Incorporation of Activision
Holdings dated as of June 9, 2000 (incorporaterkfgrence to Exhibit 2.7 of the Company's Form 8-
K, filed on June 16, 2000
4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of April 18, 2000, betwthe Company and Continental Stock Transft
Trust Company, which includes as exhibits the fofrRight Certificates as Exhibit A, the Summary
of Rights to Purchase Series A Junior Preferredksas Exhibit B and the form of Certificate of
Designation of Series A Junior Preferred Stockhef€ompany as Exhibit C, (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Registration Statemefioom 8-A, Registration No. 001-15839, filed
April 19, 2000).
10.1  Mediagenic 1991 Stock Option and Stock Award Pésnamended (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration StatenoanfForm S-8, Registration No. 33-63638, filed on
December 8, 1995
10.z  Mediagenic 1991 Director Warrant Plan, as amenghaiporated by reference to Exhibit 28.2 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Fo-8, Registration No. :-63638, filed on June 1, 199:
38
10.Z2  Activision, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan,rasraded, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
of the Company's Form-8, Registration No. 3:-36272 filed on May 4, 2000
10.4  Activision, Inc. 1998 Incentive Plan (incorporategreference to Appendix | of the Company's 1998



10.5

10.€

10.7

10.€

10.1C

10.11

10.1Z

10.1<

10.1¢

10.1¢

Proxy Statement

Activision, Inc. 1999 Incentive Plan (incorporategreference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company's
Form 1(-K for the year ending March 31, 20C

Lease Agreement dated as of December 20, 1996¢ebatthe Company and Barclay Curci Investr
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@fithe Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended December 31, 199

Share Exchange Agreement dated November 23, 188hgathe Company and the holders of all of
the issued and outstanding capital stock of Contbidistribution (Holdings) Limited (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Fo-K filed December 5, 1997

Purchase Agreement dated as of December 16, 18@®nhgthe Company and Credit Suisse First
Boston Corporation, Piper Jaffray, Inc. and UBSusigies LLC (the "Initial Purchasers")
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of then@any's Form-K filed December 23, 1997

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Decerhbget 997, among the Company and the Initial
Purchasers (incorporated by reference to ExhibR2 #0the Company's Form 8-K filed December 23,
1997).

Indenture dated as of December 22, 1997, betwee@dmpany and State Street Bank and Trust
Company of California, N.A., as Trustee (incorpethby reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's
Form &K filed December 23, 1997

Amended and restated employment agreement date®®a3000 between the Company and Robert
A. Kotick (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@f the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 20(

Employment agreement dated October 19, 1998 bettheeGompany and Ronald Doornink
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of @@mpany's Form 10-K for the year ending
March 31, 1999)

Employment agreement dated April 1, 2000 betweerCbmpany and Lawrence Goldberg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thev®any's Form 1@ for the quarter ending June
2000).

Employment agreement dated July 18, 2000 betwee@dmpany and William J. Chardavoyne
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of tt@mpany's Form 1@ for the quarter ending June
2000).

Stock option agreement dated May 22, 2000 betwsei€bmpany and Robert A. Kotick (incorpore
by reference to the Company's Forn-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 20
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10.1¢

10.17

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2C

Service Agreement dated November 24, 1997 betweenb@ed Distribution (Holdings) Limited and
Richard Andrew Steele (incorporated by referendexioibit 10.17 of the Company's Form 10-K for
the year ending March 31, 199

Amended and restated employment agreement date®®&3000 between the Company and Bria
Kelly (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3tleé Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ending
September 30, 200(C

Articles of Merger dated June 30, 1998 betweenFs.Bcquisition Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, and S.B.F. Services, Limited dbadH8ames Publishing (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company's Forr-K, filed on July 2, 1998}

Share Exchange Agreement dated September 29, 1988dbetween the Company and Mr. Frank
d'Oleire, Mrs. Christa d'Oleire, Ms. Fiona d'Oleiks. Alexa d'Oleire acting as Dr. d'Oleire
Beteiligungsgesellschaft bR, Mr. Martinus J.C. Bettband Mr. Dennis W. Buis (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Fo-K, filed on October 8, 1998

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Meageddipril 19, 1999 by and among the
Company, Expert Acquisition Corp. and Expert Softwydnc. (incorporated by reference to



10.21

10.2zZ

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

Exhibit 2.1 of the Form-K of Expert Software, Inc., filed April 29, 199¢

Credit Agreement dated as of June 21, 1999 aman@tmpany, Head Games Publishing, Inc.,
Expert Software, Inc., various financial institutsp PNC Bank, National Association, as issuing bank
administrative agent and collateral agent for duwmncial institutions, and Credit Suisse First Bos

as syndication agent (incorporated by referendextubit 10.22 of the Company's Form 10-K for the
year ending March 31, 199¢

Share Exchange Agreement dated as of June 29, 488Mg the Company, Jill G. Mark and Robert
N. Herrick (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4f the Company'Registration Statement on
Form &3, Registration No. 3:-85385, filed August 17, 199¢

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as me8wer 30, 1999, among the Company,
Neversoft Entertainment, Inc., JCM Productions,,ldoel Jewett, Michael West and Christog.

Ward (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1hef Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 32-94509, filed January 12, 200t

Employment agreement dated July 12, 1999, betwee=@ompany and Mr. Michael Rowe
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.1 of the(pany's Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30,
1999).

Employment agreement dated July 12, 1999, betwe=@bdmpany and Ms. Kathy Vrabek

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.2 of therpany's Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30,
1999).
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(b)

10.2¢

10.2i

10.2¢

10.2¢

16.1

211

23.1

23.2

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Mr. RbBadornink and the Company, dated
April 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhéoil of the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ending December 31, 199!

Stock option agreement dated May 22, 2000 betwsei@bmpany and Brian G. Kelly (incorporated
by reference to the Company's Forn-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 20

First Amendment effective as of June 8, 2000 toChedit Agreement dated June 21, 1999 among the
Company, Head Games Publishing, Inc., Expert Soétwlac., various financial institutions, PNC
Bank, National Association as issuing bank, adrgiive agent and collateral agent for such lenders
and Credit Suisse First Boston, as syndication ta@eeorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 & th
Company's Form XK for the year ending March 31, 200

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated asagfMM2001, among Activision Publishing, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation, Activision, Inc., a Delawaprporation, Activision Value Publishing, Inc., a
Minnesota corporation (formerly Head Games Pubiighinc.) and Expert Software, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, various financial institutions and PR@&nk, National Association, a national banking
association, as issuing bank, administrative agedtcollateral agent for such lende

Letter from KPMG, LLP pursuant to Item 304(a)(3)Régulation S-K (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 16.1 of the Company's Forr-K/A filed March 23, 2001)

Principal subsidiaries of the Compal
Independent Auditors' Conse

Independent Auditor's Conse

Reports on Form 8-K. There have been no reportsoom 8-K that have been filed by the Company dutirefirst quarter of the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2002. The followingags on Form 8-K have been filed by the Compamnduthe last quarter of the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2001:

11

1.2

The Company filed a Form 8-K on Mar€h 2001, reporting under "ltem 4. Changes in thgiRent's Certified
Accountant” the change in the Company's principabantant from KPMG LLP to PricewaterhouseCoopérB.|

The Company filed a Form IB/A on March 23, 2001 reporting under "ltem 4. Ches in the Registrant's Certifi



Accountant” the change in the Company's principabantant from KPMG LLP to PricewaterhouseCoopérB.|
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13H¢)1of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thgifeant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

Date: June 25, 20C

ACTIVISION, INC.

By: /sl ROBERT A. KOTICK

(Robert A. Kotick)
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secuiitiehange Act of 1934, this report has been sigmdalbby the following persons on behal
the Registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

By: /s ROBERT A. KOTICK Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (Principal

Executive Officer) and Director June 25, 2001

(Robert A. Kotick)

By: /sl BRIAN G. KELLY
Co-Chairman and Director June 25, 2001
(Brian G. Kelly)
By: /s/ WILLIAM J. CHARDAVOYNE Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
— Officer June 25, 2001
(William J. Chardavoyne
By: /sl HAROLD A. BROWN
Director June 25, 2001
(Harold A. Brown)
By: /sl BARBARA S. ISGUR
Director June 25, 2001
(Barbara S. Isgui
By: /sl STEVEN T. MAYER
Director June 25, 2001
(Steven T. Mayer
By: /sl ROBERT J. MORGADO
Director June 25, 2001
(Robert J. Morgadc
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Sharehold:



In our opinion, the accompanying consolidatathbce sheet as of March 31, 2001 and the relatesbtidated statements of operations,
changes in shareholders' equity and cash flowsptéairly, in all material respects, the finangakition of Activision, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the "Company") at March 31, 2001, thredresults of their operations and their casivslfor the year then ended in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted m tmited States of America. In addition, in ourron, the financial statement schedule
listed in the accompanying index presents fairfyali material respects, the information set fdinrein when read in conjunction with the
related consolidated financial statements. Thewmmniial statements and financial statement schedalthe responsibility of the Company's
management; our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements and financééestent schedule based on our audit. We
conducted our audit of these statements in accoedaith auditing standards generally acceptedenithited States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finastaiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, CA
May 9, 2001
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
The Board of Directors and Shareholders:

We have audited the accompanying consolidaaéghbe sheet of ACTIVISION, INC. and subsidiarissdMarch 31, 2000 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changdsaiBolders' equity and cash flows for each ofytas in the two-year period ended
March 31, 2000. In connection with our audit of dmmsolidated financial statements, we also hadéedifinancial statement schedule 11 for
each of the years in the two-year period ended Maig 2000. These consolidated financial statensmdginancial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company's management.résponsibility is to express an opinion on thesgsolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with galyeaccepted auditing standards. Those standagisre that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whitthdinancial statements are free of material ratsghent. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amountsiaobbsures in the financial statements. An audio ahcludes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made égagement, as well as evaluating the overall filgdistatement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial staénts referred to above present fairly, in allariat respects, the financial position of
ACTIVISION, INC. and subsidiaries as of March 3008, and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the years in the
two-year period ended March 31, 2000, in conformiith generally accepted accounting principles.QAlsour opinion, the related financial
statement schedule for each of the years in theywan period ended March 31, 2000, when considiereglation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presemnty,fai all material respects, the information &&th therein.

KPMG LLP

Los Angeles, California
May 5, 2000,

except as to Note 16,

which is as of June 9, 2000
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Part I. Financial Information.
Item |. Financial Statements.

ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS



(In thousands, except share data)

March 31, March 31,
2001 2000
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 12555( % 49,98t
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $28,46d $81,521 at March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively 73,80: 108,10¢
Inventories 43,88t 40,45:
Prepaid royalties and capitalized software c 27,50: 31,65
Deferred income taxe 14,29: 14,15¢
Other current asse 13,19¢ 17,81¢
Total current asse 298,23( 262,17!
Prepaid royalties and capitalized software c 14,70: 9,15z
Property and equipment, r 15,24( 10,81¢
Deferred income taxe 13,75¢ 6,05¢
Goodwill, net 10,31¢ 12,347
Other asset 7,70¢ 9,192
Total asset $ 359,95 % 309,73
I I
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term debr $ 10,23. $ 16,26(
Accounts payabl 60,98( 38,28¢
Accrued expense 44,03¢ 49,40
Total current liabilities 115,25( 103,95(
Long-term debt, less current portir 3,401 13,77¢
Convertible subordinated not 60,00( 60,00(
Total liabilities 178,65: 177,72¢
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholders' equit
Preferred stock, $.000001 par value, 5,000,000esteauthorized, no shares issued at
March 31, 2001 and 20( — —
Common stock, $.000001 par value, 50,000,000 slarb®rized, 30,166,455 and 26,488,
shares issued and 27,282,476 and 25,988,260 shastanding at March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively — —
Additional paic-in capital 200,78t 151,71
Retained earnings (defic 12,14¢ (8,367
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (11,3779 (6,06¢€)
Less: Treasury stock, cost, 2,883,979 and 500,08fks as of March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively (20,249 (5,27¢)
Total shareholders' equi 181,30t 132,00¢
Total liabilities and shareholders' equ $ 359,95 % 309,73
I I



The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
Net revenue: $ 620,18. $ 572,20 $ 436,52t
Costs and expense
Cost of sales—product costs 324,90° 319,42: 260,04
Cost of sales—royalties and software amortization 89,70: 91,23¢ 36,99(
Product development 41,39¢ 26,27¢ 22,87t
Sales and marketing 85,37¢ 87,30: 66,42(
General and administrative 37,49 36,67« 21,94¢
Amortization of intangible assets 1,50z 41,61¢ 1,58t
Total costs and expenses 580,37t 602,53( 409,85¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 39,80 (30,32 26,667
Interest expense, n (7,269 (8,41)) (3,03))
Income (loss) before income tax provision 32,54 (38,73¢) 23,63¢
Income tax provision (benefi 12,031 (4,64 8,74t
Net income (loss $ 20,507 $ (34,08) $ 14,89:
I I I
Basic earnings (loss) per shi $ 08z $ (1.3¢) $ 0.6t
I I I
Weighted average common shares outstan 24,86¢ 24,69 22,86:

Diluted earnings (loss) per she $ 0.7t $ 1.3% $

Weighted average common shares outsta—assuming dilutior 27,40( 24,69

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the years ended March 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

Accumulated
Common Stock  Additional  Retained Treasury Stock Other



Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive  Shareholders'
(In thousands) Shares  Amount Capital (Deficity  Shares  Amount Income (Loss) Equity
Balance, March 31, 1998 23,107 $ — $ 91,82t $ 10,83¢ (500 $ (5,279 $ 92 $ 97,47¢
Components of comprehensive inco
Net income for the ye: — — — 14,89! — — — 14,89!
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — 2,6072) (2,602)
Total comprehensive income 12,28¢
Issuance of common stock and common stock warrants — — 3,36¢ — — — — 3,36¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stpt&n plans 605 — 5,271 — — — — 5,271
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stoathase plan 92 — 79¢ — — — — 79¢
Tax benefit attributable to employee stock optitanp — — 1,05¢ — — — — 1,05¢
Tax benefit derived from net operating loss camyfard utilization — — 2,43( — — — — 2,43(
Conversion of notes payable to common stock — — 4,50( — — — — 4,50(
Balance, March 31, 1999 23,80« — 109,25: 25,721 (500) (5,27¢) (2,510 127,19(
Components of comprehensive incor
Net loss for the yee — — — 84,08¢) — — — 84,08¢)
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — — — — 8,55€) (3,55€)
Total comprehensive loss (37,649
Issuance of common stock and common stock war — — 8,52¢ — — — — 8,52¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stpti&n plans 2,331 — 21,71¢ — — — — 21,71¢
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stoathase plan 72 — 762 — — — — 762
Tax benefit attributable to employee stock optitanp — — 3,017 — — — — 3,017
Tax benefit derived from net operating loss camyfard utilization — — 1,26€ — — — — 1,26€
Acquisitions and investments made with common s&uk common
stock options 281 — 7,171 — — — — 7,171
Balance, March 31, 2000 26,48¢ — 151,71 (8,367  (500C) (5,27¢) (6,06€) 132,00¢
Components of comprehensive income:
Net income for the ye: — — — 20,507 — — — 20,507
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — — — (5,31)) (5,31))
Total comprehensive incon 15,19¢
Issuance of common stock and common stock warrants 10C — 1,05( — — — — 1,05(
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stpti&n plans 3,49¢ — 31,69 — — — — 31,69
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stocthase pla 79 — 84t — — — — 84t
Tax benefit attributable to employee stock optitanp — — 11,83: — — — — 11,83:
Tax benefit derived from net operating loss camyfard utilization — — 3,65z — — — — 3,65z
Purchase of treasury sha — — — — (2,389 (14,977 — (14,97)
Balance March 31, 2001 30,16¢ $ — $ 200,78t $ 12,14¢ (2,889 $ (20,249 $ (11,37) $ 181,30¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income (loss

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by operating

activities:

For the years ended March 31,

2001

2000

1999

$

20,50%

$

(34,089 $

14,89:



Deferred income taxe (6,597 (4,31)) 3,80¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,26¢ 45,86¢ 6,48¢
Amortization of prepaid royalties and capitalizedteare cost: 68,92t 78,71« 27,05¢
Expense related to common stock warr: 1,40€ 5,76¢ 38¢
Tax benefit of stock options exercis 11,83: 3,017 1,05¢
Change in assets and liabilities (net of effectguwrthases and acquisition
Accounts receivabl 30,027 9,90( (43,68¢)
Inventories (5,289 (7,347) (11,506
Prepaid royalties and capitalized software ¢ (65,969 (74,506 (60,53)
Other asset 6,062 (6,307%) (6,862)
Accounts payabl 21,36: (8,03¢) (6,620
Accrued expenses and other liabilit (6,979 (5,79)) 33,173
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 81,56¢ 2,88: (42,34)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Cash used in purchase acquisitions (net of caghirack) — (20,527 —
Capital expenditure (9,780 (4,51¢) (3,800
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipr 1,14¢ — —
Net cash used in investing activiti (8,63)) (25,04) (3,800
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuarhfloyee stock option
plans 31,69 21,71¢ 5,271
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuarhfdoyee stock purcha
plan 84t 762 79¢
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuamatants 1,05(C — —
Borrowing under lin-of-credit agreemer 577,59( 361,16: 5,30(
Payment under lir-of-credit agreemer (581,619 (355,15¢) (5,300
Payment on term log (11,450 (1,64%) —
Proceeds from term lo¢ — 25,00( —
Notes payable, nt (592) (6,457%) 1,151
Cash paid to secure line of credit and term | — (3,359 —
Purchase of treasury sto (14,977 — —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,54 42,02¢ 7,22(
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 84 (2,927) (2,367
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 75,56t 16,94¢ (41,287
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 49,98t 33,031 74,31¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 125,55( $ 49,98 $ 33,03’
I I I

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Busines:



Activision, Inc. ("Activision" or the "Companyfs a leading international publisher, developst distributor of interactive entertainment
and leisure products. The Company currently focisqaublishing, development and distribution ef§osn products designed for personal
computers ("PCs") as well as the Sony PlayStatiB8X") and PlayStation 2 ("PS2") and Nintendo N8464") console systems and
Nintendo Game Boy handheld game devices. The Coynpaaiso currently focusing on the developmentraiducts for Microsoft Xbo;
("Xbox") and Nintendo GameCube console systema\inttndo Game Boy Advance hand held device. Dudarguary 2001, Sega Corp.,
maker of the Sega Dreamcast ("Dreamcast") annouthe¢dt would stop making the Dreamcast in Mar6B2 Net revenues from the
Dreamcast have historically represented only algmeatentage of the Company's total net revenuesoringly, the Company believes that
the departure of the Dreamcast console systemtlhermarket will not have a material impact uporfiitancial position or results of
operations.

The Company maintains operations in the U.8na@a, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Jajastralia, Belgium and the
Netherlands. For fiscal year 2001, internationarafions contributed approximately 43% of net ress.

Principles of Consolidatiol

The consolidated financial statements inclimesccounts of Activision, Inc., a Delaware corgiorg and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
(the "Company" or "Activision"). All intercompanyeounts and transactions have been eliminatednisatidlation.

Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements have beteoactively restated to reflect the poolingsndérests of the Company with JCM
Productions, Inc. dba Neversoft Entertainment ("&suft") in September 1999.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, momaekets and short-term investments with originalurities of not more than 90 days.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents wempresed of the following at March 31, 2001 and 2@@®ounts in thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000
Cash $ 63,01¢ $ 32,63
Money market fund 62,53: 17,34¢

$ 12555( $  49,98¢

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subjgw Company to concentration of credit risk cansigcipally of temporary cash
investments and accounts receivable. The Compatgglits temporary cash investments with finangltutions. At various times during
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 and 2000Ctmpany had deposits in excess of the Federalditdpsurance Corporation ("FDIC")
limit at these financial institutions. The Compangustomer base includes retail outlets and digtits including consumer electronics and
computer specialty stores, discount chains, viéetat stores and toy stores in the United Statdsaantries worldwide. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its custarard maintains allowances for potential crediséss The Company generally does not
require collateral or other security from its cuérs.

As of and for the year ending March 31, 206&,€Company's publishing business had one custdraeatcounted for 10% of its
consolidated net revenues and 15% of its conselidatcounts receivable, net. For the years endiagiv31, 2000 and 1999, no single
customer accounted for 10% or more of consolidattdevenues.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The estimated fair values of financial instrunisehave been determined by the Company usingadlaimarket information and valuation
methodologies described below. However, consideralilgment is required in interpreting market datdevelop the estimates of fair value.
Accordingly, the estimates presented herein mayaadhdicative of the amounts that the Companycaoedlize in a current market exchar
The use of different market assumptions or valmati@thodologies may have a material effect on shienated fair value amount



Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, aoats payable and accrued liabilities The carrying amounts of these instruments
approximate fair value due to their short-term reatu

Long-term debt and convertible subordinated nags: The carrying amounts of the Company's varialtie debt approximate fair value
because the interest rates are based on floatieg identified by reference to market rates. Tlrevidue of the Company's fixed rate debt is
based on quoted market prices, where availabl@isoounted future cash flows based on the Companytent incremental borrowing rates
for similar types of borrowing arrangements ashefbalance sheet date. The carrying amount anuddhie of the Company's long-term debt
and convertible subordinated notes, was $73.6anitind $60.0 million, respectively, as of March 3001 and $90.0 million and
$81.6 million, respectively, as of March 31, 2000.

Prepaid Royalties and Capitalized Software Ci

Prepaid royalties include payments made topaddent software developers under development mgrds and license fees paid to
intellectual property rights holders for use ofitheademarks or copyrights. Intellectual properghts which have alternative future uses are
capitalized. Capitalized software costs represesitscncurred for development that are not recolgpadpainst future royalties.

The Company accounts for prepaid royaltiegirejeo development agreements and capitalizedvaod costs in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SBA®J. 86, "Accounting for the Costs of Computert@afre to be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed." Software development costspaagaid royalties are capitalized once technolddiasibility is established.
Technological feasibility is evaluated on a prodmgiproduct basis. For products where proven gamae technology exists, this may occur
early in the development cycle. Software develogreests are expensed if and when they are deenredaverable. Amounts related to
software development which are not capitalizedcagrged immediately to product development expense.
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The following criteria is used to evaluate nem@bility of software development costs: histdriperformance of comparable products; the
commercial acceptance of prior products released gimen game engine; orders for the product paidts release; estimated performance of
a sequel product based on the performance of tiupt on which the sequel is based; and actuallogvent costs of a product as compared
to the Company's budgeted amount.

Commencing upon product release prepaid re@gaétnd capitalized software development costsraceteed to cost of salesreyalties an
software amortization on the ratio of current ray@nto total projected revenues, generally reguitiran amortization period of one year or
less. For products that have been released, maeagewaluates the future recoverability of capitadi amounts on a quarterly basis.

As of March 31, 2001, prepaid royalties andmogized capitalized software costs totaled $38IBam (including $14.7 million classified
as non-current) and $3.9 million, respectively.oidlarch 31, 2000, prepaid royalties and unamadtizapitalized software costs totaled
$29.2 million (including $9.2 million classified asn-current) and $11.6 million, respectively. Atation of prepaid royalties and
capitalized software costs was $68.9 million, $#8ilfion and $27.1 million for the years ended Mai1, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectiv

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cosstfin, first-out) or market.
Revenue Recognitic

Product Sales: The Company recognizes revapuethe sale of its products once they are shigpedare available for general release to
customers. Subject to certain limitations, the Canyppermits customers to obtain exchanges or r@atiucts within certain specified
periods and provides price protection on certasplcdhmerchandise. Management of the Company estintae amount of future returns, and
price protections based upon historical resultsamtent known circumstances. Revenue from prosaiess is reflected net of the allowance
for returns and price protection.

Software Licenses: For those license agreendrnith provide the customers the right to multipdgies in exchange for guaranteed
amounts, revenue is recognized at delivery. Pey ooyalties on sales which exceed the guaranteseaognized as earned.

Advertising Expense

The Company expenses advertising and the detatsts as incurred. Advertising expenses for #ag/ended March 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 were approximately $16.5 million, $18.6 mitliand $15.6 million, respectively, and are includedales and marketing expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill and Lon-Lived Asset



Cost in excess of the fair value of net asset®@mpanies acquired, goodwill, is being amortimeda straightine basis over periods rangi
from 5 to 20 years. As of March 31, 2001 and 2@@@umulated amortization amounted to $51.9 miltiad $50.8 million, respectively. The
Company accounts for impairment of long-lived assietcluding goodwill, in accordance with SFAS N@1, "Accounting for Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be DiggmbOf." This Statement requires that long-livesktsand certain identifiable
intangibles, including goodwill, be reviewed forpairment whenever events or changes in circumssandéate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverabiliagséts to be held and used is measured by a campaifithe carrying amount of the asset
to undiscounted cash flows expected to be
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generated by the asset. If such assets are coeditbebe impaired, the impairment to be recognigedeasured by the amount by which the
carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the assetonjunction with its strategic restructuripign as detailed in Note 3, in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company recorded agghfor impairment of goodwill of $37.2 million. Sékete 3 for further discussion.

Interest Expense, n

Interest expense, net is comprised of thewatlg, (amounts in thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000 1999
Interest expens $ (9399 $ (937 $ (4,979
Interest incomt 2,13¢ 964 1,94:
Net interest income (expens $ (7269 $ (841) $ (3,03)

Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes usingSSNA. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes." Under S40. 109, income taxes are
accounted for under the asset and liability metibmferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences attributi
to differences between the financial statementaagramounts of existing assets and liabilities Hradr respective tax bases and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred taxetssand liabilities are measured using enactedates expected to apply to taxable incon
the years in which those temporary differencesapected to be recovered or settled. The effeced@rred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income irptréod that includes the enactment date.

Foreign Currency Translatio

The functional currencies of the Company'sitpresubsidiaries are their local currencies. Aflets and liabilities of the Company's foreign
subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars eetkchange rate in effect at the end of the pednd,revenue and expenses are translated at
weighted average exchange rates during the péftmaresulting translation adjustments are refleaked component of shareholders' equity.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in comity with generally accepted accounting princsplequires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdassats and liabilities at the date of the findrateements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting pekitidal results could differ from those estimates.

Earnings Per Common Sha

Basic earnings per share is computed by digidiet income by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for all periods.
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividiagincome by the weighted average number of comshares and common stock
equivalents from outstanding stock options and ardsrand convertible debt. Common stock equivalemsalculated using the treasury
stock method and represent incremental shareshiesupon exercise of the Company's outstandingoptand warrants and conversion of
Company's convertible debt. However, potential camrshares are not included in the denominatorefitluted earnings per
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share calculation when inclusion of such sharedavibe anti-dilutive, such as in a period in whible Company records a net loss.
Stock Based Compensation

Prior to April 1, 1996, the Company accounteditfs stock option plan in accordance with thevigions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayees" ("APB No. 25"), and related interpretatioAs such, compensation expense
would be recorded on the date of the grant onllgafcurrent market price of the underlying stockemded the option exercise price. On
April 1, 1996 the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 ctAmting for Stock-Based Compensation,” which ptrmintities to recognize as
expense over the vesting period, the fair valualldtock-based awards on the date of the graterddtively, SFAS No. 123 also allows
entities to continue to apply the provisions of ARB. 25 and provide pro forma net income and prm#oearnings per share disclosures for
employee stock option grants made in 1995 anddutaars as if the fair-value-based method defineé®HAS No. 123 had been applied. The
Company has elected to continue to apply the piamvisof APB No. 25 and provide the pro forma disale provisions of SFAS No. 123.

Warrants granted to non-employees are accodoted accordance with the Financial Accountingrgtards Board's Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 96-18 "Accounting for Equity Ingtents that are Issued To Other Than Employeesdquiting or in Connection With
Selling Goods or Services" (EITF 96-18).

Related Partie:

As of March 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company$#8 million and $2.7 million, respectively, of lmoutstanding due from employees.
The loans bear interest at 6.75% and are primduég/from Company executives.

Implementation of SAB 1(

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEStjed Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 101, RewenRecognition in Financial
Statements, in December 1999. The SAB summarizégit®f the SEC staff's views in applying gensralécepted accounting principles to
revenue recognition in financial statements. Duthngyear ended March 31, 2001, the Company peddmreview of its revenue
recognition policies and determined that it is @mpliance with SAB 101.

Recently Issued Accounting Stande

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 183, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments anddgig Activities," ("SFAS No. 133")
as subsequently amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFA$38ois effective for all fiscal years beginniifger June 15, 2000. SFAS No. 133
establishes accounting and reporting standardsefigvative instruments and for hedging activitiésequires that an entity recognize all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities ingtetement of financial position and measure thosguments at fair value. The Company does
not currently participate in hedging activitiesawn derivative instruments but plans to adopt SM&S 133 beginning April 1, 2001.
Management does not believe the adoption of SFASLB® will have a material impact on the finangasition or results of operations of |
Company.

Reclassification:

Certain amounts in the consolidated finandatiesnents have been reclassified to conform wittctirrent year's presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on net income Jlossareholders' equity or net increase (decreasm)sh and cash equivalents.
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2. Acquisitions
Fiscal 2000 Transactions
Acquisition of Neverso

On September 30, 1999, the Company acquire@nseft, a privately held console software develppeexchange for 698,835 shares of
the Company's common stock. The acquisition waswatded for as a pooling of interests. Accordingtyfiscal 2000 the Company restated
the financial statements for all periods priortie tlosing of the transaction.

The following table represents the resultspdrations of the previously separate companiethfoperiod before the combination was
consummated which are included in fiscal year 28f@bined net income (loss) (amounts in thousands).

Fiscal Year 2000



Activision Neversoft Total
Six Months Ended Six Months Ended Six Months Ended

Sept. 30, 1999 Sept. 30, 1999 Sept. 30, 1999
Revenue: $ 199,50! $ — 3 199,50!
Net income (loss $ (3,02¢) $ (484 $ (3,519

Acquisition of Elsinore Multimedi

On June 29,1999, the Company acquired Elsiktuiéimedia, Inc. ("Elsinore"), a privately held aractive software development compe
in exchange for 204,448 shares of the Company'sramrstock.

The acquisition was accounted for using thelpase method of accounting. Accordingly, the resafitoperations of Elsinore have been
included in the Company's consolidated financialeshents from the date of acquisition. The aggespatchase price has been allocated to
the assets and liabilities acquired, consistingtinas goodwill of $3.0 million, that is being amtared over a five year period. Pro forma
statements of operations reflecting the acquisitibBIsinore are not shown, as they would not diffeterially from reported results.

Acquisition of Expert Softwa

On June 22, 1999, the Company acquired all@butstanding capital stock of Expert Software, (tHExpert”), a publicly held developer
and publisher of value-line interactive leisuredarats, for approximately $24.7 million. The aggregaurchase price of approximately
$24.7 million consisted of $20.3 million in cashyphble to the former shareholders of Expert, theatabn of employee stock options in the

amount of $3.3 million, and other acquisition costs

The acquisition was accounted for using thelpase method of accounting. Accordingly, the resofitoperations of Expert have been
included in the Company's consolidated financiaeshents from the date of acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price was allocatdukttatr values of the assets and liabilities aaguas follows (amounts in thousands):

Tangible asset $ 4,74%
Existing productt 1,12:
Goodwill 28,33t
Liabilities (9,539
$ 24,66¢
I
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However, as more fully described in Note 3thia fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company enpénted a strategic restructuring plan to
accelerate the development of games for the nengrgtion consoles and the Internet. In conjunatigh that plan, the Company
consolidated Expert and its Head Games subsidiamnying one integrated business unit in the vahfensre category. As part of this
consolidation, the Company discontinued severabgifert's product lines and terminated substantallgf Expert's employees. In addition,
the Company phased out the use of the Expert nama result of these initiatives, in fiscal 200t Company incurred a nonrecurring
charge of $26.3 million resulting from the writevdo of intangibles acquired, including goodwill.

Fiscal 1999 Transactions
The acquisitions of Head Games and CD Contact wriginally treated as immaterial poolings démests. However, after reviewing the

results of operations of the entities, including thateriality and impact on the Company's trermdfiscal 1999 the Company restated the
financial statements for all periods prior to th@seg of each respective transaction.

Acquisition of Head Gamg

On June 30, 1998, the Company acquired Heade&amexchange for 1,000,000 shares of the Companyimon stock. The acquisition
was accounted for as a pooling of interests.

Acquisition of CD Contac

On September 29, 1998, the Company acquire€€@iact in exchange for 1,900,000 shares of thepgaoyis common stock and t



assumption of $9.1 million in outstanding debt gdgao CD Contact's former shareholders. The ad@risvas accounted for as a pooling of
interests.

The following table represents the resultspdrations of the previously separate companiethfperiods before the combinations were
consummated that are included in the fiscal 1998hined net income of the Company (amounts in thodsga

Fiscal Year 1999

Activision Head Games CD Contact Neversoft
Year Ended Three Months Six Months Year Ended Total Year Ended
March 31, 1999 Ended June 30, 1998 Ended Sept. 30, 1998 March 31, 1999 March 31, 1999
Revenue: $ 412,22 % 2,19t 3 22,06F $ 41 3% 436,52¢
Net income (loss $ 14,19 $ 394 $ 66€ $ (363 $ 14,89

3. Strategic Restructuring Plan

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Compéinalized a strategic restructuring plan to deage the development and sale of interactive
entertainment and leisure products for the nexegaion consoles and the Internet. Costs assoamthdhis plan amounted to $70.2 million,
approximately $61.8 million net of taxes, and wereorded in the consolidated statement of operaiiothe fourth quarter of fiscal year 2(
and classified as follows (amount in millions):

Net revenue. $ 11.7
Cost of sale—royalties and software amortizati 11.€
Product developmel 4.2
General and administrati 5.2
Amortization of intangible asse 37.2
$ 70.2
|
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The component of the charge included in amatitn of intangible assets represented a write dofwntangibles including goodwill,
relating to Expert Software, Inc. ("Expert"), orfetlee Company's value publishing subsidiaries Jiege26.3 million. The Company
consolidated Expert into Head Games, forming otegirmted business unit. As part of this consolmatthe Company discontinued
substantially all of Expert's product lines, terated substantially all of Expert's employees arabpt out the use of the Expert name. In
addition, a $10.9 million write down of goodwilllaging to TDC, an OEM business unit, was recordediscal 2000, the OEM market went
through radical changes due to price declines of 8@l hardware accessories. The sum of the unditembtuture cash flow of these assets
was not sufficient to cover the carrying valuela#ge assets and as such was written down to fakeinzalue.

The component of the charge included in netmees and general and administrative expense egjisasosts associated with the planned
termination of a substantial number of its thirdtpaistributor relationships in connection witlet@ompany's realignment of its worldwide
publishing business to leverage its existing safesmarketing organizations and improve the cortnol management of its products. These
actions resulted in an increase in the allowancsdtes returns of $11.7 million and the allowafaredoubtful accounts of $3.4 million. The
plan also included a severance charge of $1.2amifbr employee redundancies.

The components of the charge included in cbsales—royalties and software amortization andipob development represent costs to
write down certain assets associated with exitengain product lines and re-evaluating other protines which resulted in reduced
expectations.

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed #sdructuring initiatives associated with the fis2@0D0 restructuring plan without any
significant adjustments.

4. Inventories

The Company's inventories consist of the folfmyamounts in thousands):

March 31,

2001 2000




Purchased parts and compone $ 1,88t 3 2,851
Finished good 42,00: 37,59¢

$ 43,88¢ $ 40,45:

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cogitdaetion and amortization are provided usingstineight-line method over the shorter of
the estimated useful lives or the lease term: gkl 30 years; computer equipment, office fur@tand other equipment, 3 years; leasehold
improvements, through the life of the lease. Whesets are retired or disposed of, the cost ancdhadeted
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depreciation thereon are removed and any resg&ins or losses are recognized in current opeati®roperty and equipment was as folli
(amounts in thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000
Land 214 52¢€
Buildings 4,004 2,46¢
Computer equipmet 21,51: 18,67(
Office furniture and other equipme 5,58¢ 5,80(
Leasehold improvemen 3,71z 3,22¢
Total cost of property and equipment 35,02¢ 30,69:
Less accumulated depreciati (19,789 (19,879
Property and equipment, net $ 1524C  $ 10,81¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Mat¢i2001, 2000 and 1999 was $4.8 million, $4.2iamiland $4.9 million, respectively.

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses were comprised of the follgwamounts in thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000

Accrued royalties payab $ 14,76«  $ 13,30(
Affiliated label payable 733 4,03:
Accrued selling and marketing co: 4,60z 10,49:
Income tax payabl 85¢ 4,93¢
Accrued interest expen: 1,15C 1,01:
Accrued bonus and vacation 11,95¢ 5,514
Other 9,97 10,117
Total $ 44,03¢ $ 49,40«
I |

7. Operations by Reportable Segments and GeographiaAr

The Company publishes, develops and distribintesactive entertainment and leisure productsfeariety of game platforms, including
PCs, the Sony PlayStation and PlayStation 2 corsyslems, the Nintendo 64 console system, the hiiot&ame Boy and the Sega
Dreamcast console system. The Company has alsm Ipegduct development for next-generation conspdéesns and hand held devices,
including Microsoft's Xbox and Nintendo's GameCalbd Game Boy Advance. Based on its organizatidnattsire, the Company operates
in two reportable segments: publishing and distrdru



The Company's publishing segment publishesstitiat are developed both internally through thdigs owned by the Company and
externally through third party developers. In theited States, the Company's products are sold giynean a direct basis to major computer
and software retailing organizations, mass mamdgilers, consumer electronic stores, discount arges and mail order companies. The
Company conducts its international publishing atiéis through offices in the United Kingdom, GermaRrance, Australia, Canada and
Japan. The Company's products are sold interndiifjommaa direct to retail basis and through thiadty distribution and licensing
arrangements and through the Company's wholly-owiistdbution subsidiaries located in the Unitedchgfdom, the Netherlands and
Germany.
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The Company's distribution segment, locatettiénUnited Kingdom, the Netherlands and Germarstriutes interactive entertainment
software and hardware and provides logistical ses/for a variety of publishers and manufacturers.

The President and Chief Operating Officer a@tes resources to each of these segments usimghatfon on their respective revenues and
operating profits before interest and taxes. Thesiflent and Chief Operating Officer has been ifledtas the Chief Operating Decision
Maker as defined by SFAS No. 131, "Disclosure al8®gments of an Enterprise and Related Inform3t{t8FAS No. 131").

The President and Chief Operating Officer dogisevaluate individual segments based on asselspoeciation.

The accounting policies of these segmentsteredame as those described in the Summary of BigmifAccounting Policies. Revenue
derived from sales between segments is eliminatedmsolidation.

Information on the reportable segments forttinee years ended March 31, 2001 is as follows (antsan thousands):

Year ended March 31, 2001

Publishing Distribution Total
Total segment revenu $ 466,06. $ 154,12: $ 620,18
Revenue from sales between segm (39,33) 39,33: —
Revenues from external custom $ 426,73:  $ 193,45: $ 620,18
| ] ]
Operating incom: $ 35687 $ 4,12 % 39,80°
| | |
Total asset $ 271,48¢ $ 88,46¢ $ 359,95
| ] ]
Year ended March 31, 2000
Publishing Distribution Total
Total segment revenu $ 396,69. $ 175,51 $ 572,20!
Revenue from sales between segm (40,25%) 40,25¢ —
Revenues from external custom $ 356,43t $ 215,76¢ $ 572,20!
| | |
Operating income (los: $ (35,049 $ 472¢ % (30,32%
| | |
Total asset $ 230,96. $ 78,77¢ % 309,73
| | |
Year ended March 31, 1999
Publishing Distribution Total
Total segment revenu $ 205,54. $ 230,98: $ 436,52t
Revenue from sales between segm (19,207 19,20: —
Revenues from external custom $ 186,34( $ 250,18¢ $ 436,52t
| | |
Operating incomi $ 12,39¢  $ 14,26¢ $ 26,661
| ] ]
Total asset $ 185,560 $ 97,77¢  $  283,34!



F-16

Geographic information for the three years éndarch 31, 2001 is based on the location of thiengeentity. Revenues from external

customers by geographic region were as follows (artsin thousands):

Year ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
United State: $ 352,890 $ 282,847 $ 149,70
Europe 256,22t 277,48! 278,03.
Other 11,06: 11,87: 8,78¢
Total $ 620,18: $ 572,20 $ 436,52t
I I |
Revenues by platform were as follows (amoumthousands):
Year ended March 31,
2001 2000 1999
Console $ 466,89 $ 410,270 $ 268,24t
PC 153,29( 161,92¢ 168,28(
Total $ 620,18: $ 572,20 $ 436,52t
I I |

8. Computation of Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computatiofi®asic and diluted earnings (loss) per shamp(ents in thousands, except per share data):

Numerator
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per sincome
(loss) available to common shareholc

Denominatot
Denominator for basic earnings per shargghted averac
common shares outstandi

Effect of dilutive securities
Employee stock optior
Warrants to purchase common st

Potential dilutive common shar

Denominator for diluted earnings per share-weighted
average common shares outstanding plus assumed
conversions

Basic earnings (loss) per shi

Diluted earnings (loss) per she

Year ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
$ 20,507 $ (34,089 $ 14,89
| | |
24,86¢ 24,69 22,86
2,35¢ — 94z
181 — 12¢
2,53¢ — 1,071
27,40( 24,69 23,03
| | |
$ 08 $ (1.3 $  0.6F
| | |
$ 0.7 $ (135 $ 0.6z
| |

Options to purchase 2,338,841, 2,555,397 at®#B21 75 shares of common stock were outstandintihéoyears ended March 31, 20



2000 and 1999, respectively, but were not includetie calculations of diluted earnings (loss) glesire because their effect would be
antidilutive. Convertible subordinated notes wds® aot included in the calculations of dilutedréags per share because their effect would
be antidilutive.
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Subsequent to March 31, 2001, the Companydct&iethe redemption of its $60.0 million convelgilsubordinated notes due 2005. In
connection with that call, holders have convertéd common stock approximately $60.0 million agagitegprincipal amount of their
convertible subordinated notes, resulting in tlsedsmce of approximately 3,175,000 shares of constumk to such holders.

9. Income Taxes

Domestic and foreign income (loss) before inedaxes and details of the income tax provisioméfi§) are as follows (amounts in
thousands):

Year ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
Income (loss) before income tax
Domestic $ 24,27¢  $ (37,11 $ 5,94t
Foreign 8,26¢ (1,62)) 17,69:

$ 32,54: % (38,73 $ 23,63t

Income tax expense (benefi

Current:
Federal $ 394 % (389 $ 37
State 11z 337 124
Foreign 4,351 2,61( 5,45¢
Total current 4,857 2,56¢ 5,617
Deferred:
Federal (5,610 (10,049 (41¢)
State (1,767) (1,44%) 57
Foreign 479 — —
Total deferrec (7,850 (11,499 (361)
Add back benefit credited to additional g-in capital:
Tax benefit related to stock option exerci 11,37¢ 3,017 1,05¢
Tax benefit related to utilization of pre- bankmyphet
operating loss carryforwarc 3,65z 1,26¢€ 2,43(
15,03( 4,28: 3,48¢
Income tax provision (benefi $ 12,037 % (4,649 $ 8,74t
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The items accounting for the difference betwieenme taxes computed at the U.S. federal statineome tax rate and the income tax
provision for each of the years are as follows:

Year ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999



Federal income tax provision (benefit) at statutatg 35.0% (34.0% 34.0%

State taxes, net of federal ben 3.3% (4.5% 1.3%
Nondeductible amortizatic 1.3% 18.6% 1.7%
Nondeductible merger fei — 0.4% 0.8%
Research and development cre (5.7% (8.6)% (5.9%
Incremental effect of foreign tax rat 0.5% 2.8% (0.9%
Increase of valuation allowan 4.0% 13.8% 5.1%
Rate change (1.9% — —

Other 0.1% (0.5)% 0.4%

37.0%  (12.0%  37.0%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax éffe€ temporary differences between the amounssséts and liabilities for accounting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax pespdbe components of the net deferred tax asddiadnility are as follows (amounts in
thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000
Deferred asse
Allowance for bad debts $ 7€ % 1,01¢
Allowance for sales returns 3,90( 5,151
Inventory reserve 99z 79¢
Vacation & bonus reserve 1,66: 763
Royalty reserve 17C 774
Other 1,64: 1,58¢
Tax credit carryforwards 14,22 12,06:
Net operating loss carryforwar 12,36: 12,82¢
Amortization & depreciation 6,81¢ 7,05t
Deferred asset 42,48¢ 42,03¢
Valuation allowance (9,89%) (13,04)
Net deferred ass 32,59 28,99t
Deferred liability:

Capitalized research expenses 3,08 7,86¢
State taxes 1,452 917
Deferred liability 4,54( 8,781
Net deferred ass $ 28,05 $ 20,21+«
|

In accordance with Statement of Position 90SOP 90-7"), "Financial Reporting by Entities indRganization Under the Bankruptcy
Code," issued by the AICPA, benefits from loss yfamvards arising prior to the Company's reorgatidraare recorded as additional paid-in
capital. During the year ended March 31, 2001, $3llion was recorded as additional paid-in capital

As of March 31, 2001, the Company's availabtiefal net operating loss carryforward of $30.8iomlis subject to certain limitations as
defined under Section 382 of the Internal Reveno@eCThe net operating loss carryforwards expomf2006 to 2019. The Company's
available state
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net operating loss carryforward of $8.0 milliomist subject to limitations under Section 382 ofliiternal Revenue Code. The Company has
tax credit carryforwards of $9.4 million and $4.8lion for federal and state purposes, respectivelyich expire from 2006 to 202



At March 31, 2001, the Company's deferred inedax asset for tax credit carryforwards and netajng loss carryforwards was reduced
by a valuation allowance of $9.9 million. Of suckluation allowance, none relates to SOP 90-7 wtiiichalized, would be recorded as
additional paidin capital. Realization of the deferred tax as&etiependent upon the continued generation ofceffi taxable income prior
expiration of tax credits and loss carryforwardkhéugh realization is not assured, managemengwediit is more likely than not that the net
carrying value of the deferred tax asset will baired. The amount of deferred tax assets congideadizable, however, could be reduced in
the future if estimates of future taxable income r@duced.

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreigbsidiaries for which no deferred taxes have beewiged approximated $22.8 million at
March 31, 2001. Deferred income taxes on thesdreginave not been provided as these amounts asteoed to be permanent in duration.

10. Long-Term Debt
Bank Lines of Credit and Other De

The Company's long-term debt consists of tlleiing (amounts in thousands):

March 31,
2001 2000
U.S. Facility $ 8,43z $ 22,49¢
The Netherlands Facilit 1,75¢ 3,50¢
Mortgage notes payable and ot 3,441 4,03:
13,63: 30,03¢
Less current portio (10,23) (16,260
Long-term debt, less current porti $ 3,401 $ 13,77¢

In June 1999, the Company obtained a $100Jomilevolving credit facility and a $25.0 millicerm loan (the "U.S. Facility") with a
syndicate of banks. The revolving portion of th&Facility provides the Company with the abilibytdorrow up to $100.0 million and issue
letters of credit up to $80 million on a revolvibgsis against eligible accounts receivable ancdhiorg. The $25.0 million term loan portion
of the U.S. Facility was used to acquire Expert\afe, Inc. in June 1999 and to pay costs relatedith acquisition and the securing of the
U.S. Facility. The term loan has a three year tefth principal amortization on a straight-line gtealty basis beginning December 31, 1999
and a borrowing rate based on the banks' baséwhieh is generally equivalent to the publishedvairate) plus 2% or LIBOR plus 3%. The
revolving portion of the U.S Facility has a borrogirate based on the banks' base rate plus 1.78¥B0OR plus 2.75% and matures
June 2002. The U.S. Facility had a weighted aveirastgeest rate of approximately 9.70% and 9.50%ieryear ended March 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The Company pays a commitmebfl/ 2% on the unused portion of the revolving line. Th&. Facility is
collateralized by substantially all of the assdtthe Company and its U.S. subsidiaries. The Udsily contains various covenants that limit
the ability of the Company to incur additional ibtiedness, pay dividends or make other distributioreate certain liens, sell assets, or enter
into certain mergers or acquisitions. The Comparglso required to maintain specified financialostelated to net worth and fixed charges.
As of March 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company wasmptiance with these covenants. As of March 31,12@@proximately $8.5 million we
outstanding under the term loan portion of the B&:ility. As of March 31, 2001, there were no barngs outstanding and $18.2 million of
letters of credit outstanding against the

F-20

revolving portion of the U.S. Facility. As of Mar@&1, 2000, $20.0 million was outstanding undertéren loan portion and $2.5 million was
outstanding under the revolving portion of the UEScility. No letters of credit were outstandingast the revolving portion of the U.S.
Facility at March 31, 2000.

The Company has a revolving credit facilityotingh its CD Contact subsidiary in the Netherlaridse {Netherlands Facility"). The
Netherlands Facility permits revolving credit loarsl letters of credit up to Netherlands GuildérL.G") 26 million ($10.4 million) as o
March 31, 2001 and NLG 45 million ($19.4 milliorg af March 31, 2000, based upon eligible accoletsivable and inventory balances.
The Netherlands Facility is due on demand, beaesdst at a Eurocurrency rate plus 1.50% and 1iB5®cal 2001 and 2000, respectively
(weighted average interest rate of approximatel)% and 6.80% as of March 31, 2001 and 2000, ré&spsg and matures August 2003.
Borrowings outstanding under the Netherlands Rgaere $1.8 million and $3.5 million at March 2001 and 2000, respectively. Letter:
credit outstanding under the Netherlands FaciliégedNLG 3.8 million ($1.6 million) as of March 32000. There were no letters of credit
outstanding under the Netherlands Facility as ofdd&1, 2001.

The Company also has revolving credit fac#itigth its CentreSoft subsidiary located in thetgdiKingdom (the "UK Facility") and it



NBG subsidiary located in Germany (the "German Ifg8i. The UK Facility provides for British PoundGBP") 7.0 million ($10.0 million
of revolving loans and GBP 3.0 million ($4.3 mitiipof letters of credit as of March 31, 2001 andRGBO million ($11.2 million) of

revolving loans and GBP 6.0 million ($9.6 milliood) letters of credit as of March 31, 2000. The UcHity bears interest at LIBOR plus 2%,
is collateralized by substantially all of the assaftthe subsidiary and matures in July 2001. TKeRdcility also contains various covenants
that require the subsidiary to maintain specifiedrcial ratios related to, among others, fixedrgha. As of March 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company was in compliance with these covenantsdtmwings were outstanding against the UK fac#ityMarch 31, 2001 or 2000. Letters
of credit of GBP 3.0 million ($4.3 million) and GB&0 million ($9.6 million) were outstanding agdittee UK Facility at March 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively. As of March 31, 2001 and 2808 ,German Facility provides for revolving loanstafeutsche Marks ("DM") 4 million
($1.8 million), bears interest at 7.0%, is collateed by a cash deposit of approximately GBP 68D {$928,000) made by the Company's
CentreSoft subsidiary and has no expiration datebdirowings were outstanding against the Germailifyaas of March 31, 2001 and 20(

Mortgage notes payable relate to the land¢ceffind warehouse facilities of the Company's GeramanNetherlands subsidiaries. The notes
bear interest at 5.45% and 5.35%, respectively aaadollateralized by the related assets. Thed¥lethds mortgage note payable is due in
quarterly installments of NLG 25,000 ($10,000) amatures January 2019. The German mortgage notdéleagadue in bi-annual
installments of DM 145,000 ($65,500) beginning JAA82 and matures December 2019.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are asdath (amounts in thousands):

2002 $ 10,23:
2003 23E
2004 171
2005 171
2006 171
Thereaftel 2,652
Total $ 13,63:

|
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Private Placement of Convertible Subordinated N

In December 1997, the Company completed thafariplacement of $60.0 million principal amoundf/ 4% convertible subordinated
notes due 2005 (the "Notes"). The Notes are coilerin whole or in part, at the option of the def at any time after December 22, 1997
(the date of original issuance) and prior to theselof business on the business day immediatetegieg the maturity date, unless previously
redeemed or repurchased, into common stock, $.d0p&0value, of the Company, at a conversion fcl8.875 per share, (equivalent to a
conversion rate of 52.9801 shares per $1,000 pahamount of Notes), subject to adjustment inatertircumstances. The Notes are
redeemable, in whole or in part, at the optiorhef Company at any time on or after January 10, 28@ject to premiums through
December 31, 2003.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Developer Contract

In the normal course of business, the Compatsre into contractual arrangements with thirdiparfior the development of products.
Under these agreements, the Company commits taderepecified payments to a developer, contingpohihe developer's achievement of
contractually specified milestones. Assuming afitcactually specified milestones are achievedgcémtracts in place as of March 31, 2001,
the total future minimum contract commitment is egimately $62.1 million, which is scheduled tofmdd as follows (amount in thousanc

Year ending March 31,

2002 $ 35,197
2003 13,52¢
2004 6,25(
2005 2,92t
2006 1,67¢
Thereaftel 2,50(C

$ 62,07¢

Additionally, under the terms of a productiamefcing arrangement, the Company has a committognirchase two future PlayStatiol



titles from independent third party developersdnrestimated $5.7 million. Failure by the develsgercomplete the project within the
contractual time frame or specifications allevigtes Company's commitment.

Lease Obligation

The Company leases certain of its facilitiedermon-cancelable operating lease agreementd.flibtee minimum lease commitments as
of March 31, 2001 are as follows (amounts in thads#

Year ending March 31,

2002 $ 3,991
2003 3,72¢
2004 3,60¢
2005 3,38¢
2006 3,044
Thereaftel 5,57¢
Total $ 23,33¢

|
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Facilities rent expense for the years endedcMad, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was approximately $4liom $4.4 million and $4.4 million,
respectively.

Legal Proceeding

The Company is party to routine claims andssoifbught against it in the ordinary course of bess, including disputes arising over the
ownership of intellectual property rights and cotien matters. In the opinion of management, thieaue of such routine claims will not
have a material adverse effect on the Companyligsédsss financial condition, results of operation&iquidity.

12. Stock Compensation Plans
Employee Option
The Company sponsors three stock option planthé benefit of officers, employees, consultamd others.

The Activision 1991 Stock Option and Stock Ad/@lan, as amended, (the "1991 Plan") permits taetijng of "Awards" in the form of
non-qualified stock options, incentive stock opigiSOs"), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"),trieted stock awards, deferred stock
awards and other common stock-based awards. Tdlentahber of shares of common stock available igtridution under the 1991 Plan is
7,567,000. The 1991 Plan requires available sharesnsist in whole or in part of authorized angsaned shares or treasury shares. There
were approximately 229,000 shares remaining aVaifap grant under the 1991 Plan as of March 30,120

On September 23, 1998, the stockholders o€tirapany approved the Activision 1998 Incentive Rtae "1998 Plan"). The 1998 Plan
permits the granting of "Awards" in the form of nqualified stock options, ISOs, SARS, restricteztktawards, deferred stock awards and
other common stock-based awards to directors,avffjeemployees, consultants and others. The totabar of shares of common stock
available for distribution under the 1998 Plan,i30®,000. The 1998 Plan requires available sharesrtsist in whole or in part of authorized
and unissued shares or treasury shares. Thereappreximately 648,000 shares remaining availabigifant under the 1998 Plan as of
March 31, 2001.

On, April 26, 1999, the Board of Directors apgrd the Activision 1999 Incentive Plan (the "1%88n"). The 1999 Plan permits the
granting of "Awards" in the form of nogualified stock options, ISOs, SARSs, restrictedtktawards, deferred share awards and other coi
stock-based awards to directors, officers, empleyeensultants and others. The total number ofeshafrcommon stock available for
distribution under the 1999 Plan is 5,000,000. T8@9 Plan requires available shares to consistimievor in part of authorized and unissued
shares or treasury shares. As of March 31, 20@te thvere approximately 262,000 shares remaininggdl@ for grant under the 1999 Plan.

The exercise price for Awards issued unded 8l Plan, 1998 Plan and 1999 Plan (collectivély,"Plans") is determined at the discre
of the Board of Directors (or the Compensation Cattem of the Board of Directors, which administdrs Plans), and for ISOs, is not to be
less than the fair market value of the Companysmon stock at the date of grant, or in the caseafqualified options, must exceed or be
equal to 85% of the fair market value at the datgrant. Options typically become exercisable istatiments over a period not to exceed five
years and must be exercised within 10 years ofi#ite of grant. However, certain options granteekicutives vest immediately. Historical



stock options have been granted with exercise pegeal to or greater than the fair market valubatate of grant.

In connection with current and prior employmagteements between the Company and Robert A. K dklie Company's Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, and Brian G. Kelly, the @pany's Co-Chairman, Mr. Kotick and Mr. Kelly haween granted options to purchase
common stock.
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Relating to such grants, as of March 31, 2001, %(®® and 3,186,000 shares with weighted averagreiee prices of $8.43 and $9.22 were
outstanding and exercisable, respectively.

The Company also issues stock options in catijoim with acquisition transactions. For the yeaded March 31, 2001, approximately
13,000 and 1,000 options with weighted averageceseprices of $9.74 and $6.76 were outstandingeardcisable, respectively, relating to
options issued in conjunction with the acquisitioh$lead Games and Expert.

Director Warrants

The Director Warrant Plan, which expired on &maber 19, 1996, provided for the automatic grantihgyarrants ("Director Warrants") to
purchase 16,667 shares of common stock to eacttatiref the Company who was not an officer or emetoof the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. Director Warrants granted under tliedfor Warrant Plan vest 25% on the first anniagrof the date of grant, and 12.5% each
six months thereafter. The expiration of the Plad ho effect on the outstanding Director Warrafsssof March 31, 2001, there were no
shares of common stock available for distributioder the Director Warrant Plan.

The range of exercise prices for Director Wiatsabutstanding as of March 31, 2001 was $.75 168 he range of exercise prices for
Director Warrants is wide due to increases andedesas in the Company's stock price over the pefitite grants. As of March 31, 2001,
28,700 of the outstanding and vested Director Wiisrhave a weighted average remaining contradfeadfl 0.78 years and a weighted
average exercise price of $.75; 20,000 of the antihg and vested Director Warrants have a weigitedage remaining contractual life of
3.82 years and a weighted average exercise pri$6.60; and 20,000 of the outstanding and vesteecRir Warrants have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 3.82 yeas @amweighted average exercise price of $8.50.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 199&,@lompany issued warrants to purchase 40,000 shizifes Company's common stock, at
exercise prices ranging from $11.80 to $13.88 w dfvits outside directors in connection with thelection to the Board. Such warrants have
vesting terms identical to the Directors Warramis axpire within 10 years. Relating to such wamsaas of March 31, 2001, 40,000 and
39,000 shares with weighted average exercise poic$2.85 and $12.89 were outstanding and exdileiseespectively.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Company has an employee stock purchasdqiati eligible employees (the "Purchase Plahder the Purchase Plan, shares of the
Company's common stock may be purchased at sixfniotgrvals at 85% of the lower of the fair markatue on the first or last day of each
six-month period (the "Offering Period"). Employamay purchase shares having a value not excee@igol their gross compensation
during an Offering Period. Employees purchased1®ta@hd 39,002 shares at a price of $9.46 and $@68hare during the Purchase Plan's
offering period ended September 30, 2000 and 1@89ectively, and 43,910 and 33,440 shares ata pfi$11.79 and $10.25 per share
during the Purchase Plan's offering period endertMal, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Activity of Employee and Director Options and Wauts

Activity of all employee and director optionscawarrants during the last three fiscal years agfllows (amounts in thousands, except
weighted average exercise price amounts):

2001 2000 1999
Witd Avg Witd Avg Witd Avg
Shares Ex Price Shares Ex Price Shares Ex Price
Outstanding at beginning of ye 10,33: $ 11.07 9,94¢ $ 10.5¢ 6,21¢ $ 11.47
Granted 6,767 6.91 3,761 11.52 5,63¢ 10.27%

Exercised (3,500) 9.0€ (2,331) 9.1F (605) 8.6¢



Forfeited (1,655) 9.7¢ (1,059 11.91 (1,202) 15.3¢

Outstanding at end of ye 11,94 $ 9.6¢ 10,33:  $ 11.07 9,94¢ $ 10.5¢
I I I I | I
Exercisable at end of ye 6,54¢ $ 9.9¢ 4,71t $  10.2¢ 4,15¢ $  10.0C

For the year ended March 31 2001, 4,342,00@optvith a weighted average exercise price of $Wwére granted at an exercise price
equal to the fair market value on the date of gaanat 2,425,000 options with a weighted averageceseprice of $6.43 were granted at an
exercise price greater than fair market value erdidite of grant.

For the year ended March 31 2000, 2,501,00@ptvith a weighted average exercise price of 8 %vere granted at an exercise price
equal to the fair market value on the date of gaanat 705,000 options with a weighted average esemiice of $10.71 were granted at an
exercise price greater than fair market value endidite of grant. Additionally, in conjunction witte acquisition of Expert, 561,000 options
with a weighted average exercise price of $6.48&wgeanted at an exercise price less than markeé\al the date of grant. Options granted
to Expert were outside any of the Plans.

For the year ended March 31, 1999, 5,320,0@@mpwere granted at an exercise price equaledain market value on the date of grant
and 218,000 options were granted at an exercise greater than fair market value on the date arfitgr

The following tables summarize information aballemployee and director stock options and wasautstanding as of March 31, 2001
(share amounts in thousands):

Outstanding Options Exercisable Options
Remaining
Witd Avg
Contractual Life Wtd Avg Wtd Avg
Shares (in years) Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Range of exercise price
$0.75 to $0.75 29 0.7¢ 0.7t 29 0.7t
$3.00 to $6.00 1,33¢ 8.3C 5.82 338 5.3C
$6.03 to $6.13 2,002 9.14 6.15 917 6.15
$6.16 to $9.44 1,30¢ 8.04 7.7¢ 50¢€ 8.7C
$9.50 to $10.25 1,60¢ 6.8¢ 9.8¢ 1,462 9.8¢
$10.31 to $10.31 34C 8.2¢ 10.31 167 10.31
$10.38 to $10.50 1,99¢ 7.97 10.5(C 1,97¢ 10.5C
$10.56 to $12.50 1,307 7.4¢ 11.1¢ 422 10.9¢
$12.63 to $14.50 1,30¢ 7.87 13.5: 332 13.44
$14.56 to $23.86 711 6.31 17.8¢ 401 18.8¢
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Nor-Employee Warrants

In prior years, the Company has granted stoamkamts to third parties in connection with thealepment of software and the acquisitiot
licensing rights for intellectual property. The warts generally vest upon grant and are exercisatdethe term of the warrant. The exercise
price of third party warrants is generally gredtem or equal to the fair market value of the Conyfsacommon stock at the date of grant.

No such grants were made during the fiscal gading March 31, 2001. As of March 31, 2001, 1,8Q6 third party warrants to purchase
common stock were outstanding with a weighted ayeexercise price of $10.89 per share.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008,@ompany granted warrants to a third party tolpase 100,000 shares of the Company's
common stock at an exercise price of $11.63 paeshaconnection with, and as partial considerat@na license agreement that allows the
Company to utilize the third party's name in corjion with certain Activision products. The warranested upon grant, have a seven year
term and become exercisable ratably in annuallimstats over the warrant term. As of March 31, 200680,000 third party warrants to
purchase common stock were outstanding with a vieibaverage exercise price of $11.02 per share.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998,@ompany issued the following warrants to thirdipa to purchase an aggregate of
1,000,000 shares of common stock in connection saftware license agreemer



Warrants Shares Exercise Price Vesting Schedule Expiration Date

#1 500,000 $ 10.27 Vested upon date of grant; exercisable ratabér 8wears 9/16/0¢
beginning on date of grar
#2 250,00( (8) Vested upon date of grant; exercisable ratabr &wears 9/16/0¢
beginning on 9/16/0:
#3 250,000 $ 12.7C Vested and exercisable upon date of gi 7/12/0¢
Total 1,000,001
I

(a)
Exercise price will be equal to the average cloginge of the Company's common stock on the NASIDMd@ional Market for the
30 trading days preceding September 16, 2003.

As of March 31, 1999, 1,480,000 third party raats to purchase common stock were outstandingawteighted average exercise price of
$10.98 per share

The fair value of the warrants was determingidgithe Black-Scholes pricing model, assuminglefiee rate of 4.77%, a volatility factor
of 66% and expected terms as noted above. The teeigiverage estimated fair value of third partyravas granted during the years ending
March 31, 2000 and 1999 were $7.89 per share ai®3 $er share, respectively. No warrants were gtaduring the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2001. In accordance EITF 96-18, the Campaeasures the fair value of the securities omthasurement date. The fair value of
each warrant is capitalized and amortized to rgyatpense when the related product is releasedha&netlated revenue is recognized. During
fiscal year 2001, 2000 and 1999, $1.4 million, $5i8ion and $0.4 million, respectively, was ameetil and included in royalty expense
relating to warrants.

Pro Forma Informatior

The Company has elected to follow APB Opinian R5, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employe@s Accounting for its employee stc
options. Under APB No. 25, if the exercise price of
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the Company's employee stock options equals thkahprice of the underlying stock on the date @ingy no compensation expense is
recognized in the Company's financial statements.

Pro forma information regarding net income gdosnd earnings per share is required by SFAS RR. This information is required to be
determined as if the Company had accounted faniigloyee stock options (including shares issue@utiee Purchase Plan and Director
Warrant Plan and other employee option grantsectiYlely called "options") granted during fiscalddQ 2000 and 1999 under the fair value
method of that statement. The fair value of optigremted in the years ended March 31, 2001, 2060889 reported below has been
estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Sehai¢ion pricing model with the following weightaderage assumptions:

Option Plans and Other

Employee Options Purchase Plan Director Warrant Plan
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Expected life (in years 1 1 1.t 0.t 0.t 0.t 1 1 0.t
Risk free interest rai 40% 6.1% 4.7% 4.0% 6.152% 4.7/% 4.0% 6.1% 4.77%
Volatility 70% 67% 66% 70% 67% 66% 70% 67% 66%

Dividend yield — — — — — — — — —

The Black-Scholes option valuation model wagettgped for use in estimating the fair value ofléd options that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofriiygsubjective assumptions, including the
expected stock price volatility. Because the Comgfsaoptions have characteristics significantly etiént from those of traded options, and
because changes in the subjective input assumptanmaterially affect the fair value estimatethia opinion of management, the existing
models do not necessarily provide a reliable singdasure of the fair value of its options. For @pdi granted during fiscal 2001, the per sl
weighted average fair value of options with exerqgisices equal to market value on date of grantexedcise prices greater than market value
were $3.12, and $1.34, respectively. For optioasitgd during fiscal 2000, the per share weightedlage fair value of options with exercise
prices equal to market value on date of grant,asemprices greater than market value and exepcises less than market value were $5.91,
$2.64 and $8.00, respectively. The weighted aveeatjmated fair value of options and warrants gduturing the year ended March 31,
1999 was $11.12 per share. The per share weigligzdge estimated fair value of Employee Stock PagetPlan shares granted during



years ended March 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 wer@® $83435 and $2.85, respective

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, thereggd fair value of the options is amortized toemge over the options' vesting period. The
Company's pro forma information follows (amountshiausands except for per share information):

Year ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
Pro forma net income (los $ 11,53. $ (45,35 $  74¢
Pro forma basic earnings (loss) per st 0.4¢ (1.89) 0.01
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) per sk 0.4z (1.89) 0.01

The effects on pro forma disclosures of apgy#FAS No. 123 are not likely to be representativime effects on pro forma disclosures of
future years.

Employee Retirement Pl

The Company has a retirement plan coveringtanbally all of its eligible employees. The retirent plan is qualified in accordance with
Section 401(Kk) of the Internal Revenue Code. Utideplan, employees may defer up to 15% of theirtpk salary, but not more than
statutory limits.
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The Company contributes 5% of each dollar contebuty a participant. The Company's matching coutidins to the plan were $62,000,
$46,000 and $40,000 during the years ended MarcB@I1, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

13. Shareholders Equity
Repurchase Pla

As of May 9, 2000, the Board of Directors authed the Company to purchase up to $15.0 millioehares of its common stock as well as
its convertible subordinated notes. The shareshatets could be purchased from time to time thrahghopen market or in privately
negotiated transactions. The amount of shares ated purchased and the timing of purchases wasl loasa number of factors, including 1
market price of the shares and notes, market dondjtand such other factors as the Company's reamat deemed appropriate. The
Company has financed the purchase of shares wéilalle cash. As of the quarter ending June 30020@ Company had repurchased
2.3 million shares of its common stock for approaiaty $15.0 million.

Shareholders' Rights Plan

On April 18, 2000, the Company's Board of Dioes approved a shareholders rights plan (the "Rigkan"). Under the Rights Plan, each
common stockholder at the close of business onl ABri2000, will receive a dividend of one right gach share of common stock held. Each
right represents the right to purchase one one-iagitiol (1/100) of a share of the Company's Seri@amor Preferred Stock at an exercise
price of $40.00. Initially, the rights are represhby the Company's common stock certificateseaadeither exercisable nor traded
separately from the Company's common stock. THegigill only become exercisable if a person omgracquires 15% or more of the
common stock of the Company, or announces or coroesea tender or exchange offer which would reauhé bidder's beneficial owners
of 15% or more of the Company's common stock.

In the event that any person or group acqui&& or more of the Company's outstanding commackstach holder of a right (other than
such person or members of such group) will theeedfave the right to receive upon exercise of sigtit, in lieu of shares of Series A Junior
Preferred Stock, the number of shares of commark sibthe Company having a value equal to two tithesthen current exercise price of
right. If the Company is acquired in a merger dreotbusiness combination transaction after a perasracquired 15% or more the
Company's common stock, each holder of a righttivdteafter have the right to receive upon exemiseich right a number of the acquiring
company's common shares having a market value &gbtab times the then current exercise price efright. For persons who, as of the
close of business on April 18, 2000, beneficiallynal5% or more of the common stock of the Comp#my Rights Plan "grandfathers” their
current level of ownership, so long as they dojwthase additional shares in excess of certaitaliions.

The Company may redeem the rights for $.0Trigét at any time until the first public announcemef the acquisition of beneficial
ownership of 15% of the Company's common stockarttime after a person has acquired 15% or mareb@fore any person has acquired
more than 50%) of the Company's common stock, tihragany may exchange all or part of the rights fares of common stock at an
exchange ratio of one share of common stock paht.riche rights expire on April 18, 201
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14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Non-cash investing and financing activities angplemental cash flow information is as followmpunts in thousands):

Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Stock and warrants to acquire common stock issuedéhange

for licensing rights

Tax benefit derived from net operating loss canmyfard

utilization

Stock issued to effect business combina
Assumption of debt to effect business combina
Conversion of notes payable to common si

Supplemental cash flow informatia
Cash paid for income tax

Cash paid for intere:

15. Quarterly Financial and Market Information (Unaudigd)

Years ended March 31,

2001 2000 1999
$ $ 8,52¢ $ 3,36¢
3,652 1,26¢ 2,43(
7,171 —
— 9,10C
— 4,50(
$ 6,75: $ 6,330 $ 2,81«
IS I EE—
$ 572 % 10,51¢ $ 5,51t

Quarter Ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data) June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31 Mar 31(1) E\;]eda;rd
Fiscal 2001
Net revenue $ 84,55¢ $ 144.36: $ 264470 $ 126,78¢ $ 620,18:
Operating income (loss) (6,499 9,53¢ 34,754 2,01t 39,80"
Net income (loss (5,179 4,30¢ 20,50¢ 87t 20,50"
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.23) 0.1¢ 0.84 0.0z 0.82
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.23) 0.17 0.7 0.0z 0.7t
Common stock price per she
High 12.1¢€ 15.6¢ 15.2¢ 25.2¢ 25.2¢
Low 5.3¢ 6.31 10.31 13.6: 5.3¢
Fiscal 2000 (quarter ended June 30 resta
Net revenue $ 84,14: $ 115,36: $ 268,86: $ 103,83t $ 572,20!
Operating income (loss) (6,107 3,52¢ 38,24: (65,990 (30,329
Net income (loss (4,57 1,06: 22,30: (52,877 (34,089
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.19 0.04 0.8¢ (2.07) (1.39)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.19 0.04 0.7t (2.07) (1.39)
Common stock price per she
High 14.5¢ 17.7¢ 17.5C 17.6¢ 17.7¢
Low 10.31 12.6: 13.9¢ 12.0¢ 10.31

@)

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Compamijiated a strategic restructuring which resulte@dditional costs of $70.2 million
reflected in the consolidated statement of opematio the fourth quarter. See Note 3, "StrategistiReturing Plan."
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16. Organizational Structure

Effective June 9, 2000, Activision reorganizeih a holding company form of organizational stame, whereby Activision Holdings, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation ("Activision Holdings"), la@se the holding company for Activision and its sdiasies. The new holding company
organizational structure will allow Activision toanage its entire organization more effectively br@hdens the alternatives for future
financings.

The holding company organizational structurs efiected by a merger conducted pursuant to Se2&a (g) of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware, which provides far thrmation of a holding company structure withawote of the stockholders of the
constituent corporations. In the merger, ATVI Mer8eb, Inc., a Delaware corporation, organizedtierpurpose of implementing the
holding company organizational structure, (the "§erSub"), merged with and into Activision with Adsion as the surviving corporation
(the "Surviving Corporation"). Prior to the mergActivision Holdings was a direct, wholly-owned sidiary of Activision and Merger Sub
was a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Activisibioldings. Pursuant to the merger, (i) each isargtoutstanding share of common stock
of Activision (including treasury shares) was camed into one share of common stock of Activisionldings, (ii) each issued and
outstanding share of Merger Sub was convertedanéshare of the Surviving Corporation's commouokstand Merger Sub's corporate
existence ceased, and (iii) all of the issued aridtanding shares of Activision Holdings owned bgtivision were automatically canceled i
retired. As a result of the merger, Activision bmesa direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Activisibloldings.

Immediately following the merger, Activisionarged its name to "Activision Publishing, Inc." ahetivision Holdings changed its name
to "Activision, Inc." The holding company's commstock will continue to trade on The Nasdaq Natidlatket under the symbol ATVI.

The conversion of shares of Activision's comrstotk in the merger occurred without an excharfgeuificates. Accordingly, certificates
formerly representing shares of outstanding comstock of Activision are deemed to represent theesaumber of shares of common stock
of Activision Holdings. The change to the holdiragmgpany structure was tax free for federal incomeptarposes for stockholders.

These transactions had no impact on the Con'paangsolidated financial statements.
17. Subsequent Events—Unaudited

Subsequent to March 31, 2001, the Companyd:&tiethe redemption of its $60.0 million conveltilsubordinated notes due 2005. In
connection with that call, as of June 20, 2001déd have converted into common stock approxim&@d/0 million aggregate principal
amount of their convertible subordinated notes.

In May 2001, the Company repaid in full the egning $8.5 million balance of the term loan pantiwf the U.S. Facility. In conjunction
with the accelerated repayment of the term loas @bmpany amended the U.S. Facility effective Ma®001. The amended and restated
U.S. Facility eliminates the term loan, reducesrthalver to $78.0 million, reduces the interesé t@ Prime plus 1.25% or LIBOR plus
2.25%, eliminates certain covenants, increaseadkiance rates and reduces the fee paid for mamtera the facility.
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SCHEDULE Il
ACTIVISION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
(In thousands)
Col. A Col. B Col.C Col.D Col. E
Balance at
Beginning of Balance at
Description Period Additions(A) Deductions(B) End of Period
Year ended March 31, 20!
Allowance for sales returns, price protection and
doubtful account 31,52 79,45¢ (82,519 28,46

Deferred tax valuation allowan: 13,04 — (3,146 9,89t



Year ended March 31, 20!

Allowance for sales returns, price protection and
doubtful account 14,97¢ 97,36: (80,820) 31,52

Deferred tax valuation allowan: 6,91¢ 6,12¢ — 13,04:

Year ended March 31, 1999 (Restat

Allowance for sales returns, price protection and

doubtful account 15,58: 53,77 (54,376 14,97¢
Deferred tax valuation allowan: 8,101 1,23¢ (2,430 6,91¢
(A)

Includes increases in allowance for sales retymrise protection and doubtful accounts due to nbrmeserving terms and allowance
accounts acquired in conjunction with acquisitions.

(B)
Includes actual write-offs of uncollectible accairgceivable or sales returns and price protectemgveries of previously written off
receivables and foreign currency translation adjests.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June®) athong Activision, Inc., Activision Holdings, Inand ATVI Mergel
Sub, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit&4he Company's Forn-K filed June 16, 2000
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatibfAativision Holdings, dated June 1, 2000 (incoqed by reference to
Exhibit 2.5 of the Company's Forr-K, filed on June 16, 2000
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Activision Holdifigsorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.6 of thex@@any's Form 8-
K, filed on June 16, 2000
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedifi®ate of Incorporation of Activision Holdingsated as of June 9,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.7haf Company's Form-K, filed on June 16, 2000
4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of April 18, 2000, betwtbe Company and Continental Stock Transfer & T@@mpany,
which includes as exhibits the form of Right Céctifes as Exhibit A, the Summary of Rights to PasehSeries A Junior
Preferred Stock as Exhibit B and the form of Cedife of Designation of Series A Junior Preferréat of the Company
as Exhibit C, (incorporated by reference to the Gany's Registration Statement on Form 8-A, RedistraNo. 00115839
filed April 19, 2000).
10.1  Mediagenic 1991 Stock Option and Stock Award Pésnamended (incorporated by reference to Exhibitalthe
Company's Registration Statement on Fo-8, Registration No. :-63638, filed on December 8, 199
10.z  Mediagenic 1991 Director Warrant Plan, as ameng®oiporated by reference to Exhibit 28.2 to thenpany's
Registration Statement on Forr-8, Registration No. 63638, filed on June 1, 199:
10.2  Activision, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan,raeraded, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.the Company's
Form &8, Registration No. 3:-36272 filed on May 4, 2000
10.4  Activision, Inc. 1998 Incentive Plan (incorporategireference to Appendix | of the Company's 199 iStatement)
10.E  Activision, Inc. 1999 Incentive Plan (incorporategreference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company's F&¥K for the year
ending March 31, 200(
10.€  Lease Agreement dated as of December 20, 1996¢ebatthe Company and Barclay Curci Investment Compan



10.7

10.€

10.€

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of @empany's Form -Q for the quarter ended December 31, 19

Share Exchange Agreement dated November 23, 188fg@the Company and the holders of all of theedsand
outstanding capital stock of Combined Distribut{toldings) Limited (incorporated by reference tahibit 10.1 of the
Company's Form-K filed December 5, 1997

Purchase Agreement dated as of December 16, 18®hgthe Company and Credit Suisse First Bostop@ation, Pipe
Jaffray, Inc. and UBS Securities LLC (the "InitRdirchasers") (incorporated by reference to Exiibil of the Company's
Form &K filed December 23, 1997

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Decerhbget 997, among the Company and the Initial Puedsa@ncorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's F8-K filed December 23, 1997
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10.1C

10.11

10.1Z

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.17

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2C

10.21

10.2Z

Indenture dated as of December 22, 1997, betwee@dmpany and State Street Bank and Trust Company o
California, N.A., as Trustee (incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Form 8-Kdil@ecember 23,
1997).

Amended and restated employment agreement date®®a3000 between the Company and Robert A. Kotick
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of th@mpany's Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2!

Employment agreement dated October 19, 1998 bettheeGompany and Ronald Doornink (incorporateddfgrence to
Exhibit 10.12 of the Company's Form-K for the year ending March 31, 199

Employment agreement dated April 1, 2000 betweerCthmpany and Lawrence Goldberg (incorporated feyerce to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Form-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 20(

Employment agreement dated July 18, 2000 betwee@dmpany and William J. Chardavoyne (incorporatedeference
to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Form-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 20(

Stock option agreement dated May 22, 2000 betwsziCbmpany and Robert A. Kotick (incorporated tignence to the
Company's Form 1-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 20

Service Agreement dated November 24, 1997 betweenbed Distribution (Holdings) Limited and Richakddrew
Steele (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@fithe Company's Form -K for the year ending March 31, 199

Amended and restated employment agreement date®®a&3000 between the Company and Brian G. Kefiggiiporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's F&fl-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 20

Articles of Merger dated June 30, 1998 betweenFs.Bcquisition Corp., a wholly owned subsidiarytbé Company, and
S.B.F. Services, Limited dba Head Games Publisfimaprporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of thex@any's Form 8-K,
filed on July 2, 1998)

Share Exchange Agreement dated September 29, 1988dbetween the Company and Mr. Frank d'Oleines, K2hrista
d'Oleire, Ms. Fiona d'Oleire, Ms. Alexa d'Oleirdiag as Dr. d'Oleire Beteiligungsgesellschaft bR, Martinus J.C.
Bubbert, and Mr. Dennis W. Buis (incorporated bigrence to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Form §iliéd on
October 8, 1998

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Meaged dApril 19, 1999 by and among the Company, BExdvequisitior
Corp. and Expert Software, Inc. (incorporated dgnence to Exhibit 2.1 of the Form 8-K of Experft8@re, Inc., filed
April 29, 1999).

Credit Agreement dated as of June 21, 1999 aman@tmpany, Head Games Publishing, Inc., Experisod, Inc.,
various financial institutions, PNC Bank, Natio#asociation, as issuing bank, administrative ageuit collateral agent for
such financial institutions, and Credit Suisse tH@ston, as syndication agent (incorporated bgregfce to Exhibit 10.22
of the Company's Form -K for the year ending March 31, 199

Share Exchange Agreement dated as of June 29, 48R@fhg the Company, Jill G. Mark and Robert N. ld&rr

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of ther@any's Registration Statement on Form S-3, Regjistr No. 333-
85385, filed August 17, 199¢
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10.2¢

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as me8&er 30, 1999, among the Company, Neversoftrtaimenent, Inc.
JCM Productions, Inc., Joel Jewett, Michael West @hristopher Ward (incorporated by reference thilk4.1 of the
Company's Registration Statement on Fo-3, Registration No. 3:-94509, filed January 12, 200(

10.2¢  Employment agreement dated July 12, 1999, betwe=ompany and Mr. Michael Rowe (incorporated ligremce to
Exhibit 6.1 of the Company's Form-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 19¢
10.28  Employment agreement dated July 12, 1999, betwe=@ompany and Ms. Kathy Vrabek (incorporated gremce to
Exhibit 6.2 of the Company's Form-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 19¢
10.2¢  Amendment to Employment Agreement between Mr. RbBalornink and the Company, dated April 30, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.1 of thenany's Form 1-Q for the quarter ending December 31, 19
10.27  Stock option agreement dated May 22, 2000 betwese@dmpany and Brian G. Kelly (incorporated by refiee to the
Company's Form 1-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 20
10.2¢  First Amendment effective as of June 8, 2000 toGhedit Agreement dated June 21, 1999 among thep@oyn Head
Games Publishing, Inc., Expert Software, Inc.,aasifinancial institutions, PNC Bank, National Asisdion as issuing
bank, administrative agent and collateral agensémh lenders and Credit Suisse First Boston, adicgtion agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of @Ge@mpany's Form -K for the year ending March 31, 200
10.2¢  Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated asgpfi2001, among Activision Publishing, Inc., dddeare
corporation, Activision, Inc., a Delaware corpooati Activision Value Publishing, Inc., a Minnesatarporation (formerly
Head Games Publishing, Inc.) and Expert Software, b Delaware corporation, various financialitotibns and PNC
Bank, National Association, a national banking agg@n, as issuing bank, administrative agenteuithteral agent for
such lenders
16.1  Letter from KPMG, LLP pursuant to Item 304(a)(3)Rdgulation S-K (incorporated by reference to EiHib.1 of the
Company's Form-K/A filed March 23, 2001)
21.1  Principal subsidiaries of the Compa
23.1 Independent Auditors' Conse
23.2 Independent Auditors' Conse
(b) | |
Reports on Form 8-K. There have been no reportsoom 8-K that have been filed by the Company dutigfirst quarter of the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2002. The followingags on Form 8-K have been filed by the Compamnduthe last quarter of the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2001:
1.1
The Company filed a Form 8-K on March 20, 2001 prépg under "ltem 4. Changes in the Registran¢gified Accountant”
the change in the Company's principal accountam iKPMG LLP to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
1.2
The Company filed a Form 8-K/A on March 23, 200parting under "ltem 4. Changes in the Registrab¢'dified
Accountant” the change in the Company's principabantant from KPMG LLP to PricewaterhouseCoopérB.L
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AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of May 7, 2001, among ACTIVISION PUBLISKENNC., a
Delaware corporation Activision"), ACTIVISION, INC., a Delaware corporation Qctivision Holdings'), ACTIVISION VALUE
PUBLISHING, INC., a Minnesota corporation (formeHygad Games Publishing, Inc.)(alue") and EXPERT SOFTWARE, INC., a
Delaware corporation Expert"; each of Activision, Activision Holdings, Valuend Expert, a ‘Borrower" and collectively, "Borrowers"),
the Lenders (as defined in Article 1), PNC BANK, NKONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking associati@s, issuing bank (in such
capacity, the'lssuing Bank'), and as administrative agent (in such capattiky,' Administrative Agenit) and collateral agent (in such
capacity, the ‘Collateral Agent') for the Lenders.

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, certain financial ingibns, including the Lenders, and the AdministetAgent are parties to the Existing
Credit Agreement (such term and each other capéidhlierm used but not defined herein having thenmmgagiven it in Article 1), and wish to
amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreemenheterms set forth herein;

WHEREAS, in connection with such amendment@sthtement, certain lenders under the Existingli€Cfgreement and the Syndication
Agent (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreemaenit) cease to be lenders to the Borrowers, thenTeoans (under and as defined in the
Existing Credit Agreement) will be repaid in fulind the Total Revolving Credit Commitment will legluced on the Restatement Effective
Date.



Accordingly, the parties hereto agree as fodlow

ARTICLE |

Definitions
SECTION 1.01. Defined Terms.As used in this Agreement, the following termalshave the meanings specified below:
" ABR Borrowing' shall mean a Borrowing comprised of ABR Loans.

"ABR Loan' shall mean any Revolving Loan bearing interest ette determined by reference to the AlternateBate in accordance
with the provisions of Article .

" Acquired Debt' shall mean Indebtedness of an Acquired Entitgtaxg at the time of a Permitted Acquisition whighs not incurred in
contemplation of such Permitted Acquisition, isdbhtedness permitted under Section 6.01 and, if dexdDomestic Subsidiary, the term:
such Indebtedness permit the Domestic Subsidiabgtome a party to the Subsidiary Guarantee Agregriee Pledge Agreement and the
Security Agreement, to grant to the Collateral Agefirst priority Lien on its assets and to madarls, dividends and other distributions to
Activision and, if owed by a Foreign Subsidiaryntt Guaranteed by any Loan Party.

" Acquired Entity' shall have the meaning set forth in Section 61p4(
" Activision" shall mean Activision Publishing, Inc., a Delag@orporation, formerly known as Activision, Inc.
" Activision Holdings' shall mean Activision, Inc., a Delaware corparatiformerly known as Activision Holdings, Inc.

" Adjusted EBITDA of a person for any period shall mean (a) EBITiDAsuch perioglus (b) the aggregate amortization with respect to
Development Costs for such period which are not¢mtise included as amortization expenses in célogl&BITDA in accordance with
GAAP, minus(c) the principal amount of loans made during spetod to officers and employees permitted undetiGe 6.04(n), to the
extent not included in calculating EBITDA in accante with GAAP.

" Adjusted LIBO Ratéshall mean, with respect to any Eurodollar Boiirayfor any Interest Period, an interest rate peuan (rounded
upwards, if necessary, to the néxtooof 1%) equal to the product of (a) the LIBO Rateifect for such Interest Period and (b) Statutory
Reserves.

" Administrative Questionnaireshall mean an Administrative Questionnaire inhstarm as may be supplied from time to time by the
Administrative Agent.

" Advance Ratesshall have the meaning assigned to such terneatich 2.01(a).

" Affiliate " shall mean, when used with respect to a specifadon, another person that directly, or indigettttough one or more
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by oursler common Control with the person specifigtbyvided, howevethat for purposes of
Section 6.07, the term "Affiliate” shall also indiany person that directly or indirectly owns 5¢érmre of any class of Equity Interests of
the person specified or that is an officer or diseof the person specified.

" Agent Fees$ shall have the meaning assigned to such terneati@ 2.08(b).

" Aggregate Revolving Credit Exposurehall mean the aggregate amount of the LendendIRing Credit Exposures.

" Alternate Base Ratéshall mean, for any day, a rate per annum (rodngevards, if necessary, to the néxie of 1%) equal to the grea
of (a) the Base Rate in effect on such day anth@Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on sishplus!/ 2 of 1%. If for any reason the
Administrative Agent shall have determined (whigtetmination shall be conclusive absent manifestrethat it is unable to ascertain the
Federal Funds Effective Rate for any reason, inotythe inability or failure of the Administrativiégent to obtain sufficient quotations in
accordance with the terms of the definition theréiod Alternate Base Rate shall be determined withegard to clause (b) of the preceding
sentence until the circumstances giving rise tdsoability no longer exist. Any change in the Aftate Base Rate due to a change in the
Rate or the Federal Funds Rate shall be effectivh® effective date of such change in the Base Bathe Federal Funds Rate, respectively.
The term "Base Raté shall mean the base commercial lending rate o RS publicly announced to be in effect from timdime, such rate
to be adjusted automatically, without notice, om éfffective date of any change in such rate. Tdtis of interest is determined from time to
time by PNC as a means of pricing some loans tougsomers and is neither tied to any externalahbeterest or index nor does it necess:
reflect the lowest rate of interest actually chargg PNC to any particular class or category ot@uers of PNC



" Asset Salé shall mean the sale, transfer or other disposifity way of merger or otherwise, and including aagualty event or
condemnation that results in the receipt of anyriaisce or condemnation proceeds) by any Borrowangiof the Subsidiaries to any person
other than a Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantdapany Equity Interests of any of the Subsidiamr (b) any other assets of a Borrower
or any of its Subsidiaries (other than (i) invegt@xcess, damaged, obsolete or worn out asseap, and Permitted Investments, in each case
disposed of in the ordinary course of businesgagisets transferred for an aggregate purchase qotcexceeding $1,000,000 in any four
consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrowers, ¢ligpositions between or among Foreign Subsidiari€s/) license, distribution or
development agreements entered into in the ordicauyse of business which do not transfer all tistantially all of the rights owned by a
Borrower or its Subsidiaryprovidedthat any asset sale or series of related assatdaderibed in clause (b) above having a valuénnot
excess of $250,000 shall be deemed not to be asetAale" for purposes of this Agreement.

" Assignment and Acceptantshall mean an assignment and acceptance entdoebyi a Lender and an assignee, and acceptectby th
Administrative Agent, in the form approved by thdministrative Agent.
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"Board" shall mean the Board of Governors of the FedReslerve System of the United States of America.
" Blocked Account$shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.15.

" Borrower Guarantee Agreemehshall mean the Borrower Guarantee Agreement anhbatly in the form of Exhibit M to the Existing
Credit Agreement, made by the Borrowers in favathef Collateral Agent for the benefit of the SeduParties.

" Borrowers" shall mean Activision Holdings, Activision, ValuExpert and any other Subsidiary of Activision #iags which becomes a
Borrower hereunder.

" Borrowers' Account shall have the meaning given such term in Se@i6i.

"Borrowing" shall mean a group of Loans of a single Type ntadthe Lenders on a single date and as to whaihgle Interest Period is
in effect.

" Borrowing Agent' shall mean Activision.

" Borrowing Base Availability shall mean that amount determined under clatjsasd (ii)(A) of the definition of Formula Amount
contained in Section 2.01(a).

"Borrowing Requestshall mean a request by the Borrowing Agent dmalfeof a Borrower in accordance with the term&ettion 2.03
and substantially in the form of Exhibit C to theiging Credit Agreement, or such other form adldf@approved by the Administrative
Agent.

"Business Day shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Suaddgy on which banks in New York City are authedor required by
law to closeprovided, however, that when used in connection with a Eurodollaath,cahe term Business Day shall also exclude any day
on which banks are not open for dealings in daligosits in the London and New York interbank mtsrke

" Capital Expenditures shall mean, for any period and with respect tp person, the aggregate amount of all expenditlueisg such
period by such person that (a) would be class#igedapital expenditures in accordance with GAABrermade in property that is the subject
of a synthetic lease to which such person beconfessae party during such period but excludingsargh expenditure made (i) to restore,
replace or rebuild property to the condition oftspcoperty immediately prior to any damage, logstdiction or condemnation of such
property, to the extent such expenditure is madle iwsurance proceeds or condemnation awardsrgladiany such damage, loss,
destruction or condemnation, (ii) with proceedsifrilie sale or exchange of property to the extélized to purchase functionally equivalent
property or equipment or (iii) as the purchasegatany Permitted Acquisition; and (b) constitD&velopment Costs.

" Capital Lease Obligationsof any person shall mean the obligations of quetson to pay rent or other amounts under any lefaEe
other arrangement conveying the right to use)aeakrsonal property, or a combination thereof,cfabligations are required to be
classified and accounted for as capital leaseshmlance sheet of such person under GAAP, andntieeiiat of such obligations shall be the
capitalized amount thereof determined in accordavite GAAP.

" Cash Collateral' shall mean money or Permitted Investments irpthgsession of the Collateral Agent (including ie thvestment
Account) as collateral hereunder or under any dtban Document and in which the Collateral Agers hdirst priority perfected Lien.

" Cash Componentsshall mean, with respect to any Permitted Acdiaisj the cash expenditures and (without duplicgtiodebtedness
(including Acquired Indebtedness) incurred in cartiom therewith



" Casualty”" shall have the meaning set forth in each of thetlyhges.

3

" Casualty Proceedsshall have the meaning set forth in each of thegtlyhges.

" Change in Controt! shall be deemed to have occurred if (a) any peos@roup (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of Becurities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as in effechemlate hereof) shall own directly or indirectlgnificially or of record, shares
representing more than 35% of the aggregate ondirating power represented by the issued and mdstg capital stock of Activision
Holdings, (b) a majority of the seats (other thanant seats) on the board of directors of Actividitmldings shall at any time be occupied by
persons who were neither (i) nominated by the bo&directors of Activision Holdings, nor (ii) apjmed by directors so nominated, or
(c) any change in control (or similar event, howedenominated) with respect to Activision Holdiraysany of its Subsidiaries shall occur
under and as defined in any indenture or agreemeaspect of Indebtedness in an aggregate prihaipaunt in excess of $2,000,000 to
which Activision Holdings or any of its Subsidiagies a party, or (d) Activision ceases to be a Wholvned Subsidiary of Activision
Holdings, or (e) any Subsidiary of Activision whitha Borrower or UK Sub ceases to be a wholly-ah&ebsidiary of Activision.

"Change in Law shall mean (a) the adoption of any law, ruleegyuiation after the date of this Agreement, (b) eimgnge in any law,
rule or regulation or in the interpretation or dapation thereof by any Governmental Authority affee date of this Agreement or
(c) compliance by any Lender or the Issuing Bankf@m purposes of Section 2.15, by any lendingcefbf such Lender or by such Lender's
or the Issuing Bank's holding company, if any) vatty request, guideline or directive (whether driraving the force of law) of any
Governmental Authority made or issued after the déthis Agreement.

" Closing Date' shall mean June 22, 1999.
" Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 198&m@esnded from time to time.

" Collateral " shall mean all the "Collateral" as defined in &wcurity Document and shall also include any Magtyl Properties, but shall
exclude "Margin Stock" (as defined in Regulatiomithe Board).

" Commitment shall mean, with respect to any Lender, such e€asdrevolving Credit Commitment.

" Commitment Feéshall have the meaning assigned to such terneatic 2.08(a).

" Commitment Increaskshall have the meaning assigned to such terneaic@ 2.30.

" Condemnatiori shall have the meaning set forth in each of thetlyhges.

" Condemnation Proceedshall have the meaning set forth in each of tlaetlyhges.

" Confidential Information Memorandutrshall mean the Confidential Information Memorandaf Activision dated April 1999.

" Control" shall mean the possession, directly or indireaifythe power to direct or cause the directiothef management or policies of a
person, whether through the ownership of votingisges, by contract or otherwise, and the tern@ohtrolling " and"Controlled" shall have
meanings correlative thereto.

" Convertible Subordinated Note Documeéehshall mean the Convertible Subordinated Notes Ghnvertible Subordinated Note Indenture
and all other documents executed and delivered gpect to the Convertible Subordinated Notes@Convertible Subordinated
Note Indenture

" Convertible Subordinated Note Indenttrghall mean the Indenture dated as of Decembet @27, between Activision and State Street
Bank and Trust Company of California, N.A., as tees as

in effect on the Closing Date and as thereaftemataé from time to time in accordance with the regmients hereof and thereof.

" Convertible Subordinated Not" shall mean Activision's 3/ 4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2005 issuesupnt to the



Convertible Subordinated Note Indenture.
" Credit Event' shall have the meaning assigned to such terneatié 4.01.
" Default" shall mean any event or condition which uponcetlapse of time or both would constitute an Edridefault.
" Default Rate" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.
" Defaulting Lendet' shall have the meaning set forth in Section 225(
" Depository Accountsshall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.15.

" Development Costsshall mean prepaid or guaranteed royalties paiddependent software developers, license feektpdiolders of
intellectual property rights and expenses incufoegroduct development, in each case to the estecth amounts are capitalized in
accordance with the Statement of Financial Accagn8tandards No. 86, "Accounting for the Costs @in@uter Software to be Sold, Leased
or Otherwise Marketed".

" Dilution Reservé shall mean the percentage of dilution of Recdrsifor the most recent 12 months as determinéaeimost recent
audit by the Administrative Agemtss5% multiplied by the amount of Eligible Receivables

"Dollars " or " $" shall mean lawful money of the United States afekica.

" Domestic Subsidiariesshall mean all Subsidiaries incorporated or oigggohunder the laws of the United States of Ameidcy State
thereof or the District of Columbia.

"EBITDA" for any person for any period shall mean the INebme of such person for such period, to whichl feaadded back, to the
extent deducted in calculating Net Income for speetiod (a) the Interest Expense of such persosuoh period, (b) all charges against
income for foreign, Federal, state and local incaaxes of such person for such period, (c) theegaie depreciation expense of such person
for such period, and (d) the aggregate amortizaig@ense of such person for such period, eachcmponent determined in accordance
with GAAP.

" Eligible Inventory' shall mean and include, with respect to each @&wer, Inventory owned by such Borrower (excludiaywork in
process, (b) Inventory not located at a facilityned or leased by a Borrower in the U.S. or a warsdocated in the U.S., (c) Inventory on
consignment and (d) components), valued at therlofveost or market value, determined on a firstiist-out basis, which is not, in the
Administrative Agent's Permitted Discretion, obse]eslow moving or unmerchantable and which the A&istrative Agent, in its Permitted
Discretion, shall not deem ineligible Inventorysbd on such considerations as the Administrativenfgay from time to time in its
Permitted Discretion deem appropriate, includinghaut limitation, whether the Inventory is subjéata perfected, first priority security
interest in favor of the Collateral Agent, subjerho other Lien, and whether the Inventory confotmall standards imposed by any
governmental agency, division or department thendoth has regulatory authority over such goodtheruse or sale thereof applicable.
Eligible Inventory shall include all Inventory imansit for which title has passed to the Borrowsdrich is insured to the full value thereof,
under policies for which the Collateral Agent ikbas payee and for which the Administrative Agdvellshave in its possession (a) all
negotiable bills of lading properly endorsed andalbnon-negotiable bills of lading issued in #@ministrative Agent's name.
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" Eligible Receivable$ shall mean and include with respect to each Beerceach Receivable of such Borrower arising inatttnary
course of such Borrower's business and which thaiAidtrative Agent, in its Permitted Discretionafifdeem to be an Eligible Receivable,
based on such considerations as the Administratiynt may from time to time in its Permitted Didtwa deem appropriate. A Receivable
shall not be deemed eligible unless such Receivalsebject to the Collateral Agent's first prigniterfected security interest and no other
Lien (other than a Permitted Lien on terms accdettbthe Administrative Agent in its Permitted Bxistion and for which adequate reserves
have been established), and is evidenced by aceeo other documentary evidence satisfactoripéoAdministrative Agent. In addition, no
Receivable shall be an Eligible Receivable if:

(a) it arises out of a sale made by a Borrawen Affiliate of such Borrower or to a Person totked by an Affiliate of such
Borrower;

(b) it is due or unpaid more than one hundweshty (120) days after the original invoice datemmre than sixty (60) days after the
due date;

(c) fifty percent (50%) or more of the Receileshfrom such Customer are not deemed Eligible Rabkes hereunde



(d) any covenant, representation or warranhtained in this Agreement or the Security Agreenvétit respect to such Receivable
has been breached in any material respect;

(e) the Customer shall (i) apply for, sufferconsent to the appointment of, or the takingaxfsession by, a receiver, custodian,
trustee or liquidator of itself or of all or a stdustial part of its property or call a meeting isf éreditors, (ii) admit in writing its
inability, or be generally unable, to pay its dedsthey become due or cease operations of itemirbssiness, (iii) make a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iv) cormeea voluntary case under any state or federdrbptcty laws (as now or hereafter
in effect), (v) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insoly (vi) file a petition seeking to take advantafiany other law providing for the
relief of debtors, (vii) acquiesce to, or fail tave dismissed, any petition which is filed agaihst any involuntary case under such
bankruptcy laws, or (viii) take any action for therpose of effecting any of the foregoing;

(f) the sale is to a Customer not domicilethia United States of America or Canada unlessdtesis on letter of credit, guaranty
acceptance terms, or backed by credit insuranasgéh case acceptable to the Administrative AgeitsiPermitted Discretion;

(g) the sale to the Customer is on a bill-anttthguaranteed sale, sale-amedidrn, sale on approval, consignment or any athmilar
repurchase or return basis (other than returngighstomary in the Borrower's business) or is endgdd by chattel paper;

(h) the Administrative Agent believes, in itsrBitted Discretion, that collection of such Readile is insecure or that such
Receivable may not be paid by reason of the Custsrfieancial inability to pay;

(i) the Customer is the United States of Areeor Canada, any state or province or any depatfragency or instrumentality of
any of them, unless the Borrower assigns its tigiptayment of such Receivable to the Administrafigent pursuant to the
Assignment of Claims Act of 1940, as amended (3.0. Sub-Section 3724 seqand 41 U.S.C. Sub-Section &bseq) or has
otherwise complied with other applicable statutesrdinances;

() the goods giving rise to such Receivaldeehnot been shipped and delivered to the Custontée services giving rise to such
Receivable have not been fully performed by ther@eer or the Receivable otherwise does not reptesénal sale;
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(k) the Receivables of the Customer exceeaditdimit determined by the Administrative Ageit,its Permitted Discretion, to the
extent such Receivable exceeds such limit;

() the Receivable is subject to any unwaigédet, deduction, defense, dispute, or countargléie Customer is also a creditor or
supplier of a Borrower or the Receivable is cordimgn any respect or for any reason;

(m) the Borrower has made any agreement wétCiistomer for any deduction therefrom, exceptlifetounts or allowances made
in the ordinary course of business, all of whicécdunts or allowances are reflected in the calicnadf the face value of each
respective invoice related thereto;

(n) any return, rejection or repossession efrtterchandise has occurred but only to the exfehiegortion of the Receivable
relating to the returned, rejected or repossessedy]

(o) such Receivable is not payable to a Borrpwe
(p) such Receivable is not otherwise satisfgdim the Administrative Agent in its Permitted Distion;

(q) the Borrower has not observed and compliild all laws of the jurisdiction in which the Coster or the Receivable is located
which, if not observed or complied with, would dethg Borrower access to the courts of such jurigxic

(r) the Receivable arises out of sales of Ihwgnfor which the Borrower acts solely as a cdlat agent;

(s) Receivables from original equipment mantufas or licensees unless such Receivables arts#f an invoice issued for
shipment of goods on normal trade terms; or

(t) the Receivable is owed by Kaboom.

"environment shall mean ambient air, surface water and groatem(including potable water, navigable water aetlands), the land
surface or subsurface strata, the workplace otteswise defined in any Environmental Le



" Environmental Claimi shall mean any written accusation, allegatioriceoof violation, claim, demand, order, directicest recovery
action or other cause of action by, or on behalhaff Governmental Authority or any person for dges injunctive or equitable relief,
personal injury (including sickness, disease otlge&emedial Action costs, tangible or intangipteperty damage, natural resource
damages, nuisance, pollution, any adverse effetht@environment caused by any Hazardous Materiddyr fines, penalties or restrictions,
resulting from or based upon (a) the existencéh@rcontinuation of the existence, of a Releasdy@ing sudden or nosudden, accidental «
non-accidental Releases), (b) exposure to any Hazaddaterial, (c) the presence, use, handling, trariapon, storage, treatment or dispc
of any Hazardous Material or (d) the violation be@ed violation of any Environmental Law or Enviraental Permit.

" Environmental Law shall mean any and all applicable present angréutreaties, laws, rules, regulations, codesparttes, orders,
decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices or bindiggeements issued, promulgated or entered inempyGovernmental Authority, relating in
any way to the environment, preservation or rectamaf natural resources, the management, Rel@atbeeatened Release of any
Hazardous Material or to health and safety mattectuding the Comprehensive Environmental Respo@senpensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments aadtiReization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. § 96&tiseq (collectively "CERCLA"), the
Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the ResdDoniservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and Hazerdnd Solid Waste Amendments
of 1984, 42 U.S.C. § 69( seq, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as adeshby the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §11&5
seq., the Clean Air Act

of 1970, as amended 42 U.S.C. § 740%eq, the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, 15 0.8 2601et seq, the Occupational Safety
and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C. &65&q, the Emergency Planning and Community Righktmw Act of 1986, 42 U.S.(
§ 11001et seq, the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amend@d).S.C. § 300(flet seq, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act,
49 U.S.C. § 510%t seq, and any similar or implementing state, localaeign law, and all amendments or regulations pigated under
any of the foregoing.

" Environmental Permit shall mean any permit, approval, authorizatiantificate, license, variance, filing or permissi@guired by or
from any Governmental Authority pursuant to any iEsrvmental Law.

" Equity Interest$ shall mean shares of capital stock, partnersitgrésts, membership interests in a limited ligbdompany, beneficial
interests in a trust or other equity ownershipresés in a person.

" Equity Issuancé shall mean any issuance or sale by Activisiondifws or any Subsidiary of any Equity Interest#ofivision Holdings
or any Subsidiary, as applicable, or any obligatioconvertible into or exchangeable for, or givimy &erson a right, option or warrant to
acquire, such Equity Interests or such convertiblexchangeable obligations, except in each cag@f@ny issuance or sale to a Borrower or
any Subsidiary, (b) any issuance of directors'ifiag shares, (c) sales or issuances of commarksibActivision Holdings to management
or key employees of Activision Holdings or any Sdizry or Kaboom under any employee stock optiostock purchase plan or employee
benefit plan in existence from time to time or oth®ck options from time to time granted to empley or directors, or in connection with
license, distribution or development or other simdgreements, (d) conversion of the Convertibleo8&linated Notes into common stock of
Activision Holdings, (e) issuance of common stoak¢ptions or warrants to purchase common stockctifzision Holdings as consideration
for any Permitted Acquisition, and (f) other issces of Equity Interests for non-cash or no consitiien.

"ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income SeciAdt of 1974, as the same may be amended fromtontiene.

"ERISA Affiliate' shall mean any trade or business (whether omuotporated) that, together with any Borrowettyéated as a single
employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Codesotely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA aerdti®n 412 of the Code, is treated as a
single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

"ERISA Event shall mean (a) any "reportable event”, as defineglection 4043 of ERISA or the regulations isstieteunder, with
respect to a Plan (other than an event for whietBthrday notice period is waived); (b) the existewith respect to any Plan of an
"accumulated funding deficiency" (as defined int®ec412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), wieetor not waived; (c) the filing
pursuant to Section 412(d) of the Code or Sect@8(® of ERISA of an application for a waiver oétminimum funding standard with
respect to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by a Boeraw any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liabilitynder Title IV of ERISA with respect to tl
termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by therBaser or any of its ERISA Affiliates from the PBGIL a plan administrator of any notice
relating to the intention to terminate any PlafPtams or to appoint a trustee to administer ang;Hfathe incurrence by the Borrower or any
of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respz to the withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemploy@an; (g) the receipt by a Borrower or
any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice, or theaeipt by any Multiemployer Plan from a Borroweraoy of its ERISA Affiliates of any
notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal tiilety or a determination that a Multiemployer Plianor is expected to be, insolvent or in
reorganization, within the meaning of Title IV oRESA; or (h) any Foreign Benefit Event.

" Eurodollar Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised of Eurodollaahs.
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" Eurodollar Loan" shall mean any Revolving Loan bearing interest atte determined by reference to the AdjusteddRaate in
accordance with the provisions of Article II.

" European Distribution Subsidiarie¢sshall mean Combined Distribution (Holdings) Liedt PDQ Distribution Limited, CentreSoft
Limited, NBG EDV Handels und Verlags GmbH & Co. KGrget Software Vertriebs GmbH, CD Contact DatabBimContact Data N.V.,
and Contact Data Belgium NV and their respectivaesasors and assignors and any other Foreign Satysishgaged primarily in the
business of distributing a Borrower's and othespes' products in Europe.

" Event of Default shall have the meaning assigned to such ternrticlé VII.

"Excluded Taxesshall mean, with respect to the Administrativeefiy any Lender, the Issuing Bank or any othepient of any payme!
to be made by or on account of any obligation Bbarower hereunder, (a) income or franchise tawgmised on (or measured by) its net
income by the United States of America, or by tiresfliction under the laws of which such recipisntrganized or in which its principal
office is located or, in the case of any Lendenyirich its applicable lending office is located) émy branch profits taxes imposed by the
United States of America or any similar tax impobgdany other jurisdiction in which a Borrower échted and (c) in the case of a Foreign
Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a relgyéise Borrowers under Section 2.24(a)), any otting tax that is imposed on amounts
payable to such Foreign Lender at the time sucki§oilender becomes a party to this Agreementésigthates a new lending office) or is
attributable to such Foreign Lender's failure topty with Section 2.23(e), except to the extent tech Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if
any) was entitled, at the time of designation atw lending office (or assignment), to receive fiddal amounts from the Borrowers with
respect to such withholding tax pursuant to Se@i@3(a).

" Existing Credit Agreemetitshall mean the Credit Agreement dated as of 20nd999, among the Borrowers, the lenders pagsetb,
Credit Suisse First Boston, acting through its Néawk Branch, as Syndication Agent, and PNC Bankjdwal Association, as
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, as amethdr otherwise modified from time to time priorthe Restatement Effective Date.

" Existing Letter of Credit shall mean each letter of credit previously isster the account of Activision or its Domestic Sidharies
pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreement thatusstanding on the Restatement Effective Date.

" Expert" shall mean Expert Software, Inc., a Delaware cmapon.

" Federal Funds Ratéshall mean, for any day, the weighted averagh®fates on overnight Federal funds transactiatitsmembers of
the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federa himo#ers, as published for such day (or if sughisi@ot a Business Day, for the next
preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve BiNkw York, or if such rate is not so published &ny day which is a Business Day,
the average of quotations for such day on suclsaetions received by PNC from three Federal fumdkdss of recognized standing selected
by PNC.

"Fee Letter" shall mean the Fee Letter dated concurrentlyviigine between Activision, the Administrative Ageantd the Collateral Ager
" Fees" shall mean the Commitment Fees, the Agent Feed.AC Participation Fees and the Issuing Bank Fees

" Financial Officer" of any corporation shall mean the chief finanaiiicer, principal accounting officer, Treasurer@ontroller of such
corporation.

" Fixed Charge Coverage Ratiavith respect to any person for any period shabhmthe ratio of (a) Adjusted EBITDA of such person
plus, in the case of any Borrower (and without duplaraof any amounts included in the Borrowers' Neioime) the amount of dividends or
loans or repayments of

loans actually received from its Foreign Subsidisuduring such periddssthe amount of loans or capital contributions madthe Foreign
Subsidiaries during such period to (b) Fixed Chaifge such period.

" Fixed Charge$ with respect to any person for any period shabm without duplication, the sum of (a) Interegp&nse for such period,
plus(b) payments on long term Indebtedness (includiagi@l Lease Obligations) of such person for suatiod, plus(c) Capital
Expenditures made by such person during such pggiesi(d) taxes paid in cash by such person during seciogh

" Foreign Benefit Evertshall mean, with respect to any Foreign Pensian,Ra) the existence of unfunded liabilities ktess of the
amount permitted under any applicable law, or icess of the amount that would be permitted absermtieer from a Governmental
Authority, (b) the failure to make the required trdyutions or payments, under any applicable lanvpobefore the due date for st



contributions or payments, (c) the receipt of dasoby a Governmental Authority relating to thesimtion to terminate any such Foreign
Pension Plan or to appoint a trustee or similaciatfto administer any such Foreign Pension Rtaalleging the insolvency of any such
Foreign Pension Plan and (d) the incurrence ofliabjlity in excess of $2,000,000 (or the Dollauéalent thereof in another currency) by a
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries under appliedbiv on account of the complete or partial tertidmeof such Foreign Pension Plan or the
complete or partial withdrawal of any patrticipatiegployer therein, or (e) the occurrence of anysaation that is prohibited under any
applicable law and could reasonably be expectedsialt in the incurrence of any liability by thelBmwer or any of its Subsidiaries, or the
imposition on a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaésny fine, excise tax or penalty resulting franmy noncompliance with any applicable
law, in each case in excess of $2,000,000 (or tiaDequivalent thereof in another currency).

" Foreign Lendet" shall mean any Lender that is organized undefaivs of a jurisdiction other than that in whicBarrower is located.
For purposes of this definition, the United StatEAmerica, each State thereof and the Distric€olumbia shall be deemed to constitute a
single jurisdiction.

" Foreign Pension Plah shall mean any plan, fund (including any supereating fund) or other similar program establisbedhaintained
outside the United States by a Borrower or anyamnmaore of its Subsidiaries primarily for the bahef employees of such Borrower or such
Subsidiaries residing outside the United States;hwplan, fund or other similar program providesresults in, retirement income, a deferral
of income in contemplation of retirement or paynsentbe made upon termination of employment, anidtwblan is not subject to ERISA or
the Code.

" Foreign Subsidiary shall mean any Subsidiary that is not a DomeStibsidiary.
" Formula Amount shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2p1(
"GAAP" shall mean generally accepted accounting priesipi the United States applied on a consister$.bas

" Governmental Authority shall mean any Federal, state, local or foreigurtor governmental agency, authority, instrumiégtar
regulatory body.

" Granting Lendet' shall have the meaning specified in Section $)04(

" Guaranteé€' of or by any person shall mean any obligatiomto@ent or otherwise, of such person guaranteeirtgaving the economic
effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or othiégaiton of any other person (theptimary obligor™) in any manner, whether directly or
indirectly, and including any obligation of suchrgen, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or paya@vance or supply funds for the purchas
payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligatido purchase (or to advance or supply funds ferhirchase of) any security for the
payment of such Indebtedness or other obligationto purchase or lease property, securities aicees for the purpose of assuring the owner
of such Indebtedness or other obligation of thempent of such Indebtedness or other
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obligation or (c) to maintain working capital, etyutapital or any other financial statement comwditor liquidity of the primary obligor so as
to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indeb¢sgror other obligatiomrovided, however, that the term "Guarantee" shall not include
endorsements for collection or deposit in the adjrcourse of business.

" Hazardous Material§ shall mean all explosive or radioactive substararewastes, hazardous or toxic substances or sygeikutants,
solid, liquid or gaseous wastes, including petrolear petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestogmtong materials, polychlorinated
biphenyls ("PCBs") or PCB-containing materials or equipment, radas, infectious or medical wastes and all othestsutzes or wastes of
any nature regulated pursuant to any Environmé:atai.

"Hedging Agreemetitshall mean any interest rate swap agreementgegiteate cap agreement, interest rate collar egreg foreign
exchange contract, currency swap agreement or siimdar agreement or arrangement designed to gragginst fluctuations in interest or
currency exchange rates and not entered into fagudation.

" Indebtednes$ of any person shall mean, without duplicatior),dl obligations of such person for borrowed mopeyvith respect to
deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligagiof such person evidenced by bonds, debenturtss ar similar instruments, (c) all
obligations of such person upon which interestgasuare customarily paid, (d) all obligations affsperson under conditional sale or other
title retention agreements relating to propertassets purchased by such person, (e) all obligatibauch person issued or assumed as the
deferred purchase price of property or servicesl(ehkng trade accounts payable and accrued obdigaincurred in the ordinary course of
business), (f) all Indebtedness of others secuygohfor which the holder of such Indebtednessdrasxisting right, contingent or otherwise,
to be secured by) any Lien on property owned ouied by such person, whether or not the obligat®ecured thereby have been assumed,
(9) all Guarantees by such person of Indebtedrfesthers, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of spelson, (i) all obligations of such person
in respect of Hedging Agreements and (j) all olilyzs of such person as an account party in resgdetters of credit and bankers'
acceptances. The Indebtedness of any person stlaltle the Indebtedness of any partnership in whitdh person is a general partt



Prepaid or guaranteed royalties to independenivacétdevelopers, license fees paid or guarantekdldiers of intellectual property rights ¢
expenses incurred for product development, wheihaot capitalized, are not Indebtedness hereunder.

" Indemnified Taxe$shall mean Taxes other than Excluded Taxes.

" Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreeniesttall mean the Indemnity, Subrogation and Countidn Agreement, substantially
in the form of Exhibit D to the Existing Credit Aggment, among the Borrowers, the Subsidiary Guaraand the Collateral Agent.

" Individual Formula Amount shall mean, at the date of determination then&df) respect to each Borrower an amount equggfoup to
the Receivables Advance Rate of the sum of Eligit@eeivables of such Borrowlesssits Dilution Reserveplus(b) up to the Inventory
Advance Rate of the value of Eligible Inventorysath Borrowerplus(c) the product of (i) the aggregate amount of taumtsing Trade L/C
Exposure of such Borrowéimes(ii) the Inventory Advance Ratglus(d) Cash Collateral of such Borrowenjnus(e) such other reserves as
the Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretideems proper and necessary from time to time.

" Intercompany Not& shall mean the demand promissory note in thar@lgorincipal amount of approximately $23,000,0660nm UK Sub
to Activision evidencing the obligations of UK StActivision, which is secured by the UK ChargecDments.

"Interest Coverage Ratibwith respect to any person for any period shabmthe ratio of Adjusted EBITDA of such persondoch
period to the Interest Expense of such personuohn eriod.
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" Interest Expenséwith respect to any person for any period shalbmthe total cash interest expense of such pérsdading
amortization of deferred financing fees, premiumsterest rate protection agreements and origasale discounts) for such period
determined in accordance with GAAP.

" Interest Payment Datéshall mean (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, st Business Day of each month, and (b) with retsjgeany
Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest Redpplicable to the Borrowing of which such Loamigart and, in the case of a Eurodollar
Borrowing with an Interest Period of more than ¢hneonths' duration, each day that would have badntarest Payment Date had succes
Interest Periods of three months' duration beeticgpe to such Borrowing, and, in addition, theéedaf any prepayment of a Eurodollar
Borrowing or conversion of a Eurodollar Borrowirggan ABR Borrowing.

" Interest Period' shall mean, with respect to any Eurodollar Borirayy the period commencing on the date of suchd®uwirrg and ending
on the numerically corresponding day (or, if thisrao numerically corresponding day, on the lag) dathe calendar month that is 1, 2, 3 or
6 months thereafter, as the Borrowing Agent magtdler such other period thereafter as the Borrgwigent may request and all the Lenc
with Loans included in such Borrowing may agrgefivided, however, that if any Interest Period would end on a ddepthan a Business
Day, such Interest Period shall be extended tméxé succeeding Business Day unless such nextediogeBusiness Day would fall in the
next calendar month, in which case such Interesbéshall end on the next preceding Business Duagrest shall accrue from and including
the first day of an Interest Period to but exclgdine last day of such Interest Period.

" Investment Accouritshall mean a cash collateral account maintaineithé Collateral Agent invested in Permitted Inueesits and under
the control of the Collateral Agent.

" Inventory" with respect to any person shall mean and inchlbef its now owned or hereafter acquired goadsrchandise and other
personal property, wherever located, to be furmslmeder any contract of service or held for salkease, all raw materials, work in process,
finished goods and materials and supplies of angt,kiature or description which are or might beduseconsumed in its business or used in
selling or furnishing such goods, merchandise ahdrgersonal property, and all documents of titlether documents representing them.

"Inventory Advance Rateshall have the meaning set forth in Section 2){if hereof.

"Issuing BankK shall mean as the context may require, (a) PN@kBBational Association, with respect to Lettef€oedit issued by it,
(b) with respect to each Existing Letter of Cretlie Lender that issued such Existing Letter ofd@réc) any other Lender that may become
an Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.26(h) om(h respect to Letters of Credit issued by suehder, or (d) collectively, all the foregoing.

"Issuing Bank Feesshall have the meaning assigned to such terneatiéh 2.08(c).

" Joinder Agreemeritshall mean a Borrower Joinder Agreement substhyin the form attached hereto as Exhibit E te Hxisting Credi
Agreement executed by Activision Holdings or anynigstic Subsidiary which becomes a Borrower heraunde

" Kaboom" shall mean Kaboom.com, Inc., a Delaware corponatand a wholl-owned subsidiary of Activision Holding



"L/C Commitment shall mean the commitment of the Issuing Banissoie Letters of Credit pursuant to Section 2.26.
" L/C Disbursemernit shall mean a payment or disbursement made bissugng Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.
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"L/C Exposuré shall mean at any time of determination, the sdirfa) the Trade L/C Exposure and (b) the Standiéy/Exposure and
"L/C Exposure" of a Borrower shall mean the sunfadfthe Trade L/C Exposure with respect to Tradieke of Credit issued for the account
of such Borrower and the Standby L/C Exposure wé#pect to Standby Letters of Credit issued foraitmount of such Borrower.

"L/C Participation Fee' shall have the meaning assigned to such ternedatich 2.06(c).

"Lenders' shall mean (@) the financial institutions lisiea Schedule 2.01 (other than any such financigitini®n that has ceased to be a
party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Accep)aand (b) any financial institution that has e party hereto pursuant to an
Assignment and Acceptance.

" Letter of Credit' shall mean Trade Letters of Credit, Standby lretté Credit and any Existing Letter of Credit.

"LIBO Rate" shall mean for any Eurodollar Borrowing for e current Interest Period relating thereto ther@st rate per annum
determined by PNC by dividing (the resulting quotiounded upwards, if necessary, to the near&601i of 1% per annum) (i) the rate of
interest determined by PNC in accordance withstsaliprocedures (which determination shall be amieé absent manifest error) to be the
eurodollar rate two (2) Business Days prior toftrs day of such Interest Period for an amount parable to such Eurodollar Borrowing and
having a borrowing date and a maturity comparabkuch Interest Period by (ii) a number equal @ Ininus the Reserve Percentage.

"Lien" shall mean, with respect to any asset, (a) angtigage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrartage or security interest in or on
such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or alesster any conditional sale agreement, capitaden title retention agreement (or any
financing lease having substantially the same emimeffect as any of the foregoing) relating totsasset and (c) in the case of securities,
any purchase option, call or similar right of adhparty with respect to such securities.

"Loan Document$shall mean this Agreement, the Letters of Credtg, Borrower Guarantee Agreement, the Subsidiargr@tee
Agreement, the Security Documents, the Indemnitjar8gation and Contribution Agreement, any Joirktmeement and any and all
agreements, instruments and documents now or lerexicuted by a Borrower or a Subsidiary Guaraarid delivered to the
Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lenitieconnection with this Agreement or the Existibgedit Agreement.

"Loan Parties' shall mean the Borrowers and the Subsidiary Gtara.

"Loans" shall mean the Revolving Loans.

"Margin Stock' shall have the meaning assigned to such termeguRtion U.

" Master Noté' shall mean any demand promissory note eviderloags from a Loan Party to a Foreign Subsidiary.

" Material Adverse Effectshall mean a material adverse effect on (a) tmalition, operations, assets, business or prospétie Loan
Parties, taken as a whole, or on Activision Holdilagd its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (b) bil#yaof the Loan Parties taken as a whole
to pay or perform the Obligations in accordancétie terms thereof; (c) the value of the Colldterahe Collateral Agent's Liens on the
Collateral or the priority of such Liens; (d) thelidity or enforceability of any Loan Document (eththan with respect to a Subsidiary which
is not a Material Subsidiary) or (e) the practiellization of the benefits of the Administrativgext's, the Collateral Agent's and each
Lender's rights and remedies under this Agreemahtlze other Loan Documents.
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" Material Contract’ shall mean any and all contracts or agreemengsBirrower or any Domestic Subsidiary involvingaumts
remaining to be paid in excess of $1,000,000.

" Material Subsidiary' shall mean any Subsidiary which has assets witbak value in excess of $5,000 as of the datestsrchination.

"Merger Agreemeritshall mean the Amended and Restated Agreemen®Pkmdof Merger dated as of April 19, 1999, by antbng
Activision, Sub and Expert, as amended, supplemdemt@therwise modified from time to time in accande with the terms hereof a



thereof.

" Mortgaged Propertie$ shall mean the owned real properties and leadedrad subleasehold interests of the Loan Partidedtme
subject to the Mortgages.

"Mortgages' shall mean the mortgages, deeds of trust, leddehortgages, assignments of leases and rentsfinaiins and other
security documents delivered pursuant to Sectib®,®ach in form and substance satisfactory theiAidtrative Agent.

" Multiemployer Plar’ shall mean a multiemployer plan as defined inti®act001(a)(3) of ERISA.

"Net Cash Proceedsshall mean (a) with respect to any Asset Sake ctish proceeds (including cash proceeds subségredived (as
and when received) in respect of noncash considaratitially received), net of (i) selling experss@ncluding reasonable broker's fees or
commissions, legal fees, transfer and similar taxesthe Borrowers' good faith estimate of incoex@$ paid or payable in connection with
such sale), (i) amounts provided as a reservactordance with GAAP, against any liabilities unaey indemnification obligations
associated with such Asset Safgrgvidedthat, to the extent and at the time any such ansoanet released from such reserve, such amounts
shall constitute Net Cash Proceeds) and (jii) trcjpal amount, premium or penalty, if any, intgrand other amounts on any Indebtedness
for borrowed money which is secured by the asddtissuch Asset Sale and which is repaid with gucteeds (other than any such
Indebtedness assumed by the purchaser of suchoassptiyments of the Revolving Loans) and (b) watbpect to any issuance or disposi
of Indebtedness or any Equity Issuance, the castepds thereof, net of all taxes and customary fegsmissions, costs and other expenses
incurred in connection therewith. Notwithstandihg foregoing, Net Cash Proceeds shall not incligeamounts received by the Borrowers
or any Subsidiary in respect of any casualty oidenmnation to the extent Borrower or such Subsidisgs the amounts so received within
180 days of the receipt thereof to rebuild, restoreeplace the property subject to such casualgpndemnation.

"Net Income' shall mean, for any period, net income or losthefLoan Parties for such period determined oonsa@idated basis in
accordance with GAARrovidedthat there shall be excluded (a) the income of@ulysidiary to the extent that the declaration gnpent of
dividends or similar distributions by the Subsigiaf that income is prohibited by operation of thems of its charter or any agreement,
instrument, judgment, decree, statute, rule or gowental regulation applicable to the Subsidiaryemt to the extent that dividends or
distributions are actually paid in compliance thete, (b) the income (or loss) of any person acdrpgor to the date it becomes a Subsidiary
or is merged into or consolidated with a Loan Partthe date that person's assets are acquired bgraParty, and (c) the income of any
Subsidiary which is not a wholly owned Subsidiaxgept to the extent that dividends or distributians actually paid to a Loan Party.

"New Lender$ shall have the meaning assigned to such terneaich 2.30.

" Obligations" shall mean and include any and all of each Boerts\Mindebtedness and/or liabilities to the Adntiaisve Agent, the
Collateral Agent, the Issuing Bank or Lenders or eorporation that directly or indirectly contraisis controlled by or is under common
control with the Administrative Agent, the CollaaéAgent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender of evangknature and description, direct or
indirect, secured or unsecured, joint, severahtjand several, absolute or contingent, due or
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to become due, now existing or hereafter arisingtractual or tortious, liquidated or unliquidateegardless of how such indebtedness or
liabilities arise or by what agreement or instrubrtbey may be evidenced or whether evidenced byagngement or instrument, including,
but not limited to, any and all of any Borrowersiébtedness and/or liabilities under this Agreemtbstother Loan Documents or under any
other agreement between the Administrative Agéet Gollateral Agent, the Issuing Bank or Lendeis amy Borrower and all obligations of
any Borrower to the Administrative Agent, the Ctdlal Agent, the Issuing Bank or Lenders to perfants or refrain from taking any action.

" Other Taxe$ shall mean any and all present or future stamgioosumentary taxes or any other excise or propaxss, charges or similar
levies arising from any payment made under any I@acument or from the execution, delivery or enémnent of, or otherwise with respect
to, any Loan Document.

" Payment Officé shall mean initially Two Tower Center BoulevaEhst Brunswick, New Jersey 08816; thereafter, stioér office of th
Administrative Agent, if any, which it may desigadty notice to the Borrowing Agent and to each lezrid be the Payment Office.

"PBGC" shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corponateferred to and defined in ERISA.
"PNC" shall mean PNC Bank, National Association.
" Perfection Certificaté shall mean the Perfection Certificate substalgtialthe form of Annex 2 to the Security Agreement

" Permitted Acquisitior" shall have the meaning assigned to such terneatié 6.04(h)



" Permitted Discretiori means the Administrative Agent's reasonable autidaith judgment based upon any factor which the
Administrative Agent believes in good faith (a) bteasonably be expected to adversely affect #hgevof any Collateral, the enforceability
or priority of the Collateral Agent's Liens or tamount that the Lenders would be likely to receigen a liquidation of the Collateral;

(b) suggests that any report of Collateral or faiahinformation is incomplete, inaccurate or mélang in any material respect; (c) could
reasonably be expected to create a Default or Eofedefault or increase the likelihood of an insatey or bankruptcy proceeding. In
exercising such judgment with respect to mattdeging to the determination of Eligible InventomdaEligible Receivables, changes in
advance rates or the imposition, increase or rémlucf reserves, the Administrative Agent may readidy take into account factors included
in the definitions of Eligible Inventory and EligdbbReceivables, as well as changes in concentrafidaek of Receivables, changes in
collection history and dilution, changes in demérdand pricing of Inventory, and other changethimvalue of the Inventory or Receivables
that tend to increase the credit risk of lendingh® Borrowers on the security of Inventory or Realeles. The burden of establishing lack of
good faith shall be on the Borrowers.

" Permitted Investmentsshall mean any of the following:

(a) direct obligations of, or obligations théngipal of and interest on which are unconditibpgluaranteed by, the United States of
America (or by any agency thereof to the extenhsaldligations are backed by the full faith and drefithe United States of
America), in each case maturing within one yeamftbe date of acquisition thereof;

(b) investments in commercial paper maturinthini180 days from the date of acquisition therand having, at such date of
acquisition, the highest credit rating obtainalterf Standard & Poor's Ratings Service or from Mddtyestors Service, Inc.;

(c) investments in certificates of deposit, kets acceptances and time deposits maturing wathényear from the date of
acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by orgalaxith, and money market deposit accounts issueffered by, any domestic
office of any commercial bank
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organized under the laws of the United States oéAra or any State thereof that has a combinedataid surplus and undivided
profits of not less than $500,000,000;

(d) fully collateralized repurchase agreemeritk a term of not more than 30 days for securitiescribed in clause (a) above and
entered into with a financial institution satisfgithe criteria of clause (c) above; and

(e) such other investments that are acceptalifee Administrative Agent.

" person” shall mean any natural person, corporation, lassinrust, joint venture, association, companyitdidnliability company,
partnership or government, or any agency or paliscibdivision thereof.

"Plan" shall mean any employee pension benefit plarefatien a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the priovis of Title IV of ERISA or
Section 412 of the Code or Section 307 of ERISA, iarrespect of which the Borrowers or any ERISAilksite is (or, if such plan were
terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA bended to be) an "employer” as defined in Section 8{ERISA.

"Pledge Agreemeritshall mean the Pledge Agreement, substantialtii@grform of Exhibit F to the Existing Credit Agraent, between tt
Borrowers, the Subsidiaries party thereto and thiéa€ral Agent for the benefit of the Secured arttogether with any pledge or similar
agreement required or advisable under the lawsyfa@eign jurisdiction to perfect the pledge theck of the Foreign Subsidiaries.

"Pro Rata Percentagéof any Revolving Credit Lender at any time shm#an the percentage of the Total Revolving Credin@itment
represented by such Lender's Revolving Credit Camanit.

" Receivable$ of a person shall mean and include all of itsoacits, contract rights, instruments (including thesidencing indebtedness
owed to it by its Affiliates), documents, chattelger, general intangibles relating to accountdisieand acceptances, and all other forms of
obligations owing to such person arising out oinoconnection with the sale or lease of Inventaryhe rendition of services, all guarantees
and other security therefor, whether secured oeaunrgd, now existing or hereafter created, and lvenetr not specifically sold or assigned to
the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent herdan

" Receivables Advance Rdtshall have the meaning set forth in Section 2){i)(hereof.
" Register" shall have the meaning given such term in Sed@iod(d).

" Regulation T" shall mean Regulation T of the Board as from timé&me in effect and all official rulings and @mpretations thereunder or
thereof.



" Regulation U’ shall mean Regulation U of the Board as from ttméime in effect and all official rulings and émpretations thereunder
thereof.

" Regulation X' shall mean Regulation X of the Board as from tim¢éime in effect and all official rulings and émpretations thereunder or
thereof.

" Related Fund shall mean, with respect to any Lender thatfisnal that invests in bank loans, any other fund itn@ests in bank loans
and is advised or managed by the same investmeisioacs such Lender or by an Affiliate of suchdastment advisor.

" Release shall mean any spilling, leaking, pumping, pogriemitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, gsicg, leaching, dumping,
disposing, depositing, dispersing, emanating oratiigg of any Hazardous Material in, into, ontatmough the environment.

"Remedial Actior shall mean (a)"remedial action" as such ternefingéd in CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601(24), an)dall other
actions required by any Governmental Authority oluntarily
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undertaken to: (i) cleanup, remove, treat, abata any other way address any Hazardous Materidigrenvironment; (ii) prevent the Rele
or threat of Release, or minimize the further Redeaf any Hazardous Material so it does not migvandanger or threaten to endanger
public health, welfare or the environment; or (igrform studies and investigations in connectidh vor as a precondition to, (i) or

(i) above.

" Repayment Datéshall have the meaning given such term in Se@idg.

" Repurchase Amoutishall mean an amount equal to the sum of (iytktecash proceeds received by Activision Holdingsnfthe
exercise of stock options or warrants since Jur®8Qplus (ii) the net cash proceeds received by Activisiaidihgs since June 8, 2000 fri
any other Equity Issuancetus (iii) the value of the common stock of Activision Holdérigsued since the Restatement Effective Date, or
additional paid in capital since such date, asalt®f the conversion of any Convertible SubortkdaNotedess(iv) payments made since
June 8, 2000 in connection with any repurchasedemption of Convertible Subordinated Notes orteaptock;providedthat no more than
$10,000,000 of Revolving Loans may be used to thedRepurchase Amount.

"Required Lendersshall mean, at any time, Lenders having Loang, Exposure and unused Revolving Credit Commitmesgsesentin
at least a majority of the sum of all Loans outdiag, L/C Exposure and unused Revolving Credit Caiiients at such time, subject,
however, to the provisions of Section 2.25 wittpees to Defaulting Lenders.

" Responsible Officeérof any corporation shall mean any executive effior Financial Officer of such corporation and atlyer officer or
similar official thereof responsible for the adnsitnation of the obligations of such corporatioméspect of this Agreement.

" Restatement Effective Ddtshall mean the date on which this Agreement besoeffective in accordance with its terms.
" Restructure Daté shall mean May 7, 2001.
" Revolving Credit Borrowing shall mean a Borrowing comprised of Revolving hea

" Revolving Credit Commitmehshall mean, with respect to each Lender, the cibmemt of such Lender to make Revolving Loans
hereunder as set forth on Schedule 2.01, or iliisggnment and Acceptance pursuant to which suddérassumed its Revolving Credit
Commitment, as applicable, as the same may bedaged from time to time pursuant to Section 2rid (&) reduced or increased from time
to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lepdesuant to Section 2.30 or 9.04.

" Revolving Credit Exposureshall mean, with respect to any Lender at angtithe aggregate principal amount at such timél of a
outstanding Revolving Loans of such Lengeusthe aggregate amount at such time of such Lenid'&xposure.

" Revolving Credit Lendérshall mean a Lender with a Revolving Credit Cotmneint.
" Revolving Credit Maturity Datéshall mean June 21, 2002.

" Revolving Loans shall mean the revolving loans made by the Lesmttethe Borrowers pursuant to Section 2.01. EanloRing Loan
shall be a Eurodollar Loan or an ABR Loan.

" Schedule of Receivabl" shall mean, as to each Borrower, a detailed &ggddbalance of all then existing ReceivablesudtsBorrowel



in form and substance satisfactory to the Admiatste Agent, specifying in each case the nameggeadds, face amount and dates of invoice
(s) for each Customer obligated on a Receivablestam and, if requested by the Administrative Ageopies of proof of delivery and
customer statements and the original copy of alidtents, including, without limitation, repaymeigtbries and present status reports, and
such other matters and information relating todtaus of the Receivables and/or the Customerstamaled as the Administrative Agent
may from time to time reasonably request.
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" Schedule of Payablésshall mean, as to each Borrower, a detailed #igeag of such Borrower's existing accounts pagabpecifying
the names of each creditor and the amount owedcto areditor and such matters and information iredab the status of such Borrower's
accounts payable so scheduled as the AdministrAtjeamt may from time to time reasonably request.

" Seasonal Advanceshall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.01.
" Secured Parties shall have the meaning assigned to such terineirsecurity Agreement.

" Security Agreemeritshall mean the Security Agreement, substantialthe form of Exhibit G to the Existing Credit Aggment, among
the Borrowers, the Subsidiaries party thereto Aerddollateral Agent for the benefit of the SecuPedties.

" Security Documentsshall mean the Mortgages, the Security AgreentaetPledge Agreement and each of the securityeamgnts,
mortgages and other instruments and documents exkand delivered pursuant to any of the foregoingursuant to Section 5.12.

" Settlement Datéshall mean the Restatement Effective Date anc#ifter Wednesday of each Week unless such dat & Business
Day in which case it shall be the next succeedingifiess Day.

" SPC" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9)04(

" Standby L/C Exposureshall mean, at any time of determination, the siirfa) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstenStandby
Letters of Credit and (b) the aggregate amounthhatbeen drawn under any Standby Letter of Cbedifor which the Issuing Bank or the
Lenders, as the case may be, have not been reietbbysthe Borrowers at such time.

" Standby Letter of Creditshall mean (a) each irrevocable letter of cresditied pursuant to Section 2.26(a) under whichstiging Bank
agrees to make payments for the account of a Bemawn behalf of such Borrower, in respect of ddtiigns of such Borrower incurred
pursuant to contracts made or performances undagrtakto be undertaken or like matters relatingaietracts to which a Borrower is or
proposes to become a party in the ordinary coursaah Borrower's business and (b) each Existirttetef Credit.

" Statutory Reservé'sshall mean a fraction (expressed as a decin)numerator of which is the number one and themérator of
which is the number one minus the aggregate ofrtw@émum reserve percentages (including any margspaicial, emergency or
supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimaligiséabby the Board and any other banking authodidymestic or foreign, to which the
Administrative Agent or any Lender (including amaibch, Affiliate, or other fronting office making bolding a Loan) is subject with respect
to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for Eurocurrency Liatiéé (as defined in Regulation D of the Board).IBteserve percentages shall include
those imposed pursuant to such Regulation D. Ellexdabans shall be deemed to constitute Eurocayrériabilities and to be subject to
such reserve requirements without benefit of oditfer proration, exemptions or offsets that mayavwailable from time to time to any
Lender under such Regulation D. Statutory Reseskial be adjusted automatically on and as of tfecé¥e date of any change in any
reserve percentage.

" Sub" shall mean Expert Acquisition Corp., a Delawangporation.

" Subordinated DebBtshall mean unsecured Indebtedness of Activisibitivhas a maturity date at least one year afeeR#wvolving
Credit Maturity Date, no principal payments dueptd one year after the Revolving Credit Matuitste and is otherwise on terms and
conditions set forth on Exhibit K to the Existinge@it Agreement.

" subsidiary" shall mean, with respect to any person (herderred to as the parent"), any corporation, partnership, association beot
business entity (a) of which securities or othenexghip interests representing more than 50% oédfuity or more than 50% of the ordinary
voting power or more than 50% of the general pastmp interests are, at the time any determinadtidreing made,
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owned, controlled or held, or (b) that is, at tineet any determination is made, otherwise Controlgcthe parent or one or more subsidiaries
of the parent or by the parent and one or moreidialies of the parent and that is consolidatedh witch person in accordance with GAAP.

" Subsidiary' shall mean any subsidiary of Activision Holdinggcluding, howeveKaboom and any of its subsidiaries.

" Subsidiary Guarantee Agreemérghall mean the Subsidiary Guarantee Agreemehstantially in the form of Exhibit H to the Existjn
Credit Agreement, made by the Subsidiary Guaramtai@vor of the Collateral Agent for the benefittbe Secured Parties.

" Subsidiary Guarantof shall mean each Subsidiary listed on Schedul&(d)0and each other Subsidiary that is or becansty to the
Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement.

"Tangible Net WortH for any person shall mean, at a particular dayé¢he aggregate amount of all assets of such pasmay be
properly classified as such in accordance with GAARsistently applied, excluding such assets apragerly classified as intangible assets
under GAAP and assets evidencing any receivabia &moinvestments in any Affiliateess(b) the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of all
liabilities of such person and (ii) the sum of Dieygnent Costs and the value of warrants issueddiivigion Holdings, to the extent that st
amount exceeds $40,000,000.

"Taxes' shall mean any and all present or future tav@ses, imposts, duties, deductions, charges ohwittings imposed by any
Governmental Authority.

"Terminating Lendet shall mean a party that is a "Lender" under tkistihg Credit Agreement as of the Restatementdiiffe Date but
not a Lender hereunder.

" Total Debt" at any time and with respect to any person shakn the total Indebtedness of such person attBnel(excluding
Indebtedness of the type described in clause (hetefinition of such term).

" Total Revolving Credit Commitmehshall mean, at any time, the aggregate amoutiiteoRevolving Credit Commitments, as in effect at
such time.

"Trade L/C Exposurgshall mean, at any time of determination, the sdirfa) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outitenTrade
Letters of Credit, (b) the aggregate unpaid amofiatl accepted usance drafts drawn under Lette@edit and (c) the aggregate amount
has been drawn under any Trade Letter of Credifdsuhich the Issuing Bank or the Lenders, asciise may be, have not been reimbursed
by the Borrowers at such time.

"Trade Letter of Credit shall mean each sight or usance commercial dontaneletter of credit issued by the Issuing Bamkthe
account of a Borrower pursuant to Section 2.26{ajHe purchase of goods in the ordinary courdausiness.

" Transactions' shall have the meaning assigned to such terneati& 3.02.

"Type", when used in respect of any Loan or Borrowirglisrefer to the Rate by reference to which irgemn such Loan or on the Loans
comprising such Borrowing is determined. For pugsosereof, the termRate" shall include the Adjusted LIBO Rate and the Altte Base
Rate.

" UK Sub" shall mean Activision UK, Ltd., a corporation argzed under the laws of England and Wales.
" UK Charge Documentsshall mean the various pledge and security agee¢srsecuring the Intercompany Note.

"Undrawn Availability" at a particular date shall mean an amount equ@)tthe lesser of (i) the Formula Amount or ttii¢ Total
Revolving Credit Commitmenhinus(b) the sum of (i) the
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Aggregate Revolving Credit Exposupus (ii) all amounts due and owing to the Loan Partiegle creditors which are outstanding more than
60 days after the due dapus (iii) fees and expenses for which Borrowers arkléisout which have not been paid or charged to®weers'
Account.

"WeeK' shall mean the time period commencing with theropg of business on a Wednesday and ending centthef business the
following Tuesday.

"wholly owned subsidiar" of any person shall mean a subsidiary of suck@eof which securities (except for directors' dymlg shares



or other ownership interests representing 100%egeguity or 100% of the ordinary voting power 60% of the general partnership intere
are, at the time any determination is being madmea, controlled or held by such person or one aremvholly owned subsidiaries of such
person or by such person and one or more whollyeovaubsidiaries of such person.

" Withdrawal Liability"” shall mean liability to a Multiemployer Plan asesult of a complete or partial withdrawal frontlsu
Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined m Raf Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

SECTION 1.02. Terms Generally. The definitions in Section 1.01 shall apply etyutd both the singular and plural forms of therter
defined. Whenever the context may require, anyuarshall include the corresponding masculine, fémei and neuter forms. The words
“include”, "includes" and "including" shall be deednto be followed by the phrase "without limitatioAll references herein to Articles,
Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be deenferkrees to Articles and Sections of, and Exhititd Schedules to, this Agreement unless
the context shall otherwise require. Except asretise expressly provided herein, (a) any referendhis Agreement to any Loan Document
shall mean such document as amended, restatedesigoped or otherwise modified from time to timel &b) all terms of an accounting or
financial nature shall be construed in accordanitie @AAP, as in effect from time to timerovided, however, that if the Borrowing Agent
notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrowevish to amend any covenant in Article VI or aalated definition to eliminate the effect
of any change in GAAP occurring after the datehid Agreement on the operation of such covenarif (be Administrative Agent naotifies
the Borrowing Agent that the Required Lenders viishmend Article VI or any related definition farch purpose), then the Borrowers'
compliance with such covenant shall be determimethe basis of GAAP in effect immediately before thlevant change in GAAP became
effective, until either such notice is withdrawnsorch covenant is amended in a manner satisfaidhe Borrowers and the Required
Lenders.

ARTICLE Il

The Credits

SECTION 2.01. Commitments; Formula Amount{a) Subject to the terms and conditions andnglypon the representations and
warranties herein set forth, each Lender agregsyaky and not jointly, to make Revolving Loanshe Borrowers, at any time and from ti
to time on or after the Restatement Effective ate until the earlier of the Revolving Credit MatyiDate and the termination of the
Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender in ademce with the terms hereof, in an aggregate pdtheimount at any time outstanding
that will not result in such Lender's Revolving @iteexposure exceeding the lesser of (x) such LesdRevolving Credit Commitment and
(y) such Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of an anequiat to the sum of the following (thé=6rmula Amount):

(i) up to 85%, subject to the provisions o€tgm 2.01(c) hereof (Receivables Advance R&jeof the sum of (A) Eligible
Receivables of the Borrowelesss(B) the Dilution Reserveylus
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(ii) up to the lesser of (A) the sum of (a) thsser of (xX) 50%, subject to the provisions oftiea 2.01(c) hereof, of the value
of Eligible Inventory of the Borrowers and (y) 85%tbject to the provisions of Section 2.01(c) hkrebthe orderly
liquidation value of Eligible Inventory of Borrowgras determined by appraisals satisfactory to Ahtnative Agent (in either
case, the Tnventory Advance Rateand together with the Receivables Advance Rhte; Advance Rate§ and (b) the
product of (x) the Trade L/C Exposure for Inventéwywhich title has not yet passed to the Borrotiraes (y) the Inventory
Advance Rate, or (B) the greater of (a) $15,00080®) forty percent (40%) of the Borrowing Baseafability in the
aggregate at any one timainus

(iii) the L/C Exposureplus

(iv) from August 15 to November 15, an amounitin excess of $5,000,00@(0y Revolving Loan under this clause (iv), a
"Seasonal Advance?)plus

(v) Cash Collateraminus

(vi) such other reserves as the Administratigent may deem proper and necessary from timerte in its Permitted
Discretion.

(b) Each Revolving Credit Lender agrees, sdlyeaad not jointly, to make Revolving Loans to bd®orrower in aggregate amou
outstanding at any time not greater than such Len&eo Rata Percentage of such Borrower's Indatiformula Amount less such
Borrower's L/C Exposure.

(c) The Advance Rates may be increased (sutgexinsents required by Section 9.08) or decrebgélde Administrative Agent at
any time and from time to time in the exercisetefAermitted Discretiorprovided, howevel, that (i) any decrease in any Adval



Rate shall only be effective on the fifth day attee Administrative Agent has given the Borrowingeht notice of such decrease and
(il) any increase or decrease in the ReceivablasAce Rate shall only apply to Eligible Receivaluesated and assigned to the
Administrative Agent after such change in AdvanegeRbecomes effective, but any increase or deciedke Inventory Advance
Rate shall apply to all Eligible Inventory whettiben owned or thereafter acquired. Each Borrowesents to any such increases or
decreases and acknowledges that decreasing thenéglRates or increasing the reserves may limigstrict Revolving Loans or
Letters of Credit requested by the Borrowing Agent.

(d) For purposes of calculating the Formula Amtp Individual Formula Amount, Eligible Inventorgnd Eligible Receivables, the
Receivables and Inventory acquired in any Permifteglisition shall not be included until such tim&the Administrative Agent has
performed an audit with results satisfactory tia iits Permitted Discretion.

SECTION 2.02. Loans. (a) Each Loan shall be made as part of a Borrgwbnsisting of Loans made by the Lenders ratiably
accordance with their applicable Commitmeptgivided, however, that the failure of any Lender to make any Lolaallshot in itself relieve
any other Lender of its obligation to lend hereur{@tebeing understood, however, that no Lendetl sfearesponsible for the failure of any
other Lender to make any Loan required to be mgdmubh other Lender). Except for Loans deemed mad&iant to Section 2.03(a), the
Loans comprising any Borrowing shall be in an aggte principal amount that is (i) an integral npl#iof $1,000,000 or (ii) equal to the
remaining available balance of the applicable Commaints.

(b) Subject to Sections 2.15 and 2.17, eachddong shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loanssarrodollar Loans as the
Borrowing Agent may request pursuant to Sectio8.2Hach Lender may at its option make any Eurodbliean by causing any
domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such ldem to make such Loaprovidedthat any exercise of such option shall not

21

affect the obligation of the Borrowers to repayrstioan in accordance with the terms of this AgreetmBorrowings of more than o
Type may be outstanding at the same tipreyided, however, that the Borrowers shall not be entitled to resfja@y Borrowing that,
if made, would result in more than five EurodoBBorrowings outstanding hereunder at any time. Fopg@ses of the foregoing,
Borrowings made by a Borrower having different tat# Periods, regardless of whether they commendkeosame date, shall be
considered separate Borrowings.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of tiigreement, the Borrowing Agent shall not be egtitto request any Revolving
Credit Borrowing if the Interest Period requestdthwespect thereto would end after the Revolvimgd Maturity Date.

SECTION 2.03. Procedure for Revolving Credit Borrowingga) The Borrowing Agent on behalf of any Borroweay notify the
Administrative Agent prior to 1:00 p.m., New Yoiikne, on a Business Day of a Borrower's requestakenon that day, a Revolving Credit
Borrowing hereunder. Should any amount requirdoketpaid as interest hereunder, or as fees or otfaeges under this Agreement or any
other agreement with the Administrative Agent, @adlateral Agent or Lenders, or any L/C Disbursetmenwith respect to any other
Obligation, become due, same shall be deemed asefpr a Revolving Credit Borrowing as of the dateh payment is due, in the amount
required to pay in full such interest, fee, chavg©bligation under this Agreement or any otheeagrent with the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent or Lenders, and such request &igaitirevocable. The Administrative Agent is herabgvocably authorized, in its sole
discretion, to make Revolving Loans from time todi or to charge Borrowers' Account, to pay angrigt, fees or other amounts (including
any L/C Disbursement) for which payment is due urdis Agreement, or at any time after the occuwreeof an Event of Default to cash
collateralize the L/C Exposure.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sectio@3{a) above, in the event a Borrower desires teenaaEurodollar Borrowing, the
Borrowing Agent shall give the Administrative Ageattleast three (3) Business Days' prior writteticeg specifying (i) the date of the
proposed Borrowing (which shall be a Business D@iythe amount on the date of such Revolving @rBdrrowing, which amount
shall be an integral multiple of $1,000,000, aijl tfie duration of the first Interest Period thfere No Eurodollar Borrowing shall be
made available to the Borrowers during the contiiwezof a Default or an Event of Default.

(c) The Borrowing Agent shall elect the initinterest Period applicable to a Eurodollar Bormgwby its notice of borrowing given
to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section328) or by its notice of conversion given to thendinistrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.03(d), as the case may be. The BorroAgent shall elect the duration of each succeediterést Period by giving
irrevocable written notice to the Administrative ékg of such duration not less than three (3) Bissifizays prior to the last day of the
then current Interest Period applicable to suclo&aoliar Borrowing. If the Administrative Agent doret receive timely notice of the
Interest Period elected by the Borrowing Agent,applicable Borrower shall be deemed to have electeonvert to an ABR Loan,
subject to Section 2.03(d) hereinbelow.

(d) Provided that no Default or Event of Defealiall have occurred and be continuing, the BoimgwAgent may, on the last
Business Day of the then current Interest Perigufiegble to any outstanding Eurodollar Loan, oramly Business Day with respect to
ABR Loans, convert any such Loan into a Loan oftheotype in the same aggregate principal amaqamyidedthat any conversion
of a Eurodollar Loan shall be made only on the Bagtiness Day of the then current Interest Perpgdieable to such Eurodollar Loz
If a Borrower desires to convert a Loan, the BoirgrAgent shall give the Administrative Agent ness than three (3) Business Di



prior written notice to convert from an ABR Loanadeurodollar Loan or one (1) Business Day's psidtten notice to convert from a
Eurodollar Loan to an ABR Loan, specifying the datsuch conversion, the Loans to be convertedfahé conversion is from an
ABR Loan to a Eurodollar
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Loan, the duration of the first Interest Periodréier. After giving effect to each such conversithgre shall not be outstanding more
than five (5) Eurodollar Borrowings, in the aggrega

SECTION 2.04. Disbursement of LoansAll Loans shall be disbursed from whichever adfiar other place the Administrative Agent may
designate from time to time and, together with ang all other Obligations of the Borrowers to thdnAnistrative Agent, the Collateral Age
or Lenders, shall be charged to the Borrowers' Anton the Administrative Agent's books. The Boreesvmay use the Revolving Loans by
borrowing, prepaying and reborrowing, all in ac@rde with the terms and conditions hereof. Thegeds of each Revolving Credit
Borrowing requested by a Borrower or deemed to teen requested by or on behalf of a Borrower uBéetion 2.03(a) hereof shall, with
respect to requested Revolving Credit Borrowingthéoextent Lenders make such Revolving Credit@wimgs, be made available to such
Borrower on the day so requested by way of credsuch Borrower's operating account at PNC, in idgiately available federal funds or
other immediately available funds or, with resgedRevolving Credit Borrowings deemed to have bheguested by the Borrowers, be
disbursed to the Administrative Agent to be appt@the outstanding Obligations giving rise to sdelemed request.

SECTION 2.05. Manner of Borrowing and Paymenia) Each Revolving Credit Borrowing shall be adeed according to the applicable
Pro Rata Percentages of the Revolving Credit Lender

(b) Each payment (including each prepayment) Bprrower on account of the principal of andiiest on the Revolving Loans
shall be applied to the Revolving Loans of suchrBeer according to the applicable Pro Rata Pergestaf the Revolving Credit
Lenders. Except as expressly provided herein,aglients (including prepayments) to be made by thredd/ers on account of
principal, interest and fees shall be made witlsetioff or counterclaim and shall be made to theniistrative Agent on behalf of t
Lenders to the Payment Office, in each case omior w 1:00 P.M., New York time, in Dollars andimmediately available funds.

(c) (i) Notwithstanding anything to the conyraontained in Sections 2.03 or 2.05 (a) and (b¢dfe commencing with the first
Business Day following the Restatement EffectivéeDaach Revolving Loan shall be advanced by thmiAdtrative Agent and each
payment by the Borrowers on account of Revolvingrishall be applied first to those Revolving Loadganced by the
Administrative Agent. On or before 1:00 P.M., NewrKk time, on each Settlement Date commencing vigfirst Settlement Date
following the Restatement Effective Date, the Adistirative Agent and Lenders shall make certain paymnas follows: (1) if the
aggregate amount of new Revolving Loans made bytlministrative Agent during the preceding Weelkafify) exceeds the
aggregate amount of repayments applied to outstgriRievolving Loans during such preceding Week, #ash Lender shall provide
the Administrative Agent with immediately availalfiltends in an amount equal to its applicable PraafRarcentage of the difference
between (w) such Revolving Loans and (x) such reyats and (l1) if the aggregate amount of repaysiapplied to outstanding
Revolving Loans during such Week exceeds the agtgegmount of new Revolving Credit Loans made dusimch Week, then the
Administrative Agent shall provide each Lender wittmediately available funds in an amount equatstapplicable Pro Rata
Percentage of the difference between (y) such rapats and (z) such Revolving Loans.

(il) Each Lender shall be entitled to earnriegt at the rate applicable to the rate on thetauténg Revolving Loans which
has funded.

(i) Promptly following each Settlement Datee Administrative Agent shall submit to each Lenaeertificate with respe
to payments received and Revolving Loans made dguhie Week immediately preceding such Settlemete.[&uch certifica
of the Administrative Agent shall be conclusivahe absence of manifest error.
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(d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall héezn notified by telephone, confirmed in writing,dny Lender that such Lender v
not make the amount which would constitute its @gple Pro Rata Percentage of the Revolving Loaagdable to the Administrative
Agent, the Administrative Agent may (but shall betobligated to) assume that such Lender shall rea&ie amount available to the
Administrative Agent on the next Settlement Datd,an reliance upon such assumption, make avaitabilee Borrowers a
corresponding amount. The Administrative Agent witbmptly notify the Borrowing Agent of its receipt any such notice from a
Lender. If such amount is made available to the iibtrative Agent on a date after such next SettleinDate, such Lender shall pay
to the Administrative Agent on demand an amoungétputhe product of (i) the daily average Fedétaids Rate (computed on the
basis of a year of 360 days) during such perioguased by the Administrative Agent, times (ii) swahount, times (iii) the number of
days from and including such Settlement Date tadtite on which such amount becomes immediatelyadbltaito the Administrative
Agent. A certificate of the Administrative Agenttsuitted to any Lender with respect to any amountsg under this paragraph sh



be conclusive, in the absence of manifest err@udh amount is not in fact made available to tHenkistrative Agent by such Lenc
within three (3) Business Days after such Settldriate, the Administrative Agent shall be entittedecover such an amount, with
interest thereon at the rate per annum then apidi¢a such Revolving Loans hereunder, on demaord the applicable Borrower;
provided, however, that the Administrative Agent's right to suchaeery shall not prejudice or otherwise adversefgafthe
Borrower's rights (if any) against such Lender.

SECTION 2.06. Evidence of Debt.(a) Each Borrower hereby unconditionally andfjgiand severally promises to pay to the
Administrative Agent on the Revolving Credit MatyrDate (or earlier termination of the Revolvinge@it Commitments) for the account of
each Revolving Credit Lender, the then unpaid palcamount of each Revolving Loan made by suchdeeto Borrowers.

(b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordanadé ws usual practice an account or accounts ecidgrthe indebtedness of the
Borrowers to such Lender resulting from each Loadenby such Lender from time to time, including &ngounts of principal and
interest payable and paid such Lender from timé1e under this Agreement.

(c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain agots in which it will record (i) the amount of ésicoan made hereunder, the Type
thereof and the Interest Period applicable the@jdhe amount of any principal or interest due goayable or to become due and
payable from the Borrowers to each Lender hereuadeiii) the amount of any sum received by thendastrative Agent hereunder
from the Borrowers or any Subsidiary Guarantor @ach Lender's share thereof.

(d) The entries made in the accounts maintgmegguant to paragraphs (b) and (c) above shaltibea facieevidence of the
existence and amounts of the obligations thereiorded;provided, however, that the failure of any Lender or the Adminigtrat
Agent to maintain such accounts or any error tinesball not in any manner affect the obligationshef Borrowers to repay the Loans
in accordance with their terms.

(e) Any Lender may request that Loans madé bgreunder be evidenced by a promissory noteudh svent, the Borrowers shall
execute and deliver to such Lender a promissony payable to such Lender and its registered asaighén a form and substance
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agentthe Borrowers. Notwithstanding any other pransdf this Agreement, in the
event any Lender shall request and receive suchraigsory note, the interests represented by sathahall at all times (including
after any assignment of all or part of such interesirsuant to Section 9.04) be represented bypnere promissory notes payable
the payee named therein or its registered assigns.
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SECTION 2.07. Statement of Account(a) The Administrative Agent shall maintainagiocordance with its customary procedures, a loan
account ("Borrowers' Account) in the name of the Borrowers in which shall bearded the date and amount of each Borrowing, e&th
Disbursement and the date and amount of each paymesspect thereofjrovided, however, the failure by the Administrative Agent to
record the date and amount of any Borrowing or Di€bursement shall not adversely affect the Adnhiatsre Agent or any Lender. Each
month, the Administrative Agent shall send to therBwing Agent a statement showing the accountimgtfe Borrowings made, payments
made or credited in respect thereof, and othesaetions between the Administrative Agent and tbe@®vers during such month. The
monthly statements shall be deemed correct andrigingoon the Borrowers in the absence of manifest @nd shall constitute an account
stated between Lenders and Borrowers unless therstmative Agent receives a written statementhaf Borrowers' specific exceptions
thereto within thirty (30) days after such statetriemeceived by the Borrowers. The records ofAbeinistrative Agent with respect to
Borrowers' Account shall be conclusive evidenceeabmanifest error of the amounts of Loans andratharges thereto and of payments
applicable thereto.

(b) Any sums expended by the Administrative itger any Lender due to a Borrower's failure tdgen or comply with its
obligations under this Agreement or any Loan Docunneay be charged to Borrowers' Account as a R@wplizoan and added to the
Obligations.

SECTION 2.08. Fees. (a) The Borrowers jointly and severally agre@ag to each Lender, through the Administrative tgen the last
day of March, June, September and December inysahand on each date on which any Commitmentaif kender shall expire or be
terminated as provided herein, a commitment féeGammitment Fe®) equal to'/ 4 of 1% per annum on the daily unused amount of the
Commitments of such Lender during the precedingtquéor other period commencing with the date bkoe ending with the Revolving
Credit Maturity Date or the date on which the Cortnmeints of such Lender shall expire or be terminat&ll Commitment Fees shall be
computed on the basis of the actual number of diyssed in a year of 360 days. The Commitment Hedaeach Lender shall commence to
accrue on the date hereof and shall cease to acuortiee date on which the Commitment of such Lestlail expire or be terminated as
provided herein.

(b) The Borrowers jointly and severally agregay to the Administrative Agent and Collateralefg for its own account, the fees
set forth in the Fee Letter at the times and inaim@unts specified therein (thé&fent Fee$).

(c) The Borrowers jointly and severally agre@ay (i) to each Revolving Credit Lender, throtigh Administrative Agent, on tt



last Business Day of March, June, September andrbleer of each year and on the date on which thelReg Credit Commitment
of such Lender shall be terminated as providedihgaefee (an L/C Participation Feé') calculated on such Lender's Pro Rata
Percentage of the average daily aggregate L/C Expdexcluding the portion thereof attributablaitseimbursed L/C
Disbursements) during the preceding quarter (ortehperiod commencing with the date hereof or egavith the Revolving Credit
Maturity Date or the date on which all Letters a&@it have been canceled or have expired and thelReg Credit Commitments of
all Lenders shall have been terminated) at a i@telgo (x) in the case of the Standby L/C ExposRré5% per annum, and (y) in the
case of the Trade L/C Exposure, 1.375% per annach(ig to the Issuing Bank with respect to eacltéreof Credit a fronting,
issuance and drawing fee equal to .25% per annutheoface amount of all outstanding Letters of @rguyable quarterly in arrears
and on the Revolving Credit Maturity Date or théedan which all Letters of Credit have been cartelehave expired and the
Revolving Credit Commitments of all Lenders shallé been terminated (théssuing Bank Fee§. All L/C Participation Fees and
Issuing Bank Fees shall be computed on the basiedaictual number of days elapsed in a year ofda§8.
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(d) On the Restatement Effective Date, the @eers jointly and severally agree to pay the Adstiattive Agent for the ratable
benefit of the Lenders an accommodation fee of $I(AD

(e) All Fees shall be paid on the dates duanmediately available funds, to the AdministratAvgent for distribution, if and as
appropriate, among the Lenders, except that thenigBank Fees shall be paid directly to the IsgBank. Once paid, none of the
Fees shall be refundable under any circumstances.

SECTION 2.09. Interest on Loans.(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 2.h@,ltoans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear
interest (computed on the basis of the actual numibéays elapsed over a year of 365 or 366 day/thecase may be, when the Alternate
Base Rate is determined by reference to the BatedRd over a year of 360 days at all other tinmescalculated from and including the date
of such Borrowing to but excluding the date of ygpant thereof) at a rate per annum equal to therddtte Base Rate plus 1.25%.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 21h@, Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing lshaar interest (computed on the
basis of the actual number of days elapsed oveangf 360 days) at a rate per annum equal to thested LIBO Rate for the Interest
Period in effect for such Borrowing plus 2.25%.

(c) Interest on each Loan shall be payabléheririterest Payment Dates applicable to such Lre@p as otherwise provided in this
Agreement. The applicable Alternate Base Rate gugteld LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Adntiatsse Agent, and such
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest.e

(d) In no event whatsoever shall interest aheérocharges charged hereunder exceed the higliegiermissible under law. In the
event interest and other charges as computed rdgeunuld otherwise exceed the highest rate perdhithder law, such excess
amount shall be first applied to any unpaid priatipalance owed by the Borrowers, and if the tlnaining excess amount is grei
than the previously unpaid principal balance, Leaddall promptly refund such excess amount tdthreowers and the provisions
hereof shall be deemed amended to provided for gechissible rate.

SECTION 2.10. Default Interest. Upon and after the occurrence of an Event of Gletand during the continuation thereof, (i) the
Obligations other than Eurodollar Loans shall betarest at the rate otherwise applicable to ABRiplus two percent (2%) per annum
(i) Eurodollar Loans shall bear interest at thie @therwise applicable to Eurodollar Loans plus percent (2%) per annum (as applicable,
the "Default Rate").

SECTION 2.11. Termination and Reduction of Commitmentgs) The Revolving Credit Commitments, and th& Commitment shall
automatically terminate on the Revolving Credit Mdy Date.

(b) Upon at least three Business Days' prievcable written or telecopy notice to the Adntirgsisve Agent, the Borrowers may at
any time in whole permanently terminate, or fromdito time in part permanently reduce, the Revglmnedit Commitments;
provided, however, that (i) each partial reduction of the Revolvidgedit Commitments shall be in an integral multipfes1,000,000
and (ii) the Total Revolving Credit Commitment dhradt be reduced to an amount that is less thasuheof the Aggregate Revolving
Credit Exposure at the time.

(c) Each reduction in the Revolving Credit Coitnments hereunder shall be made ratably among ¢helérs in accordance with
their respective applicable Commitments. The Boe@sshall pay to the Administrative Agent for tlee@unt of the applicable
Lenders, on the date of each termination or redocthe Commitment Fees on the amount of the Comemits so terminated or
reduced accrued to but excluding the date of saichimation or reduction.
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SECTION 2.12. Repayment of Borrowings(a) The Revolving Loans shall be due and payablell on the Revolving Credit Maturity
Date subject to earlier prepayment as herein peakid

(b) With respect to any deposits in any lockboBlocked Account, the Borrowers recognize thatamounts evidenced by checks,
notes, drafts or any other items of payment regetiinand/or proceeds of Collateral may not be ctiliée by the Administrative Agent
on the date received. In consideration of the Adstriative Agent's agreement to conditionally cr&btrowers' Account as of the
Business Day on which the Administrative Agent reeg those items of payment, the Borrowers agrag ith computing the charges
under this Agreement, all items of payment shallbemed applied by the Administrative Agent on aotof the Obligations on the
Business Day the Administrative Agent receives quayments via wire transfer or electronic depogitdreck. The Administrative
Agent is not, however, required to credit Borrowéscount for the amount of any item of paymentaethis unsatisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agenayncharge Borrowers' Account for the amount of ity of payment which is
returned to the Administrative Agent unpaid.

(c) All payments of principal, interest and @tlamounts payable hereunder, or under any oftttex boan Documents, shall be
made to the Administrative Agent at the Paymentd®fhot later than 1:00 P.M. (New York Time) on thee date therefor in lawful
money of the United States of America in federaldsior other funds immediately available to the Adstrative Agent. The
Administrative Agent shall have the right to efigmtte payment on any and all Obligations due anai@\Wwereunder by charging
Borrowers' Account or by making Revolving Loangasvided in Section 2.02(a) hereof.

(d) Borrowers shall pay principal, interestdatl other amounts payable hereunder, or undereated agreement, without any
deduction whatsoever, including, but not limitedaay deduction for any setoff or counterclaim.

SECTION 2.13. Prepayment. (a) The Borrowers shall have the right at ametand from time to time to prepay any Borrowimgwhole
or in part, upon at least three Business Dayst priditen or telecopy notice (or telephone noticerpptly confirmed by written or telecopy
notice) in the case of Eurodollar Loans, or writterielecopy notice (or telephone notice promptgfemed by written or telecopy notice) on
or prior to the date of prepayment in the case BRA.oans, to the Administrative Agent before 1:06p New York City timeprovided,
however, that each partial prepayment shall be in an arnitnat is an integral multiple of $1,000,000.

(b) Each notice of prepayment shall specifygtepayment date and the principal amount of eawho®ing (or portion thereof) to
be prepaid, shall be irrevocable and shall comneitBorrowers to prepay such Borrowing by the amestated therein on the date
stated therein. All prepayments under this Se@id3 shall be subject to Section 2.19 but otherwiseout premium or penalty. All
prepayments under this Section 2.13 shall be acanimg@ by accrued interest on the principal amoeirtdoprepaid to the date of
payment.

SECTION 2.14. Mandatory Prepayments(a) In the event of any termination of all thevlving Credit Commitments in accordance
with this Agreement, the Borrowers shall, on thfeetfve date of such termination, repay or preghgutstanding Revolving Credit
Borrowings and replace all outstanding Letters i&fdt and/or deposit an amount equal to 105% offeExposure in cash in a cash
collateral account established with the Collaté&mgént for the benefit of the Secured Parties angifovide an irrevocable letter of credit in
form and substance reasonably acceptable to thémstrative Agent from a bank reasonably acceptéblbe Administrative Agent. In the
event of any partial reduction of the Revolving @it€ommitments, then (i) at or prior to the effeetdate of such reduction, the
Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrowers attg Revolving Credit Lenders of the Aggregate Réug Credit Exposure after giving
effect thereto and (ii) if the Aggregate Revolviggedit Exposure would exceed the Total RevolvingdirCommitment after
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giving effect to such reduction or termination,riiibe Borrowers shall, on the effective date ohsteruction or termination, repay or prepay
Revolving Credit Borrowings and/or replace or ceshateralize outstanding Letters of Credit in amoaint sufficient to eliminate such exce

(b) If on any date the Aggregate Revolving @GrEaposure shall exceed the Formula Amount, oRbeolving Loans to a Borrow
plus the L/C Exposure of such Borrower shall exabedndividual Formula Amount, the Borrowers stwallsuch date repay or prej
Revolving Credit Borrowings and/or replace or ceshateralize outstanding L/C Exposure in an amauifficient to eliminate such
excess. Any such excess amount shall constituteoptre Obligations and be secured by the Cobditer

(c) Without duplication of any prepayment gopagment required under Section 2.14(b), not ldten the third Business Day
following the completion of any Asset Sale, Actiuvis shall repay or prepay the Revolving Credit Barings and/or cash collateralize
outstanding L/C exposure in an amount equal tdebger of (i) any prepayment required under Se@iar(b) as a result of such
Asset Sale and (ii) 50% of the Net Cash Proceedsidi Asset Sale, and the Revolving Credit Commitmshall be permanently
reduced by any amount repaid or prepaid undeiSddion 2.14(c).

(d) The Borrowing Agent shall deliver to therAhistrative Agent, at the time of each prepaymequired under this Section 2.14,
(i) a certificate signed by a Financial Officertbé Borrowing Agent setting forth in reasonableadeéhe calculation of the amount of
such prepayment and (ii) to the extent practicadtléeast three days prior written notice of sugppyment. Each notice



prepayment shall specify the prepayment date, yipe Df each Loan being prepaid and the principalarhof each Loan (or portion
thereof) to be prepaid. All prepayments of Borraggrunder this Section 2.14 shall be subject toi@et19, but shall otherwise be
without premium or penalty.

SECTION 2.15. lllegality. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, iffapplicable law, treaty, regulation or directiee,any chang
therein or in the interpretation or applicationrdwd, shall make it unlawful for any Lender (forrpases of this subsection (g), the term "
Lender" shall include any Lender and the office or bramttere any Lender or any corporation or bank cdliigpsuch Lender makes or
maintains any Eurodollar Loans) to make or mainitaitcurodollar Loans, the obligation of Lendersrtake Eurodollar Loans hereunder s
forthwith be canceled and the Borrower shall, i affected Eurodollar Loans are then outstandingmptly upon request from the
Administrative Agent, either pay all such affectearodollar Loans or convert such affected Euroddlzans into ABR Loans. If any such
payment or conversion of any Eurodollar Loan is enad a day that is not the last day of the IntdPesiod applicable to such Eurodollar
Loan, the Borrowers shall pay the AdministrativeeAgupon the Administrative Agent's request, sunbunt or amounts as may be neces
to compensate Lenders for any loss or expenseisedtar incurred by Lenders in respect of such Holtar Loan as a result of such payment
or conversion, including (but not limited to) amgdrest or other amounts payable by Lenders tcelsnof funds obtained by Lenders in order
to make or maintain such Eurodollar Loan. A cegdife as to any additional amounts payable purdoahe foregoing sentence submitted by
any Lender to the Borrowing Agent shall be conslesibsent manifest error.

SECTION 2.16. Increased Costs.In the event that any applicable law, treaty @regnmental regulation, or any change therein ohén
interpretation or application thereof, or compliafy any Lender (for purposes of this Section & term "Lender" shall include the
Administrative Agent or any Lender and any corporabr bank controlling the Administrative Agentamy Lender) and the office or branch
where the Administrative Agent or any Lender (aslsfined) makes or maintains any
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Eurodollar Loans with any request or directive (tlee or not having the force of law) from any cahtvank or other financial, monetary or
other authority, shall:

(a) subject the Administrative Agent or any tdento any tax of any kind whatsoever not curreafiplicable with respect to this
Agreement or any Loan Document or change the lpfsiscation of payments to the Administrative Agentany Lender of principal,
fees, interest or any other amount payable herewrdender any Loan Documents (except for any intjssor changes in the rate of
tax on the overall net income of the Administrathvgent or any Lender by the jurisdiction in whi¢hriaintains its principal office);

(b) impose, modify or hold applicable any reseispecial deposit, assessment or similar reqein¢against assets held by, or
deposits in or for the account of, Loans or loansdb other credit extended by, any office of th@nfinistrative Agent or any Lender,
including (without limitation) pursuant to Regulati D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Res&ystem; or

(c) impose, modify or hold applicable on themidistrative Agent or any Lender or the London btk Eurodollar market any
other condition with respect to this Agreementmy hoan Document;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to inseethe cost to the Administrative Agent or any lesrmaf making, renewing or maintaining its
Loans hereunder by an amount that the Adminiseatigent or such Lender reasonably deems to be iaatetto reduce the amount of any
payment (whether of principal, interest or otheryim respect of any of the Loans by an amountttireAdministrative Agent or such Lenc
reasonably deems to be material, then, in anytb@sBorrowers shall promptly pay the AdministratAgent or such Lender, upon its
demand, such additional amount as will compensatétiministrative Agent or such Lender for suchitididal cost or such reduction, as the
case may begrovidedthat the foregoing shall not apply to increasedscosnich are reflected in the Adjusted LIBO RatheTAdministrative
Agent or such Lender shall certify the amount aftsadditional cost or reduced amount to the Borreyand such certification shall be
conclusive absent manifest error.

SECTION 2.17. Basis For Determining Interest Rate Inadequat&afair. In the event that the Administrative Agent or &mpnder sha
have determined that:

(a) reasonable means do not exist for ascertpthe LIBO Rate for any Interest Period; or

(b) Dollar deposits in the relevant amount &ardhe relevant maturity are not available in tadon interbank Eurodollar market,
with respect to an outstanding Eurodollar Loanapsed Eurodollar Borrowing, or a proposed congarsf an ABR Loan into a
Eurodollar Loan;

then the Administrative Agent shall give the BoriegvAgent prompt written, telephonic or telegraphatice of such determination. If such
notice is given, (i) any such requested Euroddlzan shall be made as an ABR Borrowing, unles8treowing Agent shall notify the
Administrative Agent no later than 10:00 a.m. (Néark City time) two (2) Business Days prior to ttigte of such proposed Borrowing, that
its request for such Borrowing shall be cancelgdafy ABR Loan or Eurodollar Loan which was toskébeen converted to an affected type
of Eurodollar Loan shall be continued as or coreeihto an ABR Loan, or, if the Borrowing Agent Bmtify the Administrative Agent, n



later than 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) two @)siness Days prior to the proposed conversiori, sbanaintained as an unaffected type
of Eurodollar Loan and (iii) any outstanding affsttEurodollar Loans shall be converted into an AR®&n, or, if Borrower shall notify the
Administrative Agent, no later than 10:00 a.m. (Néark City time) two (2) Business Days prior to tlast Business Day of the then current
Interest Period applicable to such affected Euladdloan, shall be converted into an unaffecte@typEurodollar Loan on the last Business
Day of the then current Interest Period for sudbcéd Eurodollar Loans. Until such notice has bsghdrawn,
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Lenders shall have no obligation to make an aftettpe of Eurodollar Loan or maintain outstandiffgeted Eurodollar Loans and the
Borrowers shall not have the right to convert arRABan or an unaffected type of Eurodollar Loaw iah affected type of Eurodollar Loan.

SECTION 2.18. Capital Adequacy.In the event that the Administrative Agent or aynder shall have determined that any applicable
law, rule, regulation or guideline regarding calpgtidequacy, or any change therein, or any chantfeeimterpretation or administration
thereof by any governmental authority, central bankomparable agency charged with the interpagiadir administration thereof, or
compliance by the Administrative Agent or any Len(er purposes of this Section 2.18, the terbehder” shall include the Administrative
Agent or any Lender and any corporation or bankrotimg the Administrative Agent or any Lender)datie office or branch where the
Administrative Agent or any Lender (as so definedkes or maintains any Eurodollar Loans with amyest or directive regarding capital
adequacy (whether or not having the force of lafsry such authority, central bank or comparablenag, has or would have the effect of
reducing the rate of return on the AdministrativgeAt or any Lender's capital as a consequence obltgations hereunder to a level below
that which the Administrative Agent or such Lendeuld have achieved but for such adoption, chamgempliance (taking into
consideration the Administrative Agent's and eaehder's policies with respect to capital adequbgygn amount deemed by the
Administrative Agent or any Lender to be materilagn, from time to time, the Borrowers shall papmgemand to the Administrative Agent
or such Lender such additional amount or amountgilasompensate the Administrative Agent or su@nter for such reduction. In
determining such amount or amounts, the Adminisgahgent or such Lender may use any reasonablagive or attribution methods. The
protection of this Section shall be available ® Administrative Agent and each Lender regardiéssp possible contention of invalidity or
inapplicability with respect to the applicable lawgulation or condition. A certificate of the Admstrative Agent or a Lender setting forth
such amount or amounts as shall be necessary tpecmate the Administrative Agent or such Lendehwéspect to this Section 2.18 when
delivered to the Borrowing Agent shall be conclesabsent manifest error.

SECTION 2.19. Indemnity. The Borrowers shall jointly and severally indefgrthe Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agemidaeach
Lender against any loss or expense that the Adtratiiee Agent, the Collateral Agent and such Lenday sustain or incur as a consequence
of (a) any event, other than a default by such eeimthe performance of its obligations hereunddyich results in (i) such Lender receiving
or being deemed to receive any amount on accouhegfrincipal of any Eurodollar Loan prior to thed of the Interest Period in effect
therefor, (ii) the conversion of any Eurodollar haa an ABR Loan, or the conversion of the InteRestiod with respect to any Eurodollar
Loan, in each case other than on the last dayeofntterest Period in effect therefor, or (iii) aByrodollar Loan to be made by such Lender
(including any Eurodollar Loan to be made pursuara conversion or continuation under Section 2rii@)being made after notice of such
Loan shall have been given by the Borrowing Agerehnder (any of the events referred to in thissgaa) being called aBreakage Event
") or (b) any default in the making of any paymenprepayment required to be made hereunder. Inabke of any Breakage Event, such loss
shall include an amount equal to the excess, a®nahly determined by such Lender, of (i) its afsibtaining funds for the Eurodollar Loan
that is the subject of such Breakage Event fop#réod from the date of such Breakage Event tdabieday of the Interest Period in effect (or
that would have been in effect) for such Loan diigthe amount of interest likely to be realizeglduch Lender in redeploying the funds
released or not utilized by reason of such Brealagmt for such period. A certificate of any Lendetting forth any amount or amounts
which such Lender is entitled to receive pursuarhis Section 2.19 shall be delivered to the Boms and shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.
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SECTION 2.20. Pro Rata Treatment.Each payment or prepayment of principal of anyr®wing, each payment of interest on the Loans,
each payment of the Commitment Fees and L/C Raation Fees, each reduction of the Revolving Cr@dinmitments and each conversion
of any Borrowing to or continuation of any Borrowias a Borrowing of any Type shall be allocatedrata among the Lenders in accorde
with their respective applicable Commitments (bsuich Commitments shall have expired or been teatad, in accordance with the
respective principal amounts of their outstandiogis). Each Lender agrees that in computing sunbédrés portion of any Borrowing to be
made hereunder, the Administrative Agent may,drdiscretion, round each Lender's percentage ¢f Bocrowing to the next higher or low
whole dollar amount.

SECTION 2.21. Sharing of Setoffs.Each Lender agrees that if it shall, throughetkercise of a right of banker's lien, setoff or
counterclaim against any Borrower or any other LBarty, or pursuant to a secured claim under Seé® of Title 11 of the United States
Code or other security or interest arising fromindieu of, such secured claim, received by suehder under any applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency or other similar law or otherwise, ordiy other means, obtain payment (voluntary orlunviary) in respect of any Loan or Loz
or L/C Disbursement as a result of which the unaidcipal portion of its Revolving Loans and peigiations in L/C Disbursements shall be
proportionately less than the unpaid principal iporbf the Revolving Loans and participations i€lDisbursements of any other Lende



shall be deemed simultaneously to have purchasedduch other Lender at face value, and shall ptlympy to such other Lender the
purchase price for, a participation in the Revajvirmans and L/C Exposure, as the case may be bfaher Lender, so that the aggregate
unpaid principal amount of the Revolving Loans &/fd Exposure and participations in Revolving Loansl L/C Exposure held by each
Lender shall be in the same proportion to the agggeeunpaid principal amount of all Revolving Loamsl L/C Exposure then outstanding as
the principal amount of its Revolving Loans and [H&posure prior to such exercise of banker's Betoff or counterclaim or other event was
to the principal amount of all Revolving Loans ar@ Exposure outstanding prior to such exercisbasfker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or
other eventprovided, however, that if any such purchase or purchases or adgrgsyshall be made pursuant to this Section 2.2%ten
payment giving rise thereto shall thereafter beveced, such purchase or purchases or adjustnteadtde rescinded to the extent of such
recovery and the purchase price or prices or adjrst restored without interest. The Borrowers esglgeconsent to the foregoing
arrangements and agree that any Lender holdingtigipation in a Revolving Loan or L/C Disbursemeleiemed to have been so purchased
may exercise any and all rights of banker's lietf§ or counterclaim with respect to any and adinays owing by the Borrowers to such
Lender by reason thereof as fully as if such Letd&l made a Loan directly to the Borrowers in tim@ant of such participation.

SECTION 2.22. Payments. Except as otherwise expressly provided hereignelier any payment (including principal of or ietgron
any Borrowing or any Fees or other amounts) hereuadunder any other Loan Document shall beconeg aluotherwise would occur, on a
day that is not a Business Day, such payment magauie on the next succeeding Business Day, andestiehsion of time shall in such case
be included in the computation of interest or Fdespplicable.

SECTION 2.23. Taxes. (a) Any and all payments by or on account of ablgation of the Borrowers or any Loan Party lecer or
under any other Loan Document shall be made frdeckrar of and without deduction for any Indemmifieaxes or Other Taxegrovided
that if a Borrower or any Loan Party shall be reedito deduct any Indemnified Taxes or Other Tdb@sa such payments, then (i) the sum
payable shall be increased as necessary so thataking all required deductions (including deéhret applicable to additional sums pay:
under this Section) the Administrative Agent ortsuiender (as the case may be) receives an amoual ®gthe sum it would have received
had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrawsuch Loan Party shall
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make such deductions and (iii) the Borrower or dughin Party shall pay the full amount deductedchtorelevant Governmental Authority in
accordance with applicable law.

(b) In addition, the Borrowers shall pay anh€tTaxes to the relevant Governmental Authoritgénordance with applicable law.

(c) The Borrowers shall jointly and severaligémnify the Administrative Agent and each Lendethin 10 days after written
demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indefiedi Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Administeathgent or such Lender, as the
case may be, on or with respect to any payment loy @ccount of any obligation of the Borrowersaoy Loan Party hereunder or
under any other Loan Document (including Indemdifi@xes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted orridmable to amounts
payable under this Section) and any penaltiesiéateand reasonable expenses arising therefronittoregpect thereto, whether or not
such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were cogrertlegally imposed or asserted by the relevanteéBamental Authority. A
certificate as to the amount of such payment dilitg delivered to the Borrowing Agent by a Lender by the Administrative Agent
on its behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall beatesive absent manifest error.

(d) As soon as practicable after any paymemaémnified Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrovegrany other Loan Party to a
Governmental Authority, the Borrowers shall delit@the Administrative Agent the original or a @&t copy of a receipt issued by
such Governmental Authority evidencing such paymeigbpy of the return reporting such payment beoevidence of such payme
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent

(e) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to aermption from or reduction of withholding tax undke law of the jurisdiction in
which a Borrower is located, or any treaty to whscith jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payits under this Agreement shall
deliver to the Borrowing Agent (with a copy to thdministrative Agent), at the time or times prebed by applicable law, such
properly completed and executed documentation pbestby applicable law or reasonably requestethbyBorrowers as will permit
such payments to be made without withholding @& educed ratgrovidedthat such Foreign Lender has received written adtiam
the Borrowing Agent advising it of the availability such exemption or reduction and supplying pflecable documentation.

SECTION 2.24. Assignment of Commitments Under Certain Circuntstg; Duty to Mitigate. (a) In the event (i) any Lender or the
Issuing Bank delivers a certificate requesting ceng@ation pursuant to Section 2.16, (ii) any Lermtghe Issuing Bank delivers a notice
described in Section 2.15 or (iii) the Borrowers egquired to pay any additional amount to any ke the Issuing Bank or any
Governmental Authority on account of any Lendethar Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.23, the®wgrs may, at their sole expense and
effort (including with respect to the processing aacordation fee referred to in Section 9.04(bpln notice to such Lender or the Issuing
Bank and the Administrative Agent, require suchdaror the Issuing Bank to transfer and assighawit recourse (in accordance with and
subject to the restrictions contained in Secti@#.all of its interests, rights and obligatiomslar this Agreement to an assignee that shall
assume such assigned obligations (which assigngdenanother Lender, if a Lender accepts such ms&gt);providedthat (x) such
assignment shall not conflict with any law, ruleregulation or order of any court or other GoverntakAuthority having jurisdiction, (y) the
Borrowers shall have received the prior writtensant of the Administrative Agent (and, if a RevalyiCredit Commitment is being assigr



of the Issuing Bank), which consent shall not usoaably be withheld, and (z) the Borrowers or sagsignee shall have paid to the affected
Lender or the Issuing Bank in immediately availdileds an amount equal to the sum of the prin@paid interest accrued to the date of
such payment on the outstanding Loans or L/C Dshaents of such Lender or the Issuing Bank, reisgdgtplus all Fees and other
amounts accrued for the account of such Lenddreolssuing Bank hereunder (including
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any amounts under Section 2.15 and Section 2pt6Yyided furtherthat, if prior to any such transfer and assignntie&tcircumstances or
event that resulted in such Lender's or the IssBik's claim for compensation under Section 2rligotice under Section 2.15 or the
amounts paid pursuant to Section 2.23, as themagée, cease to cause such Lender or the Issaink B suffer increased costs or
reductions in amounts received or receivable ouctdn in return on capital, or cease to have thesequences specified in Section 2.15, or
cease to result in amounts being payable underdBe2R3, as the case may be (including as a refalty action taken by such Lender or the
Issuing Bank pursuant to paragraph (b) below)f su¢h Lender or the Issuing Bank shall waiveightrto claim further compensation under
Section 2.14 in respect of such circumstances emtexr shall withdraw its notice under Section 2tShall waive its right to further
payments under Section 2.20 in respect of suchitistances or event, as the case may be, then sacleiLor the Issuing Bank shall not
thereafter be required to make any such transilasignment hereunder.

(b) If (i) any Lender or the Issuing Bank shalfjuest compensation under Section 2.16, (ii)laamder or the Issuing Bank delivers
a notice described in Section 2.15 or (iii) the arers are required to pay any additional amouaiiplender or the Issuing Bank or
any Governmental Authority on account of any Lenatethe Issuing Bank, pursuant to Section 2.23) tweh Lender or the Issuing
Bank shall use reasonable efforts (which shallreqtire such Lender or the Issuing Bank to incunareimbursed loss or
unreimbursed cost or expense or otherwise takeetiyn inconsistent with its internal policies egél or regulatory restrictions or
suffer any disadvantage or burden deemed by i¢ tsignificant) (x) to file any certificate or docent reasonably requested in writing
by the Borrowers or (y) to assign its rights antbdate and transfer its obligations hereunder tdhaer of its offices, branches or
affiliates, if such filing or assignment would rexuits claims for compensation under Section 2rlénable it to withdraw its notice
pursuant to Section 2.15 or would reduce amountaldea pursuant to Section 2.23, as the case manp b& future. The Borrowers
hereby agree to pay all reasonable costs and eapémsurred by any Lender or the Issuing Bank imeation with any such filing or
assignment, delegation and transfer.

SECTION 2.25. Defaulting Lender. (a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary tzdmed herein, in the event any Lender (x) has
refused (which refusal constitutes a breach by sectier of its obligations under this Agreementjrntake available its portion of any
Revolving Credit Borrowing or reimbursement forwags under Letters of Credit or (y) notifies eitliee Administrative Agent or the
Borrowers that it does not intend to make availéisi@ortion of any Revolving Credit Borrowing @imbursement (if the actual refusal
would constitute a breach by such Lender of itsgalilons under this Agreement) (each,laehder Default' ), all rights and obligations
hereunder of such Lender (®&faulting Lendet) as to which a Lender Default is in effect andha# other parties hereto shall be modified to
the extent of the express provisions of this Sec2@5 while such Lender Default remains in effect.

(b) Revolving Credit Borrowings shall be inadrpro rata from Lenders (théNon-Defaulting Lendery which are not Defaulting
Lenders based on their respective Pro Rata Pege=jtand no Pro Rata Percentage of any LenderydPranRata Percentage of any
Revolving Credit Borrowings required to be advanbgdny Lender shall be increased as a resultaf kender Default. Amounts
received in respect of principal of any type of Blging Loans shall be applied to reduce the apple&®evolving Loans of each
Lender pro rata based on the aggregate of theamwlisiy Revolving Loans of that type of all Lendatshe time of such application;
providedthat such amount shall not be applied to any Réwglizoans of a Defaulting Lender at any time whemg to the extent that,
the aggregate amount of Revolving Loans of any Defeulting Lender exceeds such NDefaulting Lender's Pro Rata Percentag
all Revolving Loans then outstanding.
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(c) A Defaulting Lender shall not be entitledgive instructions to the Administrative Agenttbe Collateral Agent or to approve,
disapprove, consent to or vote on any mattersimglad this Agreement and the Loan Documents. Aleadments, waivers and other
modifications of this Agreement and the Loan Docnteenay be made without regard to a Defaulting leerahd, for purposes of the
definition of "Required Lender§ a Defaulting Lender shall be deemed not to herader and not to have Loans outstanding.

(d) Other than as expressly set forth in thstf®n 2.25, the rights and obligations of a DdfaglLender (including the obligation
indemnify the Administrative Agent or the CollateAgent) and the other parties hereto shall remaichanged. Nothing in this
Section 2.25 shall be deemed to release any Defgulender from its obligations under this Agreetnamd the Loan Documents,
shall alter such obligations, shall operate as iaavaf any default by such Defaulting Lender hexder, or shall prejudice any rights
which Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, the @Gtdiral Agent or any Lender may have against anpitfig Lender as a result of
any default by such Defaulting Lender hereun



(e) In the event a Defaulting Lender retroagticures to the satisfaction of the Administrathgent the breach which caused a
Lender to become a Defaulting Lender, such Defagltiender shall no longer be a Defaulting Lendet stmall be treated as a Lender
under this Agreement.

SECTION 2.26. Letters of Credit. (a) The Borrowing Agent on behalf of a Borrowealy request the issuance of a Letter of Creditt$or
own account or the account of a Borrower, in a foeasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agertt the Issuing Bank, at any time and
from time to time while the Revolving Credit Commgnts remain in effect. This Section shall not bestrued to impose an obligation upon
the Issuing Bank to issue any Letter of Credit thaconsistent with the terms and conditionshi Agreement.

(b) In order to request the issuance of a Lett€redit (or to amend, renew or extend an axistietter of Credit), the Borrowing
Agent shall hand deliver or telecopy to the IssuBagk and the Administrative Agent (reasonablydmance of the requested date of
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension) the Wigtrdtive Agent's form of letter of credit applice or the Issuing Bank's form
Letter of Credit Application, completed to the s&dction of the Administrative Agent or the IssuBank, respectively, or a notice
identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended,awed or extended, the date of issuance, amendmeestyal or extension, the date
which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which Bleamply with paragraph (c) below), the amounsath Letter of Credit, the name
and address of the beneficiary thereof and suddr atifiormation as shall be necessary to prepare ketter of Credit. A Letter of
Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extemdy if, and upon issuance, amendment, renewakt@nsion of each Letter of
Credit the Borrowers shall be deemed to represahtrarrant that, after giving effect to such isssaramendment, renewal or
extension (i) the L/C Exposure shall not exceedéhser of $80,000,000 and the Total Revolvlingd@r€ommitment, (ii) the
Aggregate Revolving Credit Exposure shall not eddbe lesser of (x) the Total Revolving Credit Coitnnent, and (y) the Formula
Amount in effect at such time and (iii) the outstang principal amount of Revolving Loans of any Baver plus such Borrower's L/C
Exposure shall not exceed the Borrower's Individeaamula Amount.

If the Issuing Bank is not the Administrativgeht, the Administrative Agent will notify the 19ag Bank via phone, confirmed by
telecopy, of changes in availability to issue Lettef Credit under the facility, and the IssuinghBavill notify the Administrative
Agent via phone, confirmed by telecopy, of any gemin outstanding balances of Letters of Crediiaigt issued. No new Letter of
Credit shall be issued, and no existing Letter @it shall be amended, renewed or
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extended, by the Issuing Bank until the AdministeatAgent shall have approved, via phone, confirfagdelecopy, such issuance,
amendment, renewal or extension.

(c) No Letter of Credit shall be issued withtated expiration date or latest maturity datehefaccepted draft if a usance letter of
credit later than the earlier of (i) the close asimess on the date that is five Business Days fwithe Revolving Credit Maturity Date
and (ii) the close of business on the date th@t)i270 days after the date of issuance of suctetef Credit in the case of a Trade
Letter of Credit and (y) 12 months after the ddtissuance of such Letter of Credit in the casa Standby Letter of Credit. Each
Letter of Credit shall, among other things, (i) yid® for the payment of sight drafts or acceptarufasance drafts when presented for
honor thereunder in accordance with the terms tfiened when accompanied by the documents descitileeelin and (ii) have an
expiry date or latest maturity date in the casesaince drafts not later than five Business Dayw poithe Revolving Credit Maturity
Date. Each Letter of Credit shall be subject tollnéform Customs and Practice for Documentary Gsedi993 Revision),

International Chamber of Commerce Publication Naf),%and any amendments or revision thereof adherby the Issuing Bank and,
to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the lafhe State of New York.

(d) By the issuance of a Letter of Credit anth@ut any further action on the part of the IsguBank or the Lenders, the Issuing
Bank hereby grants to each Revolving Credit Lendied, each such Lender hereby acquires from thécapj# Issuing Bank, a
participation in such Letter of Credit equal tolsliender's Pro Rata Percentage of the aggregateraragailable to be drawn under
such Letter of Credit, effective upon the issuapicguch Letter of Credit. In consideration andurtlierance of the foregoing, each
Revolving Credit Lender hereby absolutely and udé@inally agrees to pay to the Administrative Ageor the account of the
Issuing Bank, such Lender's Pro Rata Percentagaatf L/C Disbursement made by the Issuing Banknahdeimbursed by the
Borrowers (or, if applicable, another party purduarits obligations under any other Loan DocumeBfch Revolving Credit Lender
acknowledges and agrees that its obligation toiee@articipations pursuant to this paragraph speet of Letters of Credit is absol
and unconditional and shall not be affected by @rgumstance whatsoever, including the occurremcecantinuance of a Default or
an Event of Default, and that each such paymerittishanade without any offset, abatement, withhagdor reduction whatsoever.

(e) All disbursements or payments with respedttetters of Credit shall be deemed to be Revgl@nedit Borrowings consisting of
ABR Loans and shall bear interest at the ABR Rate.

() The Borrowers' obligations to reimburs€LlDisbursements as provided in paragraph (e) abloakk be absolute, unconditional
and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictlgénordance with the terms of this Agreement, uadgrand all circumstances
whatsoever, and irrespective of:

(i) any lack of validity or enforceability afny Letter of Credit or any Loan Document, or agyrt or provision thereir



(i) any amendment or waiver of or any conderdeparture from all or any of the provisions oy & etter of Credit or any
Loan Document;

(iii) the existence of any claim, setoff, dederor other right that a Borrowers, any other pgugranteeing, or otherwise
obligated with, such Borrowers, any Subsidiary thieo Affiliate thereof or any other person may ray ime have against the
beneficiary under any Letter of Credit, the IssuBank, the Administrative Agent or any Lender oy ather person, whether
in connection with this Agreement, any other Loascment or any other related or unrelated agreeorédnansaction;
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(iv) any draft or other document presented udeetter of Credit proving to be forged, frauditlanvalid or insufficient in
any respect or any statement therein being untriugocurate in any respect;

(v) payment by the Issuing Bank under a LaifeCredit against presentation of a draft or othezument that does not
comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit; and

(vi) any other act or omission to act or dathyany kind of the Issuing Bank, the Lenders, tithninistrative Agent or any
other person or any other event or circumstancdsgkaer, whether or not similar to any of the faiaeg, that might, but for
the provisions of this Section, constitute a legradquitable discharge of the Borrowers' obligatibereunder.

Without limiting the generality of the foregginit is expressly understood and agreed thatlikelate and unconditional obligation
of the Borrowers hereunder to reimburse L/C Disbomsnts will not be excused by the gross negligenedliful misconduct of the
Issuing Bank. However, the foregoing shall not bestrued to excuse the Issuing Bank from liabtiityhe Borrowers to the extent of
any direct damages (as opposed to consequentiaggimnclaims in respect of which are hereby wabyethe Borrowers to the extent
permitted by applicable law) suffered by the Boressvthat are caused by the Issuing Bank's grodigyerge or willful misconduct in
determining whether drafts and other documentseptesl under a Letter of Credit comply with the tetimereof; it is understood that
the Issuing Bank may accept documents that appetiredr face to be in order, without responsibifiy further investigation,
regardless of any notice or information to the camytand, in making any payment under any LetteCrefdit (i) the Issuing Bank's
exclusive reliance on the documents presentedutodér such Letter of Credit as to any and all eratset forth therein, including
reliance on the amount of any draft presented usdehn Letter of Credit, whether or not the amowrg tb the beneficiary thereunder
equals the amount of such draft and whether oangtdocument presented pursuant to such LetteredfitQroves to be insufficient
any respect, if such document on its face appeds tn order, and whether or not any other stat¢imeany other document
presented pursuant to such Letter of Credit prowée forged or invalid or any statement therewvps to be inaccurate or untrue in
any respect whatsoever and (ii) any noncomplian@ay immaterial respect of the documents presamiddr such Letter of Credit
with the terms thereof shall, in each case, be ddemot to constitute willful misconduct or grosgligence of the Issuing Bank.

(9) The Issuing Bank shall, promptly followiitg receipt thereof, examine all documents purpgrto represent a demand for
payment under a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Bsimil as promptly as possible give telephonic reatifon, confirmed by telecopy,
the Administrative Agent and the Borrowing Agentsofth demand for payment and whether the Issuimg Bas made or will make
an L/C Disbursement thereundprpvided that any failure to give or delay in giving suattioe shall not relieve the Borrowers of tt
obligation to reimburse the Issuing Bank and thedReng Credit Lenders with respect to any such DiSbursement.

(h) The Issuing Bank may resign at any timegiyyng 90 days' prior written notice to the Admitnéive Agent, the Lenders and the
Borrowers but such resignation shall not be eféectintil a successor is appointed. Subject to &éxt succeeding paragraph, upon the
acceptance of any appointment as the Issuing Barduhder by a Lender that shall agree to serva@sssor Issuing Bank, such
successor shall succeed to and become vested irttle interests, rights and obligations of thérieg Issuing Bank and the retiring
Issuing Bank shall be discharged from its obligadito issue additional Letters of Credit hereundéthe time such removal or
resignation shall become effective, the Borrowélpay all accrued and unpaid fees pursuant eticde2.08(c)(ii). The acceptance
of any appointment as the Issuing Bank hereunder sayccessor Lender shall be evidenced by an agreemtered into by such
successor, in a form
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satisfactory to the Borrowers and the Administmthgent, and, from and after the effective dateuwth agreement, (i) such successor
Lender shall have all the rights and obligationshef previous Issuing Bank under this Agreementthadther Loan Documents and
(i) references herein and in the other Loan Doaushéo the term "Issuing Bank" shall be deemectterrto such successor or to any
previous Issuing Bank, or to such successor angraliious Issuing Banks, as the context shall reqdifter the resignation or

removal of the Issuing Bank hereunder, the retilgsgiing Bank shall remain a party hereto and stmadtinue to have all the rights ¢
obligations of an Issuing Bank under this Agreenaamt the other Loan Documents with respect to tetieCredit issued by it prior

to such resignation or removal, but shall not lgired to issue additional Letters of Cre



(i) If any Event of Default shall occur and ¢mntinuing, the Borrowers shall, on the Busineay the Borrowing Agent receives
notice from the Administrative Agent or the Reqditeenders (or, if the maturity of the Loans hasrbaecelerated, Revolving Credit
Lenders holding participations in outstanding Liesttef Credit representing greater than 50% of dwegate undrawn amount of all
outstanding Letters of Credit) of an Event of Ddffamnd of the amount to be deposited, deposit in@ount with the Collateral Age!
for the benefit of the Revolving Credit Lenders,ammount in cash equal to 105% of the L/C Exposarefauch date or provide one or
more letters of credit, in form and substance neably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent dram a bank acceptable to the
Administrative Agent for such amount in lieu oftorreplace such cash deposit. Such deposit or lgtieredit shall be held by the
Collateral Agent as collateral for the payment padformance of the Obligations. The Collateral Aggrall have exclusive dominion
and control, including the exclusive right of witadal, over such account. Other than any inter@stesl on the investment of such
deposits in Permitted Investments, which investmehall be made at the option and sole discrefidineoCollateral Agent, such
deposits shall not bear interest. Interest or fwoifi any, on such investments shall accumulasugh account. Moneys in such acce
shall (i) automatically be applied by the Admingive Agent to reimburse the Issuing Bank for L/Shirsements for which it has |
been reimbursed, (ii) be held for the satisfactibthe reimbursement obligations of the Borrowenstfie L/C Exposure at such time
and (iii) if the maturity of the Loans has beendletated (but subject to the consent of Revolvirgd Lenders holding participations
in outstanding Letters of Credit representing gretdtan 50% of the aggregate undrawn amount @iudditanding Letters of Credit),
applied to satisfy the Obligations. If the Borroware required to provide an amount of cash cofibteereunder as a result of the
occurrence of an Event of Default, such amounthgoextent not applied as aforesaid) shall be metlito the Borrowers within three
Business Days after all Events of Default have mead or waived.

()) The Borrowers may, at any time and fromadito time with the consent of the Administrativgefst (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld) and such Lender, designageoo more additional Lenders to act as an issoémk under the terms of this
Agreement. Any Lender designated as an issuing parduant to this paragraph (k) shall be deemeddgition to being a Lender) to
be the Issuing Bank with respect to Letters of @liedued or to be issued by such Lender, ancedkrences herein and in the other
Loan Documents to the term "Issuing Bank" shalthwéspect to such Letters of Credit, be deemedfey to such Lender in its
capacity as Issuing Bank.

(k) The Existing Letters of Credit shall be desl to be Letters of Credit issued hereunder, artti® Restatement Effective Date
each Revolving Credit Lender shall be deemed te leen granted and acquired a participation thegisuant to
paragraph (d) above.

() In connection with the issuance of anyteebf Credit, the Borrowers shall jointly and seally indemnify, save and hold the
Administrative Agent, each Lender and each IssBiagk harmless from any loss, cost, expense oflitigbincluding, without
limitation, payments made by
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the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any Issuank and expenses and reasonable attorneyshfagsdad by the Administrative
Agent, any Lender or Issuing Bank arising out ofinoconnection with, any Letter of Credit to betied or created for any Borrower.
The Borrowers shall be bound by the Administrathgent's or any Issuing Bank's regulations and dadt interpretations of any
Letter of Credit issued or created for Borrowerstdunt, although this interpretation may be difféfieom its own; and neither the
Administrative Agent, nor any Lender, nor any IsguBank nor any of their correspondents shall &ieldi for any error, negligence, or
mistakes, whether of omission or commission, ifofeing the applicable Borrowers' instructions asgh contained in any Letter of
Credit or of any modifications, amendments or seppnts thereto or in issuing or paying any Letfe€redit, except for the
Administrative Agent's, any Lender's, any IssuirajBs or such correspondents’ willful miscondugjraiss negligence.

(m) If the Administrative Agent is not the 1§sg Bank of any Letter of Credit, Borrower shalttaarize and direct the Issuing Bank
to deliver to the Administrative Agent all instrunts, documents, and other writings and propertgived by the Issuing Bank
pursuant to the Letter of Credit and to acceptrahdupon the Administrative Agent's instructiomzlaagreements with respect to all
matters arising in connection with the Letter oédit and the application therefor

(n) In connection with all Letters of Credisised or caused to be issued by the Administratyenfunder this Agreement, each
Borrower hereby appoints the Administrative Agemtits designee, as its attorney, with full powed authority (i) to sign and/or
endorse such Borrower's name upon any warehousther receipts, letter of credit applications andeptances; (ii) to sign such
Borrower's name on bills of lading; (iii) to clelaventory through the United States of America Gust Department (Customs') in
the name of such Borrower or the Administrative Ager the Administrative Agent's designee, andda snd deliver to Customs
officials powers of attorney in the name of suchrBwer for such purpose; and (iv) to complete iarsBorrower's name or the
Administrative Agent's, or in the name of the Adisirative Agent's designee, any order, sale oisaetion, obtain the necessary
documents in connection therewith, and collecttoeeeds thereof. Neither the Administrative Agemtits attorneys will be liable
for any acts or omissions nor for any error of joxggnt or mistakes of fact or law, except for the Amlstrative Agent's or its attorney's
willful misconduct. This power, being coupled wih interest, is irrevocable as long as any Letieferedit remain outstanding.

SECTION 2.27. Borrowing Agency Provisions(a) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably design#iesBorrowing Agent to be its attorney
and agent and in such capacity to borrow, signesnalbrse notes, and execute and deliver all insmtsndocuments, writings and furtt



assurances now or hereafter required hereunddrlualf of such Borrower or Borrowers, and heretihauzes the Administrative Agent to
pay over or credit all loan proceeds hereundecaoance with the request of the Borrowing Agent.

(b) The handling of this credit facility as alborrowing facility with a borrowing agent in tineanner set forth in this Agreement is
solely as an accommodation to the Borrowers atioe@it request. Neither the Administrative Ageng @ollateral Agent, nor any
Lender shall incur liability to any Borrower asesult thereof. To induce the Administrative Agehg Collateral Agent and Lenders
do so and in consideration thereof, each Borroweelty indemnifies the Administrative Agent, the I&@ral Agent and each Lender
and holds the Administrative Agent, the Collatekgkent and each Lender harmless from and againsamaall liabilities, expenses,
losses, damages and claims of damage or injurytedssgainst the Administrative Agent, the Collat&gent or any Lender by any
Person arising from or incurred by reason of thedhiag of the financing arrangements of the Borrmnas provided herein, reliance
by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agemtamy Lender on any request or instruction fromBlerowing Agent or any other
action taken by the Administrative Agent, the Ciltal Agent or any Lender
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with respect to this Section 2.27, except due tukimisconduct or gross (not mere) negligencetry indemnified party.

(c) Subject to Section 2.29, all Obligationalsbe joint and several, and each Borrower shakenpayment upon the maturity of
Obligations by acceleration or otherwise, and spldigation and liability on the part of each Bormwshall in no way be affected by
any extensions, renewals and forbearance grantduebfdministrative Agent, the Collateral Agentamry Lender to any Borrower,
failure of the Administrative Agent, the Collateredent or any Lender to give any Borrower noticdofrowing or any other notice,
any failure of the Administrative Agent, the Codledl Agent or any Lender to pursue or preservagtds against any Borrower, the
release by Agent or any Lender of any Collateral oo thereafter acquired from any Borrower, anchsagreement by each Borrower
to pay upon any notice issued pursuant theretadgsnditional and unaffected by prior recourse keyAldministrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent or any Lender to the other Borresnar any Collateral for such Borrower's Obligatian the lack thereof.

SECTION 2.28. Waiver of Subrogation.Each Borrower expressly waives any and all rigifitsubrogation, reimbursement, indemnity,
exoneration, contribution of any other claim whatlkch Borrower may now or hereafter have againsttier Borrowers or other person
directly or contingently liable for the Obligatiohsreunder, or against or with respect to the doerowers' property (including, without
limitation, any property which is Collateral foretDbligations), arising from the existence or perfance of this Agreement, until termination
of this Agreement and repayment in full of the @Ations.

SECTION 2.29. Borrower Guarantee AgreemeniThe Obligations of the Borrowers as joint andesal/obligors shall be subject to all the
terms, conditions, waivers and agreements contamtt Borrower Guarantee Agreement.

SECTION 2.30. Increases in Total Revolving Credit Commitmefitie Borrowers have requested that the Total RewplCredit
Commitment be increased to $100,000,000, and theiridtrative Agent has agreed to use its best &ftorfind one or more additional
financial institutions (‘'New Lenders$) to become parties to this Agreement with RevadgvCredit Commitments not in excess of $22,000,000
in the aggregate (theCommitment Increasg. Such New Lenders shall be selected by the Adhtrative Agent and the Borrowers shall pay
to the Administrative Agent such customary fees exgkenses in connection with syndicating the Commeitt Increase as may be necessary,
in the reasonable judgment of the Administrativeeig to achieve a successful syndication, and miiopoof such fees shall be allocable to
any Lender other than the Administrative Agent ang New Lender. The Administrative Agent shall haediability to the Borrowers or the
Lenders if the Administrative Agent is unable tesessfully syndicate the Commitment Increase.dfAldministrative Agent is able to
successfully syndicate the Commitment IncreaseCtiramitment Increase (or so much thereof as shak lbeen syndicated, as notified to
the Borrowers and the Lenders by the Administrafigent) shall become effective on the date spetiiie the Administrative Agent;
provided, howeve, that (i) no Default or Event of Default shall sixon such date, both before and after giving effethe Commitment
Increase, (ii) the New Lenders shall have ententmlane or more joinder agreements, in form andtsuige satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent, to become Lenders hereunder, (i) the Boems shall have paid all fees and expenses in otionewith the syndication and
arrangement of the Commitment Increase, (iv) thedeers shall have executed and delivered to thmiAdtrative Agent for the benefit of
the New Lenders promissory notes in the amourtt®@féspective portion of the Commitment Increasd, (&) the Borrowers shall have
delivered or caused to be delivered to the Admmaiiste Agent such legal opinions, certificates attter documents as the Administrative
Agent may reasonably request. On the effective dfatiee Commitment Increase, subject to the satiigfia of the foregoing conditions,

(x) Schedule 2.01 shall be amended to reflectéh#iacated Revolving Credit Commitments, and
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(y) each New Lender shall become a Lender herewaritunder the other Loan Documents. In no eveait gte Total Revolving Credit
Commitments exceed $100,000,000 without the corfeait Lenders.

SECTION 2.3. Realignment of the Revolving Credit Commitmentthe Restatement Effective D¢ In order to effect a realignment



the Revolving Credit Commitments of the Lenderterathe Terminating Lenders shall have ceaseddorhe parties to this Agreement, the
Borrowers and each Lender agree as follows, nostétiding the provisions of any Loan Document:

(a) On the Restatement Effective Date, eacstanting Eurodollar Loan owing to each Lender aawhel erminating Lender shall
be converted to an ABR Loan, and the Borrowerseatiygay to each Lender and each Terminating Lesusgamount that may be
owing under the Existing Credit Agreement as altediany conversion on any date other than thedag of an Interest Period. On
the Restatement Effective Date, the Borrowers giallall accrued interest on any Eurodollar Loac@overted, and any accrued fees
under the Existing Credit Agreement.

(b) On the Restatement Effective Date, sulifetiie satisfaction of the conditions in this Agremt, the Administrative Agent, the
Lenders and the Terminating Lenders shall, amoem#elves, purchase or sell such interests in thielReg Loans and Revolving
Credit Commitments in such amounts as shall bessacg so that, after giving effect thereto, thedhdug Loans and Revolving
Credit Commitments will be held by the Lendersbftan proportion to the Revolving Credit Commitntef all Lenders set forth on
Schedule 2.01. The Borrowers shall take such axtigrthe Administrative Agent may reasonably refgfiesduding the execution and
delivery of new promissory notes) to facilitate tealignment of the Revolving Credit Commitments.

(c) Upon completion of the foregoing realignmerach outstanding Revolving Loan under the BExis€redit Agreement shall be a
Revolving Loan outstanding under this Agreemend, stmall be comprised of Revolving Loans made by éander in proportion to
its Pro Rata Percentage of the Total Revolving €@ommitment.

ARTICLE Il

Representations and Warranties
The Borrowers represent and warrant to the Adstrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the IssuBank and each of the Lenders that:

SECTION 3.01 Organization; Powers. The Borrowers and each of the Subsidiaries (dfig organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction ofatganization, (b) has all requisite power and atitjp¢to own its property and assets and to
carry on its business as now conducted and as gedpo be conducted, (c) is qualified to do bugnesand is in good standing in, every
jurisdiction where such qualification is requireadcept where the failure so to qualify could natsenably be expected to result in a Mate
Adverse Effect, and (d) has the power and authtwigxecute, deliver and perform its obligationdemeach of the Loan Documents and ¢
other agreement or instrument contemplated heelhich it is or will be a party and, in the caseh® Borrowers, to borrow hereunder.

SECTION 3.02 Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by eammlParty of each of the Loan Documents and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated &y tan Documents (including the borrowings heredn@ellectively, the'Transactions
") (i) have been duly authorized by all requisiteporate and, if required, stockholder action andv{ll not (x) violate (A) any provision of
law, statute, rule or regulation, or of the cectifie or articles of incorporation or other consitieidocuments or by-laws of any Borrower or
any Subsidiary, (B) any order of any Governmentath@rity or (C) any provision of any indenture, @gment or other instrument to which
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any Borrower or any Subsidiary is a party or byakhany of them or any of their property is or maytmund, (y) be in conflict with, result in
a breach of or constitute (alone or with noticéapse of time or both) a default under, or give tis any right to accelerate or to require the
prepayment, repurchase or redemption of any oldigamder any such indenture, agreement or otts¢ruiment or (z) result in the creation
imposition of any Lien upon or with respect to gmgperty or assets now owned or hereafter acqbiyezhy Borrowers or any Subsidiary
(other than any Lien created hereunder or undeS#uwairity Documents).

SECTION 3.03 Enforceability. This Agreement has been duly executed and deliMey each Borrower and constitutes, and each other
Loan Document when executed and delivered by thle kaan Party thereto will constitute, a legaljd@nd binding obligation of such Loan
Party enforceable against such Loan Party in aecmel with its terms.

SECTION 3.04 Governmental ApprovalsNo action, consent or approval of, registratiofilong with or any other action by any
Governmental Authority is or will be required inns@ction with the Transactions, except for (i) fitieg of Uniform Commercial Code
financing statements and filings with the Unitedt&¢ Patent and Trademark Office and the Unite@St@opyright Office, (ii) recordation of
the Mortgages and (iii) such as have been madétained and are in full force and effect.

SECTION 3.05 Financial Statements(a) The Borrowers have heretofore furnishedholtenders Activision's consolidated balance
sheets and statements of income, stockholder'syeapuil cash flows (i) as of and for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 1998, audited by and
accompanied by the opinion of KPMG Peat Marwick |_ifRlependent public accountants, and (ii) as dffanthe fiscal quarter and the
portion of the fiscal year ended December 31, 1868ijfied by its chief financial officer. Such &incial statements present fairly the financial
condition and results of operations and cash floinActivision and its consolidated Subsidiariefsuch dates and for such periods. S



balance sheets and the notes thereto discloseatdtial liabilities, direct or contingent, of Acision and its consolidated Subsidiaries as o
dates thereof required to be disclosed thereicdom@ance with GAAP. Such financial statements vpeepared in accordance with GAAP
applied on a consistent basis.

(b) Activision has heretofore delivered to tlenders its unaudited pro forma consolidated ba&aheet and statements of income,
stockholder's equity and cash flows as of Marchl1®89, prepared giving effect to the Transactiong they had occurred, with
respect to such balance sheet, on such date aidrespect to such other financial statementsheriitst day of the 12-month period
ending on such date. Such pro forma financial states have been prepared in good faith by the Be@m® based on the assumptions
used to prepare the pro forma financial informationtained in the Confidential Information Memorand(which assumptions are
believed by the Borrowers on the date hereof antheriRestatement Effective Date to be reasonadnlelpased on the best informa
available to the Borrowers as of the date of dejitbereof, accurately reflect all adjustments egflito be made to give effect to the
Transactions and presents fairly on a pro forméstiae estimated consolidated financial positioicfivision and its consolidated
Subsidiaries as of such date and for such pergslimaing that the Transactions had actually occlatedich date or at the beginning
of such period, as the case may be.

SECTION 3.06 No Material Adverse ChangeThere has been no material adverse change lnuiness, results of operations, property,
condition (financial or otherwise) or prospectstaf Borrowers and the Subsidiaries, taken as aaykoice December 31, 1998.
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SECTION 3.07 Title to Properties; Possession Under Leas€¢a) Each of the Borrowers and the Subsidiaréssgood and marketable
title to, or valid leasehold interests in, alliitsterial properties and tangible assets (includihlylortgaged Property), except for minor def
in title that do not interfere with its ability timnduct its business as currently conducted otiliaeisuch properties and assets for their
intended purposes. All such material propertiesassits are free and clear of Liens, other thamsLéxpressly permitted by Section 6.02.

(b) Each of the Borrowers and the Subsididreescomplied in all material respects with all gations under all material leases or
warehousing agreements to which it is a party dir&liah leases or warehousing agreements arelifofak and effect. Each of the
Borrowers and the Subsidiaries enjoys peacefuladisturbed possession under all such materiat¢¢eas

(c) No Borrower has received any notice of, Imas any knowledge of, any pending or contempletedlemnation proceeding
affecting the Mortgaged Properties or any saleigpasition thereof in lieu of condemnation.

(d) No Borrower nor any of the Subsidiarieslidigated under any right of first refusal, optimnother contractual right to sell,
assign or otherwise dispose of any Mortgaged Ptpperany interest therein.

SECTION 3.08 Subsidiaries. Schedule 3.08 sets forth as of the Restateméattivle Date a list of all Subsidiaries and thecpetage
ownership interest of the Borrowers or their Suiasids therein. The shares of capital stock orrotaership interests so indicated on
Schedule 3.08 are fully paid and non-assessabla@nowned by the applicable Borrower or Subsididingctly or indirectly, free and clear
of all Liens, other than Liens in favor of the Gadéral Agent and Liens disclosed in Schedule 6.02.

SECTION 3.09 Litigation; Compliance with Laws.(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.09, therenot any actions, suits or
proceedings at law or in equity or by or before @overnmental Authority now pending or, to the kiexlge of the Borrowers, threatened
against or affecting any Borrower or any Subsid@rany business, property or rights of any suasqe(i) that involve any Loan Document
or the Transactions or (ii) as to which there is@sonable possibility of an adverse determinaiwhthat, if adversely determined, could
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggte, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Neither any Borrower nor any of the Sulesigis or any of their respective material propertieassets is in violation of, nor will
the continued operation of their material propsriad assets as currently conducted violate, amyride or regulation (including any
zoning, building, Environmental Law, ordinance, eadt approval or any building permits) or any riestins of record or agreements
affecting the Mortgaged Property, or is in defauith respect to any judgment, writ, injunction, dee or order of any Governmental
Authority, where such violation or default coulcasenably be expected to result in a Material Adv&fect.

SECTION 3.10 Agreements.(a) Neither any Borrower nor any of the Subsidiis a party to any agreement or instrumentbjext to
any corporate restriction that has resulted ordcogdhisonably be expected to result in a MaterialeAsk Effect.

(b) Neither any Borrower nor any of the Sulsiis is in default in any manner under any provigif any indenture or other
agreement or instrument evidencing IndebtednesmypMaterial Contract, where such default coultsamably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.11 Federal Reserve Regulationga) Neither the Borrowers nor any of the Sulasids is engaged principally, or as one ¢
important activities, in the business of extendinedit for the purpose of buying or carrying Mar@tock.
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(b) No part of the proceeds of any Loan or ketfer of Credit will be used, whether directlyindirectly, and whether immediately,
incidentally or ultimately, for any purpose thatails a violation of, or that is inconsistent withe provisions of the Regulations of
Board, including Regulation T, U or X.

SECTION 3.12 Investment Company Act; Public Utility Holdingr@pany Act. Neither any Borrower nor any Subsidiary is (a) an
"investment company" as defined in, or subjecefgutation under, the Investment Company Act of 184(h) a "holding company" as
defined in, or subject to regulation under, thelleubtility Holding Company Act of 1935.

SECTION 3.13 Use of Proceeds.The Borrowers will use the proceeds of the Loamyg for working capital and other general corperat
purposes and will request the issuance of Lette@ edit only to support obligations incurred iretordinary course of business. In no event
may any Seasonal Advance be used to purchase aiity Etjerests of Activision Holdings or any of #bsidiaries (or options, warrants or
other rights to acquire such Equity Interestsjopombke any investments under Section 6.04(l) hereof

SECTION 3.14 Tax Returns. Each of the Borrowers and the Subsidiaries hag ér caused to be filed all Federal, state, lacal foreign
tax returns or materials required to have beed fikg it and has paid or caused to be paid all tdwesand payable by it and all assessments
received by it, except taxes that are being coadeist good faith by appropriate proceedings andviuich the applicable Borrowers or such
Subsidiary, as applicable, shall have set asidésdrooks adequate reserves.

SECTION 3.15 No Material MisstatementsNone of (a) the Confidential Information Memorandor (b) any other written information,
report, financial statement, exhibit or schedulmifthed by the Borrowers to the Administrative Agenany Lender in connection with the
Loan Documents or included therein or deliveredspant thereto contained, contains or will contaiy material misstatement of fact or
omitted, omits or will omit to state any materiatf necessary to make the statements thereine iligtht of the circumstances under which
they were, are or will be made, not misleadimgvidedthat to the extent any such information, reponaficial statement, exhibit or sched
was based upon or constitutes a forecast or projgche Borrowers represent only that they aateglood faith and utilized reasonable
assumptions and due care in the preparation ofisfmmation, report, financial statement, exhibitschedule.

SECTION 3.16 Employee Benefit Plans(a) Each of the Borrowers and its ERISA Affiiatis in compliance in all material respects with
the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code taedregulations and published interpretationsaineder. No ERISA Event has occurred
or is reasonably expected to occur that, when tédgether with all other such ERISA Events, coddsonably be expected to result in
material liability of the Borrowers or any of th&RISA Affiliates. The present value of all bendifibilities under each Plan (based on those
assumptions used to fund such Plan) did not, #sedfast annual valuation date applicable themtoeed the fair market value of the asse
such Plan, and the present value of all benefitlitees of all underfunded Plans (based on thasimptions used to fund each such Plan) did
not, as of the last annual valuation dates apphctiereto, exceed the fair market value of thetassf all such underfunded Plans.

(b) Each Foreign Pension Plan is in complidncal material respects with all requirementsas lapplicable thereto and the
respective requirements of the governing documfentsuch plan except to the extent such non-compéiacould not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse EffecttiWespect to each Foreign Pension Plan, noneedBtiirowers, any Affiliates or ar
of their directors, officers, employees or agerds éngaged in a transaction that subjects any Berror any of its Subsidiaries,
directly or indirectly, to a material tax or ciyienalty. With respect to each Foreign Pension Pé&mgrves have been established in the
financial statements furnished to the Lenders $peet of any unfunded liabilities in accordancehwit
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applicable law and prudent business practice oererhequired, in accordance with ordinary accognpiractices in the jurisdiction in
which such Foreign Pension Plan is maintained.aggregate unfunded liabilities, with respect tohskoreign Pension Plans could
not reasonably be expected to result in a Matédslerse Effect. There are no actions, suits ontdajother than routine claims for
benefits) pending or threatened against any Bomr@wvany of its Affiliates with respect to any Fie Pension Plan that could
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggte, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.17 Environmental Matters.Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17:

(a) The properties owned or operated by thed®eers and the Subsidiaries (thBroperties) do not contain any Hazardous
Materials in amounts or concentrations which (&titute, or constituted a violation of, (ii) reqriRemedial Action under, or
(iii) could give rise to liability under, Environméal Laws, which violations, Remedial Actions arabllities, in the aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Aslr&ffect;

(b) The Properties and all operations of ther®@wsers and the Subsidiaries are in compliance jtie last six years have been in
compliance, with all Environmental Laws and all @egary Environmental Permits have been obtainedwmnih effect, except to tl



extent that such non-compliance or failure to obtaily necessary permits, in the aggregate, coulceasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect;

(c) There have been no Releases or threategleds$es at, from, under or proximate to the Prigseor otherwise in connection w
the operations of the Borrowers or the Subsidiavidsch Releases or threatened Releases, in thegatg, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;

(d) Neither any Borrowers nor any of the Sulasids has received any notice of an Environmedlaim in connection with the
Properties or the operations of any Borrowers erShbsidiaries or with regard to any person whiagdities for environmental
matters any Borrower or any Subsidiary has retagreassumed, in whole or in part, contractuallyppgration of law or otherwise,
which, in the aggregate, could reasonably be ergdctresult in a Material Adverse Effect, nor e Borrowers or the Subsidiaries
have reason to believe that any such notice witelseived or is being threatened; and

(e) Hazardous Materials have not been transgdrom the Properties, nor have Hazardous Masehieén generated, treated, stored
or disposed of at, on or under any of the Propeitiea manner that could give rise to liability endny Environmental Law, nor have
the Borrowers or the Subsidiaries retained or assuamy liability, contractually, by operation oiar otherwise, with respect to the
generation, treatment, storage or disposal of Hmeer Materials, which transportation, generatioegtinent, storage or disposal, or
retained or assumed liabilities, in the aggregadald reasonably be expected to result in a Mdtddaerse Effect.

SECTION 3.18 Insurance. Schedule 3.18 sets forth a true, complete an@cbdescription of all insurance maintained byBogrowers
or by the Borrowers for their Subsidiaries as &f date hereof and the Restatement Effective Da@f&ach such date, such insurance is in
full force and effect and all premiums have beely gaid. The Borrowers and their Subsidiaries hagerance in such amounts and covering
such risks and liabilities as are in accordancé witrmal industry practice.

SECTION 3.19 Security Documents(a) The Pledge Agreement is effective to cr@afavor of the Collateral Agent, for the ratable
benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, validemidrceable security interest in the Collaterald@ined in the Pledge Agreement) and, when
the Collateral is delivered to the Collateral Agéattin the case of Foreign Subsidiaries in Germémg Netherlands and the United Kingdt
when pledge agreements complying with applicableifm laws are executed and delivered), the Plédgeement shall constitute a fully
perfected first priority Lien on, and
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security interest in, all right, title and intere$tthe pledgors thereunder in such Collateraganh case prior and superior in right to any other
person.

(b) The Security Agreement is effective to teda favor of the Collateral Agent, for the raiblenefit of the Secured Parties, a
legal, valid and enforceable security intereshim €ollateral (as defined in the Security Agreemantl, when financing statements in
appropriate form are filed in the offices specif@dSchedule 6 to the Perfection Certificate, theusity Agreement shall constitute a
fully perfected Lien on, and security interestati,right, title and interest of the grantors therder in such Collateral (other than the
Intellectual Property, as defined in the Securigréement), in each case prior and superior in tighny other person, other than with
respect to Liens expressly permitted by Sectio.6.0

(c) When the Security Agreement is filed in thaited States Patent and Trademark Office andUtiited States Copyright Office,
the Security Agreement shall constitute a fullyfpeted Lien on, and security interest in, all righite and interest of the grantors
thereunder in the Intellectual Property (as defiimeithe Security Agreement), in each case priorsugerior in right to any other
person (it being understood that subsequent reogsdn the United States Patent and Trademark ©#ficl the United States
Copyright Office may be necessary to perfect adiemegistered trademarks, trademark applicatiodscapyrights acquired by the
grantors after the date hereof).

(d) The Mortgages are effective to create wrofaof the Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefithe Secured Parties, a legal, valid
and enforceable Lien on all of the Loan Partiegitrititle and interest in and to the Mortgagedperty thereunder and the proceeds
thereof, and when the Mortgages are filed in the@griate offices in the jurisdictions in which thrtgaged Properties are located
the Mortgages shall constitute a fully perfecteenLon, and security interest in, all right, tittedeinterest of the Loan Parties in such
Mortgaged Property and the proceeds thereof, ih ease prior and superior in right to any othespey other than with respect to the
rights of persons pursuant to Liens expressly péethby Section 6.02.

(e) The UK Charge Documents are effective émtz in favor of Activision a legal, valid and erfeable security interest in and
charge over the personal property assets of UKdesbribed therein and, when Form 395 is filed em@ompanies House in the
United Kingdom, such UK Charge Documents shall titute a fully perfected Lien on, and security net&t on all right, title and
interest of UK Sub in such personal property agsets and superior in right to any other person.

SECTION 3.2( Location of Real Property and Leased Premi (a) Schedule 3.20(a) lists completely and colyrexs of the Restateme



Effective Date all real property owned by the Léarties and the addresses thereof. The Loan Pawiieén fee all the real property set forth
on Schedule 3.20(a).

(b) Schedule 3.20(b) lists completely and azilyeas of the Restatement Effective Date all praperty leased by the Loan Parties
and all locations of Collateral and the addressesebf. The Loan Parties have valid leases in kil vaarehouse agreements with
respect to all the real property set forth on Sahe8.20(b) except to the extent set forth on shchedule.

SECTION 3.21 Labor Matters. As of the date hereof and the Restatement E¥ie®ate, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdown
against any Borrower or any Subsidiary pendindgothe knowledge of the Borrowers, threatened. fidngs worked by and payments made
to employees of any Borrower and the Subsidiars&e@®mot been in violation of the Fair Labor Staddakct or any other applicable Federal,
state, local or foreign law dealing with such mattéll payments due from the Borrowers or any &ibsy, or for which any claim may be
made against any Borrowers or any Subsidiary, cowtt of wages and employee health and welfareanse and other benefits, have
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been paid or accrued as a liability on the booksuch Borrower or such Subsidiary. The consummatfdhe Transactions will not give rise
to any right of termination or right of renegot@tion the part of any union under any collectiveghming agreement to which any Borrower
or any Subsidiary is bound.

SECTION 3.22 Solvency. Immediately after the consummation of the Tratisas to occur on the Restatement Effective Datk an
immediately following the making of each Loan affi¢giagiving effect to the application of the prodeef each Loan, (a) the fair value of the
assets of each Loan Party, at a fair valuatior,exiteed its debts and liabilities, subordinateshtingent or otherwise; (b) the present fair
saleable value of the property of each Loan Paittyoe greater than the amount that will be requite pay the probable liability of its debts
and other liabilities, subordinated, contingenbtirerwise, as such debts and other liabilities mecabsolute and matured; (c) each Loan
Party will be able to pay its debts and liabilitisabordinated, contingent or otherwise, as sublsdind liabilities become absolute and
matured; and (d) each Loan Party will not have asoaably small capital with which to conduct thsibass in which it is engaged as such
business is now conducted and is proposed to kducted following the Restatement Effective Date.

SECTION 3.23 Year 2000. No further programming or reprogramming is regdito permit the proper functioning, in and follogithe
year 2000, of (a) the Borrowers' and their Subsiedcomputer systems and (b) equipment contai@mbedded microchips (includii
systems and equipment supplied by others or witistwtine Borrowers' or their Subsidiaries' systemisriface). The cost to the Borrowers |
their Subsidiaries of the reasonably foreseeabiseguences of the year 2000 to the Borrowers adSabsidiaries (including
reprogramming errors and the failure of otherdesys or equipment) will not result in a Materialvidse Effect. The computer and
management information systems of the Borrowerstlagid Subsidiaries are and, with ordinary counsgrading and maintenance, will
continue for the term of this Agreement to be, isiéght to permit the Borrowers and its Subsidiat@sonduct their business without Material
Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.24 Letters of Credit. The Existing Letters of Credit are the only Iettef credit issued for the account of the Borraar
any of its Domestic Subsidiaries that are outstagndihmediately prior to the Restatement Effectivated

ARTICLE IV

Conditions of Lending

The obligations of the Lenders to make Loars@rithe Issuing Bank to issue Letters of Credieheder are subject to the satisfaction of
the following conditions:

SECTION 4.01 All Credit Events. On the date of each Borrowing, and on the dataoh issuance, amendment, extension or renew
Letter of Credit (each such event being calledCaedit Event'):

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have recdiaenotice of such Borrowing as required by Sec2d@3 (or such notice shall have
been deemed given in accordance with Section 2103) the case of the issuance, amendment, ertensirenewal of a Letter of
Credit, the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Aigghall have received a notice requesting theaisse, amendment, extension or
renewal of such Letter of Credit as required byti®ac2.26(b).

(b) The representations and warranties sdt forArticle Il hereof and in each other Loan Dament shall be true and correct in all
material respects on and as of the date of suctiitGeent with the same effect as though made ahaanof such date, except to the
extent such representations and warranties exgredate to an earlier date, in which case theyl slaae been true and correct as of
such earlier date.
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(c) The Borrowers and each other Loan Partil blean compliance in all material respects withtlae terms and provisions set fo
herein and in each other Loan Document on itstpare observed or performed, and at the time ofimndediately after such Credit
Event, no Event of Default or Default shall haveurced and be continuing, or would exist after giveffect to the Loan to be made
or Letter of Credit to be issued on such date.

Each Credit Event shall be deemed to constituspresentation and warranty by the Borrowertherdate of such Credit Event as to the
matters specified in paragraphs (b) and (c) of$isistion 4.01.

SECTION 4.02 Restatement Effective Datén the Restatement Effective Date (or, as spadi§i indicated below, prior to the date
hereof):

(a) This Agreement shall have been executeddatidered by each Lender and each Borrower, amd\thministrative Agent shall
have received satisfactory evidence of such exatatnd delivery.

(b) The Borrower shall have executed and dediddo each Lender requesting the issuance ofraipsory note a note payable to
order of such Lender in the amount of its Revolv@rgdit Commitment.

(c) The Administrative Agent shall have receliven behalf of itself, the Lenders and the IssiBagk, a favorable written opinion
of Robinson Silverman Pearce Aronsohn & Berman Ldd¥nsel for the Loan Parties, (A) dated the Restiant Effective Date,
(B) addressed to the Issuing Bank, the Administeafigent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders, @)dcovering such matters
relating to the Loan Documents and the Transactgrihe Administrative Agent shall reasonably retjuend the Borrowers hereby
request such counsel to deliver such opinions.

(d) All legal matters incident to this Agreermehe Borrowings and extensions of credit hereumdel the other Loan Documents
shall be satisfactory to the Lenders, to the Iggiiank and to the Administrative Agent.

(e) The Administrative Agent shall have recdiy@ a certificate of the Secretary or Assistaati®tary of each Loan Party dated the
Restatement Effective Date and certifying (A) ttegt certificate or articles of incorporation andavwys of such Loan Party have not
been amended since June 8, 2000 (or attachingraegdments since such date), and (B) as to the inenay and specimen signature
of each officer executing any Loan Document or atier document delivered in connection herewittbehalf of such Loan Party;

(i) a certificate of another officer as to theumebency and specimen signature of the Secretakgsistant Secretary executing the

certificate pursuant to (i) above; and (iii) su¢her documents as the Lenders, the Issuing BattkeoAdministrative Agent may
reasonably request.

(H The Administrative Agent shall have reaava certificate, dated the Restatement Effectiaie @nd signed by an officer of the
Borrowers, confirming compliance with the condisgorecedent set forth in paragraphs (b) and (8eafion 4.01.

(9) The Administrative Agent shall have receiad! Fees and other amounts due and payable priaorto the Restatement
Effective Date, including, any amounts owing un8ection 2.31 as a result of the realignment oR&eolving Credit Commitments

and, to the extent invoiced, reimbursement or payrokall out-ofpocket expenses required to be reimbursed or patdebBorrower
hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

(h) Each of the Subsidiary Guarantors shalkléy executed and delivered to the Collateralmigeconsent to this Agreement.

a7

(i) The Term Loans (under and as definedha,Existing Credit Agreement), and all accruedragethereon, shall have been paid
in full.

() The Administrative Agent shall have recsivall other documents, agreements and certificetélse Administrative Agent or
any Lender shall reasonably request.

ARTICLE V

Affirmative Covenants

The Borrowers covenant and agree with each &etidit so long as this Agreement shall remairffaceand until the Commitments have
been terminated and the principal of and interastach Loan, all Fees and all other expenses oumimipayable under any Loan Docum



shall have been paid in full and all Letters of @ir&ave been canceled or have expired and all ataa@rawn thereunder have been
reimbursed in full, unless the Required Lenderdl sitlherwise consent in writing, each Borrower wihd will cause each of the Subsidiaries
to:

SECTION 5.01 Existence; Businesses and Propertig€a) Do or cause to be done all things necedsapyeserve, renew and keep in full
force and effect its legal existence, except asrotise expressly permitted under Section 6.05.

(b) Do or cause to be done all things necegsaniptain, preserve, renew, extend and keep Ifidide and effect the rights, licens
permits, franchises, authorizations, patents, dghis, trademarks and trade names material toghduct of its business; maintain ¢
operate such business in substantially the mannghich it is presently conducted and operatech @ inanner reasonably related to
present operations; comply in all material respedtis all applicable laws, rules, regulations (iihg any zoning, building,
Environmental Law, ordinance, code or approvalmyr fauilding permits or any restrictions of recordagreements affecting the
Mortgaged Properties) and decrees and orders oGamgrnmental Authority, whether now in effect eréafter enacted; and at all
times maintain and preserve all property mateodhe conduct of such business and keep such pydpegood repair, working order
and condition and from time to time make, or caodee made, all needful and proper repairs, rergwalditions, improvements and
replacements thereto necessary in order that thiedms carried on in connection therewith may lo@gny conducted at all times.

SECTION 5.02 Insurance. The Loan Parties shall bear the full risk of émgs of any nature whatsoever with respect to thikateral. At
the cost and expense of the Loan Parties in amaunatsvith carriers reasonably acceptable to theiAditnative Agent, the Loan Parties shall
(a) keep all insurable properties and propertiaghith any Loan Party has an interest insured atj#tie hazards of fire, flood, sprinkler
leakage, those hazards covered by extended covieimgance and such other hazards, and for suchr@s)@s is customary in the case of
companies engaged in businesses similar to thadmsbf the Loan Parties including, without limdat business interruption insurance and
marine and air cargo insurance, (b) maintain a bersdich amounts as is customary in the case opaaias engaged in businesses similar to
the business of the Loan Parties insuring agaémsehy, embezzlement or other criminal misappraipnisof insured's officers and employees
who may either singly or jointly with others at atiiyme have access to the assets or funds of suah Barty either directly or through
authority to draw upon such funds or to direct gelhethe disposition of such assets; (c) maintaiblic and product liability insurance
against claims for personal injury, death or propdamage suffered by others; (d) maintain all suorker's compensation or similar
insurance as may be required under the laws oftatg or jurisdiction in which such Loan Partymgaged in business; (e) furnish the
Administrative Agent with (i) copies of all poligeand evidence of the maintenance of such poligigke renewal thereof at least thirty
(30) days before any expiration date, and (ii) appate loss payable endorsements in form and anbstreasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent, naming the Administrative Ages a co-insured and loss payee as its interests
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may appear with respect to all insurance coverafggred to in clause (a), and providing (A) thapabceeds thereunder shall be payable to
the Administrative Agent, (B) no such insurancelldta affected by any act or neglect of the insuedwner of the property described in
such policy, and (C) that such policy and loss p&yalauses may not be canceled, amended or temdinaless at least thirty (30) days' p
written notice is given to the Administrative Ageht the event of any loss thereunder, the carriarsed therein hereby are directed by the
Administrative Agent and the applicable Loan Pantynake payment for such loss to the Administrafigent and not to such Loan Party i
Administrative Agent jointly. If any insurance lessare paid by check, draft or other instrumenapkeyto any Loan Party and the
Administrative Agent jointly, the Administrative &gt may endorse such Loan Party's name thereodasdch Loan Party other things as
the Administrative Agent may deem advisable to cedihe same to case. Following the occurrence &vamt of Default, the Administrative
Agent is hereby authorized to adjust and comprowigens under insurance coverage referred to imsels (a), and (b). All loss recoveries
received by the Administrative Agent upon any sinsirance prior to the occurrence of an Event daDie shall be applied to the Revolving
Loans. Any surplus shall be paid by the Adminiséaigent to Borrowers or applied as may be othsewequired by law.

SECTION 5.03 Obligations and TaxesPay its Indebtedness and other obligations priynapid in accordance with their terms and pay
and discharge promptly when due all taxes, assegsraad governmental charges or levies imposed itorupon its income or profits or in
respect of its property, before the same shall tnecdelinquent or in default, as well as all lawdldims for labor, materials and supplies or
otherwise that, if unpaid, might give rise to arLigoon such properties or any part therpobyvided, however, that such payment and
discharge shall not be required with respect tosuth tax, assessment, charge, levy or claim spdsrthe validity or amount thereof shall be
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedargkthe Borrowers shall have set aside on its badkguate reserves with respect there
accordance with GAAP and such contest operatassigesnd collection of the contested obligation, gssessment or charge and enforcement
of a Lien and, in the case of a Mortgaged Propéhgre is no risk of forfeiture of such property.

SECTION 5.04 Financial Statements, Reports, etn the case of the Borrowers, furnish to the Adistrative Agent and each Lender:

(a) within 90 days after the end of each figesdr, the consolidated and consolidating balaheetsand related statements of
income, stockholders' equity and cash flows showhegfinancial condition of Activision Holdings aiitd consolidated Subsidiaries as
of the close of such fiscal year and the resulitsadperations and the operations of such Subgdiauring such year, and the bala
sheet and related statement of income, stockholelguity and cash flows showing the financial ctindiof Kaboom as of the close
such fiscal year and the results of its operatéuring such year. The consolidated financial stateinshall be audited by
PriceWatershouseCoopers or other independent patitimuntants of recognized national standing andrapanied by an opinion



such accountants (which shall not be qualifiedny @naterial respect) to the effect that such cadated financial statements fairly
present the financial condition and results of apens of Activision Holdings and its consolidatedbsidiaries on a consolidated
basis, or of Kaboom, as the case may be, in aceoedaith GAAP. In addition, Development Costs ame amortization of
Development Costs for such year shall be identiéieglicitly in the audited financial statementsmthe notes thereto;

(b) within 45 days after the end of each fispadrter of each fiscal year, the consolidatedamdolidating balance sheet and rel:
statements of income, stockholders' equity and ftasls showing the financial condition of Activisiddoldings and its consolidated
Subsidiaries, and of the Loan Parties, as of thgecbf such fiscal quarter and the results ofperations and the operations of such
Subsidiaries during such fiscal quarter and tha tiapsed portion of the fiscal year, and the lmdasheet and related statement of
income, stockholders' equity and cash flows
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showing the financial condition of Kaboom as of these of such fiscal quarter and the resultssobjterations during such fiscal
quarter and the then elapsed portion of the figeal, each certified by a Financial Officer of Ation Holdings or Kaboom, as the
case may be, as fairly presenting the financiatitimm and results of operations of the Loan Pardied Activision Holdings and its
consolidated Subsidiaries, or of Kaboom, as the o@sy be, in accordance with GAAP, subject to nbgmar-end audit adjustments;

(c) within 20 days after the end of each motith,consolidated and consolidating balance shektedated statements of income,
stockholder's equity and cash flows showing tharfaial condition of the Loan Parties and of AciimisHoldings and its consolidated
Subsidiaries as of the close of such fiscal monththe results of its operations and the operatdissich Subsidiaries and of the Lc
Parties during such fiscal month and the then ep®rtion of such fiscal year, all certified byeanf its Financial Officers as fairly
presenting the financial condition and results pérations of the Loan Parties and of Activisiondiiogs and its consolidated
Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, subject tona year-end audit adjustments;

(d) concurrently with the delivery of financstetements under paragraph (b) above, a reporagonable detail of amounts accrued
and paid during such quarter for royalties and tewter license, distribution or development agragsen a form reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(e) concurrently with any delivery of financg&thtements under paragraph (a) or (b) above tificge of the accounting firm (in tt
case of paragraph (a)) or Financial Officer (in¢hse of paragraph (b)) opining on or certifyingtsatatements (which certificate,
when furnished by an accounting firm, may be lighite accounting matters and disclaim responsibititylegal interpretations)

(i) certifying that no Event of Default or Defatlas occurred or, if such an Event of Default orddéifhas occurred, specifying the
nature and extent thereof and any corrective a¢éiken or proposed to be taken with respect thenedd(ii) setting forth computatiol
in reasonable detail satisfactory to the AdmintsteaAgent demonstrating compliance with the coves@ontained in Sections 6.09,
6.10, and 6.13;

(H within 90 days of the Restructure Datejrarentory appraisal, from an appraiser acceptabthe Administrative Agent and in
form and substance satisfactory to the Administeafigent;

(g) promptly after the same become publiclyilatée, copies of all periodic and other report®xy statements and other materials
filed by Activision Holdings or any Subsidiary withe Securities and Exchange Commission, or anye@ovental Authority
succeeding to any or all of the functions of saghBission, or with any national securities exchamgealistributed to its shareholde
as the case may be;

(h) promptly after the receipt thereof by amyri®wer or any of its Subsidiaries, a copy of amahagement letter" (whether in draft
or final form) received by any such person fronmcistified public accountants and the managemesg{sonses thereto; and

(i) each year, at the time of delivery of aalfinancial statements with respect to the prewgéiscal year pursuant to
clause (a) above, the Borrowers shall deliver éoAministrative Agent a certificate of a Finandficer of the Borrowers (i) setting
forth the information required pursuant to Sectitrl 6 and 9 of the Perfection Certificate or confirgithat there has been no cha
in such information since the date of the Perfec@ertificate delivered on the Closing Date ordlage of the most recent certificate
delivered pursuant to this Section and (ii) ceitifiythat all Uniform Commercial Code financing staents (including fixture filings,
as applicable) or other appropriate filings, reaugd or registrations, including all refilings, eeordings and reregistrations, contair
a description of the Collateral have been filed
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of record in each governmental, municipal or otiygpropriate office in each jurisdiction identifipdrsuant to clause (i) above to the
extent necessary to protect and perfect the sgdntérests under the Security Documents for aopeof not less than 18 months al



the date of such certificate (except as noted ihevith respect to any continuation statementsetdiled within such period).

() on or before the fifteenth (%) day of each month as and for the prior montra(&ghedule of Receivables, (b) a Schedule of
Payables and (c) Inventory repontsovided, howeverthat during the period from September 1 to Deaamibof each year, the
foregoing information shall be provided on eachrBlday as and for the prior Week; and (d) a scheduferm and substance
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, of allt@@rtible Subordinated Notes converted to commockstand all repurchases or
redemptions of Convertible Subordinated Notes amdnaon stock during such month and cumulativelyaddition, the Borrowers
will deliver to the Administrative Agent at leastee every two weeks (or more frequently at theooptif the Borrowers) or as the
Administrative Agent may require, (i) confirmataagsignment schedules, (ii) remittance schedulegi@nschedules of credits to
Receivables, each certified as complete and cdboseatFinancial Officer of the Borrowers. Borrowshsll also deliver to the
Administrative Agent at such intervals as the Adsthative Agent may require: (i) copies of Custormsoices (ii) evidence of
shipment or delivery and (iii) such further scheduldocuments and/or information regarding theaBahl as the Administrative
Agent may require including, without limitationiat balances and test verifications. The AdmintsteaAgent shall have the right to
confirm and verify all Receivables by any mannat through any medium it considers advisable and/ldatever it may deem
reasonably necessary to protect its interests hdezuThe items to be provided under this Sectiert@be in form reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and exeduby the Borrowers and delivered to the AdministeaAgent from time to time
solely for the Administrative Agent's conveniengamaintaining records of the Collateral, and anyr8wer's failure to deliver any of
such items to the Administrative Agent shall ndeef, terminate, modify or otherwise limit the Ga#ral Agent's Lien with respect to
the Collateral.

(k) no later than forty-five (45) days afteetheginning of each fiscal year commencing withftbeal year ending March 31, 2001,
a month by month projected operating budget anld ftas of Activision Holdings and of the Loan Pasdifor such fiscal year
(including an income statement for each month abdlance sheet as at the end of the last monthcin fscal quarter), such
projections to be accompanied by a certificateesigioy a Financial Officer of the Borrowers to tfffeet that such projections have
been prepared on the basis of sound financial pigmractice consistent with past budgets and firdstatements and that such
officer has no reason to question the reasonaldesfeeny material assumptions on which such prigjpstwere prepared; provided
that Borrowers will deliver a preliminary projectederating budget and cash flow for the fiscal ymating March 31, 2003 by
April 1, 2002. In addition, concurrently with theltvery of the financial statements referred talauses (a), (b) and (c) above the
Borrowers will deliver a written report summariziath material variances from the budgets submitigthe Borrowers and a
discussion and analysis by management with res$petitch variances.

() promptly, from time to time, such othefarmation regarding the operations, business affaid financial condition of the
Borrowers or any Subsidiary, or compliance withtierens of any Loan Document, as the Administrafigent or any Lender may
reasonably request.

SECTION 5.05 Litigation and Other Notices.Furnish to the Administrative Agent, the IssuBank and each Lender prompt written
notice of the following:

(a) any Event of Default or Default, specifyitig nature and extent thereof and the correcttiera(if any) taken or proposed to
taken with respect thereto;

51

(b) the filing or commencement of, or any thir@anotice of intention of any person to file @nemence, any action, suit or
proceeding, whether at law or in equity or by diobe any Governmental Authority, against any Boreowr any Affiliate thereof that
could reasonably be expected to result in a Mdtédaerse Effect;

(c) any development that has resulted in, atccoeasonably be expected to result in, a Matéwblerse Effect;

(d) any event of default or event which, withtioe or lapse of one or both would constitute wené of default under the Convertit
Subordinated Note Documents or any agreement w#tpact to Subordinated Debt;

(e) all matters materially affecting the valeaforceability or collectibility of any portion dfie Collateral, including, without
limitation, any Loan Party's reclamation or repgssan of, or the returns to any Loan Party of, demi@ amount of goods or claims or
disputes asserted by any Customer or other oblgyuat;

(H any breach or default under any agreermader which a Loan Party is the licensee or digtabor any notice of intent to
terminate any such agreement.

SECTION 5.06 Employee Benefits(a) Comply in all material respects with the laggble provisions of ERISA and the Code and
(b) furnish to the Administrative Agent (i) as saasipossible after, and in any event within 10 ddier any Responsible Officer of any
Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate knows or has reagorknow that, any ERISA Event has occurred thateor together with any oth



ERISA Event could reasonably be expected to résuithbility of the Borrowers in an aggregate ambexceeding $1,000,000, a statement of
a Financial Officer of the Borrowers setting fodihtails as to such ERISA Event and the actiomyf ¢hat the Borrowers propose to take \
respect thereto.

SECTION 5.07 Maintaining Records; Access to Properties anghétsions. Keep proper books of record and account in whihtrue
and correct entries in conformity with GAAP andraljuirements of law are made of all dealings aadsiactions in relation to its business
and activities. Each Loan Party will, and will catesach of its Subsidiaries to, permit any repredimets designated by the Administrative
Agent or any Lender to visit and inspect the finahieecords and the properties of the Borroweranyr Subsidiary at reasonable times and as
often as reasonably requested and to make exfranotsand copies of such financial records, and jtesny representatives designated by the
Administrative Agent or any Lender to discuss tffaies, finances and condition of the Borrowersaay Subsidiary with the officers thereof
and independent accountants therefor.

SECTION 5.08 Use of Proceeds.Use the proceeds of the Loans and request thariss of Letters of Credit only for the purposds se
forth in Section 3.13.

SECTION 5.09 Compliance with Environmental LawsComply, and cause all lessees and other persmoupwing its Properties to
comply, in all material respects with all Envirormted Laws and Environmental Permits applicabldg@perations and Properties; obtain and
renew all material Environmental Permits necesgarits operations and Properties; and conductRemyedial Action in accordance with
Environmental Lawsprovided, however, that neither any Borrowers nor any of the Sulbsids shall be required to undertake any Remedial
Action to the extent that its obligation to do sdeing contested in good faith and by proper prdicgys and appropriate reserves are being
maintained with respect to such circumstances.

SECTION 5.10 Preparation of Environmental Reportdf a Default caused by reason of a breach ofi@e& 17 or 5.09 shall have
occurred and be continuing, at the request of #guRed Lenders through the Administrative Agenbvde to the Lenders within 45 days
after such request, at the expense of the Borrowarenvironmental site assessment report for thpdrties which are the
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subject of such Default prepared by an environmeatasulting firm acceptable to the Administratiékgent and indicating the presence or
absence of Hazardous Materials and the estimattd€any compliance or Remedial Action in connactivith such Properties.

SECTION 5.11 Audits. From time to time upon the request of the CalitAgent or the Required Lenders through the Adstiative
Agent, permit the Collateral Agent or the Lendersdnduct evaluations and appraisals of (a) thedars' practices in the computation of
the Borrowing Base and (b) the assets includetérBorrowing Base. In connection therewith, Borrmghall pay the costs of the Collateral
Agent's auditors in accordance with the Agent'slFedter.

SECTION 5.12 Further Assurances.Execute any and all further documents, finansitagements, agreements and instruments, and take
all further action (including filing Uniform Commeial Code and other financing statements, mortgagdseeds of trust) that may be
required under applicable law, or that the Requirexders, the Administrative Agent or the Collatérgent may reasonably request, in order
to effectuate the transactions contemplated by tfaen Documents and in order to grant, preservaept@nd perfect the validity and first
priority of the security interests created or inted to be created by the Security Documents andikh€harge Documents. The Borrowers
will cause any subsequently acquired or organizexh@&stic Subsidiary which is a Material Subsidiang any other Domestic Subsidiary
which becomes a Material Subsidiary to executelsi@liary Guarantee Agreement, Indemnity Subrogadimh Contribution Agreement and
each applicable Security Document in favor of tledla@@eral Agent. If any new Domestic Subsidiargdsecome a Borrower hereunder, it
execute and deliver a Joinder Agreement and theoRer Guarantee Agreement, Indemnity, Subrogatimh@ontribution Agreement and
Security Agreemenprovided, however, that any new Borrower's Receivables and Invertuaty not be included in calculating the Formula
Amount or Individual Formula Amount until the Adnisirative Agent has completed its audit with respleereto with results satisfactory ti
in its Permitted Discretion. In addition, from tirteetime, the Borrowers will, at their cost and erpe, promptly secure the Obligations by
pledging or creating, or causing to be pledgedeated, perfected security interests with resestith of the assets and properties of the
Loan Parties as the Administrative Agent or thelRegl Lenders shall designate (it being understbatlit is the intent of the parties that the
Obligations shall be secured by substantiallytaldssets of the Borrowers and their Domestic 8igris (including real and other proper
acquired subsequent to the Closing Date)). Sualrisginterests and Liens will be created underSleeurity Documents and other security
agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust and othteurimants and documents in form and substance aetiisy to the Collateral Agent, and the
Borrowers shall deliver or cause to be deliverethéoLenders all such instruments and documenttuiing legal opinions, title insurance
policies and lien searches) as the Collateral Agkall reasonably request to evidence compliantietvis Section. The Borrowers agree to
provide such evidence as the Collateral Agent shalonably request as to the perfection and pyistétus of each such security interest and
Lien.

SECTION 5.13 Government ReceivablesNotify the Administrative Agent immediately if aiReceivables arise out of contracts between
any Borrower and the United States, any state ydapartment, agency or instrumentality of anyhefnh and take all steps necessary to
protect the Collateral Agent's interest in the &eltal under the Federal Assignment of Claims Aditber applicable state or local statutes or
ordinances and deliver to the Administrative Agappropriately endorsed any instrument or chattpépaonnected with any Receivable
arising out of contracts between any Loan PartythadJnited States, any state or any departmeahagof instrumentality of any of thel



SECTION 5.14 Intellectual Property. (a) Each Loan Party shall register or causesteeistered (to the extent not already registered)
with the United States Patent and Trademark Ofitcéne United States Copyright Office, as applieabiose intellectual property rights lis
on the exhibits to the Security Agreement withiintyh(30) days of the date of this Agreement. ERoln Party shall
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register or cause to be registered with the Urfitiedes Patent and Trademark Office or the UnitateStCopyright Office, as applicable, th
additional material intellectual property rightsvdped or acquired by such Loan Party from timgne in connection with any product
prior to the sale or licensing of such productny third party, including without limitation revisis or additions to the intellectual property
rights listed on such exhibits, when such LoanyPaasonably determines that such registratioppsapriate providedthat such Loan Party
shall in any case register such additional patemd/or copyrights as are developed or obtain@dmmection with any product accounting for
more than five percent (5%) of such Loan Partydsgirevenues in any calendar quarter. Notwithshgntthie foregoing, each Loan Party shall
only be required to register trademarks when swmmlParty reasonably determines that such redstret appropriate.

(b) Each Loan Party shall execute and deliuvehsadditional instruments and documents from tiongime as the Collateral Agent
shall reasonably request to perfect the Collatégaint's security interest in the Collateral consgstf Intellectual Property (as defin
in the Security Agreement).

(c) Each Loan Party shall (i) protect, defend enaintain the validity and enforceability of timtellectual Property, (ii) use
commercially reasonable efforts to detect infringets of the Intellectual Property and promptly advhe Administrative Agent in
writing of material infringements detected, ang fiot allow any Intellectual Property to be abaned, forfeited or dedicated to the
public without the written consent of the Requitethders, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(d) The Collateral Agent shall have the rightt not the obligation, to take, at Borrowers' spense, any actions that Borrowers
are required to take under this Section, but tatbke, after fifteen (15) days' notice to BorrosvdBorrowers shall reimburse and
indemnify the Administrative Agent for all reasoie@bosts and reasonable expenses incurred in @isemable exercise of its rights
under this Section.

SECTION 5.15 Blocked Accounts.All proceeds of Collateral shall, at the direntinf the Administrative Agent, be deposited by ltlan
Parties into a lock box account, dominion accourguzh other "blocked account"Blocked Account® with PNC or another bank
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agewat, enters into a Lock Box Agreement with the Adistrative Agent in form and
substance acceptable to the Administrative AgesmthH.oan Party shall issue to the institution withich the Blocked Accounts are
maintained an irrevocable letter of instructioredting said bank to transfer such funds so dembBsitaccordance with a notice from the
Administrative Agent to the Administrative Agenither to any account maintained by the Administatgent at said bank or by wire
transfer to appropriate account(s) of the Admiaiste Agent. All funds deposited in such Blocked:8gnts shall immediately become the
property of the Administrative Agent and Borrowsh&ll obtain the agreement by such bank to waiyeoéfiset rights against the funds so
deposited (except any rights of PNC as a Lendezumeler). Neither the Administrative Agent, the @aral Agent nor any Lender assumes
any responsibility for such "blocked account" agament, including without limitation, any claim afcord and satisfaction or release with
respect to deposits accepted by any bank thereuiflematively, the Administrative Agent may edtab depository accounts (the "
Depository Account”) in the name of the Administrative Agent at a lban banks for the deposit of such funds and thenLBarties shall
deposit all proceeds of Collateral or cause sanie teposited, in kind, in such Depository Accoumtiéeu of depositing same to the Block
Accounts.
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All funds in the Blocked Accounts or Depositégcounts shall be transferred daily to the Adntmaitive Agent to be applied to
outstanding Revolving Loans which are ABR Loang] applied to the Obligations as they become dug.fAnds remaining after such
application may be transferred, if all ABR Loanslatl other Obligations then due have been pafdlinto the Investment Account to be h
as Cash Collateral hereunder and applied to thig&ilins as they become due. From time to timeAdhministrative Agent shall, upon the
request of the Borrowing Agent, transfer funds friva Investment Account to Borrower's operatingoaot, but Borrowers may not make
investments in Permitted Investments other thasdah®ld in the Investment Account unless no Rerglioans are outstanding and, after
any transfer of funds from the Investment Accolhttdrawn Availability is at least $10,000,000 or lslesser amount to which the
Administrative Agent otherwise consents.

SECTION 5.16 Receivables.(a) Each of the Receivables shall be a bonadimtkvalid account representing a bona fide inditass
incurred by the Customer therein named and eatfiedReceivables proposed to be included as arbiigieceivable is for a fixed sum as
forth in the invoice relating thereto (provided imt@rial or unintentional invoice errors shall netdeemed to be a breach hereof) with res
to an absolute sale or lease and delivery of gapds stated terms of a Borrower, or work, labosemwvices theretofore rendered by a
Borrower as of the date each Receivable is cre&ae shall be due and owing in accordance witlappéicable Borrower's standard terms
of sale without dispute, setoff or counterclaimeptcas may be stated on the Schedules of Recesvdbliwered by Borrowers to tl



Administrative Agent.

(b) Each Customer, to the best of each Borrew@owledge, as of the date each Receivable édeaxteis and will be solvent and
able to pay all Receivables on which the Customebligated in full when due or with respect tots@ustomers of any Borrower
who are not solvent such Borrower has set up dooitks and in its financial records bad debt reseadequate to cover such
Receivables.

(c) Each Borrower's chief executive officeasdted at the addresses set forth on Schedulea}.@0(b) hereto. Until written notice
is given to the Administrative Agent by the BorrogiAgent of any other office at which any Borroweeps its records pertaining to
Receivables, all such records shall be kept at exebutive office.

(d) Until any Borrower's authority to do saésminated by the Administrative Agent (which netthe Administrative Agent may
give at any time following the occurrence of an lvef Default), each Borrower will, at such Borravgesole cost and expense, but on
the Administrative Agent's behalf and for the Adisirative Agent's account, collect as the Admimiste Agent's property and in tri
for the Administrative Agent all amounts receivatdReceivables, and shall not commingle such cadiestwith any Borrower's funds
or use the same except to pay Obligations. Eaclhoer shall, upon request, deliver to the Admisaistee Agent, or deposit in the
Blocked Account, in original form and on the dateexeipt thereof, all checks, drafts, notes, monwers, acceptances, cash and
other evidences of Indebtedness.

(e) At any time following the occurrence oflavent of Default, the Administrative Agent shalviahe right to send notice of the
assignment of, and the Collateral Agent's secintgrest in, the Receivables to any and all Custsraeany third party holding or
otherwise concerned with any of the Collateral.r€aéer, the Collateral Agent shall have the sigbtrto collect the Receivables, te
possession of the Collateral, or both. The Colitégent's actual collection expenses, including,not limited to, stationery and
postage, telephone and telegraph, secretariallaridat expenses and the salaries of any collegignsonnel used for collection, may
be charged to Borrowers' Account and added to thigy&tions.

() The Collateral Agent shall have the righteceive, endorse, assign and/or deliver in #mmenof the Collateral Agent or any
Borrower any and all checks, drafts and other imsénts for the payment of money relating to theeRebles, and each Borrower
hereby waives notice of
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presentment, protest and non-payment of any ingntiiso endorsed. Each Borrower hereby constitbee€ollateral Agent or its
designee as such Borrower's attorney with poweo @ndorse such Borrower's name upon any notesptmnces, checks, drafts,
money orders or other evidences of payment or @o#j (ii) to sign such Borrower's name on anyoiae or bill of lading relating to
any of the Receivables, drafts against Customsssg@ments and verifications of Receivables; {@iyend verifications of Receivab
to any Customer; (iv) to sign such Borrower's namall financing statements or any other documenisstruments deemed
necessary or appropriate by the Collateral Ageptréserve, protect, or perfect the Collateral Agenterest in the Collateral and to
file same; (v) following an Event of Default, tordand payment of the Receivables; (vi) followingeauent of Default, to enforce
payment of the Receivables by legal proceedinggtmrwise; (vii) following an Event of Default, &xercise all of Borrowers' rights
and remedies with respect to the collection ofReeeivables and any other Collateral; (viii)follogian Event of Default, to settle,
adjust, compromise, extend or renew the Receivafiig@dollowing an Event of Default, to settle,jadt or compromise any legal
proceedings brought to collect Receivables; (Xpfeing an Event of Default, to prepare, file angrssuch Borrower's name on a
proof of claim in bankruptcy or similar documentatst any Customer, (xi) following an Event of Défato prepare, file and sign
such Borrower's name on any notice of Lien., agsint or satisfaction of Lien or similar documentannection with the
Receivables; and (xii) to do all other acts anddbinecessary to carry out this Agreement. All attaid attorney or designee are
hereby ratified and approved, and said attornedesignee shall not be liable for any acts of orars®r commission nor for any error
of judgment or mistake of fact or of law, unlessstituting willful misconduct or gross (not meredgtigence; this power being
coupled with an interest is irrevocable while afigh@ Obligations remain unpaid. The Collateral Agghall have the right at any tir
following the occurrence of an Event of Defaulctnge the address for delivery of mail addresseohy Borrower to such addres:
the Collateral Agent may designate and to receigen and dispose of all mail addressed to any B@mo

(g9) Neither the Administrative Agent, the Cédlal Agent nor any Lender shall, under any cirdamses or in any event whatsoe
have any liability for any error or omission or @glbf any kind occurring in the settlement, colieetor payment of any of the
Receivables or any instrument received in payntesrebf, or for any damage resulting therefrom.dwaithg the occurrence of an
Event of Default the Administrative Agent may, wdtit notice or consent from any Borrower, sue upoatleerwise collect, extend t
time of payment of, compromise or settle for cashdit or upon any terms any of the Receivableengrother securities, instruments
or insurance applicable thereto and/or releaseobligor thereof. The Collateral Agent is authorizett! empowered to accept
following the occurrence of an Event of Default teeurn of the goods represented by any of the iR&lskes, without notice to or
consent by any Borrower, all without dischargingroany way affecting any Borrower's liability heraler.

(h) No Borrower will, without the AdministragvAgent's consent, compromise or adjust any materaunt of the Receivables or
extend the time for payment thereof or accept aatenal returns of merchandise or grant any aduttialiscounts, allowances



credits thereon except for those compromises, adprgs, returns, discounts, credits and allowansdsave been heretofore
customary in the business of such Borrower.

ARTICLE VI

Negative Covenants

The Borrowers covenant and agree with each &etdit, so long as this Agreement shall remagffiact and until the Commitments have
been terminated and the principal of and interestach Loan, all Fees and all other expenses ourtsipayable under any Loan Document
have been paid in full and all Letters of Creditdnbeen canceled or have expired and all amouatgrdthereunder
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have been reimbursed in full, unless the Requienters shall otherwise consent in writing, no Basowill nor will it cause or permit any
of the Subsidiaries to:

SECTION 6.01 Indebtedness.Incur, create, assume or permit to exist anybteliness, except:

(a) Indebtedness for borrowed money existinghenClosing Date and set forth in Schedule 6.01nbt any extensions, renewals
replacements of such Indebtedness (unless othepeiseitted under this Section 6.01);

(b) Indebtedness created hereunder and unel@ttier Loan Documents;

(c) Indebtedness evidenced by Capital Leas@@tiins, or secured pursuant to Section 6.02¢hg@ach case so long as the
aggregate principal amount of all Indebtedness jitadnto be outstanding under this paragraph (a)l slot exceed $5,000,000;

(d) Indebtedness in favor of a Lender (or afiliafe thereof) under one or more Hedging Agreete@pproved by the
Administrative Agent (such approval not to be usmgebly withheld);

(e) intercompany Indebtedness of Activision @asdubsidiaries to the extent permitted by Sesti®.04(e), (g) and (0);

(H Indebtedness with respect to any suretydsaequired in the ordinary course of businegsk@Borrowers and the Subsidiaries,
providedthat such Indebtedness shall not at any time ex$280,000 in the aggregate;

(9) Indebtedness of the European Distributiohs®liaries in an aggregate principal amount nexeed $50,000,000 (or the
equivalent thereof) at any time outstandipmvidedthat such Indebtedness shall not be Guaranteedyblyaan Party other than
through one or more Letters of Credit issued hetetto support such Indebtedness in a face amatiih excess of $9,000,000;

(h) Indebtedness of Foreign Subsidiaries (atien the European Distribution Subsidiaries) iraggregate principal amount not to
exceed $15,000,000 (or the equivalent thereoffpatiane outstandingyrovidedsuch Indebtedness shall not be Guaranteed by any
Loan Party;

(i) other unsecured Indebtedness of the Bagrsvand the Subsidiaries in an aggregate prinaipalunt not to exceed $5,000,000 at
any time outstanding;

()) Subordinated Debt in an aggregate princpaount which does not exceed at the time of irmae $15,000,000 in outstanding
principal amount; and

(k) Acquired Debt in connection with a Perndttcquisition.

SECTION 6.02 Liens. Create, incur, assume or permit to exist any iemny property or assets (including stock or ogleeurities of
any person, including any Subsidiary) now ownedereafter acquired by it or on any income or reesnur rights in respect of any thereof,
except:

(a) Liens on property or assets of the Borreveard its Subsidiaries existing on the date heardfset forth in Schedule 6.02;
providedthat such Liens shall secure only those obligatiehish they secure on the date hereof and maynmtreber Receivables;

(b) any Lien created under the Loan Docume



(c) Liens for taxes not yet due or which arlnpeontested in compliance with Section 5 p&videdthat the Lien shall have no
effect on the priority of the Liens under the Ldaocuments or the value of the Collateral and a stanforcement of any such Lien
shall be in effect;
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(d) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics',riabiteen's, repairmen's or other like Liens arisimghe ordinary course of business
and securing obligations that are not due and peyabwhich are being contested in compliance Biglation 5.03;

(e) Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERIS#edges and deposits made in the ordinary cafrbasiness in compliance with
workmen's compensation, unemployment insuranceotivet social security laws or regulations;

(f) deposits to secure the performance of,lirdsle contracts (other than for Indebtednesa}€de (other than Capital Lease
Obligations), statutory obligations, surety andeglponds, performance bonds and other obligatibadike nature incurred in the
ordinary course of business;

(9) zoning restrictions, easements, rights-afswestrictions on use of real property and o#firmilar encumbrances incurred in the
ordinary course of business which, in the aggregaenot substantial in amount and do not matgrigtract from the value of the
property subject thereto or interfere with the neay conduct of the business of the Borrowers grddrits Subsidiaries;

(h) purchase money security interests in regpgrty, improvements thereto or equipment hereattquired (or, in the case of
improvements, constructed) by the Borrowers or@mlgsidiary;providedthat (i) such security interests secure Indebtesipesmitted
by Section 6.01, (ii) such security interests arired, and the Indebtedness secured therebgasect, within 90 days after such
acquisition (or construction), (iii) the Indebtedsesecured thereby does not exceed 85% of the efdte cost or the fair market
value of such real property, improvements or eqeipinat the time of such acquisition (or construgtiand (iv) such security interests
do not apply to any other property or assets oBibweowers or any Subsidiary;

(i) Liens on assets of Foreign Subsidian@eyidedthat (i) such Liens do not extend to, or encumassets of the Borrowers or ¢
of its Domestic Subsidiaries and (ii) such Liensuse only Indebtedness incurred by such Foreigrsilidries pursuant to
Section 6.01 (g), (h) or (k); and

() Liens granted to licensors by a Loan Partych encumber only the licensed intellectual grtypand inventory produced
thereunder (but not any Receivables from the siégdéjbution or licensing thereof), are subordiwhte the Liens of the Collateral
Agent on terms and conditions satisfactory to to#aferal Agent and expressly permit the Liens tgdrby the Loan Documents and
the exercise of remedies thereunder.

SECTION 6.03 Sale and Lease-Back Transactiongnter into any arrangement, directly or indirngctlith any person whereby it shall
sell or transfer any property, real or personagdusr useful in its business, whether now ownelteoeafter acquired, and thereafter rent or
lease such property or other property which itridieto use for substantially the same purpose iqroges as the property being sold or
transferred unless (a) the sale of such propegeisiitted by Section 6.05 and (b) the Capital egabligations arising therefrom are
permitted by Section 6.01(c).

SECTION 6.04 Investments, Loans and Advancd3urchase, hold or acquire any Equity Interesisiemces of indebtedness or other
securities of, make or permit to exist any loanadwrances to, or make or permit to exist any imaest or any other interest in, any other
person, except:

(a) investments by the Borrowers existing andhte hereof in the Equity Interests of the Suéisas and the investment by
Activision Holdings in Kaboom existing on the d&reof in an amount not in excess of $1,000;
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(b) Permitted Investments held in the Investratount and, if Undrawn Availability is at leakt0,000,000 and there are no
outstanding Revolving Loans (or such lesser amtmunthich the Administrative Agent consents), otRermitted Investments;

(c) Receivables owing to any Borrower or anyt®Subsidiaries arising from sales of Inventongler usual and customary terms in
the ordinary course of business;

(d) advances not to exceed $500,000 outstaradingy time to employees of the Borrowers andSthigsidiaries to meet expenses
incurred by such employees in the ordinary coufdmisiness



(e) any wholly owned Subsidiary may make imenpany loans to a Borrower or any other wholly owvSebsidiary and any
Borrower may make intercompany loans and advarcasy wholly owned Subsidiarprovidedthat any promissory notes evidenc
such intercompany loans shall be pledged (andeteld) by the applicable Borrower or the respeatitielly owned Domestic
Subsidiary that is the lender of such intercompaay as Collateral pursuant to the Pledge Agreenpeovided furthetthat (i) any
Borrower or any Domestic Subsidiaries may makeddarand repay loans from any Foreign Subsidignigsuant to this
paragraph (e) only if, after giving effect theretwe outstanding principal amount of all loans mhagé-oreign Subsidiaries to
Activision during any Fiscal Year shall exceed giimcipal of loans made by any Borrower and its Bstit Subsidiaries during such
period and as of the end of each Fiscal Year the&tanding principal amount of loans made by Foré&gbsidiaries shall exceed the
outstanding principal amount of loans made by ther@®vers and their Domestic Subsidiaries by attl$d4£00,000 and (ii) any loans
made by any Foreign Subsidiaries to any Borrowemyrof its Domestic Subsidiaries pursuant to plisagraph (e) shall be unsecured
and subordinated to the obligations of the Loarni€apursuant to subordination provisions in sulitsally the form of Exhibit J to the
Existing Credit Agreement; and any loans made lyylaxan Party to any Foreign Subsidiary shall belernced by one or more
revolving Master Notes pledged to the CollaterakAigpursuant to the Pledge Agreement.

(H the Borrowers may establish Subsidiargethe extent permitted by Section 6.15;

(g) the Borrowers and the Domestic wholly owsedbsidiaries may make additional loans and adatwger other investments in,
Foreign Subsidiaries of the Borrowers with the prvinitten consent of the Required Lenders;

(h) a Borrower or any wholly owned Subsidiargymacquire substantially all the assets of, or ntlea@ 50% of the Equity Interests
of, a person (such assets or such person refarteeréin as the Acquired Entity' and any acquisition completed under this subse
6.04(h) is a 'Permitted Acquisitiori); providedthat each of the following conditions is satisfied:

(i) the Acquired Entity shall be a going concand shall be in a line of business reasonaltdye® to that of the Borrowers
and their Subsidiaries as conducted during theesatiand most recent calendar year;

(ii) the Acquired Entity shall have approvedalistransaction;

(iii) the Borrowers shall have delivered to th@ministrative Agent at least 5 Business Daysmidoconsummation of the
acquisition a certificate of a Financial Officemaenstrating, in reasonable detail, that, at the tifhsuch transaction (A) both
before and after giving effect thereto, no Evenbefault or Default shall have occurred and beiooimig or shall exist, (B) tt
Borrowers are in compliance with the covenantdah in Sections 6.09, 6.10, and 6.13 as of tseday of the most recent
fiscal quarter preceding such acquisition, and wdad in compliance ongro formabasis with such covenants as of the last
day of the month preceding such acquisition, ajda({Ccalculations necessary to
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determine compliance with the conditions in claus@sor (vii) below. All pro formacalculations required to be made purst
to this subsection 6.04(h) shall (i) include orfipte adjustments that would be permitted or reduiseRegulation S-X, (ii) be
based on reasonably detailed written assumptiomshvadtcompany the certificate and shall be accéptalthe Administrative
Agent, and (iii) be certified by a Financial Officgs having been prepared in good faith based tgasonable assumptions;

(iv) the Borrowers shall comply with Sectiond, 6.15 and the relevant provisions of the otttam Documents with
respect to the Acquired Entity and its assets grmeaw Subsidiary formed to effect the acquisition;

(v) the Borrowers shall have delivered to tieaders consolidating financial statements for d&xmtower, each Subsidiary
and the Acquired Entity for the most recent fisgsdr and fiscal quarter prior to the date of adtjaisin question, and the
financial statements of the Acquired Entity for thest recent fiscal year prior to the date of asitjon in question audited by
an independent certified public accountamgvided thaif the total amount expended (including the valiaryy Equity
Issuance) igessthan $30,000,000 and the Cash Components for sugghsition ardessthan $15,000,000, the Borrowers shall
not be required to deliver financial statementstifier Acquired Entity audited by an independentifiedt public accountant to
the extent such statements have not been deliteitheé Borrowers or their subsidiaries;

(vi) for any acquisition in which the Cash Campnts are no more than $4,000,000 for any indalidaquisition or
$13,000,000 in the aggregate since the Closing, faf¢he Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of the Laantié® for the four
quarters ending on the last day of the most reftsrdl quarter preceding such acquisition was,thed-ixed Charge Coverage
Ratio of the Loan Parties for the 12 months endinghe last day of the month preceding such adeprisfsuch last day of the
preceding month or such last day of the precedsuglf quarter, a Measurement Dat8, would be, on gro formabasis, at
least 1.0 to 1.0 and (b) after giving effect to dloguisition, the actual Undrawn Availability absing (calculated for these
purposes without including the Inventory or Recblea of the Acquired Entity) is at least the lessdix) $5,000,000 and
(y) 10% of the sum of the amounts calculated ustiarses (i), (ii) and (v) of the definition of Fouta Amount or if the
Administrative Agent has completed its audit of Amyuired Entity with results satisfactory to thedrinistrative Agent in it:



Permitted Discretion, the actual Undrawn Availapikt closing calculated for the Borrowers andAloguired Entity is at least
$10,000,000;

(vii) for any acquisition other than an acquisitdescribed in clause (vi), (a) the Cash Comptmneray be no more than
$15,000,000 for any acquisition, no more than $a@,000 in any twelve month period, and no more $&M 000,000 since tl
Closing Date; (b) the Fixed Charge Coverage Rdtih@Loan Parties for the four quarters endinglaisé day of the most
recent fiscal quarter preceding such acquisitios,\aad the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of the Raaties for the 12 montl
ending on the last day of the month preceding swecjuisition would be, onaro formabasis, at least the higher of (x) 1.1 to
1.0 or (y) the ratio required by Section 6.10; &dafter giving effect to the acquisition, theo formaaverage daily Undrawn
Availability at closing (calculated for these pusgs without including the Inventory or Receivaliéthe Acquired Entity) for
the most recent January to June period would betgrénan $15,000,000 or, if the Administrative Aglkas completed its
audit of the Acquired Entity with results satisfagtto the Administrative Agent in its Permittedsbietion, the actual Undra
Availability at closing calculated for the Borroveesind the Acquired Entity is at least $20,000,000;
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(viii) any Indebtedness incurred in connectidthwhe acquisition, including any Acquired Debtlaany Subordinated Debt,
must be permitted under Section 6.01; and

(iX) in no event may any Equity Issuance inrgeation with any acquisition exceed a humber ofeshaf Activision comma
stock (or equivalents) equal to 40% of the issuedl@utstanding common stock of Activision on suatedand all Equity
Issuances shall be of common equity or equivalents;

(i) the Borrowers may enter into Hedging Agneats to the extent permitted in Section 6.01(d);
(k) Activision and the Subsidiaries may consuaterthe Transactions;

() the Borrowers may make investments in @esanot constituting subsidiaripsovidedthat (i) such person is in a line of business
reasonably related to the business of the Borroaadstheir Subsidiaries, (ii) prior and after giyieffect to such investment, Undra
Availability (without giving effect to clause (iV)f the definition of "Formula Amount" in Section02) is an amount of at least 10% of
the Formula Amount (without giving effect to sudhuse (iv)), (iii) after giving effect to the inv@sent and any Revolving Loans
made on the acquisition date, no Seasonal Advangetstanding and the Loan Parties are in comm@iavith the financial covenants
contained in this Agreement, (iv) the Cash Compbbéany single investment or series of relate&stments shall not exceed
$5,000,000, (v) the Cash Component(s) of all sngkstments in persons not constituting subsidiatied not exceed $15,000,000 in
any twelve month period, and (vi) all capital stackother equity interests acquired by a Borrowearyy other Loan Party shall be
pledged to the Collateral Agent.

(m) the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries makeredvance payments of royalties under licenseastrittlition agreements in the
ordinary course of business;

(n) Activision may make loans to directors amdployees in connection with the granting of stopkons or as incentive or bonus
compensation; and

(o) loans from Activision to UK Sub evidenceyglthe Intercompany Note may remain outstanding.

In no event may any Loan Party make any investrin Kaboom after the Restatement Effective Date.

SECTION 6.05 Mergers, Consolidations, Sales of Assets and iaitiquns. (a) Merge into or consolidate with any othergper, or permit
any other person to merge into or consolidate wjthr sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispds@gnoone transaction or in a series of
transactions) all or any substantial part of theetssof any Borrower (whether now owned or hereaftgquired) or any Equity Interest of any
Subsidiary, or purchase, lease or otherwise acgimi@ne transaction or a series of transactioligy any substantial part of the assets of any
other person, except that (i) the Borrowers andSutysidiary may purchase and sell Inventory indttténary course of business, (ii) the
Borrowers or any wholly owned Subsidiary may magegussitions permitted under Section 6.04 abovg,i{iat the time thereof and
immediately after giving effect thereto no EvenBafault or Default shall have occurred and be iooitg (x) any wholly owned Subsidiary
may merge into a Borrower in a transaction in whiedh Borrower is the surviving corporation andgpy wholly owned Subsidiary may
merge into or consolidate with any other wholly @drSubsidiary in a transaction in which the sungvéntity is a wholly owned Subsidiary
and no person other than a Borrower or a whollyeshvBubsidiary receives any consideratimoyidedthat if any such merger described in
this clause (y) shall involve a Domestic Subsidiging surviving entity of such merger shall be arigstic Subsidiary; and (iv) any Subsidiary
which is not a Material Subsidiary may be woundang dissolved.
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(b) Engage in any Asset Sale unless (i) sudefSale is for consideration at least 85% of wisatash, (ii) such consideration is at
least equal to the fair market value of the adseitsg sold, transferred, leased or disposed dfitié fair market value of all assets
sold, transferred, leased or disposed of pursuathiis paragraph (b) and Section 6.05 of the Exgstiredit Agreement shall not
exceed (x) $10,000,000 in any fiscal year or (0,820,000 in the aggregate and (iv) the Net Cashdeds are applied as required by
Section 2.14.

SECTION 6.06 Dividends and Distributions; Restrictions on Atlyilof Subsidiaries to Pay Dividendga) Declare or pay, directly or
indirectly, any dividend or make any other disttibn (by reduction of capital or otherwise), whathecash, property, securities or a
combination thereof, with respect to any of its Bginterests or directly or indirectly redeem, piase, retire or otherwise acquire for value
(or permit any Subsidiary to purchase or acquing)af its Equity Interests or set aside any amdomnany such purposerovided, however,
that any wholly owned Subsidiary may declare andgiagdends or make other distributions to the leotdof its Equity Interests, but other
Subsidiaries which are not wholly owned may not endividends or distributions amovided furtheithat, as long as no Default or Event of
Default shall have occurred and be continuing sulteherefrom, after the Restatement EffectiveeDAttivision Holdings may purchase or
redeem its capital stock for an aggregate amourthyif added to any funds used to redeem or pseiGonvertible Subordinated Notes
permitted under Section 6.14(b), does not exceedRépurchase Amount. In no event may any Seasahalnte be used to make any
purchase or redemption of its stock hereunder.

(b) Permit its Subsidiaries to, directly oriimdtly, create or otherwise cause or suffer tatear become effective any encumbrance
or restriction on the ability of any such Subsigito (i) pay any dividends or make any other disttions on its Equity Interests or
(i) make or repay any loans or advances to a Bagrar the parent of such Subsidiary except (wstarh encumbrances or
restrictions existing under or by reason of (A) laggble law, (B) this Agreement and the other L&otuments, (C) the Convertible
Subordinated Note Documents, (X) customary promisi@stricting subletting or assignment of anydegverning a leasehold inter
of a Borrower or a Subsidiary of a Borrower, (ystmmary provisions restricting assignment of amgament entered into by a
Borrower or a Subsidiary in the ordinary courséudiness, and (z) any holder of a Lien permitte&bégtion 6.02 may restrict the
transfer of the asset or assets subject thereto.

SECTION 6.07 Transactions with Affiliates.Except for transactions by or among Loan Par§iel$,or transfer any property or assets tc
purchase or acquire any property or assets fromth@rwise engage in any other transactions withcd its Affiliates, except that:

(a) a Borrower or any Subsidiary may engageniy of the foregoing transactions in the ordinaryrse of business at prices and on
terms and conditions not less favorable to suchid®egr or such Subsidiary than could be obtainedroarm's-length basis from
unrelated third parties;

(b) dividends may be paid to the extent prodigieSection 6.06;

(c) loans may be made and other transactiolysb@&ntered into between and among the BorrowesSubsidiaries and their
respective Affiliates to the extent permitted byt®s 6.01 and 6.04;

(d) a Borrower or any Subsidiary may pay reabbsncompensation to officers and directors indftBnary course of business.
SECTION 6.08. [Intentionally omitted].

SECTION 6.09 Interest Coverage RatioPermit the Interest Coverage Ratio for (a) tlensonth period ending September 30, 1999,
(b) the nine-month period ending December 31, 189@) any
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period of four consecutive fiscal quarters theesainh each case taken as one accounting peridédeon the last day of the applicable fiscal
quarter to be less than 5.00 to 1.00 for the Loantié on a consolidated basis.

SECTION 6.10 Fixed Charge Coverage RatioPermit the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of thenldarties on a consolidated basis for
any period of four consecutive fiscal quartersantecase taken as one accounting period, endittgedast day of any fiscal quarter ending
during any period set forth below to be less th&ntd 1.0:

SECTION 6.11. [Intentionally omitted]
SECTION 6.12. [Intentionally omitted]

SECTION 6.1: Minimum Tangible Net Wortl (a) Permit Tangible Net Worth of the Loan Partim a consolidated basis at any datt



forth below to be less than the amount set forihosjie such date:

Fiscal Quarter Amount

June 30, 200 $ 36,000,00
September 30, 20( $ 40,000,00
December 31, 20C $ 47,000,00
March 31, 200: $ 52,000,00
June 30, 200 $ 55,000,00
September 30, 20( $ 60,000,00
December 31, 20C $ 70,000,00
March 31, 200: $ 78,000,00

SECTION 6.14 Limitation on Modifications of Indebtedness; Muaditions of Certificate of Incorporation, By-lawsd Certain Other
Agreements, et (a) Amend or modify, or permit the amendmentadification of, any provision of existing Indebtesss or of any
agreement (including any purchase agreement, inderiban agreement or security agreement) rel#iegeto other than any amendments or
modifications to Indebtedness which do not in amywaterially adversely affect the interests ofltbaders, (b) make (or give any notice in
respect thereof) any voluntary or optional paynwrirepayment on or redemption or acquisition flue of, or any prepayment or
redemption as a result of any asset sale, changentifol or similar event of, any Convertible Sutioated Notes, any Subordinated Debt, the
Intercompany Note or any other Indebtedness thextpsessly subordinated to the Obligatiopsovided, howevethat, as long as no Default
or Event of Default shall have occurred and beioairig or shall result therefrom, after the Restetat Effective Date Activision Holdings
may redeem or purchase the Convertible Subordindd¢els for an aggregate amount which, if addedyofands used to redeem or purchase
capital stock of Activision Holdings permitted umd@ection 6.06(a) hereof, does not exceed the Repse Amount, but no Seasonal
Advance may be used for such redemption or pur¢ti@samend or modify, or permit the amendment odification of, the Merger
Agreement or any of the operating agreements ahtete in connection therewith or any tax shariggeement, in each case except for
amendments or modifications which are not in any a@verse in any material respect to the interastise Lenders or (d) amend, modify or
change its Certificate of Incorporation (includimg the filing or modification of any certificate designation) or By-laws, or any agreement
entered into by it, with respect to its Equity etsts (including any shareholders' agreement)niarénto any new agreement with respect to
its Equity Interests, other than any amendmentglifications or changes pursuant to this clausef{dny such new agreements pursuant to
this clause (d) which do not in any way materialtiversely affect the interests of the Lenders.

SECTION 6.15 Limitation on Creation of SubsidiariesEstablish or create any additional Subsidiapesyidedthat the Borrowers may
establish or create one or more Subsidiaries of the
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Borrowers so long as (a) 100% of the Equity Intesre$ any new Domestic Subsidiary owned by a LoartyRor all the Equity Interests of
any new Foreign Subsidiary that is owned by anynLBarty, except that not more than 65% of the goiquity Interests of any such Foreign
Subsidiary shall be required to be so pledgedp@nuthe creation or establishment of any such nasifiary pledged and delivered to the
Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Securedtidarunder the Pledge Agreement and (b) upon #wettion or establishment of any such new
Domestic Subsidiary such Domestic Subsidiary besomgarty to the applicable Security Documentsooedance with Section 5.12 and the
other Loan Documents.

SECTION 6.16 Business. With respect to Activision Holdings, engage ity &musiness other than owning Equity Interests itivAgion
and Kaboom and, subject to compliance with Sedid2 hereof, such other Subsidiaries as may benaegh from time to time and with
respect to Activision and other Subsidiaries, eegairectly or indirectly) in any business otheartithe businesses in which Activision anc
Subsidiaries are engaged on the Closing Date d&t btisinesses reasonably related thereto.

SECTION 6.17 Fiscal Year; Accounting Change<Change its fiscal year end to a date other tharcM31 or make any change in
accounting treatment and reporting practices exagpéquired by GAAP.

SECTION 6.18 Minimum Undrawn Availability. Other than during the period from August 15 tosdlober 15 in each year, permit
Undrawn Availability at any time to be less thanaanount equal to 5% of the Formula Amount.

ARTICLE VII

Events of Default
In case of the happening of any of the follogv@vents (‘'Events of Default):

(a) any representation or warranty made or @gemmade in or in connection with any Loan Docunagrthe borrowings or issuanc



of Letters of Credit hereunder, or any represemativarranty, statement or information containedrig report, certificate, financial
statement or other instrument furnished in conoeatiith or pursuant to any Loan Document, shaliprto have been false or
misleading in any material respect when so madanée made or furnished;

(b) default shall be made in the payment of riycipal of any Loan or the reimbursement withprect to any L/C Disbursement
when and as the same shall become due and payédi@ther at the due date thereof or at a date fimedrepayment thereof or by
acceleration thereof or otherwise;

(c) default shall be made in the payment of iatgrest on any Loan or any Fee or L/C Disbursdroeany other amount (other th
an amount referred to in (b) above) due under agnlDocument, when and as the same shall becomandugayable, and such
default shall continue unremedied for a periochoéé¢ Business Days;

(d) default shall be made in the due observangerformance by any Borrowers or any Subsididirgny covenant, condition or
agreement contained in Section 5.01(a), 5.05 @& &r0n Article VI;

(e) default shall be made in the due observanperformance by any Borrower or any SubsidiarigyoUK Sub in any UK Charge
Document of any covenant, condition or agreementained in any Loan Document (other than thoseiipddn (b), (c) or (d) above¢
and such default shall continue unremedied forrngef 30 days;

(H any Loan Party or UK Sub shall (i) fail pay any principal or interest, regardless of amodune in respect of any Indebtedness
in a principal amount in excess of $2,000,000, wéreth as the same shall become due and payablg,fail o observe or perform
any other term,
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covenant, condition or agreement contained in gmgement or instrument evidencing or governingsuch Indebtedness if the effi
of any failure referred to in this clause (ii) ssdause, or to permit the holder or holders of dndebtedness or a trustee on its or their
behalf (with or without the giving of notice, theplse of time or both) to cause, such Indebtediedssdome due prior to its stated
maturity;

(g) an involuntary proceeding shall be commdrarean involuntary petition shall be filed in aucbof competent jurisdiction
seeking (i) relief in respect of any Borrower oy &ubsidiary, or of a substantial part of the proper assets of any Borrower or a
Subsidiary, under Title 11 of the United States €@ now constituted or hereafter amended, ootrer Federal, state or foreign
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar J§iy the appointment of a receiver, trustee, oditn, sequestrator, conservator or
similar official for any Borrower or any Subsidiaoy for a substantial part of the property or essétany Borrower or a Subsidiary or
(iii) the winding-up or liquidation of any Borrower any Subsidiary; and such proceeding or pet#iuall continue undismissed for
60 days or an order or decree approving or ordenmgof the foregoing shall be entered;

(h) any Borrower or any Subsidiary shall (ijwdarily commence any proceeding or file any patitseeking relief under Title 11
the United States Code, as now constituted or ftereamended, or any other Federal, state or foreamkruptcy, insolvency,
receivership or similar law, (i) consent to thetitution of, or fail to contest in a timely andpaippriate manner, any proceeding or the
filing of any petition described in (g) above, X@ipply for or consent to the appointment of a ireme trustee, custodian, sequestrator,
conservator or similar official for any Borrower any Subsidiary or for a substantial part of thaperty or assets of any Borrower or
any Subsidiary, (iv) file an answer admitting thaterial allegations of a petition filed againsniany such proceeding, (v) make a
general assignment for the benefit of creditorg,lfgcome unable, admit in writing its inability fail generally to pay its debts as they
become due or (vii) take any action for the purpafseffecting any of the foregoing;

(i) one or more judgments for the payment ohey in an aggregate amount in excess of $250,806rwered against any
Borrower, any Loan Party or any combination thereafess the same shall be contested in good fhglBorrowers have established
reserves reasonably satisfactory to the Adminisgatgent and enforcement shall be effectively sthysatisfied, or discharged within
forty (40) days or any action shall be legally taks a judgment creditor to levy upon assets opgriges of the Borrowers or any
Loan Party to enforce any such judgment;

()) an ERISA Event shall have occurred thathie opinion of the Required Lenders, when takgether with all other such ERISA
Events, could reasonably be expected to resulaliity of the Borrowers and their ERISA Affiliateén an aggregate amount
exceeding $2,000,000;

(k) any security interest purported to be addty any Security Document or UK Charge Documball €ease to be, or shall be
asserted by any Borrowers or any other Loan Partyanbe, a valid, perfected, first priority (ext@g otherwise expressly provided in
this Agreement or such Security Document secunitgrest in the securities, assets or propertiesredvthereby, except to the extent
that any such loss of perfection or priority resditbom the failure of the Collateral Agent to maintpossession of certificates
representing securities pledged under the Pledgeehgent and except to the extent that such lassvisred by a lender's tit



insurance policy and the related insurer promgitigrauch loss shall have acknowledged in writimat such loss is covered by such
title insurance policy;

() any of the Obligations shall cease to tituie "Senior Indebtedness" under and as defingde Convertible Subordinated
Note Indenture, any Subordinated Debt, the Intepaomy Note or any Master Note;
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(m) there shall have occurred a Change in @gntr

(n) issuance of a notice of Lien, levy, assesginjunction or attachment against a materialipo of the property of any Loan
Party or UK Sub, or any portion of the Collatefal be seized or taken by any Governmental Agemdie title or right of any Loan
Party which is the owner of any material portionttee Collateral shall have become the subjectenaftany litigation which, in the
opinion of the Required Lenders, could reasonablgipected upon final determination, to resulhmimpairment or loss of the
security provided by the Security Documents;

(o) termination (other than as a result of Asget Sale, merger or liquidation of a Subsidiseynmitted hereunder) or breach of any
Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement, or any Subsidiailyr&@tor attempts to terminate, challenge the ialad, or its liability under, an
such Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement or UK Sub atteto challenge the validity of, or its liabiliynder the Intercompany Note or
any UK Charge Document;

then, and in every such event (other than an evghtrespect to any Borrower described in paragi@plor (h) above), and at any time
thereafter during the continuance of such eveptAtiministrative Agent may, and at the requeshefRequired Lenders shall, by notice to
the Borrowing Agent, take either or both of thddwling actions, at the same or different timestgiminate forthwith the Commitments and
(i) declare the Loans then outstanding to be foitth due and payable in whole or in part, whereugi@nprincipal of the Loans so declared to
be due and payable, together with accrued intéieston and any unpaid accrued Fees and all otiiélities of the Borrowers accrued
hereunder and under any other Loan Document, Bhatime forthwith due and payable, without presentntemand, protest or any other
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby exphgsgived by the Borrowers, anything contained heog in any other Loan Document to
contrary notwithstanding; and in any event wittpexs to any Borrower described in paragraph (dhpabove, the Commitments shall
automatically terminate and the principal of theahs then outstanding, together with accrued inténeseon and any unpaid accrued Fees
and all other liabilities of the Borrowers accruesteunder and under any other Loan Document, ahdmatically become due and payable,
without presentment, demand, protest or any otbécenof any kind, all of which are hereby exprgsshived by the Borrowers, anything
contained herein or in any other Loan Documenhéodontrary notwithstanding.

The Administrative Agent shall have the righits sole discretion to determine which rightsenis, security interests or remedies the
Administrative Agent may at any time pursue, rdliistp, subordinate, or modify or to take any othetioam with respect thereto and such
determination will not in any way modify or affeanty of the Administrative Agent's or Collateral Age or Lenders' rights hereunder.

ARTICLE VIII

The Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent

In order to expedite the transactions contetaglay this Agreement, PNC Bank, National Assoocrgtis hereby appointed to act as
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent on behadlthe Lenders and the Issuing Bank (for purpadehis Article VIII, the Administrative
Agent and the Collateral Agent are referred toemtilely as the Agents'). Each of the Lenders and each assignee of astylsender,
hereby irrevocably authorizes the Agents to takad auctions on behalf of such Lender or assignékeotssuing Bank and to exercise such
powers as are specifically delegated to the Ageythe terms and provisions hereof and of the dtban Documents, together with such
actions and powers as are reasonably incidentattheAs to any matters not expressly provideddfothis Agreement (including without
limitation, collection of the Obligations) the Agsrshall not be required to exercise any discratiotake any action, but shall be required to
act or to refrain from
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acting (and shall be fully protected in so actimgedraining from acting) upon the instructionstioé Required Lenders (or as otherwise
required by Section 9.08(b)), and such instructi| be bindingprovided, however, that the Agents shall not be required to take any
action which exposes either of them to liabilitynich is contrary to this Agreement or the otheah Documents or applicable law unless
the Agents are furnished with an indemnificatioas@nably satisfactory to each of them with respemeto. The Administrative Agent is
hereby expressly authorized by the Lenders antsthieing Bank, without hereby limiting any impliedthority, (a) to receive on behalf of the
Lenders and the Issuing Bank all payments of goaladf and interest on the Loans, all paymentgapect of L/C Disbursements and all o



amounts due to the Lenders hereunder, and promaptlistribute to each Lender or the Issuing Baslpibper share of each payment so
received; (b) to give notice on behalf of eachhef tenders to the Borrowers of any Event of Defgpicified in this Agreement of which the
Administrative Agent has actual knowledge acquiredonnection with its agency hereunder; and (@jistribute to each Lender copies of all
notices, financial statements and other materiglisered by the Borrowers or any other Loan Patigspant to this Agreement or the other
Loan Documents as received by the AdministrativemtgWithout limiting the generality of the foreggi the Agents are hereby expressly
authorized to execute any and all documents (imatuceleases) with respect to the Collateral aeditihts of the Secured Parties with res
thereto, as contemplated by and in accordancethatiprovisions of this Agreement and the Securibginents.

Agents shall have no duties or responsibiligiesept those expressly set forth in the Loan Danim Neither the Agents nor any of their
respective directors, officers, employees or agsimédl be liable as such for any action taken oittechby any of them except for its or his
own gross negligence or willful misconduct, or beponsible for any statement, warranty or reprasientherein or in any Loan Document
the contents of any document delivered in connedi&rewith, or be required to ascertain or to makeinquiry concerning the performance
or observance by the Borrowers or any other Loaty®é any of the terms, conditions, covenantsgreaments contained in any Loan
Document. The Agents shall not be responsiblead #nders for the due execution, genuineness,ityaleghforceability or effectiveness of
this Agreement or any other Loan Documents, instmisior agreements. The Agents shall not be umgeolaligation to any Lender to
ascertain or to inquire as to the observance dopeance of any of the agreements contained inpoditions of, this Agreement or any of
other Loan Documents, or to inspect the propertiesks or records of the Borrowers or any othemlLBarty. The duties of the Agents as
respects the Loans to the Borrowers shall be mécdlzand administrative in nature; the Agents shatlhave by reason of this Agreement or
any other Loan Document a fiduciary relationshipaspect of any Lender; and nothing in this Agresimexpressed or implied, is intendec
or shall be so construed as to impose upon the tAgany obligations in respect of this Agreemenegt@s expressly set forth herein.

The Agents shall in all cases be fully protddteacting, or refraining from acting, in accordarwith written instructions signed by the
Required Lenders (or as otherwise required by 8&e&i08(b)) and, except as otherwise specificalyioed herein, such instructions and .
action or inaction pursuant thereto shall be bigdin all the Lenders. Each Agent shall, in the absef actual knowledge to the contrary, be
entitled to rely on any instrument or documentédaedd by it in good faith to be genuine and coreext to have been signed or sent by the
proper person or persons. Neither the Agents npoétheir respective directors, officers, employee agents shall have any responsibilit
the Borrowers or any other Loan Party on accouth@failure of or delay in performance or breagtaby Lender or the Issuing Bank of any
of its obligations hereunder or to any Lender @rlgsuing Bank on account of the failure of or gefaperformance or breach by any other
Lender or the Issuing Bank or the Borrowers or atiner Loan Party of any of their respective obligag hereunder or under any other Loan
Document or in connection herewith or therewithcliEaf the Agents may execute any and all dutiesurater by or through agents or
employees and shall be entitled to rely upon thecadf legal counsel selected by it with respedilt matters arising hereunder and shall not
be liable for any action taken or suffered in géaith by it in
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accordance with the advice of such counsel antetine "Lender" or any similar term shall, unless toatext clearly otherwise indicates,
include the Administrative Agent and the Collatekgkent in its individual capacity as a Lender.

The Agents shall have no duty or responsihigfther initially or on a continuing basis, to pige any Lender with any credit or other
information with respect thereto, whether comini iits possession before making of the Loans angttime or times thereafter except as
shall be provided by the Borrowers pursuant tati¢hms of this Agreement. The Agents shall not lspaasible to any Lender for any recitals,
statements, information, representations or wagamterein or in any agreement, document, certiioa a statement delivered in connection
herewith or for the execution, effectiveness, geeness, validity, enforceability, collectibility sufficiency of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document, or of the financial condition of Bowers, or be required to make any inquiry conceymither the performance or
observance of any of the terms, provisions or danth of this Agreement, the other Loan Documente financial condition of the
Borrowers or any of its subsidiaries, or the existeof any Event of Default or any Default.

Either Agent may resign on sixty (60) days'tien notice to each of the Lenders and the Borrewaad upon such resignation, the Required
Lenders will promptly designate a successor Adrriaiive Agent or Collateral Agent, as the case lmyreasonably satisfactory to the
Borrowers.

Any such successor Administrative Agent or &eital shall succeed to the rights, powers aneswti the Administrative Agent or
Collateral Agent, and the term "the AdministratAgent” or "the Collateral Agent" shall mean suchaassor Agent effective upon its
appointment, and the former Agent's rights, povasic duties as Agent shall be terminated, withoytather or further act or deed on the part
of such former Agent. After any Agent's resignatitre provisions of this Article VIII shall inure its benefit as to any actions taken or
omitted to be taken by it while it was an Agent enthis Agreement.

If either Agent shall request instructions fraenders with respect to any act or action (inalgdilure to act) in connection with this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, such Ageait ble entitled to refrain from such act or takingch action unless and until it shall
have received instructions from the Required Lesidend neither Agent shall incur liability to angrpon by reason of so refraining. Without
limiting the foregoing, Lenders shall not have aight of action whatsoever against either Agerna assult of its acting or refraining from
acting hereunder in accordance with the instrustimiithe Required Lendel



The Administrative Agent shall be entitled ¢yt and shall be fully protected in relying, upgmy note, writing, resolution, notice,
statement, certificate, telex, teletype or teleeopiessage, cablegram, order or other documeertephione message believed by it to be
genuine and correct and to have been signed, semide by the proper person or entity, and, witipeet to all legal matters pertaining to -
Agreement and the Loan Documents and its dutiesulneler, upon advice of counsel selected by it. Agents may employ agents and
attorneys-in-fact and shall not be liable for tlegadilt or misconduct of any such agents or att@reyfact selected by the applicable Agent
with reasonable care.

No Agent shall be deemed to have knowledgeotice of the occurrence of any Default or EvenbDefault hereunder or under the other
Loan Documents, unless it has received notice frdrander or the Borrowers referring to this Agreetra the other Loan Documents,
describing such Default or Event of Default andistathat such notice is a "notice of default"tte event that an Agent receives such a
notice, it shall give notice thereof to the Lenddnse Agents shall take such action with respesutth Default or Event of Default as shall be
reasonably directed by the Required Lendgrgyided, that, unless and until the Agents shall have receiveth slirections, the Agents may
(but shall not be obligated to) take such actioreérain from taking such action, with respecstwh Default or Event of Default as it shall
deem advisable in the best interests of Lenders.
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The Lenders hereby acknowledge that neithenfgeall be under any duty to take any discretipaation permitted to be taken by it
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement unieskall be requested in writing to do so by tregRred Lenders.

With respect to the Loans made by it hereunsleh Agent in its individual capacity and not agAt shall have the same rights and po
as any other Lender and may exercise the sameagtttit were not an Agent, and the Agents and tffiliates may accept deposits from,
lend money to and generally engage in any kindusfriess with the Borrowers or any Subsidiary oeptfiliate thereof as if it were not an
Agent.

Each Lender agrees (a) to reimburse the Agentdemand, in the amount of its pro rata sharsedban the aggregate amount of its
outstanding Revolving Credit Commitments hereundégny expenses incurred for the benefit of thedezs by the Agents, including
counsel fees and compensation of agents and engs@gid for services rendered on behalf of the em)dhat shall not have been
reimbursed by the Borrowers and (b) to indemnifgt hold harmless each Agent and any of its directafficers, employees or agents, on
demand, in the amount of such pro rata share, &nathagainst any and all liabilities, taxes, oblyad, losses, damages, penalties, actions,
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disburserokatsy kind or nature whatsoever that may be imgase incurred by or asserted again
in its capacity as Agent or any of them in any welgting to or arising out of this Agreement or anlger Loan Document or any action taken
or omitted by it or any of them under this Agreemanany other Loan Document, to the extent theesainall not have been reimbursed by
the Borrowers or any other Loan Pagtyovidedthat no Lender shall be liable to an Agent or amghsother indemnified person for any
portion of such liabilities, obligations, losseanthges, penalties, actions, judgments, suits,,@gtenses or disbursements that are
determined by a court of competent jurisdictiorfibgl and nonappealable judgment to have resutmd the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of such Agent or any of its directofficers, employees or agents. Each Revolving Cieglitder agrees to reimburse the Issuing
Bank and its directors, employees and agents,dh ease, to the same extent and subject to the l§aitations as provided above for the
Agents.

Each Lender acknowledges that it has, indep#tydand without reliance upon the Agents or arheotLender and based on such
documents and information as it has deemed appteprade its own credit analysis and decisiomterénto this Agreement. Each Lender
also acknowledges that it will, independently anthaut reliance upon the Agents or any other Lerathet based on such documents and
information as it shall from time to time deem ayiate, continue to make its own decisions inrtglar not taking action under or based
upon this Agreement or any other Loan Document,ratated agreement or any document furnished hdewr thereunder.

ARTICLE IX

Miscellaneous

SECTION 9.01 Notices. Notices and other communications provided foehmeshall be in writing and shall be delivered land or
overnight courier service, mailed by certified egistered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

(a) if to the Borrowers or the Borrowing Agetat Activision, Inc. at 3100 Ocean Park Blvd., Saktonica, California 90405,
Attention of Chief Financial Officer (Telecopy N810-255-2191);

(b) if to the Administrative Agent, to PNC Bari¥ational Association, Two Tower Center Boulevadst Brunswick, New Jersey
08816, Attention of Ryan Peak (Telecopy No. 732-2305) with a copy to PNC Bank, National Associafi@ North Lake Ave.,
Suite 940, Pasadena, California 91109, AttentioAlbért Perez (Telecopy No. 626-432-4589); and

69



(c) if to a Lender, to it at its address (det@py number) set forth on Schedule 2.01 or inAbsignment and Acceptance pursuant
to which such Lender shall have become a partytbere

Any party may change the directions for delvef notices hereunder by notice delivered in atance with this Section 9.01. All notices
and other communications given to any party hereaxcordance with the provisions of this Agreensddll be deemed to have been given
on the date of receipt if delivered by hand or aiggnt courier service or sent by telecopy or ondate five Business Days after dispatch by
certified or registered mail if mailed, in eachealivered, sent or mailed (properly addresseduth party as provided in this Section 9.01
or in accordance with the latest unrevoked directiom such party given in accordance with thist®ac9.01.

SECTION 9.02 Survival of AgreementAll covenants, agreements, representations amcnties made by the Borrowers herein and in
the certificates or other instruments preparedetivered in connection with or pursuant to this égment or any other Loan Document shall
be considered to have been relied upon by the leradel the Issuing Bank and shall survive the ntakinthe Lenders of the Loans and the
issuance of Letters of Credit by the Issuing Baagardless of any investigation made by the Lendetse Issuing Bank or on their behalf,
and shall continue in full force and effect as l@sgthe principal of or any accrued interest onlamgn or any Fee or any other amount
payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Do is outstanding and unpaid or any Letter ofi€@iie outstanding and so long as the
Commitments have not been terminated. The prowsidrSections 2.16, 2.18, 2.19, 2.23 and 9.05 sbalhin operative and in full force and
effect regardless of the expiration of the ternthid Agreement, the consummation of the transasttmmtemplated hereby, the repayment of
any of the Loans, the expiration of the Commitmetiits expiration of any Letter of Credit, the indély or unenforceability of any term or
provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Doeuat)or any investigation made by or on behalhefAdministrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent, any Lender or the Issuing Bank.

SECTION 9.03 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall become effective when itldfave been executed by the Borrowers and the
Administrative Agent and when the Administrativeeig shall have received counterparts hereof wiitten taken together, bear the
signatures of each of the other parties heretottaer@after shall be binding upon and inure tobtbeefit of the parties hereto and their
respective permitted successors and assigns.

SECTION 9.04 Successors and Assignga) Whenever in this Agreement any of the partiereto is referred to, such reference shall be
deemed to include the permitted successors anginassi such party; and all covenants, promisesagngements by or on behalf of the
Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, the IssuinghBar the Lenders that are contained in this Agearshall bind and inure to the benefit
of their respective successors and assigns.

(b) Each Lender may assign to one or more agsigall or a portion of its interests, rights abtigations under this Agreement
(including all or a portion of its Commitment argetLoans at the time owing to ifjfovided, however, that (i) except in the case of
an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate or Reldtand of such Lender, (x) the Borrowers and theninistrative Agent (and, in the
case of any assignment of a Revolving Credit Comeiit, the Issuing Bank) must give their prior veriticonsent to such assignment
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheldedayed)provided, however, that the consent of the Borrowers shall not be
required to any such assignment during the contioei@f any Event of Default described in subsediipror (h) of Article VII, and
(y) the amount of the Commitment of the assigniegder subject to each such assignment (determietithe date the Assignment
and Acceptance with respect to such assignmemiseded to the Administrative Agent) shall notlbss than $5,000,000 (or, if less,
the entire remaining amount of such Lender's Comanitt) or such lesser amount as the Borrowers an@dministrative Agent may
from time to time agree (such agreement to be csnaly evidenced by the execution of the relatedignment and Acceptance by
all the
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parties thereto), (ii) the parties to each sucigassent shall execute and deliver to the AdmintateaAgent an Assignment and
Acceptance, together (except in the case of anigrasent to an Affiliate or a Related Fund) withragessing and recordation fee of
$3,500 and (iii) the assignee, if it shall not beeader, shall deliver to the Administrative Agamt Administrative Questionnaire.
Upon acceptance and recording pursuant to parageai this Section 9.04, from and after the effecdate specified in each
Assignment and Acceptance, (A) the assignee thdexishall be a party hereto and, to the extertiefriterest assigned by such
Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights andatidins of a Lender under this Agreement and (B)assigning Lender thereunder
shall, to the extent of the interest assigned loy Assignment and Acceptance, be released froabltgations under this Agreement
(and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptameering all or the remaining portion of an assignirender's rights and obligations
under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease tofdaety hereto but shall continue to be entiteethe benefits of Sections 2.14, 2
2.20 and 9.05, as well as to any Fees accruetsfaccount and not yet paid).

(c) By executing and delivering an Assignmeart Acceptance, the assigning Lender thereundettendssignee thereunder shal
deemed to confirm to and agree with each othettlamdther parties hereto as follows: (i) such assgylLender warrants that it is the
legal and beneficial owner of the interest beirgjgreed thereby free and clear of any adverse daidnthat its Revolving Credit
Commitment, and the outstanding balances of itoRég Loans, in each case without giving effecassignments thereof which
have not become effective, are as set forth in sissignment and Acceptance, (i) except as set forfi) above, such assignil



Lender makes no representation or warranty andrassno responsibility with respect to any states)emérranties or representations
made in or in connection with this Agreement, @ éxecution, legality, validity, enforceability,rggneness, sufficiency or value of
this Agreement, any other Loan Document or anyratisgrument or document furnished pursuant he@tthe financial condition of
the Borrowers or any Subsidiary or the performarcebservance by the Borrowers or any Subsidiagngfof its obligations under
this Agreement, any other Loan Document or anyratiegrument or document furnished pursuant he(@tpsuch assignee represe
and warrants that it is legally authorized to entéw such Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) suclgase confirms that it has received
a copy of this Agreement, together with copieshefmost recent financial statements referred ®eiction 3.05(a) or delivered
pursuant to Section 5.04 and such other documedtinformation as it has deemed appropriate to nitak®wvn credit analysis and
decision to enter into such Assignment and Acceggafv) such assignee will independently and withieliance upon the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, suckigaing Lender or any other Lender and based oh dacuments and information
as it shall deem appropriate at the time, conttoumake its own credit decisions in taking or raiing action under this Agreement;
(vi) such assignee appoints and authorizes the Aidtrative Agent and the Collateral Agent to taldetsaction as agent on its behalf
and to exercise such powers under this Agreemesuteagdelegated to the Administrative Agent andGb#ateral Agent, respectively,
by the terms hereof, together with such powerg@asemsonably incidental thereto; and (vii) sudigree agrees that it will perform
accordance with their terms all the obligationschhby the terms of this Agreement are requirecetpérformed by it as a Lender.

(d) The Administrative Agent, acting for thisrpose as an agent of the Borrowers, shall maiatiaime of its offices a copy of each
Assignment and Acceptance delivered to it and stegfor the recordation of the names and addsesfthe Lenders, and the
Commitment of, and principal amount of the Loansngato, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereofi ime to time (the Registe
"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusivd the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, teguing Bank, the Collateral Agent
and the Lenders may treat each person whose nammeoisled in the Register pursuant to the termsdfiers a Lender hereunder fol
purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding ndtictne contrary. The Register
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shall be available for inspection by the Borrowds, Issuing Bank, the Collateral Agent and anydseznat any reasonable time and
from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(e) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assigmt and Acceptance executed by an assigning Lexmdkan assignee, an
Administrative Questionnaire completed in respd¢he assignee (unless the assignee shall alreadyllender hereunder), the
processing and recordation fee referred to in papdg(b) above and, if required, the written congénhe Borrowers, the Issuing
Bank and the Administrative Agent to such assigrntee Administrative Agent shall (i) accept sucksfgnment and Acceptance,
(i) record the information contained therein i tRegister and (iii) give prompt notice thereoftte Lenders and the Issuing Bank.
assignment shall be effective unless it has besorded in the Register as provided in this pardg(ajp.

() Each Lender may without the consent ofBoerowers, the Issuing Bank or the Administrathgent sell participations to one
more banks or other entities in all or a portionit®tights and obligations under this Agreementl(iding all or a portion of its
Commitment and the Loans owing to fiypvided, however, that (i) such Lender's obligations under thisegnent shall remain
unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solelpoesible to the other parties hereto for the peréorce of such obligations, (jii) the
participating banks or other entities shall beteadtito the benefit of the cost protection provisi@ontained in Sections 2.16 and 2.18
to the same extent as if they were Lenders andi{@Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, the IsguBank and the Lenders shall
continue to deal solely and directly with such Lenih connection with such Lender's rights andgailons under this Agreement, ¢
such Lender shall retain the sole right to enfdineeobligations of the Borrowers relating to theahs or L/C Disbursements and to
approve any amendment, modification or waiver of provision of this Agreement (other than amendmmemiodifications or waivers
decreasing any fees payable hereunder or the ambprihcipal of or the rate at which interest &ypble on the Loans, extending any
scheduled principal payment date or date fixedtferpayment of interest on the Loans, increasinextending the Commitments or
releasing any Subsidiary Guarantor or all or arstantial part of the Collateral).

(g) Any Lender or participant may, in conneatigith any assignment or participation or propoassignment or participation
pursuant to this Section 9.04, disclose to thegagsi or participant or proposed assignee or paatitiany information relating to the
Borrowers furnished to such Lender by or on bebfthe Borrowersprovidedthat, prior to any such disclosure of information
designated by the Borrowers as confidential, each assignee or participant or proposed assignparticipant shall execute an
agreement whereby such assignee or participartarale (subject to customary exceptions) to pvestire confidentiality of such
confidential information on terms no less restvietthan those applicable to the Lenders pursuaBéttion 9.16.

(h) Any Lender may at any time assign all oy paortion of its rights under this Agreement towgecextensions of credit to such
Lender or in support of obligations owed by suchder;providedthat no such assignment shall release a Lenderdrynof its
obligations hereunder or substitute any such assifpr such Lender as a party hereto.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contragntained herein, any Lender (&tanting Lendel’) may grant to a special purpose
funding vehicle (an SPC"), identified as such in writing from time to tinley the Granting Lender to the Administrative Agand
the Borrowers, the option to provide to the Borrosval or any part of any Loan that such Grantiegder would otherwise be
obligated to make to the Borrowers pursuant to Algigeementprovidedthat (i) nothing herein shall constitute a committigy any



SPC to make any Loan and (ii) if an SPC electdmeiercise such option or otherwise fails to pdevall or any part of such Loan,
Granting Lender shall be obligated to make sucmlmasuant to the terms hereof. The making
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of a Loan by an SPC hereunder shall utilize the @a@ment of the Granting Lender to the same extamd, as if, such Loan were m:
by such Granting Lender. Each party hereto hergbges that no SPC shall be liable for any indemmitsimilar payment obligation
under this Agreement (all liability for which sha#imain with the Granting Lender). In furtherané¢he foregoing, each party hereto
hereby agrees (which agreement shall survive tineitation of this Agreement) that, prior to theel#iat is one year and one day ¢
the payment in full of all outstanding commerciappr or other senior indebtedness of any SPCJlihet institute against, or join any
other person in instituting against, such SPC amkhuptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvesrdiquidation proceedings under
the laws of the United States or any State thetaaddition, notwithstanding anything to the camrcontained in this Section 9.04,
any SPC may (i) with notice to, but without thegpnivritten consent of, the Borrowers and the Adstiaitive Agent and without
paying any processing fee therefore, assign almartion of its interests in any Loans to the @ranlLender or to any financial
institutions (consented to by the Borrowers and Aisirative Agent) providing liquidity and/or creédiupport to or for the account of
such SPC to support the funding or maintenanceoahk and (ii) disclose on a confidential basis mmypublic information relating 1
its Loans to any rating agency, commercial papateder provider of any surety, guarantee or creditquidity enhancement to such
SPC.

() No Borrower shall assign or delegate ahifsorights or duties hereunder without the prgitten consent of the Administrative
Agent, the Issuing Bank and each Lender, and @eyated assignment without such consent shall bend void.

(k) In the event that Standard & Poor's RatiBgsup, Moody's Investors Service, Inc., and ThamfsBankWatch (or
InsuranceWatch Ratings Service, in the case of éenithat are insurance companies (or Best's Inse@eports, if such insurance
company is not rated by Insurance Watch Ratinggi&®) shall, after the date that any Lender becoaBevolving Credit Lender,
downgrade the long-term certificate deposit ratiogsuch Lender, and the resulting ratings shabdélew BBB-, Baa3 and C (or BB,
in the case of a Lender that is an insurance coyn(marB, in the case of an insurance company rtetirby InsuranceWatch Ratings
Service)), then the Issuing Bank shall have thetyigut not the obligation, at its own expense,rupotice to such Lender and the
Administrative Agent, to replace (or to request Bugrowers to use their reasonable efforts to assihe replacement of) such Lent
with an assignee (in accordance with and subjeitte¢@estrictions contained in paragraph (b) abome)d such Lender hereby agree
transfer and assign without recourse (in accordariiteand subject to the restrictions containeganagraph (b) above) all its
interests, rights and obligations in respect oRivolving Credit Commitment to such assigreyided, however, that (i) no such
assignment shall conflict with any law, rule anduiation or order of any Governmental Authority gipthe Issuing Bank or such
assignee, as the case may be, shall pay to sudetenimmediately available funds on the dateunhsassignment the principal of
and interest accrued to the date of payment ohdbaes made by such Lender hereunder and all otheuats accrued for such
Lender's account or owed to it hereunder.

SECTION 9.05 Expenses; Indemnity(a) The Borrowers jointly and severally agrepay all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, and theuing Bank in connection with the syndicatiorhe credit facilities provided for herein
and the preparation and administration of this &grent and the other Loan Documents or in conneetithany amendments, modifications
or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof (thiee or not the transactions hereby or therebyeroptated shall be consummated) or
incurred by the Administrative Agent, the Collatekgent or any Lender in connection with the enéanent or protection of its rights in
connection with this Agreement and the other Loagunents or in connection with the Loans made tteke of Credit issued hereunder,
including the fees, charges and disbursementswfsa for the Administrative Agent and the Collatekgent, and, in connection with any
such

73

enforcement or protection, the fees, charges asftidiements of any other counsel for the AdmirtisraAgent, the Collateral Agent or any
Lender.

(b) The Borrowers jointly and severally agreéndemnify the Administrative Agent, the Collatefaent, each Lender and the
Issuing Bank, each Affiliate of any of the foreggipersons and each of their respective directdiisecs, trustees, employees and
agents (each such person being called ladémniteé’) against, and to hold each Indemnitee harmless fany and all losses, clain
damages, liabilities and related expenses, inctutiasonable counsel fees, charges and disbursgrrenirred by or asserted against
any Indemnitee arising out of, in any way conneetét, or as a result of (i) the execution or defiy of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document or any agreement or instrument copieied thereby, the performance by the partieethef their respective
obligations thereunder or the consummation of tten3actions and the other transactions contemptlagzdby, (ii) the use of the
proceeds of the Loans or issuance of Letters odli€r@i) any claim, litigation, investigation groceeding relating to any of the
foregoing, whether or not any Indemnitee is a ptrgyeto, or (iv) any actual or alleged presencRalease of Hazardous Materials on
any property owned or operated by any Borrowemngrof the Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Clegtated in any way to ar



Borrowers or the Subsidiariggrovidedthat such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemniteeavailable to the extent that such losses,
claims, damages, liabilities or related expensesiatermined by a court of competent jurisdictigrfibal and nonappealable judgm
to have resulted from the gross negligence orwlittffisconduct of such Indemnitee.

(c) The provisions of this Section 9.05 shathain operative and in full force and effect ret¢gssl of the expiration of the term of
this Agreement, the consummation of the transastammtemplated hereby, the repayment of any of tlas, the expiration of the
Commitments, the expiration of any Letter of Cretfie invalidity or unenforceability of any term provision of this Agreement or
any other Loan Document, or any investigation magder on behalf of the Administrative Agent, thell&teral Agent, any Lender or
the Issuing Bank. All amounts due under this Seci®5 shall be payable on written demand therefor.

SECTION 9.06 Right of Setoff. If an Event of Default shall have occurred anadbetinuing, each Lender or any affiliate of a Lenis
hereby authorized at any time and from time to tiex&ept to the extent prohibited by law, to sétofd apply any and all deposits (gener:
special, time or demand, provisional or final) ay #ime held and other indebtedness at any timag@Wy such Lender or any affiliate of a
Lender to or for the credit or the account of amyrBwers against any of and all the obligationthefBorrowers now or hereafter existing
under this Agreement and other Loan Documents aeklich Lender, irrespective of whether or not dustder shall have made any dem
under this Agreement or such other Loan Documethtadthough such obligations may be unmatured. s of each Lender and its
affiliate under this Section 9.06 are in additiorother rights and remedies (including other rigiitsetoff) which such Lender may have.

SECTION 9.07 Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS (OTHETHAN LETTERS OF
CREDIT AND AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN OTHER LOAN DQ®ENTS) SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK=ACH LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS ORULES DESIGNATED IN SUCH LETTER OF CREDIT, OR IF
NO SUCH LAWS OR RULES ARE DESIGNATED, THE UNIFORMJUSTOMS AND PRACTICE FOR DOCUMENTARY CREDIT
(1993 REVISION), INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCHERUBLICATION NO. 500 (THE '"UNIFORM CUSTOMS) AND,
AS TO MATTERS NOT GOVERNED BY THE UNIFORM CUSTOMSHE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
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SECTION 9.08 Waivers; Amendment(a) No failure or delay of the Administrative &g, the Collateral Agent, any Lender or the Isg
Bank in exercising any power or right hereundeurodter any other Loan Document shall operate as\ewtnereof, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such right or power, or ahgndonment or discontinuance of steps to enfarchk a right or power, preclude any other
or further exercise thereof or the exercise of @tmgr right or power. The rights and remedies efAldministrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders hereunutuader the other Loan Documents are cumulatidesa@ not exclusive of any rights or
remedies that they would otherwise have. No wadfemy provision of this Agreement or any other hd&ocument or consent to any
departure by the Borrowers or any other Loan Pdyefrom shall in any event be effective unlessshme shall be permitted by
paragraph (b) below, and then such waiver or cargall be effective only in the specific instarac®l for the purpose for which given. No
notice or demand on the Borrowers in any case shétle the Borrowers to any other or further cetor demand in similar or other
circumstances.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any provisiongod may be waived, amended or modified exceptyantsto an agreement or
agreements in writing entered into by the Borrovaerd the Required Lendeggpvided, however, that no such agreement shall
(i) decrease the principal amount of, or extendntla¢urity of or any scheduled principal paymentdatdate for the payment of any
interest on any Loan or any date for reimbursernéah L/C Disbursement, or waive or excuse any fughment or any part thereof,
or decrease the rate of interest on any Loan oigBursement or any Fees, without the prior wmittensent of each Lender affected
thereby, (ii) change or extend the Commitment are@se or extend the date for payment of the Comenit Fees of any Lender
without the prior written consent of such Lendéi) &mend or modify the pro rata requirements e€tin 2.20, the provisions of
Section 9.04(i), the provisions of this Sectiorg thefinition of the term "Required Lenders" or esde any Subsidiary Guarantor or all
or any substantial part of the Collateral, withthé prior written consent of each Lender (iv) amendodify the protections afforded
to an SPC pursuant to the provisions of Sectiod(9.Without the written consent of such SPC, drificrease the Advance Rates
above the Advance Rates in effect on the RestateBftactive Date, without the prior written consefittach Lendemprovided
furtherthat no such agreement shall amend, modify or wiseraffect the rights or duties of the AdministratAgent, the Collateral
Agent or the Issuing Bank hereunder or under ahgrdtoan Document without the prior written consefnthe Administrative Agent,
the Collateral Agent or the Issuing Bank, respetyiv

(c) In the event that the Administrative Agesjuests the consent of a Lender pursuant to #gsdd 9.08 and such Lender shall
not respond or reply to the Administrative Agentiriting within 5 days of delivery of such requesiich Lender shall be deemed to
have consented to the matter that was the suljéioe oequest. In the event that the Administrafigent requests the consent of a
Lender and such consent is denied, then PNC métg, @ition, require such Lender to assign itsregein the Obligations to PNC or
to another Lender or to any other Person desigratdélde Administrative Agent (theDesignated LendeY) for a price equal to the
then outstanding principal amount thereof plus @edrand unpaid interest and fees due such Lentdhnterest and fees shall be
paid when collected from Borrowers. In the eveat NC elects to require any Lender to assigmtesést to PNC, or a Designated
Lender, PNC will so notify such Lender in writingthin 45 days following such Lender's denial, andhsLender will assign its
interest to PNC or the Designated Lender no l&i@n 6 days following receipt of such notice pursuaran Assignment ar



Acceptance Agreement executed by such Lender, RNi@edesignated Lender, as appropriate, and teiridtrative Agent.
SECTION 9.09. [Intentionally Deleted]

SECTION 9.10 Entire Agreement.This Agreement, the Fee Letter and the other Iacuments constitute the entire contract between
the parties relative to the subject matter her&ny;
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other previous agreement among the parties wittergo the subject matter hereof is supersedeti®y\greement and the other Loan
Documents. Nothing in this Agreement or in the oltean Documents, expressed or implied, is intertdezbnfer upon any party other than
the parties hereto and thereto any rights, remedigations or liabilities under or by reasorntltit Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 9.11 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL; CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGHSACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGIT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY
LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, INDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY
OF THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS. EACH PARTY HERETO (AERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPR&ISY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD
NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THFOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT I
AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TONHER INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS, AS APPLICABLE, BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS,HE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS
SECTION 9.11. Neither the Administrative Agent, tbellateral Agent nor any Lender, nor any agerdttrney for any of them, shall be
liable to any Borrowers or any other Loan Partydonsequential damages arising from any breacbrfact, tort or other wrong relating to
the establishment, administration or collectiohaf Obligations.

SECTION 9.12 Severability. In the event any one or more of the provisionga@oed in this Agreement or in any other Loan Doent
should be held invalid, illegal or unenforceablany respect, the validity, legality and enforcébof the remaining provisions contained
herein and therein shall not in any way be affectednpaired thereby (it being understood thatitivalidity of a particular provision in a
particular jurisdiction shall not in and of itselffect the validity of such provision in any otherisdiction). The parties shall endeavor in
good-faith negotiations to replace the invalicedil or unenforceable provisions with valid prowis the economic effect of which comes as
close as possible to that of the invalid, illegalinenforceable provisions.

SECTION 9.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterpanis By different parties hereto on different coupsets),
each of which shall constitute an original butadiivhich when taken together shall constitute glsicontract, and shall become effective as
provided in Section 9.03. Delivery of an executigghature page to this Agreement by facsimile traesion shall be as effective as delivery
of a manually signed counterpart of this Agreement.

SECTION 9.14 Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table oft€ais used herein are for convenience of referenke are
not part of this Agreement and are not to affeetdbnstruction of, or to be taken into considerativinterpreting, this Agreement.

SECTION 9.15 Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Proceqds) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably and uncomally submits, for itself
and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdictafrany New York State court or Federal court of theted States of America sitting in New
York City, and any appellate court from any theréofany action or proceeding arising out of oatielg to this Agreement or the other Loan
Documents, or for recognition or enforcement of prdgment, and each of the parties hereto herebydcably and unconditionally agrees
that all claims in respect of any such action acpeding may be heard and determined in such Nal State or, to the extent permitted by
law, in such Federal court. Each of the partiegtoeagrees that a final judgment in any such adrgroceeding shall be conclusive and may
be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on theégment or in any other manner provided by law.hi} in this Agreement shall affect any
right that the Administrative Agent, the Collatefajent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender may othexhiave to
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bring any action or proceeding relating to this égmnent or the other Loan Documents against anyoeins or its properties in the courts of
any jurisdiction.

(b) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably and undiowklly waives, to the fullest extent it may ldigaand effectively do so, any
objection which it may now or hereafter have tolthgng of venue of any suit, action or proceedaniging out of or relating to this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents in any Newk&iate or Federal court. Each of the partiesthdrereby irrevocably waives,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defeofan inconvenient forum to the maintenance ofhstion or proceeding in any st
court.



(c) Each party to this Agreement irrevocablpsents to service of process in the manner provioledotices in Section 9.01.
Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right afiy party to this Agreement to serve process inathgr manner permitted by law.

SECTION 9.16 Confidentiality. The Administrative Agent, the Collateral Ageihte issuing Bank, and each of the Lenders agrelescio
confidential (and to use its best efforts to cadtseespective agents and representatives to ka&ential) the Information (as defined
below) and all copies thereof, extracts therefrom @analyses or other materials based thereon, etteghe Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lendellde permitted to disclose Information (a) tolso€ its respective officers, directors,
employees, agents, affiliates and representatvegad to know such Information, (b) to a potersgsignee or participant of such Lender or
any direct or indirect contractual counterpartainy swap agreement relating to the Loans or sutdnpal assignee's or participant's or
counterparty's advisors who need to know such inébion (provided that any such potential assigngeadicipant or counterparty shall, and
shall use its best efforts to cause its advisqrkdep confidential all such information on thensrset forth in this Section 9.16, (c) to the
extent requested by any regulatory authority, ¢dhe extent otherwise required by applicable land regulations or by any subpoena or
similar legal process, (e) in connection with anif,saction or proceeding relating to the enforcat# its rights hereunder or under the other
Loan Documents or (f) to the extent such Infornratip becomes publicly available other than assalteof a breach of this Section 9.16 or
(i) becomes available to the Administrative Agehg Issuing Bank, any Lender or the Collateral ®gm a nonconfidential basis from a
source other than a Borrower. For the purposekigfQection;Information” shall mean all financial statements, certificateports,
agreements and information (including all analysesjpilations and studies prepared by the Admatiste Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Issuing Bank or any Lender based on any of thegfuirgy) that are received from any Borrower andtegldo such Borrower, any Subsidiary,
any shareholder of the Borrowers or any employestomer or supplier of the Borrowers, other thayn @frthe foregoing that were available
to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agetiie Issuing Bank or any Lender on a nonconfidehigais prior to its disclosure thereto by
the Borrowers, and which are in the case of Infdimnaprovided after the date hereof, clearly idiéedi at the time of delivery as confidential.
The provisions of this Section 9.16 shall remairragive and in full force and effect regardlesshaf expiration and term of this Agreement.

SECTION 9.17 Delivery of Notes Agent shall in good faith use commercially resdue efforts to request and obtain from each Lende
and Terminating Lender the delivery of any promigswte evidencing the Term Loan made by such Lead&erminating Lender. After
receipt thereof, the Administrative Agent shall iegirately mark such promissory notes "cancelled"ratutn them to the Borrower as soon
as reasonably practicable. Each Lender and the didirative Agent on behalf of each of the Termingtienders hereby confirms the
cancellation and release of the Borrower's obligetiunder such promissory notes and agrees to mfleand hold harmless the Borrowers
from any loss, damage, claim or liability (includireasonable fees and disbursements of its atteamay all costs and expenses of enforcing
this indemnity) arising out of the presentatiorso€h promissory notes by any person or entity tomBuch Lender or Terminating Lender
transferred,

77

assigned, pledged, hypothecated, created a setmgtgst in or otherwise encumbered such promyssote or related to the loss or theft of
such note.

[The remainder of this page intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto haveseduthis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their
respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

ACTIVISION, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By

Name:
Title:

ACTIVISION PUBLISHING INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By

Name:
Title:

EXPERT SOFTWARE, INC.,



a Delaware corporatic

By

Name:
Title:

ACTIVISION VALUE PUBLISHING, INC.,
a Minnesota corporatic

By

Name:
Title:
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto haveseduthis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their
respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
individually and as Administrative Agent, Collatera
Agent and Issuing Ban

By

Name:
Title:
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto haveseduthis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their
respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

COMERICA BANK

By

Name:
Title:
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto haveseduthis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their
respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

GUARANTY BUSINESS CREDIT CORPORATION
d/b/a Fidelity Funding

By

Name:
Title:
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto havesedithis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their

respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By

Name:
Title:
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto haveseduthis Amended and Restated Credit Agreemerd thuly executed by their

respective authorized officers as of the day arad fiest above written.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By
Name:
Title:
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

State or Other Jurisdiction of
Name of subsidiary Incorporation or Organization

Activision Publishing, Inc
Kaboom.com, Inc

Activision Australia Pty Ltd

Activision International B.V

Activision Deutschland Gmb!
Activision GmbH

Activision Productions, Inc

Activision Texas, Inc

Activision Canada, Inc

Activision International Holdings, In
Activision Value Publishing, Inc
Elsinore Multimedia, Inc

Neversoft Entertainment, In

Activision U.K. Ltd.

CD Contact Data Gmb!

CD Contact Data B\

CentreSoft Ltd

ATVI France SARL

Combined Distribution (Holdings) Limite
Contact Data Belgium N.\

Expert Software, Inc

Activision Vermogensverwaltungs Gmk
Activision Beteiligungs Gmbt

NBG EDV Handels und Verlags GmbH & Co. k
PDQ Distribution Ltd.

Electric Dreams Ltd

Target Software Vertriebs Gmkt

Delaware
Delaware
Australia
The Netherland
Germany
Germany
Delaware
Texas
Canadz
California
Minnesota
Florida
California
United Kingdom
Germany
The Netherland
United Kingdom
France
United Kingdom
Belgium
Delaware
Germany
Germany
Germany
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Germany
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EXHIBIT 23.1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We hereby consent to the incorporation by efee in the registration statements Nos. 333-30383,36949, 333-43961, 333-46425, 333-
56879, 333-61571, 333-67707, 033-75878, 333-85385,96079 and 333-94509 on Form S-3 and Nos. 333@M&333-12621, 333-06054,
333-40727, 333-61573,333-81239, 033-48411, 033-838633-68144, 033-91074, 333-85383, 333-36272 83458922 on Form S-8 of
Activision, Inc. of our report dated May 9, 2001ating to the consolidated financial statements famehcial statement schedule as of and for
the year ended March 31, 2001 which appears irFthis 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, CA
June 22, 2001
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EXHIBIT 23.2

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrégéstration statements Nos. 333-30303, 333-3683%,43961, 333-46425, 333-56879,
333-61571, 333-67707, 033-75878, 333-85385, 3339aMd 333-94509 on Form S-3 and Nos. 333-0613%,12821, 333-06054, 333-
40727, 333-61573, 333-81239, 033-48411, 033-638638,68144, 033-91074, 333-85383, 333-36272 and58322 on Form S-8 of
Activision, Inc. of our report dated May 5, 200@¢cept as to Note 16, which is as of June 9, 20€l@ting to the consolidated balance sheet of
ACTIVISION, INC. and subsidiaries as of March 300D and the related consolidated statements oftipas, changes in shareholders'
equity, and cash flows for each of the years intl@year period ended March 31, 2000, and thagelfinancial statement schedule for each
of the years in the two-year period ended March2BDQ, which report appears in the March 31, 2001ual report on Form 10-K of
ACTIVISION, INC.

KPMG LLP

Los Angeles, California
June 22, 2001
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